
INCLINE 
VILLAGE 
GENERAL 

IMPROVEMENT 
DISTRICT 



IVGID 
FINAL BUDGET 

















































IVGID 
AUDITED 

FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS



   

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
 

FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 
 

 

   

   

 
   

   

     
 

   

   

 

   

   

 
   

   

   

   

   

   

 

   

     

  

   

 

     

  

   

   

   

   

     

    

     

      

    

   
   

 

INTRODUCTORY  SECTION

List of Elected Officials  ......................................................................  1
Organization Chart  ..............................................................................  1

FINANCIAL  SECTION

Independent Auditor’s Report  .....................................................  2
Management’s Discussion and Analysis  ....................................  6

BASIC  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS

  Government-wide Statements:

Statement of  Net Position...........................................................  11

Statement of Activities.................................................................  12

Fund Financial Statements:

Governmental Fund Balance Sheet  ...........................................  13

Reconciliation of Balance Sheet for Governmental Fund to the
  Government-wide Statement of Net Position  .....................  14

Governmental Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures
  and Changes in Fund Balances  ...............................................  15

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and
  Changes in Fund Balances for Governmental Fund to the
  Government-wide Statement of Activities  ...........................  16

Proprietary Funds Statement of Net Position  .........................  17

Proprietary Funds Statement of Revenues, Expenses and

  Changes in Net Position  .........................................................  18

Proprietary Funds Statement of Cash Flows  ...........................  19

Notes to Financial Statements....................................................  21

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Schedule of  Employer Required Contributions to Defined
  Contribution Multi-Employer Plans......................................  40
Schedules of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund

Balance  –  Budget and Actual:

  General Fund...............................................................................  41
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Schedules of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund 
Balance  –  Budget and Actual:

Utilities Fund  ...............................................................................  42
Community Services Fund  ........................................................  43
Beach Fund..................................................................................  44
Internal Services Fund  ...............................................................  45

REPORT  ON  INTERNAL  CONTROL  OVER 
FINANCIAL  REPORTING  AND  ON 
COMPLIANCE  AND  OTHER  MATTERS  BASED
ON  AN  AUDIT  OF  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS 
PERFORMED  IN  ACCORDANCE  WITH 
GOVERNMENT  AUDITING  STANDARDS

Independent Auditor’s Report  ...................................................  46



June, 2025 
* Members of the Senior Team 

 

 

 

District General Manager*

Robert Harrison

Director of Public 
Works*

Kate Nelson

Utilities

Fleet

Engineering

Waste Not

Compliance

Buildings

Director of 
Finance*

Jessica O'Connell

Controller

Revenue Office

Director of HR*
Erin Feore

Risk Management

Director of IT*
Mike Gove

GM - Golf Ops*
Vacant

Marketing

Food & Beverage

Mountain and 
Championship Golf 

Courses

Facilities

Director of Parks 
and Recreation*

Vacant

Beaches

Parks

Recreation Center 
and Community 

Programming

Tennis

GM - Ski Resort*
Mike Bandelin

Director of Admin 
Svcs*

Susan Herron

Communications 
Coordinator

District Clerk

IVGID BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
Michaela Tonking        Michelle Jezycki         Mick Homan          Dave Noble            Ray Tulloch  
Term Expires 2028     Term Expires 2028      Term Expires 2028   Term Expires 2027     Term Expires 2027 

INCLINE VILLAGE AND CRYSTAL BAY COMMUNITIES 

District General Counsel 
Best, Best & Krieger 

1 



 

 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

 

 

Board of Trustees  

Incline Village General Improvement District 

Incline Village, Nevada 
 

 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 

Qualified Opinions 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 

activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Incline 

Village General Improvement District (District), as of and for the year June 30, 2024, and the 

related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the District’s basic 

financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

 

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified 

Opinions section of our report, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all 

material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the 

business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of 

the District as of June 30, 2024 and the respective changes in financial position and, where 

applicable, cash flows thereof for the year ended in accordance with accounting principles 

generally accepted in the United States of America.   

 

Basis for Qualified Opinions 
 

We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence supporting $743,724 of 

inventories as of June 30, 2024 due to physical inventory counts not performed on all 

inventory balances, known errors in certain inventory balances, and differences between 

quantities inspected during physical inventory counts and the amounts recorded in the 

financial statements.  We were also unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 

supporting $1,284,474 of related cost of goods sold.  Consequently, we were unable to 

determine whether any adjustments to these amounts were necessary. 

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 

United States of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 

Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 

for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be 

independent of the District and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with 

the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we 

have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified audit opinions. 

 

Emphasis of a Matter 

 

As described further in footnote 19, the beginning fund balance and net position has been 

restated for a change within the financial reporting entity and for a correction of errors.  Our 

opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 
 

2 



 

 

 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
 
The District’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 

financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 

States of America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control 

relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 

conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the 

District’s ability to continue as a going concern for one year after the date that the financial 

statements are issued. 

 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as 

a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 

auditor’s report that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance 

but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of 

not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 

from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 

or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a 

substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment 

made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.  

 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:  

 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 

audit.  

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to 

those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding 

the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control. 

Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall 

presentation of the financial statements. 

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the 

aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the District’s ability to continue as a 

going concern for a reasonable period of time. 

 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain 

internal control–related matters that we identified during the audit.  

 

 

 

 

3 



 

 

 

Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 

management’s discussion and analysis, schedule of employer required contributions to 

defined contribution multi-employer plans and budgetary comparison information be 

presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility 

of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the 

Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial 

reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, 

or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 

supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 

United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of 

preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s 

responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained 

during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide 

any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with 

sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.  

 

Supplementary Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 

collectively comprise the District’s basic financial statements. The budgetary comparison 

schedules are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the 

basic financial statements.  

 

The budgetary comparison schedules are the responsibility of management and were derived 

from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 

basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures 

applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, 

including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting 

and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial 

statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing 

standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the budgetary 

comparison schedules are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic 

financial statements as a whole. 

 

Other Information  
 

Management is responsible for the other information included in the Basic Financial 

Statements. The other information comprises the introductory section but does not include 

the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. Our opinions on the financial 

statements do not cover the other information, and we do not express an opinion or any form 

of assurance thereon. In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our 

responsibility is to read the other information and consider whether a material inconsistency 

exists between the other information and the financial statements, or the other information 

otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work performed, we conclude 

that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, we are required 

to describe it in our report.  

 

 

 

 

4 



 

 

 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated 

June 11, 2025 on our consideration of the District’s internal control over financial reporting 

and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and 

grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the 

scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results 

of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over 

financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in 

accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the District’s internal control 

over financial reporting and compliance. 

 

 

 

Irvine, California  

June 11, 2025 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5 



Incline Village General Improvement District  
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
For the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2024 

 
 

 
 

INTRODUCTION 
This section of the Incline Village General Improvement District’s (the District’s) Financial Statement 
provides a narrative overview and analysis of the District’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended June 
30, 2024. We encourage readers to review this information in conjunction with the transmittal letter, 
financial statements, and accompanying notes to gain a comprehensive understanding of the District’s 
financial position. 
 

 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
Based on the Government-wide Financial Statements for the year ended June 30, 2024: 

 The District’s net position totaled $169 million as of June 30, 2024, reflecting an increase of $177 
thousand from the prior year. Of this amount, $34.3 million represents unrestricted net position, 
available to meet future obligations including planned capital projects. 

 The net position of the District’s governmental activities increased by $9.6 million, ending at $16.2 
million, driven by an $11 million increase from the reclassification of parks from community 
services to the General Fund, partially offset by an excess of total expenditures over total revenues. 

 The District’s business activities closed the fiscal year with a net position of $152.8 million, 
reflecting a decrease of $9.2 million from the prior year, driven by the reclassification of parks, 
partially offset by a positive change in net position from net revenues, operating expenses and non-
operating items.  

 As of June 30, 2024, the District had total bond debt outstanding $6.6 million, consisting almost 
entirely of Utility Revenue Bonds. Long-term debt increased by $4.1 million due to a draw on the 
Water State Revolving Fund Loan (see Footnote 9). 

 
 
OVERVIEW OF THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
This discussion and analysis serve as an introduction to the District’s basic financial statements, which 
include: 

 Government-wide financial statements 
 Fund financial statements 
 Notes to the financial statements 

 
Government-wide Financial Statements 
These statements offer a broad overview of the District’s finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector 
business. The Statement of Net Position reports the District’s assets, liabilities, and deferred 
inflows/outflows of resources, with the difference presented as net position. Changes in net position may 
serve as a useful indicator of the District’s financial health. 
 
The Statement of Activities shows how the District’s net position changed during the fiscal year, 
recognizing revenues and expenses when the underlying events occur, regardless of cash flow timing. This 
means some revenues and expenses may affect future fiscal periods. 
 
Both statements separate the District’s functions into governmental and business-type activities. 
Governmental activities include administration, supported by general tax revenues. Business-type activities 
cover utilities (water, sewer, solid waste), recreational activities, and internal services, typically funded by 
fees covering operational costs, depreciation, and debt service.  

6 



Incline Village General Improvement District  
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
For the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2024 

(Continued) 
 
 

Fund Financial Statements 
Funds are accounting entities used to segregate resources for specific activities and ensure compliance with 
financial legal requirements, demonstrating fiscal accountability. The District’s funds are categorized as 
governmental or proprietary. 

 Governmental funds account for functions like governmental activities but focus on near-term 
inflows/outflows of spendable resources and year-end balances, which are useful for assessing 
short-term financing needs. The District maintains a single governmental fund, the General Fund. 
 

 Proprietary funds include enterprise funds and internal service funds. The enterprise funds—Utility 
Fund, Community Services Fund, and Beach Fund—reflect business-type activities. The internal 
service fund accounts for fleet maintenance, building maintenance, and engineering, classified as 
proprietary due to its primary service to other proprietary activities. 

 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
These notes provide essential additional information to fully understand the government-wide and fund 
financial statements. 
 
Other Information 
Beyond the basic financial statements and notes, this report includes supplementary information such as a 
schedule for Multi-Employer Retirement Plans, detailed budget-to-actual comparisons by fund, revenue 
and expenditure reports formatted per Nevada Department of Taxation requirements and selected statistical 
data over five- or ten-year periods. This information supports trend analysis and highlights major revenue 
sources including Recreation and Beach Facility Fees. 

 
GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
As of June 30, 2024, the District’s assets exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows by $169 million. The 
largest portion of $134.1 million of net position is invested in capital assets (land, buildings, equipment, 
construction in progress, less accumulated depreciation and outstanding bonds). These assets are essential 
for service delivery and are not available for future spending. Although net related debt is reported, 
repayment resources must come from other sources as capital assets cannot liquidate liabilities. 
 
Government Activities  
Government Activities net position of the District’s governmental activities increased by $9.6 million, 
ending at $16.3 million.  Net position increased 11 million for restatements to beginning net position, 
primarily driven by $11.0 million from the reclassification of parks from the community services fund to 
the general fund (see note 19).  This was partially offset by a $1.2 million excess of expenses over revenues.   
 
Revenues for governmental activities increased overall from the prior year by $624 thousand. 
Governmental revenues primarily consist of Property tax and CTX-Consolidated Tax a distribution 
mechanism for several Nevad state taxes i.e., Basic County Relief Tax, Basic City-County Relief Tax, 
Local School Support Tax, Governmental Services Tax, Real Property Transfer Tax and Cigarette and 
Liquor Tax. 
 
Expenses for government services increased overall from the prior year by 1.5 million.  This was primarily 
due to increases in administration costs ($1.29 million), information services ($0.3 million) and accounting 
($0.31 million), partially offset by a reduction in capital outlays ($0.4 million) 
  

7 



Incline Village General Improvement District  
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
For the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2024 

(Continued) 
 
 

Business-type Activities 
The District’s business activities closed the fiscal year with a net position of $152.8 million, reflecting a 
decrease of $9.2 million from the prior year.  Net position declined 11.5 million for restatements to 
beginning net position, primarily driven by the aforementioned reclassification of parks from the 
community services fund to the general fund (see note 19).  This was partially offset by a $2.3 million 
benefit from business activities. 
 
The Utility Fund, providing essential services, saw a $1.8 million increase mainly due to net non-operating 
income and to a lesser extent net operating income.   
 
The Community Services Fund’s net position declined by $12.9 million, primarily  due to $11.6 million of 
restatements (mainly the aforementioned reclassification of parks to the general fund).  The remaining 
reduction was driven by a reduction in net operating and non-operating revenues and expenses, primarily a 
reduction in facility fee revenues. The facility fee, assessed by the District and collected by Washoe County 
through quarterly property tax bills, supports recreation and beach privileges. For 2023-24, facility fees for 
the Community Services fund was only $2,338, comprised of collections of prior year assessments. 
 
The Beach Fund net position increased by $2. million, largely due to facility fee revenues supporting 
planned capital projects. For 2023-24, facility fees for the Beach Fund was $3.5 million. 
 
Revenues and expenditures for the Internal Service Fund are presented net of charges to other funds, as 
these costs are included in business-type activities supported by Internal Services. 

 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF DISTRICT FUNDS 
The District employs fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal 
requirements. 
 
Governmental Funds 
Governmental fund statements focus on current inflows, outflows, and balances of resources, helping assess 
financing needs. The General Fund’s fund balance of $1.3 million on June 30, 2024, exceeds the District’s 
minimum reserve policy of 15% of annual budgeted appropriations (approximately $789,700). 
The total General Fund balance includes $1.5million non-spendable prepaid General Liability amount. 
 
Proprietary Funds 
The District operates two recreational programming funds: Community Services and Beach. Due to deed 
restrictions, the Beach Fund’s activities are accounted for separately to ensure compliance.  
 
As of June 30, 2024, the Community Services Fund’s net position was $52.2 million, including an 
unrestricted net position of $15.8 million.  The Beach Fund’s net position was $17.1 million, including an 
unrestricted net position of $9.0 million. Both funds maintained unrestricted net positions exceeding Board 
reserve policy targets (25% of annual budget appropriations), supporting upcoming capital projects outlined 
in the multi-year capital plan. 
 
Utility Fund net position was $83.4 million, including an unrestricted net position of $8.9 million, exceeding 
Board reserve policy targets of 25%. 
 
Budgets for governmental funds are adopted on a modified accrual basis, recognizing transactions when 
they impact current financial resources. 

8 



Incline Village General Improvement District  
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
For the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2024 

(Continued) 
 
 

 
GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024: 

 Revenues were slightly lower than budget by $96 thousand, primarily due to lower consolidated 
tax collection. 

 General Fund expenditure was $2.4 million below budget (net of Central Services Overhead cost 
recovery), primarily due to $1.9 million of lower capital outlays.  Operating-type expenditures were 
lower than budget by about $500 thousand, primarily due to savings in accounting, information 
services and human resources, partially offset by higher spending in administration.  

 
CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 
 
Capital Assets 
As of June 30, 2024, the District’s net investment in capital assets totaled $134.1 million, including land, 
buildings, systems, improvements, machinery, equipment, and recreational facilities (net of accumulated 
depreciation and debt used to finance the capital assets). For more details on capital asset activity and related 
debt, refer to Notes 5 and 9 in the financial statements. 
 
Long-term Debt 
At fiscal year-end, the District had $6.4 million in outstanding Utility Revenue Bonds and $0.2 million of 
other debt obligations. Debt is backed by the District’s full faith and credit, with repayment sourced from 
service charge revenues. For additional information on debt, see Note 9. 
 
Nevada Revised Statutes, Chapter 318, Section 277, authorize the District to incur indebtedness up to 50% 
of the last assessed valuation of taxable property, excluding revenue bonds and special assessment bonds. 

 
ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGETS AND RATES 

 The District experienced marginal increases in its sales and fees activity during the past fiscal year, 
with increases in utilities, community services and beach. The FY 2024-25 budget anticipates a 
relatively stable outlook. 

 Labor market challenges, including shortages of seasonal and part-time staff, rising wages, and 
limited affordable housing, are expected to continue affecting the District’s operating service cost 
levels. 

 The District’s primary revenues come from user service charges and, with respect to its Community 
Services and Beach funds, a standby Facility Fee assessed annually by the Board of Trustees. This 
fee provides stable funding for operations, capital improvements, and debt service and is set in 
alignment with the multi-year capital improvement and strategic plans. 

 Diamond Peak Ski Resort generates a significant portion of service charges and is sensitive to 
winter snow conditions. 

 Priority capital projects include replacing miles of the Effluent Export Pipeline. A comprehensive 
Utility Rate Study identified the need for substantial rate increases over the next several years to 
fund operations, capital projects, and debt, while maintaining reserves per Board policy. However, 
rates are expected to remain competitive with regional utilities. 

 To mitigate rate impacts, the District is pursuing low-interest State Revolving Fund loans and 
federal grants. 

 The Board continues to review capital project priorities across Community Services, Beach, and 
Diamond Peak Master Plans, considering financing options such as debt issuance versus pay-as-
you-go, with a focus on financial capacity and creditworthiness. 

9 



Incline Village General Improvement District  
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
For the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2024 

(Continued) 
 
 

 
 

REQUEST FOR INFORMATION 
This report is intended to provide a general overview of the District’s finances for all interested parties. 
Questions or requests for additional information should be addressed to the Director of Finance at 893 
Southwood Boulevard, Incline Village, Nevada 89451. This report is also available on the District’s 
website: www.yourtahoeplace.org. 
 

10 



INCLINE VILLAGE GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2024

                         Primary Government
Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities Total
ASSETS
  Cash, cash equivalents, and investments 40,388$                    44,839,169$          44,879,557$         
  Receivables:
    Accounts receivable, net 8,141                       1,792,229             1,800,370             
    Lease receivables -                               1,573,428             1,573,428             
    Interest on investments 41,412                      116,519                157,931                
  Due from other governments 326,152                    78,465                  404,617                
  Inventories 55,997                      687,727                743,724                
  Prepaid items 1,516,426                 -                           1,516,426             
  Restricted assets:
    Restricted deposits -                               670,140                670,140                
  Capital assets:
    Land 11,098,740               12,907,130            24,005,870           
    Construction in progress 29,942                      13,556,529            13,586,471           
    Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 4,836,612                 98,254,774            103,091,386         
          Total assets 17,953,810               174,476,110          192,429,920         

LIABILITIES
  Accounts payable 419,773                    9,638,486             10,058,259           
  Accrued personnel costs 481,786                    453,828                935,614                
  Accrued interest payable -                               62,418                  62,418                  
  Due to other governments 6,500                       13,287                  19,787                  
  Unearned revenue 16,470                      2,394,273             2,410,743             
  Refundable deposits -                               466,362                466,362                
  Noncurrent liabilities:
    Compensated absences due within one year 316,411                    561,547                877,958                
    Long-term liabilities due within one year 114,998                    468,183                583,181                
    Claims payable due within one year 130,000                    -                           130,000                
    Compensated absences due in more than one year 73,306                      264,257                337,563                
    Long-term liabilities due in more than one year 124,998                    5,890,912             6,015,910             
          Total liabilities 1,684,242                 20,213,553            21,897,795           

DEFERRED INFLOW OF RESOURCES
  Deferred Inflow related to leases -                               1,433,347             1,433,347             

NET POSITION
 Net investment in capital assets 15,725,298               118,359,338          134,084,636         
 Restricted -                               670,140                670,140                
 Unrestricted 544,270                    33,799,732            34,344,002           
          Total net position 16,269,568$             152,829,210$        169,098,778$        

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

11 



INCLINE VILLAGE GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

              Net (Expense) Revenue and
Program Revenues                   Changes in Net Position

Operating Capital                    Primary Government
Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-type

Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total

Primary government:
 Governmental activities:
  General government 6,439,938$           103,880$             -$                        -$                        (6,336,058)$          -$                        (6,336,058)$          
  Interest on long-term debt 15,000                 -                          -                          -                          (15,000)                -                          (15,000)                
Total governmental-type activities 6,439,938            103,880               -                          -                          (6,351,058)           -                          (6,351,058)           

  Business-type activities:
  Utilities 15,844,266           15,908,134           455                      364,011               -                          428,334               428,334               
  Community services 23,609,092           20,981,651           21,741                 -                          -                          (2,605,700)           (2,605,700)           
  Beach 3,054,542            1,483,753            -                          -                          -                          (1,570,789)           (1,570,789)           
Total business-type activities 42,507,900           38,373,538           22,196                 364,011               -                          (3,748,155)           (3,748,155)           
Total primary government 48,947,838$         38,477,418$         22,196$               364,011$             (6,351,058)$          (3,748,155)$          (10,099,213)$        

General revenues:
 Property taxes 2,160,877            -                          2,160,877            
 Combined taxes 2,040,590            -                          2,040,590            
 Recreation fee (assessed) -                          3,541,747            3,541,747            
 Investment income 49,044                 2,346,308            2,395,352            
 Insurance proceeds -                          8,857                   8,857                   
 Miscellaneous revenues -                          208,022               208,022               

Total general revenues 4,250,511            6,104,934            10,355,445           

    Change in net position (2,100,547)           2,356,779            256,232               
Net positions, beginning, as prevously reported 7,078,141            161,973,614         169,051,755         
Restatement for change within financial reporting entity 11,022,190           (11,022,190)         -                          
Restatement for correction of errors 269,784               (478,993)              (209,209)              
Net positions, beginning, as restated 18,370,115           150,472,431         168,842,546         
Net position - ending 16,269,568$         152,829,210$       169,098,778$       

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

12 



INCLINE VILLAGE GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT
GOVERNMENTAL FUND
BALANCE SHEET
JUNE 30, 2024

GENERAL
FUND

ASSETS
  Cash, cash equivalents and investments 40,388$                
  Accounts receivable, net 2,921                   
  Interest receivable on investments 41,412                 
  Due from other funds 166,344               
  Due from other governments 326,152               
  Prepaid items 1,516,426             

           Total assets 2,093,643$           

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities
  Accounts payable 346,160$              
  Accrued personnel costs 423,569               
  Due to other governments 6,500                   
  Unearned revenue 16,470                 
           Total liabilities 792,699               

Fund balance
  Non-spendable 1,516,426             
  Unassigned (215,482)              
           Total fund balance 1,300,944             

           Total liabilities and fund balance 2,093,643$           

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

13 



INCLINE VILLAGE GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT
RECONCILIATION OF BALANCE SHEET FOR GOVERNMENTAL FUND
TO THE GOVERNMENT WIDE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2024

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position that are not included 
in the Governmental Fund Balance Sheet (because):

Total Fund Balance for Governmental Activities 1,300,944$        

Capital Assets, net of accumulated depreciation, are not financial
resources, and therefore are not reported in the General Fund 15,938,417        

Long Term Liability for Compensated Absences (295,046)            

Long Term Liability for SBITAs (239,996)            

Total Balance from Internal Services Fund (304,751)$          

Net Position of Governmental Activities 16,269,568$       

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

14 



INCLINE VILLAGE GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT
GOVERNMENTAL FUND
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

GENERAL
FUND

REVENUES
  Ad valorem taxes 2,142,172$           
  Personal Property Tax 18,705                  
  Intergovernmental:
     Consolidated taxes 1,761,495             
     Local Government Tax Act 279,095                
  Rental income 61,760                  
  Investment income 47,302                  
  Charges for services 42,120                  
           Total revenues 4,352,649             

EXPENDITURES
GENERAL GOVERNMENT
  Current:

  General manager 720,485                
  Trustees 139,382                
  Accounting 884,285                
  Information services 1,394,237             
  Human resources 198,398                
  Health & wellness 65,402                  
  Community & employee relations 193,066                
  Administration 2,418,455             
  Risk management 103,697                

  Capital outlay 94,709                  
  Debt Service:
    Principal 109,998                
    Interest 15,000                  
           Total expenditures 6,337,114             

Net change in fund balance (1,984,465)            

Fund Balance, July 1, as previously reported 4,682,526             
Restatement for change within financial reporting entity (1,373,824)            
Restatement for correction of error (23,293)                

Fund Balance, July 1, as restated 3,285,409             

Fund balance, June 30 1,300,944$           

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

15 



INCLINE VILLAGE GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN 
FUND BALANCES FOR THE GOVERNMENTAL FUND
TO THE GOVERNMENT WIDE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Amounts reported for governmental activities are different because the Governmental Fund accounts for 
a flow of resources while the Statement of Activities is on a full accrual basis of accounting:

Total Net Change in Fund Balance for Governmental Fund (1,984,465)$       

Payroll expense associated with compensated absences (56,727)              

Settlement Expense 276,946             

Capital Assets acquired during the year and capitalized 85,535               

Depreciation expense for the fiscal year (547,084)            

Payments made on SBITAs 109,998             

Internal Services change in Net Position 15,250               

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities (2,100,547)$       

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

16 



INCLINE VILLAGE GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2024

Utility Community Beach Internal
Fund Services Fund Fund Total Service Fund

ASSETS
Current assets:
  Cash and cash equivalents 16,344,468$           19,193,712$           9,300,989$             44,839,169$           -$                           
  Accounts receivable 1,681,091               111,138                  -                             1,792,229              5,220                     
  Lease receivable -                             1,573,428               -                             1,573,428              -                             
  Interest receivable 38,027                   57,583                   20,909                   116,519                 -                             
  Due from other governments -                             3,755                     74,710                   78,465                   -                             
  Inventories 230,732                  446,847                  10,148                   687,727                 55,997                   
           Total current assets 18,294,318             21,386,463             9,406,756               49,087,537            61,217                   
Noncurrent assets:
  Restricted deposit for debt service reserve 419,945                  -                             -                             419,945                 -                             
  Restricted deposit for TRPA deposits 101,988                  147,207                  1,000                     250,195                 -                             
           Subtotal 521,933                  147,207                  1,000                     670,140                 -                             
  Capital Assets:
   Land 6,715,543               3,886,737               2,304,850               12,907,130            -                             
   Construction in progress 13,245,472             -                             311,057                  13,556,529            -                             
   Buildings and structures 28,801,714             64,467,534             9,315,417               102,584,665          -                             
   Improvements and Infrastructure 112,756,689           -                             -                             112,756,689          -                             
   Equipment and vehicles 4,749,061               14,047,998             531,928                  19,328,987            240,596                  
   Right of use asset -                             78,537                   -                             78,537                   -                             

   Total capital assets 166,268,479           82,480,806             12,463,252             261,212,537          240,596                  
   Less: accumulated depreciation (85,946,964)            (46,192,802)            (4,354,338)              (136,494,104)         (213,719)                
   Total capital assets (net) 80,321,515             36,288,004             8,108,914               124,718,433          26,877                   
           Total noncurrent assets 80,843,448             36,435,211             8,109,914               125,388,573          26,877                   

           Total assets 99,137,766             57,821,674             17,516,670             174,476,110          88,094                   

LIABILITIES
 Current liabilities:
  Accounts payable 8,706,573               800,451                  131,462                  9,638,486              73,613                   
  Accrued personnel costs 101,693                  253,899                  98,236                   453,828                 58,217                   
  Accrued interest payable 62,418                   -                             -                             62,418                   -                             
  Due to other funds -                             -                             -                             -                            166,344                  
  Due to other governments -                             -                             13,287                   13,287                   -                             
  Unearned revenue 133,181                  2,197,902               63,190                   2,394,273              -                             
  Deposits payable -                             466,362                  -                             466,362                 -                             
  Current portion of compensated absences 265,337                  271,285                  24,925                   561,547                 76,873                   
  Current maturities of  long-term liabilities 468,183                  -                             -                             468,183                 -                             

           Total current liabilities 9,737,385               3,989,899               331,100                  14,058,384            375,047                  

 Non-current liabilities:
  Compensated absences 124,865                  127,663                  11,729                   264,257                 17,798                   
  Non-current long term liabilities 5,890,912               -                             -                             5,890,912              -                             
           Total non-current liabilities 6,015,777               127,663                  11,729                   6,155,169              17,798                   

  Deferred lease inflows -                             1,433,347               -                             1,433,347              -                             

           Total liabilities and deferred inflows 15,753,162             5,550,909               342,829                  21,646,900            392,845                  

NET POSITION
  Net investment in capital assets 73,962,420             36,288,004             8,108,914               118,359,338          26,877                   
  Restricted deposits 521,933                  147,207                  1,000                     670,140                 -                             
  Unrestricted 8,900,251               15,835,554             9,063,927               33,799,732            (331,628)                

           Total net position 83,384,604$           52,270,765$           17,173,841$           152,829,210$         (304,751)$               

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Enterprise Funds

17 



INCLINE VILLAGE GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Utility Community Beach Internal
Fund Services Fund Fund Total Service Fund

OPERATING REVENUES
  Sales and fees 15,846,029$  20,981,651$    1,483,753$    38,311,433$    -$                 
  Recreation fee -                   2,338              3,539,409      3,541,747        -                   
  Operating grants 455               21,741            -                   22,196            253               
  Interfund services 62,105          -                     -                   62,105            3,809,228      
           Total operating revenues 15,908,589    21,005,730     5,023,162      41,937,481      3,809,481      

OPERATING EXPENSES
  Wages and benefits 5,580,458      11,741,620     1,621,831      18,943,909      2,691,433      
  Cost of goods sold -                   1,248,217       36,257          1,284,474        -                   
  Services and supplies 3,353,151      4,341,136       625,095         8,319,382        1,063,177      
  Defensible space 99,105          79,790            -                   178,895          -                   
  Central services cost 629,130         1,188,682       138,488         1,956,300        -                   
  Insurance 317,444         379,042          63,854          760,340          23,332          
  Utilities 1,302,479      1,620,577       171,688         3,094,744        11,586          
  Professional fees 93,277          75,637            31,478          200,392          1,760            
  Depreciation 4,377,216      2,934,256       365,851         7,677,323        4,685            
           Total operating expenses 15,752,260    23,608,957     3,054,542      42,415,759      3,795,973      
           Operating income (loss) 156,329         (2,603,227)      1,968,620      (478,278)         13,508          

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
  Investment earnings 1,276,787      805,562          263,959         2,346,308        1,742            
  Insurance proceeds -                   8,857              -                   8,857              -                   
  Gain (loss) on sales of assets -                   1,739              -                   1,739              -                   
  Lease revenue -                   208,022          -                   208,022          -                   
  Interest expense (92,006)         (1,874)            -                   (93,880)           -                   
           Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 1,184,781      1,022,306       263,959         2,471,046        1,742            
      Income before transfers and contributions 1,341,110      (1,580,921)      2,232,579      1,992,768        15,250          

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS
  AND TRANSFERS
  Capital grants 364,011         -                     -                   364,011          -                   

Change in net position 1,705,121      (1,580,921)      2,232,579      2,356,779        15,250          

Net position, July 1 as previously reported 81,577,078    65,237,011     15,159,525    161,973,614    (613,078)       
Restatement for change within financial reporting entity -                   (11,022,190)    -                   (11,022,190)     -                   
Restatement for correction of error 102,405         (363,135)         (218,263)       (478,993)         293,077         

Net position, July 1 as restated 81,679,483    53,851,686     14,941,262    150,472,431    (320,001)       

Net position, June 30 83,384,604$  52,270,765$    17,173,841$  152,829,210$  (304,751)$      

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Enterprise Funds

18 



INCLINE VILLAGE GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Utility Community Beach Internal
Fund Services Fund Fund Total Services Fund

CASH FLOWS FROM 
  OPERATING ACTIVITIES
  Receipts from customers and users 15,789,313$     20,643,955$        5,069,048$     41,502,316$     -$                    
  Receipts from interfund services provided 62,560              -                         -                    62,560              3,804,261        
  Payments to suppliers (6,191,380)        (8,348,383)          (973,448)        (15,513,211)      (1,039,583)       
  Payments to employees (5,450,188)        (11,633,095)        (1,567,130)     (18,650,413)      (2,639,998)       
           Net cash provided (used) by
             operating activities 4,210,305         662,477              2,528,470      7,401,252         124,680           

CASH FLOWS FROM NON-CAPITAL
  FINANCING ACTIVITIES
  Transfer to other funds -                      -                         -                    -                      (419,499)          
           Net cash provided (used) by non-capital 
             financing activities -                      -                         -                    -                      (419,499)          

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND
  RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
  Acquisition of capital assets (15,330,960)      (2,848,808)          (280,732)        (18,460,500)      -                      
  Proceeds from capital grants 364,011            -                         -                    364,011            -                      
  Proceeds from loans 4,309,437         -                         -                    4,309,437         -                      
  Payments on capital debt (455,825)           (16,641)               -                    (472,466)           -                      
  Interest paid on long term debt (60,477)            (1,874)                -                    (62,351)            -                      
           Net cash provided (used) by capital 
             and related financing activities (11,173,814)      (2,867,323)          (280,732)        (14,321,869)      -                      

CASH FLOWS FROM

  INVESTING ACTIVITIES
  Investment earnings 1,238,760         747,979              243,050         2,229,789         1,742               
           Net cash provided (used) by
             investing activities 1,238,760         747,979              243,050         2,229,789         1,742               

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (5,724,749)        (1,456,867)          2,490,788      (4,979,542)        (293,077)          

Cash and cash equivalents, July 1, as restated 22,778,835       20,797,786         6,811,201      50,387,822       293,077           

Cash, cash equivalents and investments, June 30 17,054,086$     19,340,919$        9,301,989$     45,220,595$     -$                    

(Continued)

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Enterprise Funds

19 



INCLINE VILLAGE GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Utility Community Beach Internal
Fund Services Fund Fund Total Services Fund

Reconciliation of operating income (loss)
  to net cash provided (used) by operating 
  activities:

  Operating income (loss) 156,329$          (2,603,227)$        1,968,620$     (478,278)$         13,508$           
  Non-cash adjustments -
    Depreciation 4,377,216         2,934,256           365,851         7,677,323         4,685               
    Nonoperating income -                      8,857                  -                    8,857               -                      
  Increase (decrease) in cash  from changes in:
    Accounts receivable (208,761)           (13,673)               -                    (222,434)           (5,220)             
    Grants receivable 186,264            -                         -                    186,264            -                      
    Due from other governments -                      76,977                (14,977)          62,000              -                      
    Inventories (94,367)            42,081                (10,148)          (62,434)            46,918             
    Accounts payable (302,427)           94,042                103,560         (104,825)           13,354             
    Accrued personnel costs 35,987              378,678              54,987           469,652            26,370             
    Compensated absences 94,283              25,189                (286)              119,186            25,065             
    Due to other funds -                      -                         -                    -                      -                      
    Due to other governments -                      -                         3,849             3,849               -                      
    Deposits payable -                      153,233              -                    153,233            -                      
    Unearned revenue (34,219)            (433,936)             57,014           (411,141)           -                      
    Total adjustments 4,053,976         3,265,704           559,850         7,879,530         111,172           
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 4,210,305$       662,477$            2,528,470$     7,401,252$       124,680$         

There were no significant noncash capital, financing, and investing activities for the year ended June 30, 2024.

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Enterprise Funds

20 



1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A. Reporting Entity

The Incline Village General Improvement District (the “District”) operates under provisions of the 
Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS), Chapter 318.  Under the law, the District has been granted authority 
by Washoe County to provide water, sewer and solid waste services, and recreational facilities and 
programs for the benefit of individuals owning property or residing within its geographical boundaries.  
The unincorporated rural areas of Incline Village and Crystal Bay, Washoe County, Nevada are within 
these boundaries.

The District is governed by a board of five publicly elected trustees.  The District is not included in 
any other governmental reporting entity.  The District is a legally separate government and it is fiscally 
independent of any other governmental entity.  The District is not financially accountable for any other 
entity.

B. Basic Financial Statements - Government-wide financial statements

The government-wide financial statements (the statement of net position and the statement of 
activities) report information on all of the activities of the District.  

In the government-wide Statement of Net Position, the governmental activities column is presented 
on a consolidated basis, and is reflected on a full accrual, economic resource basis that recognizes all 
long-term assets and receivables as well as long-term debt and obligations.  The District’s net position 
is reported in three parts –net investment in capital assets, restricted; and unrestricted.  

The government-wide Statement of Activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses 
of a given function are offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses are those that are clearly 
identifiable with a specific function.  Program revenues include charges to customers who receive a 
direct benefit from goods or services.  Grants and contributions are restricted to meeting the 
operational or capital requirements of a function.  General revenues reflect items that are not included 
as either program revenue or grants and contributions. The Statement of Activities reduces gross 
expenses (including depreciation) by related program revenues and grants.   

      C. Basic Financial Statements - Fund financial statements

The financial transactions of the District are reported in individual purpose-based fund financial 
statements.  Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts that 
comprise its assets, liabilities, deferred inflows and outflows, fund equity, revenues and 
expenditures/expenses.  Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds and 
proprietary funds.  The District has no fiduciary funds.  Major funds for each fund type are presented 
as separate columns in the fund financial statements.

D. Measurement Focus/Basis of Accounting – Fund financial statements

The measurement focus describes the types of transactions and events that are reported in a fund’s 
operating statement.  The basis of accounting refers to the timing of revenues and how 
expenditures/expenses are recognized in the accounts, and reported in the financial statements.  Basis 
of accounting relates to the timing of the measurements made, regardless of the measurement focus 
applied.

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized as soon as 
they are both measurable and available.  Revenues are considered available when they are collectible 
within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period.  For this 

21 



purpose, the District considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days under the 
accrual basis of accounting.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items.  Operating 
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in 
connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations.  Operating expenses include the 
cost of sales and services, administration and depreciation on capital assets.  All revenues and expenses 
not meeting this definition are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses.   Expenditure-driven 
grants are recognized as revenue when the qualifying expenditures have been incurred and all other 
eligibility requirements have been met.  The Proprietary funds utilize the accrual basis of accounting.

The District’s internal services are presented in the proprietary fund’s financial statements.  The 
principal users of Internal Services (Fleet, Engineering and Buildings) are the District’s utility and 
recreation program activities. All Internal Services are considered a governmental - type activity for the 
Government-wide financial statements.  The majority of utilization of internal services is by the Utility
Fund, Community Services and the Beach funds.  The effect of inter-fund activity has not been 
eliminated from the Government-wide financial statements.

The District uses the following funds:

Governmental Funds -

General Fund – is the general operating fund of the District.  It is used to account for all financial 
resources except those required to be accounted for in another fund.  The General Fund’s primary 
function is to provide general administration for all other functions. The General Fund also includes 
the District’s parks, which were moved to the General Fund from the Community Services Fund as of 
July 1, 2023.

Proprietary Funds -

District’s Proprietary (Enterprise) Funds are used to account for operations of the District’s Utilities
as well as District’s recreational Community Services and Beach operations. 

Utility Fund – providing water, sewer, solid waste and recycling services to approximately 4,100 
customers.

Community Services – providing recreation venues, programs and services to approximately 8,200 
parcel owners, their guests and visitors. The Community Services Fund includes operations, capital 
and debt related to golf courses, event facilities, downhill skiing, recreation and fitness programs, 
tennis, and pickle ball.

Beach – providing beaches, picnic areas, boat launching and aquatics programs to approximately 7,700 
parcel owners and their guests.

Internal Service Funds – The Internal Service Fund accounts for the financing of goods or services 
provided by one department to other departments of the District. The District’s Internal Service Funds
provides Fleet, Engineering, and Buildings Maintenance, which includes repair and maintenance of the 
District’s vehicles and equipment, engineering services, and buildings maintenance. The Fleet,
Engineering and Buildings Maintenance Departments also collectively provide planning, inspection, 
construction and maintenance for the District’s structures and equipment.    

22 



E. Budgets and Budgetary Accounting

The District adheres to the Local Government Budget Act incorporated within Chapter 354 of the 
Nevada Revised Statutes, which includes the following major procedures to establish the budgetary 
data reflected in these financial statements.

1. On or before April 12, 2023, the Board of Trustees filed a tentative budget with the Nevada 
Department of Taxation. Public hearings on the tentative budget were held after the third Monday in
May. On May 25, 2023, at a public hearing, the Board adopted a final budget. On or before June 1, 
2023, the final budget was filed with the Nevada Department of Taxation.

2. Budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) 
for all funds. Formal budgetary integration in the financial records is employed to enhance management 
control during the year for all funds requiring budgets.  Budgets are adopted for all governmental and 
proprietary fund types. The governmental fund type budgets are adopted on a modified accrual basis 
and the proprietary funds types budgets are adopted on an accrual basis.  The District can amend or 
augment the budget after following State Statutes and, if necessary, public hearing procedures. 

3. The legal level of budgetary control authority is at the fund level, with appropriations reflected at 
the function level. Management has no budget augmentation authority without approval by the 
District’s Board of Trustees.  The General Manager may authorize a budget adjustment, provided that 
the budget adjustment does not increase the level of Board-approved appropriation, by fund, and is 
otherwise consistent with Board policies.  Generally, the expenses in the proprietary funds also may 
not exceed appropriations.  While management -pursuant to provisions of the Nevada Revised Statutes 
- has flexibility to change the operating budgets of the proprietary funds, in practice this occurs only 
rarely. Statutes do not require that enterprise fund capital outlay, debt service payments and other non-
operating cash transactions, normally reflected in the balance sheet of the proprietary funds, to be 
limited by the budget.  

4. The District also presents select cash flow information in order to reflect all resources being used to 
provide for capital outlay, debt service payments and other transactions particularly in proprietary 
funds.  This supplemental disclosure allows the District to identify the extent of current year items that 
are being paid from previously funded resources.  The presentation includes items according to 
character and object.  It also provides the Nevada Department of Taxation with requested information
that compares to amounts reported on their budget forms.

F. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments

The District’s cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash-on-hand, demand deposits and 
short-term investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition 
that are held for routine expenditures.

District funds share bank accounts for operations, payroll and reimbursements.  Activity between 
funds occurs in the regular activities of the District.  The General Fund processes and disburses 
payments for accounts payable, payroll, and related benefits for all funds. To the extent payment has 
not occurred, but the cost was realized by the benefited fund, internal balances for Due from or to 
Other Funds are established.  These are cleared monthly through pooled cash.  The combined pooled 
balances are monitored to assure no fund makes temporary loans to another, within the context of 
Nevada Revised Statute 354.6118.

Nevada Revised Statutes authorize the District to invest in obligations of the U.S. Government or U.S. 
Treasury, providing maturities are 10 years or less from the date of purchase; the local government 
investment pool (LGIP) (operated by the Nevada State Treasurer); negotiable certificates of deposit 
issued by commercial banks or insured savings and loans; short-term negotiable notes or bonds issued 

23 



by local governments; and bankers' acceptances eligible by law for rediscount with the Federal Reserve 
Banks not to exceed 180 days.

Funds on deposit with LGIP are considered cash and cash equivalents.  Even though the weighted 
average maturity of the underlying investments in the LGIP are greater than 90 days, the District can 
liquidate its deposits within a few days.  The District has reported these deposits at cost plus accrued 
interest, which approximates fair value.

The District’s investments are stated at fair value as of the reporting date.  These are categorized using 
fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting 
principles.  The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset.  
Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant 
other observable inputs: Level 3 are significant unobservable inputs. 

G. Receivables

Receivables reflected in the District’s basic financial statements include monies due from other 
governments, grants receivable as well as other accounts receivable.

Due From Other Governments. Property taxes are levied no later than July 10 of each year on property 
values assessed for the same year.  The taxes may be paid in four installments as follows:  the first 
installment is due on or before the third Monday in August, the second installment is due on or before 
the first Monday in October, the third installment is due on or before the first Monday in January, and 
the fourth installment is due on or before the first Monday in March.  If payment of the taxes is not 
made within ten days following the day the installments become due, penalties are assessed in 
accordance with NRS 361.483. Once the installments become delinquent, interest is added at the rate 
of 10 percent per annum.  Taxes levied become a perpetual lien against the property assessed until the 
tax and any penalty charges and interest which may accrue thereon are paid.  Washoe County assesses 
the property tax, bills, collects, and distributes the property tax revenue.

The District also receives certain tax revenues in the General Fund which are collected by the State of 
Nevada.  These settlements arrive within 60 days of the month close when they are generated.  The 
amounts are listed as Due from Other Governments. The District also has an operating grant from 
Washoe County, received monthly in arrears.  The uncollected balance of this grant is carried in Due 
from Other Governments.  

Grants Receivable. The District has been awarded grants to finance the construction of various 
infrastructure projects. Such grant funds are considered earned when requisite construction costs are 
incurred.  The District recognizes funds earned but not collected as Grants Receivable, in the 
government wide financial statements.  

Other Receivables. Accounts receivable reflects service charges to customers and resident for deposits or 
fees that are earned, but not collected. The District may file a tax lien for uncollected utility service 
fees.

H.  Inventory and Prepaid Items

Inventories of items for resale or use are recorded in the Utility, Community Services, Beach 
Proprietary Funds and the Internal Service Fund and are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) 
or market.

Certain payments are made to vendors for costs applicable to future accounting periods and are 
recorded as prepaid items in both the government-wide and fund financial statements.  They are 
recognized under the consumption method when used.

24 



I.  Restricted Assets

The District has restricted several deposits for the benefit of other agencies in connection with 
performance under a retail operation, construction projects, and debt service. These agencies establish 
the restriction by regulation or agreement.  

J. Capital Assets

Capital assets include land, buildings, machinery and equipment, or water rights which are reported in 
the applicable governmental or business-type activities column in the government-wide financial 
statements.  If purchased or constructed, all capital assets are recorded at historical cost.  Donated 
capital assets are valued at acquisition value as of the date of donation.  The costs of normal 
maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend assets’ lives are 
not capitalized.  Depreciation of all exhaustible capital assets (all categories except land and
construction in progress) is charged as an expense against each fund’s operation.  The District’s policy 
is to capitalize assets with a normal useful life of three or more years.  

The District holds 4,272 Acre Feet of Water Rights.  This represents about 1,405,000,000 gallons.  The 
District’s historical records cannot separately identify the cost of water rights from land.

Activities of the General Fund include District administration, accounting and finance, information 
systems and technology, human resources, risk management, parks, the General Manager’s office, 
communications and the Board of Trustees.  The land, buildings, furniture and equipment, including 
technology assets, represent items used in common by all of the activities of the General Fund at the 
District’s administrative office.  The computers and technology represent equipment of the 
Information Systems & Technology (IST) department that services the needs of the entire District.  
These assets are presented as a part of government-wide net position.

Activities of the Community Services Proprietary Fund include two 18-hole golf courses, a large and 
small meeting facility, a ski resort, a recreation center, a tennis center, a skateboard park, and green 
spaces.  Venue improvements include the cost of developing program-ready locations. 

Activities of the Beach Proprietary Fund include three beaches with restricted access.  One has a 
watercraft launch ramp and storage areas for paddleboards and kayaks.  Two beaches have concession 
stands and playground areas.  One beach provides swimming and wading pools.

Utility capital assets include traditional distribution lines, tanks, pumps and treatment.  However, since 
the District is located in the Lake Tahoe Basin, the number of pumps, tanks and export lines is 
increased due to the requirements to manage in a mountainous and environmentally sensitive area.

The District has a number of Construction in Progress items related to major projects that span 
multiple fiscal years as well as the fact that the fiscal year-end falls in the middle of the active 
construction / acquisitions season.  The District accumulates costs through a series of pre-design, 
design and acquisition stages. 

Depreciation has been provided over the estimated useful lives of the various assets using the straight-
line method.  Board policy providing for estimated lives and capitalization thresholds of major classes 
of depreciable assets are summarized as follows:

  

Asset Category

Depreciable 

Life

Capitalization 

Threshold

Buildings and Structures 10 - 40 years $25,000

Venue Improvements 10 - 25 years $10,000

Service Infrastructure 5 - 40 years $25,000

Equipment and Vehicles 3 - 20 years $10,000

Right-to-Use Asset 3 - 20 years $10,000

25 



K. Amortization of Bond Discounts

The discounts on bonds sold are being amortized to expense over the term of the bonds.  Bonds 
payable are reported net of related discounts.

L. Compensated Absences and Accrued Personnel Costs

Full-time employees are provided vacation benefits that specifically relate to tenure with the District.  
After six months of service, employees are entitled to their vested vacation leave upon termination.  
The liability for vacation benefits is recognized with an expenditure or charge to the appropriate fund 
and activity as earned.

The District pays payroll every two weeks.  Any District payroll earned as of month end is accrued 
based on the number of days attributed to that month to the total 14 days paid with the next scheduled 
payroll.  Liabilities for fringe benefits and other costs, such as taxes, are also accrued on the same 
method.  

The District has adopted a plan under which certain retirees, who have met specific service 
requirements, can roll unused sick leave pay to cover medical expenses after retirement.  Otherwise,
sick leave is not vested.

M. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for 
deferred outflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of 
resources, represents a consumption of net position that will apply to a future period(s) and will not 
be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then.

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section of 
deferred inflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, 
represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and will not be recognized 
as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time.

N. Unearned Revenue and Refundable Deposits

The District’s Utility Fund reads meters in 3 cycles over the course of a month.  Billing occurs once a 
month.  Billings for the next cycle are also reconciled with actual usage.  Funds received for the Tahoe 
Water Suppliers Association are recognized only to the extent expended and may roll over to the next 
year.

The District’s Community Services Fund recognizes unearned revenue to the extent it has issued user 
passes, gift or payment cards that can be applied to future purchases.  There also are advance deposits 
made to reserve dates for facility rentals or program registrations.  User passes expire with a stated 
season.

O.   Long-Term Debt 

In the government-wide financial statement, and proprietary fund financial statements, long-term debts 
are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental activities, business-type activities or proprietary 
fund statements net of related discounts.  Bond discounts are amortized using the straight-line method 
and are amortized over the term of the related debt.

P.  Fund Balance

In the fund financial statements, fund balance for governmental funds are reported in classifications 
that comprise a hierarchy based primarily on how amounts can be spent.  These include “non-
spendable’ which are not expected to be converted to cash, such as inventory or prepaid items, 

26 



“restricted” by conditions of law, regulation grants, or contracts with external parties, “committed” 
which arise from formal acts of the District’s Board, “assigned” which reflect an intent by management 
of the District or “unassigned” which is the residual amount.  The committed fund balance 
classification includes amounts that can be used only for the specific purposes determined by a formal 
action of the District’s highest level of decision-making authority. The Board of Trustees is the highest 
level of decision-making authority for the District, which can act by their resolution, prior to the end 
of the fiscal year, and thus commit and/or assign fund balance. Once adopted, the limitation imposed 
by the Board of Trustees remains in place until a similar resolution is taken to remove or revise the 
limitation.

The District’s Board of Trustees approved an update to Board Policy 7.1.0, establishing policy related 
to the appropriate level of fund balances, effective for the fiscal years after June 30, 2022.  The target 
fund balance / reserve levels established by Board policy are summarized as follows: 

General Fund – The policy of the District shall be to maintain a target fund balance within 
the General Fund equal to 15% of annual budgeted expenditures (less transfers and debt)

 Of this amount, 5% is designated as a reserve for economic uncertainty; 

 An additional 10% is to be designated as an emergency reserve to cover unanticipated 
expenditures resulting from emergencies or unanticipated mandates;

 In no cases shall the fund balance fall below the minimum balance requirements (4.0% 
of prior year expenditures) required under Nevada Administrative Code Section 
354.650. 

Enterprise Fund Types - The policy of the District shall be to maintain target levels of reserves 
within the Unrestricted Net Position of each of its enterprise funds, as follows:

 Operating Reserve Target: 25% of annual budgeted operating expenses (excluding 
depreciation and debt). 

 Capital Reserve Target: 1 year of 3-year average annual budgeted depreciation.

 Debt Reserve Target – The District’s approved annual budget will maintain required 
debt coverage ratios for all existing debt; in addition, should the District issue any 
variable-rate debt obligations, an additional debt reserve shall be established at a level 
equal to one year's interest expenses related to variable-rate debt.

Q. Net Position

In the Proprietary fund and the government-wide financial statements, net position is presented in one 
of three classifications: “net investment in capital assets,” “restricted” and the residual “unrestricted.”  
The net investment in capital assets component of net position consists of capital assets, net of 
accumulated depreciation, reduced by outstanding balances on bonds that are attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets.  The restricted component of net position 
consists of assets restricted by a third party reduced by associated liabilities.  The unrestricted 
component of net position is the net amount of assets and liabilities not included in the determination 
of net investment of capital assets or the restricted component.

R. Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results may differ from those estimates.

27 



 

 

S. Central Services Cost Allocation 

The District allocates the shared costs of Accounting, Information Technology and Human Resources 
based under a Board-approved Central Services Cost Allocation Plan, adopted each year with the 
budget.  The cost allocation plan considers full-time equivalent staffing-levels, wages, benefits, and 
certain services and supplies as a basis for determining the allocation of overhead charges.  While 
charges are estimated based on budgeted expenses, actual charges are based on actual expenditures 
throughout the year.  A year-end adjustment may be required to ensure costs charged do not exceed 
costs incurred for the fiscal year.  The revenue generated by the allocation is recorded as an offset to 
General Government expenses (for Human Resources, Information Technology, and Accounting) in 
the governmental funds statements.  

T. Punch Cards Utilized 

Under District Ordinance 7, parcel owners may obtain up to five Picture Passes and/or Punch Cards, 
with the latter “valued” at 1/5th of the annual Facility Fee assessed on each parcel. As a non-exchange 
transaction, the revenue collected from the annual Facility Fees are reflected as a General Revenue in 
the Statement of Activities. Punch Cards can be used to pay-down the difference between a regular 
rate and the resident rate for certain types of recreational fees.   

2. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS 

At year-end, the carrying amount of the District’s checking deposits was $9,128,143 while the bank balance was 
$10,149,409.  Of the bank balance, $250,000 was covered by Federal Depository Insurance Coverage and the 
balance was covered by pledged collateral under an arrangement with the State of Nevada on behalf of all local 
units of government. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The District is a voluntary participant in the State of Nevada Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP), 
which has regulatory oversight from the Board of Finance of the State of Nevada. The District’s investment in 
the LGIP is equal to its original investment plus monthly allocation of interest income, and realized and 
unrealized gains and losses, which is the same as the value of the pool shares.  

Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS 355.170) set forth acceptable investments for Nevada local governments. The 
District has adopted a formal investment policy that meets those limits and maturities for its investment choices.  
Essentially those investments are brokered certificates of deposit and government agencies. 

Cash Equivalents and Investments at June 30, 2024 consist of:
Operating Checking Accounts 9,128,143$         
Petty cash and change funds 45,405               
Nevada LGIP General Account 15,049,406         
Money Market Mutual Fund 10,966,410         
Government Agency Securities 1,902,300           

 Certificates of Deposit 6,334,291           
Supranational Obligations 1,453,602           
Total Cash Equivalents and Investments 44,879,557$       

Restricted Deposits 670,140$           

Investments at June 30, 2024 consist of:
Local Government Investment Pool Account 15,719,546$       
Money Market Mutual Fund 10,966,410         
Government Agency Securities 1,902,300           

 Certificates of Deposit 6,334,291           
Supranational Obligations 1,453,602           
Total Investments 36,376,149$       

28 



The District categorizes its fair value measurements for investments within the fair value hierarchy established 
by generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the 
fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are 
significant other observable inputs.

Interest Rate Risk - Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair 
value of an investment.  Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the sensitivity of its 
fair value to changes in market interest rates.  To the extent possible, the District’s portfolio shall remain 
sufficiently liquid so as to support near-term operating and capital expenditures.  In so doing, the portfolio will 
have limited interest rate risk associated with long-term investments. 

Credit Risk – The District’s Investment Policy is based on the Uniform Prudent Investors Act and Nevada 
Revised Statutes 355.170 (NRS).  The NRS authorizes the District to invest in obligations of the U.S. 
Government or U.S. Treasury, providing maturities are 10 years or less from the date of purchase; the local 
government pooled investment fund; negotiable certificates of deposit issued by commercial banks or insured 
savings and loans; short-term negotiable notes or bonds issued by local governments; and bankers' acceptances 
eligible by law for rediscount with the Federal Reserve Banks not to exceed 180 days.  Diversification of the 
District’s investments is guided by the Uniform Prudent Investors Act.

Custodial Credit Risk – The District Investment Policy requires FDIC coverage or collateralization on deposit-
type securities.  The District's cash accounts on deposit with financial institutions were covered by federal 
depository insurance and are collateralized by the Office of the State Treasurer/Nevada Collateral Pool.

Concentration Credit Risk – The District Investment Policy calls for diversification without setting maximum 
allocations.  The District invests in Federal government-sponsored enterprises (GSE) for safety and to meet 

Quoted Prices

Level 1

Observable 

Inputs 

Unobservable 

Inputs Total

Certificates of Deposit -$                 6,334,291$   -$                6,334,291$       

Government Agency Securities -                  1,902,300    -                  1,902,300        

Supranational Obligations -                  1,453,602    -                  1,453,602        

Investments not subject to fair value measurement:

Money Market Mutual Fund 10,966,410       

Local Government Investment Pool 15,719,546       

Total Fair Value Measurements 36,376,149$     

Fair Value Measurements as of June 30, 2024

2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Total

Certificates of Deposit 1,979,008$   2,923,668$   972,160$   459,455$   -$         6,334,291$   

Government Agency Securities 491,160       482,138       929,002     -          -           1,902,300     

Money Market Mutual Fund 10,966,410   -             -           -          -           10,966,410   

Local Government Investment Pool 15,719,546   -             -           -          -           15,719,546   

Supranational Obligations 1,453,602    -             -           -          -           1,453,602     

  Total 30,609,726$ 3,405,806$   1,901,162$ 459,455$   -$         36,376,149$  

Investment Maturities by Investment Type as of June 30, 2024

Total AAA AA+ Not Rated

Certificates of Deposit 6,334,291$     -$                  -$                6,334,291$     

Government Agency Securities 1,902,300       -                   1,902,300      -                  

Money Market Mutual Fund 10,966,410     10,966,410      -                  -                  

Local Government Investment Pool 15,719,546     -                   -                  15,719,546     

Supranational Obligations 1,453,602       494,621          958,981         -                  

36,376,149$    3,346,241$      -$                22,053,837$    

Ratings as of Year End

29 



statutory requirements.  Individual CD’s are held with a number of banks at or under the FDIC insured limited
calculated by those institutions.  LGIP is an unrated external investment pool administered by the State 
Treasurer, with oversight by the State of Nevada Board of Finance.

3. RESTRICTED DEPOSITS

The assets of the EPA State Revolving Fund (SRF) Reserve may be used to service the Nevada SRF Sewer 
Bond of 2002.  These restricted assets are pledged to provide a measure of security for the Nevada State Water 
Pollution Control Revolving Fund.  The pledge is for $213,000, interest earned is in the account at the District’s 
discretion.  The EPA SRF Reserve is in the LGIP Account totaling $419,945.  The assets in the TRPA (Tahoe 
Regional Planning Authority) Reserve may be used to satisfy performance obligations on projects authorized 
by the TRPA.  These usually cover several years for construction and inspection phases. The total required 
deposits are $211,778, and interest earned is in the account at the District’s discretion.  The TRPA Project 
Reserve is in the LGIP Account totaling $250,195.

4. LEASES RECEIVABLE

The District is a lessor in 4 cancellable leases for radio tower space rental. The leases require payments of $933 
and $1,815 monthly and annual payments from $20,764 to $119,166. The District recognized $131,864 in lease 
revenue and $43,343 in interest revenue during the current fiscal year related to these agreements.  As of June 
30, 2024, the lease receivable is $1,573,428 and deferred inflows of resource is $1,433,347

5. CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital Asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2024: Balance Balance

7/1/2023 * Increases Decreases June 30, 2024

Governmental Activities

Capital assets, not being depreciated

Land 11,098,740$         -$                      -$                      11,098,740$         

Construction in Progress 39,116                -                        (9,174)                 29,942                

Total governmental capital assets, not being depreciated 11,137,856          -                        (9,174)                 11,128,682          

Capital assets, being depreciated

Buildings and Structures 8,878,196            -                        -                        8,878,196            

Equipment and Vehicles 3,667,490            94,709                -                        3,762,199            

Subscription based IT arrangements 454,992              -                        -                        454,992              

Total governmental capital assets, being depreciated 13,000,678          94,709                -                        13,095,387          

Less accumulated depreciation for: 

Buildings and Structures (5,237,501)           (214,474)             -                        (5,451,975)           

Equipment and Vehicles (2,364,507)           (232,297)             -                        (2,596,804)           

Subscription based IT arrangements (104,998)             (104,998)             -                        (209,996)             

Total accumulated depreciation (7,707,006)           (551,769)             -                        (8,258,775)           

Total governmental capital assets being depreciated, net 5,293,672            (457,060)             -                        4,836,612            

Governmental Activities Capital Assets, net 16,431,528$         (457,060)$            (9,174)$               15,965,294$         

30 



The District has a number of Construction in Progress projects open as of June 30, 2024.  The Utility Fund includes 
$6,959,728 for the Effluent Export Line that project will be ongoing through in 2026. It is important to note that the 
District’s primary construction season is limited to May to October due to regulatory constraints imposed by the Tahoe 
Regional Planning Agency (TRPA).  Additionally, most equipment purchases (rolling stock) are aligned with the District's 
annual budget and fiscal year cycle.

Depreciation expenses for the year ended June 30, 2024 were charged to functions as follows:

Capital Asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2024:

Balance 

July 1, 2023* Increases Decreases

Balance 

June 30, 2024

Business-Type Activities

Capital assets not being depreciated

Land - Utilities 6,715,543$          -$                      -$                      6,715,543$          

Land - Community Services 3,886,737            -                        -                        3,886,737            

Land - Beach 2,304,850            -                        -                        2,304,850            

Construction in progress - Utilities 8,031,295            18,702,286          (13,488,109)         13,245,472          

Construction in progress - Community Services 519,798              3,262,091            (3,781,889)           -                        

Construction in progress - Beach 72,353                328,813              (90,109)               311,057              

Total capital assets, not being depreciated 21,530,576          22,293,190          (17,360,107)         26,463,659          

Capital assets, being depreciated

Buildings and structures - Utilities 130,808,449        12,616,316          (1,866,362)           141,558,403        

Buildings and structures - Community Services 33,172,771          1,956,991            -                        35,129,762          

Buildings and structures - Beach 7,234,695            42,029                -                        7,276,724            

Venue improvements - Community Services 29,337,771          -                        -                        29,337,771          

Venue improvements - Beach 2,038,694            -                        -                        2,038,694            

Equipment and vehicles - Utilities 3,845,634            903,445              -                        4,749,079            

Equipment and vehicles - Community Services 13,006,164          1,596,038            (549,365)             14,052,837          

Right to use leased equipment - Community Services 78,537                -                        -                        78,537                

Equipment and vehicles - Beach 531,928              -                        -                        531,928              

Total capital assets at historical cost 220,054,643        17,114,819          (2,415,727)           234,753,735        

Less accumulated depreciation for: 

Buildings and structures - Utilities (80,487,438)         (4,110,656)           1,866,362            (82,731,732)         

Buildings and structures - Community Services (16,858,917)         (1,151,375)           -                        (18,010,292)         

Buildings and structures - Beach (2,007,750)           (217,583)             -                        (2,225,333)           

Venue improvements - Community Services (18,427,394)         (813,073)             -                        (19,240,467)         

Venue improvements - Beach (1,585,731)           (109,841)             -                        (1,695,572)           

Equipment and vehicles - Utilities (2,948,671)           (266,560)             -                        (3,215,231)           

Equipment and vehicles - Community Services (8,445,204)           (957,886)             539,327              (8,863,763)           

Right to use leased equipment - Community Services (66,615)               (11,922)               -                        (78,537)               

Equipment and vehicles - Beach (394,750)             (38,427)               -                        (433,177)             

Total accumulated depreciation (131,222,470)       (7,677,323)           2,405,689            (136,494,104)       

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 88,832,173          9,437,496            (10,038)               98,259,631          

Business-Type Activities Capital Assets, net 110,362,749$       31,730,686$        (17,370,145)$       124,723,290$       

* Balance as of June 30, 2023 has been restated to transfer Park capital assets from Community Services to Governmental Activities.

Governmental Activities:

General Government 551,769$         

Business-Type Activities: 

Utilities 4,377,216        

Community Services 2,934,256        

Beach 365,851          

  Total Proprietary Depreciation 7,677,323        

    Total Depreciation Expense 8,229,092$      

31 



6.     COMPENSATED ABSENCES

At any given point the District has an obligation to its employees for the value of vacation time earned and not 
taken.  The obligation is measured by the value due as if the employee terminated.  The District allows retiring 
employees with an excess of 20 years of service, and that have accrued sick leave, to have it converted to Medical 
Retiree Benefit for reimbursing post-employment heath related costs.  There are 4 eligible employees covered.  
The District has no other post-employment benefit obligations for health insurance or retirement benefits.

7. UNEARNED REVENUE

The District receives a number of payments that will be recognized as revenue or a liquidated liability based 
upon a future transaction when the service is provided.  In the Enterprise Funds, these include:

8. INTERFUND ACCOUNTS AND TRANSFERS

The outstanding balances between funds results mainly from the time lag between the dates that (1) inter fund 
goods and services are provided or reimbursable expenditures occur, (2) transactions are recorded in the 
accounting system, and (3) payments between funds are made.  All interfund receivables and payables resulted 
from short-term borrowing to cover negative cash balances.  Interfund receivable and payable balances at June 
30, 2024 are as follows:

9. LONG-TERM DEBT

All of the District’s Long-Term Bonds are collateralized by a pledge of revenues derived and to be derived from 
the operation of either the Utility, Community Services or Beach venues, after deduction there from of the 
amount necessary to pay all operating and maintenance charges as required by applicable bond agreements. The 
District is also required to maintain rates sufficient to pay all maintenance, depreciation, replacement, 
betterment, and interest charges.

Balance Balance Amount due 

June 30, 2023 Additions Payments June 30, 2024 within one year

Sick Leave Retirement Benefit 292,953$         68,606$           (27,251)$          334,308$         313,297$         

Accrued Vacation 721,590           960,436           (800,813)          881,213           564,661           

  Total compensated absences 1,014,543$       1,029,042$       (828,064)$        1,215,521$       877,958$         

Issue Maturity Interest Amount Principal Current

Issue Date Date Rate Issued Outstanding Portion

Governmental Activities:

SBITA Payable 6/30/2024 7/1/2027 4.00% 454,992        239,996$      114,998$      

  Total Governmental Long-Term Liabilities 239,996        114,998        

Business-Type Activities:

  Utility

State of Nevada:

Water IVGID-1 7/1/20259/9/2004 3.08% 1,687,282     165,351        109,388        

Sewer CS32-0404 (G.O.) 1/1/20268/1/2006 2.73% 3,000,000     401,311        197,940        

Water DW-1201 (G.O.) 3/16/2012 1/1/2032 2.39% 3,000,000     1,400,496      160,855        

Water SRF -CW2303 4/11/2023 1/1/2053 2.19% 15,760,000    4,336,937      -                 

Water SRF -CW2402 1/1/20531/1/2024 2.19% 15,760,000    55,000          -                 

Total Utility Revenue Supported Debt 6,359,095      468,183        

Total Debt – All Activities 6,599,091$   583,181$      

Outstanding Long-Term Debt as of June 30, 2024:

Community

Services Beach Utility Total

Billed in advance 846,676$      63,190$    133,181$   1,043,047$    

Unexpired season passes 1,305,111     -             -               1,305,111     

Gift cards 46,115         -             -               46,115         

Total 2,197,902$    63,190$    133,181$   2,394,273$    

Due To Due from Amount

Internal Service Fund General Fund  $166,344

32 



The Water SRF – CW2303 loan balance of $4,336,937 and Water SRF – CW2402 loan balance of $55,000 is 
not included in the debt service requirement schedule above as the payment terms have not yet been 
determined.

At June 30, 2024, principal and interest to maturity to be paid from pledged future Utility Revenues totals 
$1,967,158 and $165,362.  

Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements

Subscription-based information technology arrangements (SBITAs) that meet the requirements of GASB 96 
for which the District is a subscriber are disclosed as SBITA liabilities on the District’s financial statements that 
are presented on the accrual basis of accounting with an economic resources measurement focus. Included in 
the District’s SBITA liabilities are subscriptions related to Enterprise Resource Planning system (Tyler Munis). 
GASB 96 excludes certain outflows (e.g., certain variable payments, etc.) from the measurement of SBITA 
liabilities. Future subscription payments for the District’s SBITA liabilities are included in the schedule above.
At June 30, 2024, capital assets net of accumulated depreciation related to these SBITA arrangements are 
$244,996.

Long-Term Debt changes for the year:

Beginning New Principal Ending Due Within

Balance Issues Reductions Balance One Year

   SBITAs Payable 349,994$         -$                  109,998$         239,996$         114,998$         

   Governmental Type ActivitiesTotal 349,994          -                   109,998          239,996          114,998          

   Water IVGID-1 271,444          -                   106,093          165,351          109,388          

   Sewer CS32-0404 (GO) 593,965          -                   192,654          401,311          197,940          

   Water DW-1201 (GO) 1,557,574        -                   157,078          1,400,496        160,855          

   Water SRF -CW2303 82,500            4,254,437        -                   4,336,937        -                   

   Water SRF -CW2402 -                   55,000            -                   55,000            -                   

   PNC Equipment Lease 16,641            -                   16,641            -                   -                   

   Business Type Total 2,522,124        4,309,437        472,466          6,359,095        468,183          

Total Debt 2,872,118$      4,309,437$      582,464$         6,599,091$      583,181$         

By Debt Type:

  General Obligation 2,151,539$      -$                  349,732$         1,801,807$      358,795$         

  Revenue 271,444          -                   106,093          165,351          109,388          

  SRF Loan 82,500            4,309,437        -                   4,391,937        -                   

  SBITAs Payable 349,994          -                   109,998          239,996          114,998          

  Lease 16,641            -                   16,641            -                   -                   

Total Debt 2,872,118$      4,309,437$      582,464$         6,599,091$      583,181$         

Future Debt Service Requirements as of June 30, 2024:

 Fiscal Year

Ending June 30 Principal Interest Principal Interest

2025 468,183$       46,373$        114,998$       10,000$   

2026 424,055        33,677          124,998         -            

2027 168,683        24,689          -                  -            

2028 172,739        20,633          -                  -            

2029 176,892        16,480          -                  -            

2030-2032 556,606        23,510          -                  -            

Total 1,967,158$    165,362$       239,996$       10,000$   

Debt Supported by

Utility Revenue SBITAs Payable

33 



10. DISTRICT RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The District has two retirement plans covering substantially all of its full-time year round employees.  Those 
not covered under the Pension Trust Fund for Operating Engineers are covered by the District's Money 
Purchase Pension Plan (Section 401(a)).   The District also sponsors a Section 457 Deferred Compensation 
Plan.  No trust is used in relation to these plans; account balances are in the name of the individual employee.

The District's Money Purchase Pension Section 401(a) Plan is a defined contribution plan.  The plan is 
administered by third party administrators.  In a defined contribution plan, benefits depend solely on amounts 
contributed to the plan plus investment earnings.  Employees are eligible to participate after six months of 
service.  The District's provides a non-elective contribution of 13.3% of the employee’s earnings.  The District's 
contributions for each employee are fully vested after four years of service.  District contributions and interest 
forfeited by employees who leave employment before fully vesting, are used to reduce the District's current-
period contribution requirement.  Employees are not allowed to contribute directly into this plan.

The Pension Trust Fund for Operating Engineers is a cost sharing, multiple employer, defined benefit plan 
contract between the District's employees and the Operating Engineers Union.   The plan provides retirement 
and medical benefits to eligible participants based on a formula of years of service and reaching a qualifying 
age.  It is available to approximately 66 positions in the District, covered by the collective bargaining agreements, 
with only four electing to do so. The District is not a party to this defined benefit plan.  The District's liability 
under the union collective bargaining agreement is limited to making monthly contributions based on union 
employees’ pay for hours worked.  Consequently, the District is not liable for any funding shortage of the 
defined benefit plan.  Each year the District contributions to the plan equal 100% of the District’s liability under 
the bargaining agreement. The Pension Trust Fund for Operating Engineers issues a publicly available financial 
report that includes financial statements and required supplementary information.  That report may be obtained 
by writing to the Pension Trust Fund for Operating Engineers, 1600 Harbor Bay Parkway, Suite 200, Alameda, 
California 94502 or by calling (800) 251-5014.

The District’s Deferred Compensation (Section 457) Plan is a defined contribution plan.  The plan is 
administered by third party administrators.  In a defined contribution plan, benefits depend solely on amounts 
contributed to the plan plus investment earnings.  Employees are eligible to participate immediately after the 
first day of a month of employment.  Employee contributions are subject to Internal Revenue Service 
regulations for Section 457 plans.  The District provides a matching contribution up to 6%.  Both employee 
and District contributions are fully vested 100% as made.

The District's total contributions equal to required contributions for employees covered by the above plans are 
as follows:

401(a) Money Operating Employer Employee
FYE June 30 Purchase Engineers           Section 457 Section 457

2024 $1,257,372 $ 134,943 $ 528,065 $ 755,405

The District offers its employees deferred compensation plans created in accordance with Internal Revenue 
Code Section 457.  The plans, available to all District employees, permit them to defer a portion of their earnings 
until future years.  The deferred compensation benefit is not collectible by employees until termination, 
retirement, death, or unforeseeable emergency.

34 



11. SCHEDULE OF INSURANCE COVERAGE AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Insurance Coverage on June 30, 2024 consists of the following:  

Type Carrier/Provider       Amount

Property Liability on buildings & contents NV Public Agency Pool $ 300,000,000

Earthquake & Flood NV Public Agency Pool 150,000,000

Boiler & Machinery NV Public Agency Pool 100,000,000

General Liability NV Public Agency Pool 10,000,000

Cyber Security Event NV Public Agency Pool 3,000,000

Money & Securities NV Public Agency Pool 500,000

Site Pollution Incident NV Public Agency Pool 2,000,000

Ski Resort Gen. Liability Nova Casualty Company 1,000,000

Ski Resort Excess Liability Nova Casualty Company 6,000,000

Workers Compensation NV Public Agency Comp. Trust 2,000,000

The District has elected to participate in the Nevada Public Agency Insurance Pool.  The risk-sharing Pool 
secures insurance coverage for all its members.  The Pool agreement provides coverage for the equivalent of 
errors and omissions and directors’ and officers’ acts.  The Pool does not offer general or excess liability 
coverage for the Diamond Peak Ski Resort.  Therefore, separate coverage is purchased.

A portion of each member’s premium contributions to the Pool goes into the Loss Fund and the remainder 
pays for the excess insurance premiums and administrative expenses.  The amount of the Loss Fund 
contribution is determined by the underwriters based on each member's average annual losses over the prior
five years.  This amount may vary each year.

The Pool pays all losses from the Loss Fund per occurrence, less the member's maintenance deductible.  The 
District has a $5,000 deductible.  Excess insurance above the Pool’s self-funded amount, is provided by 
secondary markets based on arrangements made with the Pool, including a Pool owned captive.

There were no District settlements in excess of insurance coverage in any of the three prior fiscal years.

Ski Liability Insurance is not covered by the Nevada Public Agency Insurance Pool.  A separate insurance 
program, less the District’s $10,000 deductible, provides coverage.

The District has elected to participate in the Nevada Public Agency Compensation Trust (NVPACT) to provide 
workers compensation coverage for all employees.   The District pays quarterly assessments.  The assessments 
are based on actuarial estimates provided by NVPACT utilizing covered payroll data for the most recent 
calendar year.  A portion of each member’s assessment goes into the Loss Fund and the remainder pays for the 
excess insurance premiums and administrative expenses.  This amount may vary each year.

12. PLEDGED REVENUE AND COVERAGE

The District has a number of debt issuances outstanding that are collateralized by the pledging of certain 
revenues. The amount and term of the remainder of these commitments are indicated in the debt service to 
maturity tables presented in note 9. The purposes for which the proceeds of the related debt issuances were 
utilized are disclosed in the debt descriptions in note 9. For the current year, debt service payments as a 
percentage of pledged gross revenue are indicated in the table below. These percentages also approximate the 
relationship of debt service to pledged revenue for the remainder of the term of the commitment:

35 



For the current year, debt service payments as a percentage of pledged gross revenue are indicated in the table 
below. These percentages also approximate the relationship of debt service to pledged revenue for the 
remainder of the term of the commitment:

Debt Service as a
Annual Amount Annual Debt Percentage of

Description of Pledge Revenue of Pledged Revenue Service Payments Pledged Revenue

Sewer Service Revenue $8,837,018 $207,536 2.35%
Water Service Revenue 6,437,227 307,020 4.77%

13. CLAIMS PAYABLE

Claims payable are as follows for the last two fiscal years:

Beginning of Year Additions Deletions End of Year
FY2023 $763,479 - 356,533 406,946
FY2024 $406,946 130,000 (406,946) 130,000

14. BOARD DESIGNATIONS

At its meeting of March 3, 2020, the Board of Trustees took action to assign $9,656,890 for the purpose of 
earmarking these funds for the Effluent Export Pipeline Project.  On August 12, 2020, the Board designated 
an additional $1,912,767 for this purpose. As of June 30, 2021, an additional $1,889,210 in unexpended 
FY2020/21 appropriations were designated for this project. When combined with an additional $754,568 in 
accrued interest earnings, the total funding designated by the Board of Trustees for the Effluent Export Pipeline 
Project amounted to $14,213,435. As of June 30, 2024 the level of funding set-aside by the Board for this 
purpose was used as a result of project spending.  In fiscal year 2023 additional project funds were secured 
through a State Revolving Fund loan.  Funds designated for the Effluent Export Pipeline Project represent a 
portion of funds received by the District from utility rate revenues established and collected specifically for 
Utility capital improvement projects.

Notwithstanding the Board’s action to designate funding for the Effluent Pipeline Project, this funding remains 
in the unrestricted net position of the District’s business-type activities on the government-wide Statement of 
Net Position.  This is due to the determination that the Board’s designation does not rise to the level of meeting 
the criteria set forth in GASB Statement No. 34 for restricted net position within proprietary funds.

15. LEASE AGREEMENTS

Revenue:

Non-operating revenue  includes  rent  received  for  cell  towers on District property.  The District  has  an 
agreement with American Tower for a tower at the Mountain Golf Course. The current term started in April 
2017, and was extended five years through 2027 with rent increases of $3 per year, cancelable by either party. 
The District has two agreements with AT&T for a tower at the Mountain Golf Course and a tower at Diamond 
Peak. The term for the tower at the Mountain Golf Course Tower started in October 2015 and was extended 
five years, through 2039, with rent increases of 3$ per year, cancelable by the tenant. The tower at Diamond 
Peak Ski Resort has a term started in July 2018 for 5 years and was extended five years, with rent increases of 
3.5% per year, cancelable by the tenant, through 2037. The District has an agreement with T-Mobile (assigned 
to Crown Castle) for a cell tower lease at Diamond Peak Ski Resort with a term from June 2017 to 2027. In 
fiscal year 2024 the District received from these agreements $208,022 in lease revenue and $41,802 in interest 
revenue.

36 



 

District leases 1.5 acres of property adjacent to the Incline Village Middle School to the Parasol Foundation for 
$1.00 per year. 

District leases property located at 969 Tahoe Boulevard to the Reno-Sparks Convention and Visitor Authority 
for $1.00 per year. 

Expenses: 

The District holds a Use Permit for Diamond Peak operations and activities on property owned by the U.S. 
Forest Service adjacent to District-owned property.  The District pays an annual permit fee based on revenues 
generated by selected Ski operations. The agreement does not meet the criteria for recording a lease payable as 
the payment amounts are dependent on future events. 
 
16.  COMMUNITY SERVICES AND BEACH FUNDS 

The  District  provides recreation  functions  through two  of  its  proprietary enterprise  funds.   Each  serves  
a different set of venues and customer base.  A significant source of revenue for these functions for operations, 
capital expenditure and debt service comes directly from a facility fee assessed by parcel for each function and 
expenditure type.  Facility Fees have been listed separately by fund.  The operating portion of the assessed 
facility fee  is  combined  with charges for services  to provide  the resources  for providing services Charges 
for services are aggregated, while expenditures are provided by function. As stated in Note 1 T, part of the 
facility fee can be used to pay for charges for services in lieu of other forms of payment.   These are referred to 
as Punch Cards. 
 
17.  COMMITMENTS AFFECTING FUTURE PERIODS 

General Fund: 

The District entered into an unemployment insurance contract with First Nonprofit Companies for total 
premiums of $212,700 for calendar year 2024 services.  As of June 30, 2024, $106,350 in quarterly deposits are 
remaining as a part of the subsequent year’s budget. 

Capital Improvement Project Budget Carry-Forward: 

The District budgets for capital improvement projects one year at a time for spending authority.  The actual 
execution of construction or acquisition can span one or more fiscal years.  The District identifies carryover 
and unspent budget authority for those projects.  The amounts for governmental fund types are re-budgeted 
for the subsequent fiscal year.  The unused Utility Fund, Community Services Fund, and Beach Fund resources 
become part of Unrestricted Net Position, and are budgeted under cash flow on the State of NV budget forms.  
Board-approved amounts carried-forward at year-end are as follows: 

Utility Fund $29,739,707 
Community Services Fund   20,500 
Beach Fund                7,643 

    Total Carry Forward            $29,767,849 
 

 

 

 

 

 

37 



 

The District has committed to contractual obligations for selected capital improvement projects through 
contracts, resulting in encumbered funds at year-end.  These are included in the appropriations carry-forward 
to the FY2024/25 budget, and are summarized as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

18. STATE OF NEVADA TAX ABATEMENTS AFFECTING DISTRICT REVENUES 

The State of Nevada has entered into various tax abatement agreements that reduce the tax revenues of local 
governments.  Taxes reduced include the Consolidated Tax, which includes allocated sales and use tax revenue.  
State law establishes the abatements. The District’s estimated share of abatements for this fiscal year is $7,142.  
 
19. PRIOR PERIOD RESTATEMENTS 

During the current fiscal year, the District identified errors in the previously issued financial statements for the 
year ended June 30, 2023. As a result, the beginning fund balances and net position as of July 1, 2023, have 
been restated. 
 
In addition, effective July 1, 2023, the District’s Board of Directors approved the reclassification of Park 
activities from the Community Services Fund to the General Fund. The activity was previously reported as a 
proprietary fund; however, the Board determined that its operations are more appropriately reflected within 
governmental activities. 
 

PO 

Number
Fund Description

  Total 

Amount  

 Remaining 

Balance
Vendor

22400050 Beach Axess - RFID Beach Access 11,584$        7,624$          Axess Americas INC

22400221 Beach Axess - RFID Smart Scanner 

600

7,624           -              Axess Americas INC

22400267 Beach Incline Beach House & Ski 

Beach Topo Survey.

21,750          18               Shaw Engineering, LTD

22400284 Beach Incline Beach House 

Geotech Investigation

10,300          -              Black Eagle Consulting, Inc.

22400287 Community 

Services

Rec Center HVAC Design 

Work

185,500        5,500           Ainsworth Associates 

Mechanical Engineers

22400068 Community 

Services

Snowmaking Infrastructure 

Replacement

413,169        15,000          TechnoAlpin USA, Inc

22400260 Golf Skate Park 30% Design 20,000          -              Spohn Ranch Inc

22400236 Utility Alder Avenue Waterlines - 

Construction.

536,517        -              Gerhardt & Berry 

Construction Inc

22400231 Utility Amendment 10; Effluent 

Tank construction.

200,157        133,795        Jacobs Engineering Group 

Inc

22400302 Utility BCWDP Cable Replacement 11,954          1,682           DXP Enterprises, Inc.

22400168 Utility Effluent Export Pipeline 

Construction, GMP 2

46,744,705    28,720,462    Granite Construction 

Company

22400273 Utility Effluent Pipeline 

Construction Services

59,141          36,970          HDR Engineering, Inc.

22400232 Utility Effluent Storage Tank CMAR 

Project - Construction

6,636,174      508,988        Granite Construction 

Company

22400186 Utility SPS #1 Improvements 

Project.

1,173,500      274,607        San Joaquin Electric, Inc.

22400185 Utility SPS 1 Construction 

Management services.

29,620          7,383           DOWL, LLC

22400080 Utility SPS 1 Mechanical Engineer 

sub-consultant.

17,250          1,331           DOWL, LLC

22400148 Utility WRRF Centrifuge 

repair/maintenance.

171,880        54,489          Centrisys Corporation

Total Carryforward 56,250,825$  29,767,849$   

38 



The following table summarizes the effects of these restatements on the beginning fund balances and net 
position as of July 1, 2023:

20. EXCESS OF EXPENDITURES OVER APPROPRIATIONS

Expenditures exceeded budgeted appropriations in the following funds for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024:

General Fund

Community 

Services Fund Utility Fund Beach Fund

Internal 

Service Fund

Governmental 

Activities

Business-Type 

Activities

 Fund Balance / Net Position

  As reported at June 30, 2023 4,682,526$     65,237,011$  81,577,078$ 15,159,525$ (613,078)$   7,078,141$    161,973,614$  

Change within financial

 reporting entity:

Park activities (1,373,824)      (11,022,190)  -             -             -            11,022,190    (11,022,190)    

Correction of errors:

 Accrued liabilities (5,612)            -             -             -             -            (5,612)          -               

 Unrecorded receivables -               -             173,383       -             -            -              173,383         

 Unearned revenue -               (363,135)      (13,845)       -             -            -              (376,980)        

Correction of internal service

 charges for services (17,681)          -             (57,133)       (218,263)      293,077      275,397        (275,396)        

Total Restatement (1,397,117)      (11,385,325)  102,405       (218,263)      293,077      11,291,975    (11,501,183)    

Fund Balance, July 1, as restated 3,285,409$     

Net position, July 1, as restated 53,851,686$  81,679,483$ 14,941,262$ (320,001)$   18,370,116$   150,472,431$  

Statement of ActivitiesFund Financial Statements

Fund Excess

Utilities Fund                               15,545,524$ 15,752,260$     (206,736)$           

Community Service Fund 23,570,366   23,608,957       (38,591)               

Beach Fund 2,777,687     3,054,542         (276,855)             

Internal Service Fund 3,519,107     3,795,973         (276,866)             

Final Budget Actual Expenditures

39 



INCLINE VILLAGE GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT
SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER REQUIRED CONTRIBUTIONS
TO DEFINED CONTRIBUTION MULTI-EMPLOYER PLANS
FOR THE TEN MOST RECENT FISCAL YEARS

Operating Engineers

Number of Covered Required
For the year ending June 30: Participants Payroll Contributions

2024 11                   1,017,303          134,943             
2023 7                     571,293             54,149               
2022 4                     407,132             54,149               
2021 4                     373,171             45,900               
2020 4                     323,455             39,810               

2019 4                     318,699             39,200               

2018 4                     308,114             37,898               

2017 4                     315,764             38,839               

2016 5                     346,008             42,559               

2015 4                     275,846             33,929               

See notes to required supplementary information

40 



INCLINE VILLAGE GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT
GENERAL FUND
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND
  CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Variance
Positive

Original Final Actual (Negative)
REVENUES
  Ad valorem taxes 2,145,020$        2,145,020$        2,142,172$        (2,848)$              
  Personal Property Tax 13,000               13,000               18,705               5,705                 
  Intergovernmental:
     Consolidated Tax 1,910,494          1,910,494          1,761,495          (148,999)            
     Local Government Tax Act 269,300             269,300             279,095             9,795                 
Rental income -                        -                        61,760               61,760               
Investment income 111,000             111,000             47,302               (63,698)              
Charges for services -                        -                        42,120               42,120               
           Total revenues 4,448,814          4,448,814          4,352,649          (96,165)              

EXPENDITURES
Current:
  General manager 843,589             843,589             720,485             123,104             
  Trustees 201,395             201,395             139,382             62,013               
  Accounting 352,171             1,761,433          884,285             877,148             
  Information services 1,525,398          1,579,042          1,394,237          184,805             
  Human resources 341,516             341,516             198,398             143,118             
  Health & wellness 68,529               68,529               65,402               3,127                 
  Community & employee relations 227,248             227,248             193,066             34,182               
  Administration 1,428,645          1,428,645          2,418,455          (989,810)            
  Risk management 165,885             165,885             103,697             62,188               
Capital Outlay 2,382,443          2,130,517          94,709               2,035,808          
Debt Service:
  Principal -                        -                        109,998             (109,998)            
  Interest -                        -                        15,000               (15,000)              
           Total expenditures 7,536,819          8,747,799          6,337,114          2,410,685          

Net change in fund balance (3,088,005)         (4,298,985)         (1,984,465)         2,314,520          

Fund Balance, July 1, as previously reported 4,682,526          4,682,526          4,682,526          -                        
Restatement for change within -                        (1,373,824)         (1,373,824)         -                        
  financial reporting entity
Restatement for correction of error -                        (23,293)              (23,293)              -                        
Fund Balance, July 1, as restated 4,682,526          3,285,409          3,285,409          -                        
Fund balance, June 30 1,594,521$        (1,013,576)$       1,300,944$        2,314,520$        

Budgeted Amounts

See notes to required supplementary information.

41 



INCLINE VILLAGE GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT
UTILITIES FUND
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN
  NET POSITION - BUDGET AND ACTUALS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Variance
Positive

Original Final Actual (Negative)
OPERATING REVENUES
  Sales and fees 16,141,216$      16,141,216$      15,846,029$    (295,187)$        
  Operating grants -                       -                       455                 455                  
  Interfund services 64,270              64,270              62,105            (2,165)              
           Total operating revenues 16,205,486        16,205,486        15,908,589      (296,897)          

OPERATING EXPENSES
  Wages and benefits 5,712,748          5,712,748          5,580,458        132,290           
  Services and supplies 3,837,488          5,061,450          3,353,151        1,708,299        
  Defensible space 100,000             100,000             99,105            895                  
  Central services cost -                       -                       629,130          (629,130)          
  Insurance 261,200             261,200             317,444          (56,244)            
  Utilities 1,112,376          1,112,376          1,302,479        (190,103)          
  Professional fees 172,050             172,050             93,277            78,773             
  Depreciation 3,125,700          3,125,700          4,377,216        (1,251,516)       
           Total operating expenses 14,321,562        15,545,524        15,752,260      (206,736)          
           Operating income 1,883,924          659,962             156,329          (503,633)          

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
  Investment earnings (losses) 352,600             352,600             1,276,787        924,187           
  Interest expense (58,730)             (58,730)             (92,006)           (33,276)            
           Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 293,870             293,870             1,184,781        890,911           
      Income before transfers and contributions 2,177,794          953,832             1,341,110        387,278           

  Capital Grant Contributions -                       5,529,250          364,011          (5,165,239)       

Change in net position 2,177,794          6,483,082          1,705,121        (4,777,961)       

Total net position, July 1 as previously reported 81,577,078        81,577,078        81,577,078      -                      
Restatement for correction of error -                       102,405             102,405          -                      
Net position, July 1 as restated 81,577,078        81,679,483        81,679,483      -                      

Total net position, June 30 83,754,872$      88,162,565$      83,384,604$    (4,777,961)$      

Budgeted Amounts

42 



INCLINE VILLAGE GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT
COMMUNITY SERVICES FUND
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN
  NET POSITION - BUDGET AND ACTUALS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Variance
Positive

Original Final Actual (Negative)
OPERATING REVENUES
  Sales and fees 22,122,542$       22,122,542$       20,981,651$        (1,140,891)              
  Operating grants 116,984             116,984             21,741                (95,243)                  
  Recreation fee -                        -                        2,338                  2,338                     
           Total operating revenues 22,239,526         22,239,526         21,005,730         (1,233,796)              

OPERATING EXPENSES
  Wages and benefits 10,793,062         10,793,062         11,741,620         (948,558)                 
  Cost of goods sold 1,685,505          1,685,505          1,248,217           437,288                  
  Services and supplies 4,992,394          5,320,347          4,341,136           979,211                  
  Defensible space 100,000             100,000             79,790                20,210                    
  Central services cost 1,188,682          1,552,682          1,188,682           364,000                  
  Insurance 485,900             485,900             379,042              106,858                  
  Utilities 1,147,515          1,147,515          1,620,577           (473,062)                 
  Professional fees 40,255               40,255               75,637                (35,382)                  
  Depreciation 2,445,100          2,445,100          2,934,256           (489,156)                 
           Total operating expenses 22,878,413         23,570,366         23,608,957         (38,591)                  
           Operating income (638,887)            (1,330,840)         (2,603,227)          (1,272,387)              

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
  Investment earnings (losses) 407,900             407,900             805,562              397,662                  
  Loss on disposition of capital assets -                        -                        1,739                  1,739                     
  Insurance proceeds -                        -                        8,857                  8,857                     
  Lease revenue 128,950             128,950             208,022              79,072                    
  Interest expense -                        -                        (1,874)                 (1,874)                    
           Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 536,850             536,850             1,022,306           485,456                  

Change in net position (102,037)            (793,990)            (1,580,921)          (786,931)                 

Total net position, July 1 53,851,686         53,851,686         53,851,686         -                             

Total net position, June 30 53,749,649$       53,057,696$       52,270,765$        (786,931)$               

Budgeted Amounts

43 



INCLINE VILLAGE GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT
BEACH FUND
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN
  NET POSITION - BUDGET AND ACTUALS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Variance
Positive

Original Final Actual (Negative)
OPERATING REVENUES
  Sales and fees 1,297,900$         1,297,900$         1,483,753$             185,853$                
  Recreation fee 3,525,340          3,525,340          3,539,409               14,069                    
           Total operating revenues 4,823,240          4,823,240          5,023,162               199,922                  

OPERATING EXPENSES
  Wages and benefits 1,162,001          1,162,001          1,621,831               (459,830)                 
  Cost of goods sold -                        -                        36,257                    (36,257)                  
  Services and supplies 619,879             959,448             625,095                  334,353                  
  Central services cost 138,488             179,688             138,488                  41,200                    
  Insurance 48,600               48,600               63,854                    (15,254)                  
  Utilities 113,100             113,100             171,688                  (58,588)                  
  Professional fees 17,850               17,850               31,478                    (13,628)                  
  Depreciation 297,000             297,000             365,851                  (68,851)                  
           Total operating expenses 2,396,918          2,777,687          3,054,542               (276,855)                 
           Operating income 2,426,322          2,045,553          1,968,620               (76,933)                  

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
  Investment earnings (losses) 96,400               96,400               263,959                  167,559                  
           Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 96,400               96,400               263,959                  167,559                  

Change in net position 2,522,722          2,141,953          2,232,579               90,626                    

Total net position, July 1 as previously reported 15,159,525         15,159,525         15,159,525             -                             
Restatement for correction of error -                        (218,263)            (218,263)                 -                             
Net position, July 1 as restated 15,159,525         14,941,262         14,941,262             -                             

Total net position, June 30 17,682,247$       17,083,215$       17,173,841$           90,626$                  

Budgeted Amounts

44 



INCLINE VILLAGE GENERAL IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT
INTERNAL SERVICES FUND
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN
  NET POSITION - BUDGET AND ACTUALS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Variance
Positive

Original Final Actual (Negative)
OPERATING REVENUES
  Interfund services 3,584,623$         3,584,623$         3,809,228$             224,605$              
  Operating grants -                        -                        253                        253                      
           Total operating revenues 3,584,623          3,584,623          3,809,481               224,858               

OPERATING EXPENSES
  Wages and benefits 2,494,198          2,494,198          2,691,433               (197,235)              
  Services and supplies 973,509             973,509             1,063,177               (89,668)                
  Insurance 19,500               19,500               23,332                    (3,832)                  
  Utilities 9,700                 9,700                 11,586                    (1,886)                  
  Professional fees 15,000               15,000               1,760                     13,240                 
  Depreciation 7,200                 7,200                 4,685                     2,515                   
           Total operating expenses 3,519,107          3,519,107          3,795,973               (276,866)              
           Operating income 65,516               65,516               13,508                    (52,008)                

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
  Investment earnings (losses) -                        -                        1,742                     1,742                   
           Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) -                        -                        1,742                     1,742                   

Change in net position 65,516               65,516               15,250                    (50,266)                

Total net position, July 1 as previously reported (613,078)            (613,078)            (613,078)                 -                          
Restatement for correction of error -                        293,077             293,077                  -                          
Net position, July 1 as restated (613,078)            (320,001)            (320,001)                 -                          

Total net position (deficit), June 30 (547,562)$          (254,485)$          (304,751)$               (50,266)$              

Budgeted Amounts

45 



  

 
 

 

REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON 
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING 
STANDARDS 

 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

 

Board of Trustees 

Incline Village General Improvement District 

Incline Village, Nevada 

 

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial 

statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and 
the aggregate remaining fund information of Incline Village General Improvement District 
(District) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2024, and the related notes to the financial 

statements, which collectively comprise the District’s basic financial statements, and have 
issued a qualified opinion because we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence supporting $743,724 of inventories at June 30, 2024.  Our report thereon is dated 

June 11, 2025. 

 

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the District’s 

internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our 
opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the District’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the District’s internal control. 

 

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose 

described in the preceding paragraph and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in 

internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, 

material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that have not been identified. 

However, as discussed below, we identified certain deficiencies in internal control that we 

consider to be material weaknesses and significant deficiencies.  

 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 

management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 

prevent, or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a 

deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable 

possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be 

prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. We consider the deficiencies described 

in 2024-001 through 2024-004 and 2024-006 to be material weaknesses. 

 
2024-001 Journal Entries Detected During the Audit 

 
An important element of control over financial reporting is for management to identify 
adjustments necessary for financial statements to be fairly stated. Whenever possible, 
adjustments should be reflected in the accounting records prior to the start of the audit. 

46 



  

When this is not possible, management should identify and communicate to the auditors 
the potential areas of adjustment that may need to be addressed during the audit process. 
Auditing standards require the reporting of material adjustments identified through the 
audit process as weaknesses in an entity’s internal control structure. 
 
Material and immaterial audit adjustments recorded during the audit are included in the 
attached schedule.  

 
Recommendation 
 
We recommend that IVGID enhance its year-end closing procedures to include areas that 
resulted in audit adjustments.   
 
Management’s Response Regarding Corrective Action Taken or Planned 
 
Management agrees with the recommendation and recognizes the importance of 
identifying and recording all necessary adjustments prior to the commencement of the 
annual audit. 
 
The year-end checklist and closing timeline, initially developed for fiscal year 2023, will 
be revised and expanded to include all key areas that resulted in audit adjustments. The 
updated checklist will serve as a comprehensive tool to guide the year-end close and 
ensure timely completion of all required reconciliations, schedules, and entries. 
 
In addition, management will provide targeted training to accounting staff to ensure they 
understand the year-end procedures, the importance of timely and accurate entries, and 
the necessity of communicating any complex or uncertain items to auditors in advance. 
 
These improvements will strengthen the District’s internal controls over financial reporting 
and improve the accuracy and completeness of financial statements prior to the audit. 
 

2024-002 Timeliness of Financial Reporting and Account Reconciliations 
 
Due to the introduction of a new accounting system in July 2022 and significant turnover 
of District finance staff during 2023 and 2024, there was a significant delay in financial 
reporting and account reconciliations including bank reconciliations and reconciliations of 
accounting system balances to subsidiary ledgers.  

 
Recommendation 
 
To allow management and the Board of Trustees with accurate and timely information to 
enable them to make informed decisions, the bank reconciliations should be completed 
within 30 days of month end.  The District staff should reconcile other asset and liability 
balances to subsidiary listings on a monthly basis to ensure there are no errors in the 
financial statements.  This would include reconciling receivables, payables, and unearned 
revenues to supporting documentation.  Capital asset accounting should be recorded and 
reconciled throughout the year to ensure the accuracy of the accounting records.  The 
District should ensure their staffing and systems are sufficient to allow for timely reporting 
to meet State and other reporting deadlines. 
 
Management’s Response Regarding Corrective Action Taken or Planned 
 
Management acknowledges the delays in financial reporting and account reconciliations 
that occurred due to the implementation of a new accounting system and staff turnover 
in fiscal years 2023 and 2024. 

47 



  

 
To address these challenges, the District is taking the following corrective actions: 

• Bank Reconciliations: Procedures have been updated to ensure that all bank 
reconciliations are completed within 30 days of month-end. This timeline is being 
monitored and enforced as part of the monthly closing process. 

• Monthly Reconciliations: Staff are now required to reconcile all key asset and 
liability accounts—such as receivables, payables, and unearned revenues—to 
supporting documentation on a monthly basis. These reconciliations are being 
reviewed by supervisory personnel for accuracy and completeness. 

• Capital Asset Accounting: Interim procedures have been established to record 
and reconcile capital asset activity throughout the fiscal year. The planned 
implementation of the Capital Asset Module in FY25–26 will further improve the 
accuracy and timeliness of capital asset reporting. 

• Staffing and Training: Management is actively evaluating staffing levels and has 
initiated targeted training to ensure all accounting personnel are equipped to meet 
financial reporting deadlines and maintain accurate records. 

 
2024-003 Physical Inventory Observation 

 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024, the District staff performed a physical observation 
and count of inventory assets held at several locations.  However, a physical observation 
and count of inventory assets was not performed at the Diamond Peak Pro Shop and for 
the Internal Service Fund parts inventory. We also identified several fuel inventory and 
inventory clearing accounts with negative balances in the Community Services Fund 
totaling $69,130. Additionally, we performed test counts of 40 inventory items at the 
Champion Pro Shop and the Mountain Pro Shop at June 30, 2024.  For 20% of the sample, 
there were differences between the number of items we counted and the number of items 
reported in the accounting records.  As a result, we are unable to obtain sufficient audit 
evidence that the amounts in the accounting records are accurate.   
 
Recommendations 
 
We recommend that the District perform annual physical observation and counts of 
inventory on all assets held as inventory. After the physical observation is performed, the 
accounting records should be adjusted to update the quantity of each item to match the 
quantity physically observed.  Fuel inventory and other clearing accounts should also be 
evaluated and reconciled to ensure accurate reporting. 
 
Management’s Response Regarding Corrective Action Taken or Planned 
  

Management agrees with the recommendation and acknowledges the need to strengthen 

controls and oversight related to inventory management and reporting. 

      To address the findings, the District is implementing the following corrective actions: 

• Annual Physical Inventory: Beginning in fiscal year 2025, the District will ensure 

that a complete physical inventory count is conducted annually at all locations that 

maintain inventory, including the Golf Shop and the Internal Service Fund parts 

inventory. A standardized inventory count schedule and checklist will be developed 

and followed across all departments. 

• Inventory Record Adjustments: After each physical inventory count, quantities 

in the accounting system will be reconciled and adjusted, as necessary, to reflect 

actual on-hand amounts. Variances will be reviewed and investigated by 

management to identify and correct underlying causes. 

• Fuel and Inventory Clearing Accounts: The District will evaluate and reconcile 

all fuel inventory and inventory clearing accounts monthly to ensure accurate 

balances. Procedures will be updated to prevent and promptly correct negative 

48 



  

balances in these accounts. 

• Training and Oversight: Staff involved in inventory tracking and reporting will 

receive additional training on proper inventory procedures and documentation 

requirements. Supervisory review will be incorporated into the inventory 

reconciliation process to ensure accountability and accuracy. 

 

Management is committed to improving the accuracy and reliability of inventory reporting 

as part of the District’s overall financial management practices. 

 
2024-004 Bank Reconciliations and Journal Entry Errors 

 
In October 2024, we reviewed the June 2024 bank reconciliation and noted an 
unreconciled variance of $24,319.  To correct the variance, the District recorded a journal 
entry to plug the difference to an Over & Short expense account without first identifying 
the reason for the variance.  The bank reconciliation is an important tool to allow the 
District to verify that all cash transactions are recorded during the month.  At June 30, 
2024, there are also approximately $77,000 of outstanding checks that have been 
outstanding for more than a year.  Stale dated outstanding checks should be investigated 
and potentially written off if it is unlikely that they will be cashed. 
 
Similar to the bank reconciliation variance noted above, during our audit we observed 
certain journal entries that were made to plug balances to reconcile other accounts, such 
as capital assets.   

 
Recommendation 
 
There appears to be a lack of care taken to completely understand the reason for errors 
prior to correcting them, and instead a tendency to hide errors to make them go away.  
This is a cultural problem that should not be tolerated by management.  The bank 
reconciliation should be reconciled to $0 every month and no journal entries should be 
recorded to hide or plug unresolved errors.  This District should make improvements to 
their review process for bank reconciliations and journal entries to ensure accurate 
financial reporting. 
 
Management’s Response Regarding Corrective Action Taken or Planned 

Management concurs with the need for improvement and will implement appropriate 

training and engage experienced accounting personnel to ensure that bank 

reconciliations are completed accurately and in accordance with Generally Accepted 

Accounting Principles (GAAP) and applicable accounting standards. 

 
2024-006 Tyler ERP Implementation Issues 

 

In July 2022, the District implemented the new Tyler ERP system. There are several 

components of the implementation that are not yet complete or need to be modified to 

allow the District to utilize the system correctly.  As it relates to the financial statement 

audit, those issues include the following: 

 

1. The accounts payable detail in Tyler does not reconcile to the amounts reported in 

the trial balance.   

2. The system allows journal entries to be split between different funds without 

balancing entries.  This creates an opportunity for errors in recording accounting 

transactions.  For example, during the audit, we identified a receivable recorded in 

the General Fund while the revenue for the same transaction was recorded in an 

Enterprise Fund. In this situation, when the receivable is collected, the cash will be 

recorded in the General Fund instead of the Enterprise Fund. 

49 



  

3. The system has a separate fund that is not part of the financial reporting entity 

that is used to balance cash and payroll transactions. This fund should net to $0 

after payroll liabilities have been paid.  However, during the audit, we identified 

balances in the clearing accounts that resulted in errors in the manner in which the 

payroll journal entries were recorded in the system. 

4. The payroll system is not correctly mapped to the trial balance, resulting in the 

need for manual journal entries to record payroll transactions.  

5. The capital asset module has not yet been implemented. 

 

Recommendation 

 

We recommend the District continue to work through the implementation issues with the 

Tyler software to allow the system to work properly without manual adjustment by District 

staff. 

 
Management’s Response Regarding Corrective Action Taken or Planned 
  

• Accounts Payable Reconciliation: Management has addressed the issue of 

unreconciled aging reports with the general ledger. Procedures have been 

implemented to ensure that accounts payable aging reports remain current and 

reconciled with subsidiary ledgers on a monthly basis. This task is now incorporated 

into the month-end closing procedures. 

• Staff Training and Allocation Oversight: Management has recognized the need for 

enhanced training on allocation processes and pooled cash management. Oversight 

controls have been strengthened to ensure that entries are reviewed with appropriate 

supporting documentation before being posted to the general ledger. 

• Payroll Journal Entry Process: Management has identified the journal entries 

automatically generated by the Tyler payroll system after each pay period, as well as 

additional entries required for payments to third-party vendors (e.g., deferred 

compensation plans, health insurance premiums). 

• Payroll System Understanding: Management acknowledges that staff previously 

lacked a full understanding of the payroll system's journal entry automation, which led 

to unnecessary manual entries. These manual entries have been discontinued. 

• Capital Asset Module Implementation: Management has scheduled the rollout of 

the Capital Asset Module for fiscal year 2025–2026. 

 

A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 

that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by 

those charged with governance. We consider the deficiencies described in 2024-007 

through 2024-011 to be significant deficiencies. 

 

2024-007 Information System Controls 
 

We identified the following opportunities for improvements over the District’s information 

systems: 

1. The District does not perform a periodic review of user accounts to sensitive 

systems, including access to the network and financial software. District staff said 

they do perform informal reviews, but the timing is inconsistent and does not 

encompass all sensitive systems. 

2. The District does not perform regular review of user system access in Tyler.  

Additionally, the District does not maintain a list of individuals authorized to initiate 

and approve transactions in Tyler.  

3. The District could improve environmental controls over the administrative facility 

data center/computer room.  Specifically, there is no automated fire suppression 

system to detect or prevent damage. 

50 



  

 

Recommendation 

 

We recommend the District perform periodic review of user access to sensitive systems, 

including active directory, financial systems, and remote access.  The review should be 

completed on a periodic basis based on the risk of the system.  The Tyler system access 

rights were originally established in July 2022.  However, the District should periodically 

review the rights and continue to set up the system access to identify who has the 

authority to initiate and approve disbursements in the system.  The District should also 

review environmental controls to determine if improvements are needed. 

 
Management’s Response Regarding Corrective Action Taken or Planned 
  

Management agrees with the recommendation and recognizes the importance of 

maintaining strong information system controls to safeguard sensitive data and financial 

systems. 

To address the findings, the District is taking the following corrective actions: 

• User Access Reviews: The District has implemented a formal, documented 

process for conducting periodic reviews of user accounts with access to sensitive 

systems, including Active Directory, Tyler Technologies (financial software), and 

remote access to tools. These reviews occur at least annually, or more frequently 

based on risk, and include verification of appropriate access levels, prompt removal 

of terminated users, and alignment of access with current job responsibilities. 

• Tyler System Controls: The District has established and maintains a current list 

of individuals authorized to initiate and approve financial transactions within the 

Tyler system. In addition, access roles and permissions within Tyler will be 

reviewed at least annually to ensure segregation of duties and appropriate access 

controls are in place. Any updates to access rights will be documented and 

reviewed by supervisory staff. 

• Environmental Controls: The District will assess the administrative facility’s data 

center for vulnerabilities related to environmental risks, including the lack of an 

automated fire suppression system. Based on this assessment, management will 

develop a plan to mitigate potential risks, which may include installing enhanced 

fire detection and suppression systems or relocating critical equipment as 

appropriately. 

 

These steps will help the District strengthen its IT control environment, improve 

system security, and support the integrity of financial reporting. 

 
 2024-008 Capital Asset Records 

 

During our audit, we identified several concerns over capital asset accounting as 

follows: 

1. Our audit identified material and immaterial errors in the recording of capital 

assets during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024 including not moving completed 

assets out of construction in progress, not properly identifying and recording 

capital asset additions, not properly identifying and recording capital asset 

deletions, recording construction in progress in the wrong project, and recording 

capital asset transactions in the wrong fund or asset category. 

2. The District’s capital asset records are maintained in an Excel file.  We identified 

immaterial errors between the capital asset records and the trial balance.  The 

District recorded transactions in the trial balance to force the accounts to match; 

however, it is unclear whether the trial balance is wrong or if the asset listing is 

wrong.  As a result, we rejected the proposed adjustments.  We also identified 

errors and inconsistencies in the historical classification of certain capital assets.   

51 



  

3. There are several fully depreciated assets in the capital asset listing, which could 

be a result of assets no longer in service that are still in the detailed listing. 

 

Recommendation 

 

We recommend the District perform a complete physical inspection of all capital assets 

for all assets that can be inspected.  For underground assets, the District should review 

the historical records to determine the reasonableness of the fully depreciated assets 

to determine if any of the assets are no longer in use.  We recommend the District 

carefully review the capital asset details to ensure assets are recorded in the correct 

asset classification and there is consistency in recording assets.  Additionally, 

immaterial variances between the trial balance and the capital asset listing should be 

vetted to determine the cause of the difference before making a decision to correct 

either the trial balance or the capital asset listing.  
 
Management’s Response Regarding Corrective Action Taken or Planned 
  

Management acknowledges the audit findings related to capital asset accounting for 

the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024, and is taking the following corrective actions to 

ensure compliance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) and to 

strengthen internal controls over capital asset reporting: 

 

• Use of Excel for Capital Asset Records and Trial Balance Reconciliation: 

Management acknowledges that maintaining the capital asset records in Excel has led 

to inconsistencies and reconciliation challenges between the asset listing and the trial 

balance. To address this: 

o Management will discontinue the practice of recording “forced” entries to 

reconcile discrepancies 

o A comprehensive reconciliation of the capital asset ledger and the general 

ledger will be conducted to identify and correct discrepancies 

o Historical classifications will be reviewed for consistency, and misclassified 

assets will be corrected 

o As part of the planned rollout of the Capital Asset Module in FY25–26, the 

District will transition from Excel-based tracking to a more robust system that 

integrates with the general ledger and provides improved tracking, audit trails, 

and internal controls 

• Fully Depreciated Assets Review: Management acknowledges that the presence of 

fully depreciated assets in the capital asset listing may indicate assets no longer in 

service. To address this: 

o A full review and physical inventory of capital assets will be conducted to 

identify and remove assets that are no longer in use 

o Asset retirement procedures will be formalized to ensure timely and accurate 

removal of disposed or decommissioned assets from the capital asset register 

o The updated listing will ensure that only active and reportable assets are 

included, improving the accuracy and reliability of capital asset reporting 

 

Management is committed to improving the accuracy, transparency, and integrity of its 

capital asset accounting processes. These corrective actions will strengthen internal 

controls, ensure compliance with accounting standards, and provide stakeholders with 

more reliable financial information. 

 
2024-009 Internal Service Fund Deficit 

 

At June 30, 2024, the internal service fund has a deficit net position of $304,751.  This 

represents and undercharging of expenses to other funds.  

52 



  

 
Recommendation 
 
We recommend management and the Board of Trustees develop a plan to make the 
internal service funds whole for past undercharging of expenses and review the current 
policy to determine if it is adequate to cover future internal service fund expenses.  
 
Management’s Response Regarding Corrective Action Taken or Planned 
  
Management acknowledges the deficit net position of $304,751 in the internal service fund 
as of June 30, 2024, which is the result of historical undercharging of expenses to other 
funds. Management agrees with the recommendation and is taking the following corrective 
actions: 
 Deficit Recovery Plan: A recovery plan is being developed to address the 

accumulated deficit. This plan will include a phased approach to allocate the 
undercharged costs to benefiting funds over a defined period, minimizing the impact 
on current operations while ensuring the internal service fund is made whole. 

 Policy Review and Update: Management is reviewing the current cost allocation 
methodology and internal service fund policy to assess its adequacy in fully capturing 
and recovering costs. Any deficiencies will be corrected, and the revised policy will be 
presented to the Board of Trustees for approval. 

 Future Monitoring and Adjustments: Going forward, internal service fund charges 
will be regularly reviewed and adjusted, as necessary, during the budget process to 
ensure that rates are sufficient to fully recover the cost of services provided. 
Management is committed to maintaining the financial health of the internal service 
fund and ensuring equitable cost recovery across all benefiting funds. 
 

2024-010 Cash Disbursement Controls 
 
We reviewed a sample of 40 cash disbursement transactions and noted the following: 
 

1. Documentation provided for 12 transactions for purchases of goods did not contain 
a packing slip with a signature indicating receipt of goods. 

2. Documentation provided for 17 transactions did not contain evidence that the 
disbursement was approved by a separate individual than the one who initiated 
the purchase. 

 
Recommendation 
 
District’s management reviewed the results of our testing and certified that they believe 
none of the transactions were fraudulent.  We recommend the District improve their 
documentation of reviews and approvals of transactions and that two knowledgeable 
individuals are involved in every disbursement transaction. 
 
Management’s Response Regarding Corrective Action Taken or Planned 
  
Management acknowledges the deficiencies identified in the review of cash disbursement 
controls and concurs with the recommendation to strengthen internal controls and 
documentation practices related to disbursements. The following corrective actions are 
being implemented: 
 Receipt of Goods Documentation: Procedures are being updated to require that all 

purchases of goods include a signed packing slip or other documentation confirming 
receipt. Staff will be trained on the importance of verifying and documenting receipt 
before payment is authorized. 
 

53 



  

• Segregation of Duties: Management is reinforcing the requirement that all 

disbursements must be reviewed and approved by a person other than the individual 

who initiated the purchase. This segregation of duties will be monitored by supervisory 

staff and incorporated into the disbursement review checklist to ensure compliance. 

 
2024-011 Point of Sale (POS) Reconciliations 

 

The District uses multiple Point of Sale systems to record transactions.  During the audit, 

we obtained system detail to verify the accuracy of the trial balance.  We noted immaterial 

differences between the system reports and the trial balance for certain revenues.  We 

encountered some difficulties in reconciling some system reports due to differences in how 

transactions are recorded in the trial balance or how transactions are recorded in the POS. 

 

Recommendation 

 

We recommend the District continue to review how information from the POS systems are 

used to record transactions in Tyler.  We recommend periodic reconciliations of POS 

system reports to Tyler to verify transactions are recorded in the correct revenue accounts 

and to verify the completeness of cash receipts. 

 
Management’s Response Regarding Corrective Action Taken or Planned 
  

Management concurs with the recommendation. 

 

The District will continue to evaluate how information from each Point of Sale (POS) 

system is recorded in the general ledger within Tyler. Finance staff are working with 

department leaders to ensure consistency in the mapping of POS revenue data to the 

appropriate revenue accounts. 

 

To strengthen internal controls and ensure the completeness and accuracy of financial 

records, the District will implement periodic reconciliations of POS reports to the Tyler 

general ledger. These reconciliations will verify that revenue is properly classified and that 

cash receipts are complete and accurately recorded. 

 

Procedures and reconciliation templates will be developed by the Finance Department and 

implemented. Training will be provided to staff involved in the reconciliation process, and 

findings will be reviewed on a regular basis. 

 

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the District’s financial statements 

are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain 

provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which 

could have a direct and material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an 

opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, 

accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed an instance 

of noncompliance or other matters that is required to be reported under Government Auditing 

Standards, and is described in 2024-005. 
 
2024-005 Budget Noncompliance 

 
Budget Augmentation 
 

The Board of Trustee’s approved Resolution No. 1097 dated January 31, 2024 related to 

a budget augmentation for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024 audit.  Upon review by the 

54 



  

Nevada Department of Taxation, the budget augmentation was denied as the District did 

not have the necessary available resources in accordance with NAC 354.410 and the 

augmentation did not meet the requirements of NRS 354.598005. 

 

Excess Expenditures over Appropriations 

 

As disclosed in the notes to the financial statements, expenditures exceeded budgeted 

appropriations in several funds. 

 

Recommendation 

 

We recommend the District follow the State of Nevada guidelines for approving budget 

augmentations and ensure expenditures do not exceeded the approved budget. 

 
Management’s Response Regarding Corrective Action Taken or Planned 
  

Staff has communicated with the State Department of Taxation to ensure a clear 

understanding of the Nevada Revised Statues and Nevada Administrative Code to stay in 

conformity with budget augmentation statutes and codes. 

 

The District’s Response to Findings 

 

Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on the 

District’s response to the findings identified in our engagement and described above.  The 

District’s response was not subjected to the other auditing procedures applied in the audit of 

the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the response.  

 

Purpose of this Report 

 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 

compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness 

of the entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit 

performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s 

internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other 

purpose. 

 

 

 

Irvine, California 

June 11, 2025 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

55 





IVGID 
CENTERALIZED 
SERVICE COST 



IVGID Cost Allocation Model
Summary of Allocations

Fund No Dept No Description Info Tech Info Tech Finance Finance Human Resources Total Allocation Overhead Rate

Basis for allocation: 45% by FTEs
45% by 

transactions
80% by budget

20% by blended 
payroll

100% by blended 
payroll

100 10 General Manager 20,038                       -                               1,988                          8,828                          38,001                       68,855                       5.8%
100 11 Trustees 44,083                       -                               5,700                          4,218                          18,158                       72,159                       29.7%
100 12 Finance 80,150                       -                               22,035                          23,360                          100,559                    226,103                    8.6%
100 13 Information Technology 48,090                          -                               60,464                       12,276                       52,844                       173,673                    8.6%
100 14 Risk Assessment 14,026                       -                               2,212                          3,779                          16,266                       36,283                       11.1%
100 15 Human Resources 52,098                       -                               17,874                       14,154                       60,931                          145,057                    10.3%
100 16 Health & Wellness 2,004                          -                               96                                767                              3,303                          6,170                          19.3%
100 17 Community Relations 8,817                          -                               2,085                          3,208                          13,809                       27,919                       12.7%
100 99 Other -                               -                               55,418                       -                               -                               55,418                       5.5%

Subtotal - General Fund 269,305                       -                                  167,872                       70,589                          303,871                       811,637                       8.9%

200 22 Water 131,126                    235,999                    203,154                    38,208                       164,480                    772,968                    12.5%
200 25 Sewer 163,106                    265,661                    158,102                    39,944                       171,951                    798,762                    13.2%
200 27 Solid Waste 9,538                          -                               10,303                       1,941                          8,354                          30,136                       9.1%
200 28 Utilities-Other -                               5,072                          3,543                          -                               -                               8,615                          7.7%

Subtotal - Utilities 303,769                       506,732                       375,102                       80,093                          344,785                       1,610,481                  12.7%

320 31 Champ Golf 59,712                       137,895                    138,838                    28,500                       122,687                    487,631                    10.5%
320 32 Mtn Golf 18,835                       35,429                       51,216                       11,160                       48,043                       164,683                    9.9%
330 33 Facilities 44,243                       61,400                       60,593                       13,552                       58,337                       238,124                    13.4%
340 34/36 Ski 99,146                       -                               300,836                    62,099                       267,325                    729,405                    6.8%
350 46 Rec Center -                               6,875                          4,757                          3,560                          15,326                       30,519                       3.8%
300 48 Recreation 69,130                       34,908                       63,152                       22,016                       94,775                       283,981                    13.1%
360 49 CS Admin -                               119,863                    9,454                          1,261                          5,428                          136,007                    25.4%
370 43 Parks 20,158                       1,657                          43,644                       9,145                          39,369                       113,973                    8.2%
380 45 Tennis -                               8,151                          15,717                       2,455                          10,569                       36,892                       7.1%

Subtotal - Comm. Services 311,223                       406,179                       688,206                       153,748                       661,859                       2,221,215                  9.2%

390 38/39 Beach 28,614                          -                                  74,100                          21,890                          94,235                          218,838                       6.9%

410 51 Fleet -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               0.0%
420 52 Eng -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               0.0%
430 53 Bldgs -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               0.0%

Subtotal - Internal Services -                                  -                                  -                                  -                                  -                                  -                                  0.0%

IVGID TOTAL 912,911                    912,911                    1,305,280                326,320                    1,404,750                4,862,171                  9.1%



CSC-Central Service Cost Attestation Certification 

 
A CSC-Centralized Service Cost Planning system is used by governments and 
organizations to allocate costs for shared services like accounting, human resources, IT, 
and purchasing. These costs are distributed among different departments or projects to 
ensure fair and consistent budgeting. 
 
IVGID’s CSC current policies outlines: 

• Costs Allowed 
• Allocation Method 
• Billing Rates 

 
IVGID engaged Baker Tilly to evaluate the existing allocation method. Several 
methodologies can fairly distribute indirect costs across departments. Common 
approaches include Personnel Effort, Headcount, Square Footage, and Usage-Based 
Allocation. 
 
Some methods apply a broad multiplier (e.g., overhead), while others provide a more 
precise allocation. IVGID’s past practice used services and supply costs as the base 
allocation across all departments. In some cases, this methodology is effective, while in 
others, alternative approaches are recommended—such as using workstation and point-
of-sale counts or, if those are unavailable, FTE headcount and revenue to allocate IT costs. 
Given the FY26 budget deadline constraints, Baker Tilly provided a reliable analysis to 
assist with budget planning.  
 
The methodology that has been adopted is in conformity with the Nevada Revised Statute 
(NRS) Section 354.107 (Regulations) 354.613(c) and The Nevada Administrative Code 
(NAC) includes provisions related to Central Service Cost Allocation under Section 
354.8668. This section outlines how local governments may allocate costs for services and 
property payable from the general fund, internal service funds, enterprise funds or other 
funds. 
Past practice used a broad multiplier approach using services & supplies. The recent 
analysis incorporated services and supplies, full-time employee count and revenues. This 
method is effective but a more robust and effective approach is recommended. 
 
The current method used allocates costs in a manner that: 



(a) Provides for an equitable distribution of general, overhead, administrative and similar 
costs of the local government; and 
(b) allocates to an enterprise fund only costs for services and property that are assignable 
or chargeable to the cost objective of the enterprise fund. 
(c) based upon either audited historical data or budget data 
 
A more detailed and in-depth CSC study is recommended. This extensive analysis would 
require more time and fieldwork across departments to collect sufficient data for a more 
refined allocation methodology.  The board has decided to readdress the more in-depth 
analysis later date. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



IVGID 
RATES & CHARGES 

MEMO



 
M E M O R A N D U M 

 
 

TO: Board of Trustees 
 

THROUGH: Robert W. Harrison 
  District General Manager 

 
FROM: Jessica O’Connell 
 Director of Finance 

 
SUBJECT: Review, Discuss and Possibly Approve Resolution 

Number 1917: A Resolution Approving the Report for 
Collection of Recreation Standby and Service Charges 
for Fiscal Year 2025/2026 in the amount of $720 for 
Recreation and $655 for Beach 

 
DATE: May 30, 2025 

 

 
I. RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the Board of Trustees make a motion to adopt Resolution Number 1917, 
which approves the report for the collection of Recreation Standby and Services 
Charges (also known as the Recreation Facility Fee and Beach Facility Fee). 
 
II. BACKGROUND 
 
Each year, the District establishes an annual Recreation Facility Fee and Beach 
Facility Fee, collected from property owners within the District through a levy 
placed on their property tax bill. Washoe County Tax Collection Office collects 
these fees on behalf of the District. 
These fees are determined based on the revenues required to support debt, 
capital expenditures, and operations for the District’s various recreation and 
beach facilities. Combined with service charges collected for facility use and 
program activities, these revenues sustain the operations funded by the 
Community Services Fund and Beach Fund. 
As part of the annual budget process, the Board is required to approve a 
resolution outlining the billing and collection process set forth in Nevada Revised 
Statutes 318.197 (establishing standby service charges for services and facilities 
furnished by the District) and 318.201 (establishing the collection method). The 
resolution also confirms the date for the required public hearing to consider the 
proposed Recreation Facility Fee and Beach Facility Fee before the Board's final 
approval. 
Once approved, the District provides Washoe County with the appropriate fee 



Resolution Number 1917 -2- May 30, 2025 
 
 

 

amounts to be assessed on each individual parcel within the District, following 
the prescribed process. 
Staff have prepared the Report for Collection on the Washoe County Tax Roll for 
the Recreation Standby and Service Charges (also known as the Recreation 
Facility Fee and Beach Facility Fee). Before final approval, the Board may modify 
the allocation of the combined fees. The final approval of these fees is scheduled 
for May 30, 2025, following the required public hearing. 
The Board is reminded that the collection method is rooted in historical 
references. The report includes a table highlighting major events that connect the 
current fee to past assessments. Additional sections cover budgetary and 
collection processes. 
 

 
Traditionally, the value of the punch card is one-fifth of the total Facility Fee. If 
the Board wishes to change this proportion, it must set a defined punch card 
value. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Resolution Number 1917 -3- May 30, 2025 
 
 

 

III. FINANCIAL IMPACT AND BUDGET 
 
Staff have prepared the preliminary FY2025-26 budget to support District 
operations, capital improvements, and debt service. As proposed: 
 

• Recreation Facility Fee of $720 will be collected from all properties within 
the District to support the Community Services Fund. 
 

• The Beach Facility Fee of $655 will be collected from eligible properties 
with beach access to support the Beach Fund. 
 

These assumptions are reflected in the preliminary 2025-26 Recreation Roll 
Report, subject to final Board approval.  
 
 

 

 

 
The recommendation may change by May 30, 2025, the date that is set for the 
public hearing and final Board adoption. 
 
IV. ALTERNATIVES 
 
The Board can direct Staff to revise, change, or modify the Recreation Facility Fee 
and Beach Facility Fee as currently proposed. 
 
V. ATTACHMENTS 
 
Rec Roll 2025-2026 – Resolution 1917 



RENO/SPARKS 
CONVENTION & 

VISITORS 
AUTHORITY 



RSCVA 
EXTENSION 

REQUEST





RSCVA 
FINAL 

BUDGET





















































REVIEW AND 
APPROVAL OF 

MINUTES

APRIL 29, 2025 



 

C L G F  M e e t i n g  4 - 2 9 - 2 0 2 5  P a g e  1 | 4 
 

COMMITTEE ON LOCAL GOVERNMENT FINANCE  

MEETING MINUTES 
 
 

Nevada Department of Taxation 
9850 Double R Blvd. 
Reno, Nevada 89521 

Also via Zoom 
April 29, 2025, 9:30 a.m. 

 
 

COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT: 
Marvin Leavitt, Chair 
Tom Ciesynski 
Josh Foli 
Maria Gamboa 
Martin Johnson 
Paul Johnson 
Gina Rackley 
Jeffrey Share 
Abigail Yacoben 
 

MEMBERS ABSENT: 
Jim McIntosh 
Felicia O’Carroll 
 

 
 

1. ROLL CALL AND OPENING REMARKS. 
 

Chairman Leavitt opened the meeting at 9:36 a.m. Chali Spurlock with the Department took roll call. 
 

Chairman Leavitt noted that Agenda Item 3(a) regarding the Incline Village General Improvement 
District (IVGID) would be moved and heard after Agenda Item 3(d).  

 
2. PUBLIC COMMENT.  

 

Lynette Cardinale expressed support for the Department to place IVGID on Fiscal Watch. 
         

Judith Miller stated her belief that IVGID has misused public funds and assessed improper fees, which 
are more akin to a tax. She requested that CLGF conduct hearings to determine that a severe financial 
emergency exists and end the improper facility fee. 
 

Aaron Katz stated his belief that IVGID is not in compliance with the NRS and NAC, and questioned 
CLGF’s purpose regarding these concerns. 
 

Frank Wright expressed concerns about not receiving requested public records from IVGID, the status 
of IVGID’s forensic audit and the Department’s extensions given to IVGID. He also stated his, as 
support for the Department to place IVGID on Fiscal Watch. 
 

Cliff Dobler spoke regarding his concerns with the financial circumstances of IVGID and his belief 
regarding IVGID’s misuse of funds and donations.  
 

Megan Barth expressed concerns regarding IVGID’s demand for additional fees, claiming IVGID does 
not know how much money it has on the books. She also commented on IVGID’s auditors and their 
inability to issue their opinions on fiscal years ‘22-‘23 and ‘23-‘24.  

 



 

C L G F  M e e t i n g  4 - 2 9 - 2 0 2 5  P a g e  2 | 4 
 

 
3. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: FINANCIAL CONDITION REPORTS BY THE DEPARTMENT AND THE 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ENTITIES; CONSIDERATION AND POSSIBLE ADOPTION OF 
RECOMMENDATIONS AND ORDERS: 
 

(b) Baker Water and Sewer General Improvement District  
 

• Discussion and consideration of District’s request for waiver of the audit required 
pursuant to NRS 354.624 due to annual expenditures in excess of $300,000 pursuant to 
NRS 354.475. 

 

Kelly Langley, Local Government Finance Supervisor introduced Lynn Lukacs, Budget Analyst with the 
Department. Ms. Lukacs spoke regarding the exemptions granted to the Baker Water and Sewer 
General Improvement District (“District”). Ms. Lukacs confirmed that the Department’s review of the 
District’s Fiscal Year (FY) 24 financial statements revealed expenditures totaling $376,340, which 
exceeds the $300,000 statutory limit for exemption. Therefore, Ms. Lukacs stated that a FY 24 audit 
would be required.  
 

Terry Steadman and Rowena Leonard appeared via teleconference on behalf of the District and stated 
that the District’s plant is failing and in need of repairs to bring the infrastructure up to date to comply 
with the safe water drinking act and the Nevada Bureau of Water pollution control.  
 

Chairman Leavitt directed the District to file the additional reports and documents given that the 
District’s expenditures had exceeded the statutory threshold for an exemption from audit.  
 

Terry Steadman appearing on behalf of the District confirmed that the District would review financial 
options discussed in obtaining funding to secure the audit.  

 

Mark Paris from the District’s accounting organization asked for clarification regarding the FY 24 Audit. 
The District received a letter of exemption for the FY 24 Audit and Mr. Paris sought confirmation 
whether the letter of exemption was valid. Chairman Leavitt confirmed that the exemption letter states 
that it’s conditioned upon the District not exceeding $300,000.00. If it exceeds the $300,000.00, the 
exemption letter is not in effect. Chairman Leavitt noted that the Committee on Local Government 
Finance cannot grant an extension in violation of the statutory provisions.  

 

(c) Winnemucca Convention and Visitors Authority 
  

• Discussion of Authority’s FY 24 audit findings, including its failure to provide timely a 
second extension request to provide its audit pursuant to NRS 354.624(1). 

 

Keri Gransbery, Budget Analyst with the Department spoke regarding the FY ‘23-‘24 Audit findings as 
well as the failure to provide a timely second extension request. 
 

Kendall Swenson and Brian Stone appeared on behalf of Winnemucca Convention and Visitors 
Authority (“Authority”). Mr. Swenson stated that he was previously told that there were no extensions 

after the first one. When he found out that he could file for another extension, he sent the 
documents requesting a second extension. Mr. Swenson stated his belief that the audit would be 
available by February 26, 2025. He had 2 copies of the audit hand-delivered to the Department. Mr. 
Swenson agreed to provide timely responses to requests going forward. Mr. Swenson confirmed that 
the Authority’s FY ‘25-‘26 budget was filed timely and reflected the audit report.  

 

(d)  Reno/Sparks Convention & Visitors Authority 
 

• Discussion and consideration of Authority’s request for extension of the FY 24 annual 
audit required pursuant to NRS 354.624(1) 

 



 

C L G F  M e e t i n g  4 - 2 9 - 2 0 2 5  P a g e  3 | 4 
 

Kelly Langley introduced Kellie Grahmann, Budget Analyst with the Department. Ms. Grahmann stated 
that it is her understanding that the Department will not be receiving the Reno/Sparks Convention & 
Visitors Authority’s (“RSCVA”) FY 24 Audit until June 25, 2025. The Department received the RSCVA’s  
second extension request on January 30, 2025. 
 

Ms. Grahmann confirmed that the Department could not grant the extension at that time due to 
questions that the Department had regarding the extension letter, and the Department received a final 
extension letter on April 16, 2025. 

   

Courtney Jaeger appearing on behalf of the RSCVA spoke regarding the extension requests. Ms. 
Jaeger stated that the employee responsible for overseeing the evaluation was suspended and 
subsequently resigned following violations. Following the employee’s departure, the RSCVA discovered 
that the necessary work had not been completed. However, the RSCVA delivered its FY 26 tentative 
budget to the Department of Taxation in a timely manner.  

 

Chairman Leavitt emphasized RSCVA’s multiple extension requests with the latest request submitted 
just short of a year after the last fiscal year closed. He stated he would not be in favor of approving the 
extension request but would instead recommend that RSCVA be put in violation.  

 

In response to questions from Kelly Langley, Courtney Jaeger confirmed that the RSCVA is confident in 
the numbers submitted in its tentative budget.  
 

Member Johnson commented that he would like the Chief Executive Officer to be in attendance for 
future Committee on Local Government Finance meetings.   
 

(a) Incline Village General Improvement District (IVGID) 
 

• Department update regarding IVGID’s timing of FY 24 audit, and the fifth request for 
extension pursuant to NRS 354.624(1). 

• Discussion of IVGID Subcommittee’s findings related to IVGID’s financial circumstances. 

• Discussion and consideration regarding potential Fiscal Watch for IVGID pursuant to NRS 
354.675.  

• Any other actions deemed necessary by the Committee pursuant to NRS Chapter 354. 
 

Kellie Grahmann, Budget Analyst with the Department addressed IVGID’s fourth and fifth extension 
requests to submit its FY 24 Audit. She confirmed that the Department has been meeting with IVGID 
weekly, and the Department has received IVGID’s FY 26 tentative budget as required by NRS. 

 

Jessica O’Connell, Robert Harrison, Makella Bunkie and Noemi Baker appeared on behalf of IVGID. 
Ms. O’Connell reported that IVGID had been searching for a new CPA Firm to engage for audits and  
anticipated that IVGID would receive draft financial statements within two to three weeks. 
 

Chairman Leavitt stated that Fiscal Watch is not necessarily a punishment but a means for 
accountability. He further stated that the Committee would be remiss if IVGID did not go on Fiscal 
Watch because of IVGID’s recent history. Member Rackley echoed the Chairman’s statements. She 
noted that the weekly check-ins have been beneficial to IVGID and the Committee.  

 

Robert Harrison from IVGID stated that IVGID isn’t hiding any public records, and there has been no 
fraud discovered. 

 

Member Ciesynski moved to put IVGID on Fiscal Watch and grant the fifth extension for the audit. 
Member Paul Johnson seconded the motion. Motion passed unanimously.  

 



 

C L G F  M e e t i n g  4 - 2 9 - 2 0 2 5  P a g e  4 | 4 
 

4. BRIEFING BETWEEN THE COMMITTEE ON LOCAL GOVERNMENT FINANCE AND LOCAL 
DEPARTMENT’S LOCAL GOVERNMENT FINANCE STAFF. 
 

Kelly Langley gave an overview of the Audit Summaries Report.  
 

5. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: REVIEW AND APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
 

(a) CLGF Meeting – January 22, 2025 
 

Member Rackley moved to approve the Minutes from January 22, 2025 Meeting as presented. Member 
Marty Johnson seconded the motion. Motion passed unanimously. 
 

(b) CLGF IVGID Subcommittee Meeting – April 4, 2025 
 

Member Share moved to approve the Minutes from the Subcommittee Meeting on April 4, 2025. 
Member Foli seconded the motion. Motion passed unanimously. 

 

6. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: SCHEDULE DATE AND REVIEW AGENDA TOPICS FOR THE NEXT 
MEETING. 
 
Department staff recommended scheduling the next CLGF meeting date for some time in the middle of 
July or the first of August. 
 
Chairman Leavitt would like discussions and recommendations regarding audit extension requests put 
on the next agenda. He would also like an update on IVGID. 
 
Chairman Leavitt requested that a Legislative Update be provided at the next meeting. 
 

7. PUBLIC COMMENT. 
 

Frank Wright spoke regarding IVGID’S finances and the recreation tax. 
 

Judith Miller spoke regarding the facility fee and requested that the Committee look into it. 
 

Aaron Katz requested that the Committee appoint an Auditor, and he stated his belief that IVGID is in a 
severe financial emergency.  

  

Jeff Church spoke regarding the Reno Improvement District and Budget reporting responsibilities.  
 

 Cliff Dobler stated that IVGID spent $400,000 to do a master plan for utilities, water and sewer. He also 
stated his belief that IVGID has bad management.   

 
8. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: ADJOURNMENT. 

 

 Meeting adjourned at 11:51 a.m. 



Attachment A -
April 29, 2025 

Submitted Public Comment





 

The Department of Taxation has determined that the BID 
is a local government per NRS. The BID continues to 
operate as an alleged non-profit 501c6.  
 
“At a minimum, the Reno BID/DMO is subject to the 
jurisdiction of the Department pursuant to the Local 
Government Budget and Finance Act, pursuant to NRS 
354.474(1). For instance, the creation of a special 
assessment/local improvement district pursuant to NRS 
271 would appear to trigger budget reporting 
responsibilities for contracts associated with the 
expenditure of the special assessment levies pursuant to 
NRS 354.5965.” 
 
Likewise the NCOE, PERS, have weighed in with opinions 
that detail the BIDs unique position. 
 
The BID lists no audit and the BID has refused to submit 
said documents to me. 
The BID’s last IRS 990 is from 2022 with a note of 
‘extended to May, 2024” which has come and gone. 
 
The BID is listed under the City of Reno CAFR under 
Special Assessments. 
 
I ask the CLGF to look into the Reno Downtown BID aka 
Downtown Reno Partnership to be sure that it and or the 
City of Reno complies with all CLGF requirements. 
 
From their 2021 IRS 990: 



Form 990, Part VI, Line 19 - Governing Documents 
Disclosure Explanation 
DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT 
DISTRICT’S GOVERNING DOCUMENTS, CONFLICT 
OF INTEREST POLICY, FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
FORM 990 ARE MADE AVAILABLE TO 
THE PUBLIC UPON REQUEST. 
 
Did the organization have members or stockholders?  
(NO) 
As most are aware, to be a 501c6, it requires members as 
well as a common business interest.  
 
Further, the so called “fees” are broadly based on property 
value and not a specific derived benefit as required by 
case law. 
 
Jeff Church 
RenoTaxRevolt.com 
775 544 7366 
 



Check
if
self-employed

Department of the Treasury
Internal Revenue Service

Check if
applicable:

Address
change
Name
change
Initial
return

Final
return/
termin-
ated Gross receipts $

Amended
return
Applica-
tion
pending

Are all subordinates included? 

232001  12-13-22

OMB No. 1545-0047

Beginning of Current Year

Paid

Preparer

Use Only

Under section 501(c), 527, or 4947(a)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code (except private foundations)

Do not enter social security numbers on this form as it may be made public. Open to Public 
InspectionGo to www.irs.gov/Form990 for instructions and the latest information.

A For the 2022 calendar year, or tax year beginning and ending

B C D Employer identification number

E

G

H(a)

H(b)

H(c)

F Yes No

Yes No

I

J

K

Website:

L M

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

3

4

5

6

7a

7b

a

b

A
c

ti
vi

ti
e

s
 &

 G
o

ve
rn

a
n

c
e

Prior Year Current Year

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

R
e

ve
n

u
e

a

b

E
x
p

e
n

s
e

s

End of Year

20

21

22

Sign

Here

Yes No

For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the separate instructions.  

(or P.O. box if mail is not delivered to street address) Room/suite

)501(c)(3) 501(c) ( (insert no.) 4947(a)(1) or 527

Corporation Trust Association OtherForm of organization: Year of formation: State of legal domicile:

N
et

 A
ss

et
s 

or
Fu

nd
 B

al
an

ce
s

Under penalties of perjury, I declare that I have examined this return, including accompanying schedules and statements, and to the best of my knowledge and belief, it is

true, correct, and complete. Declaration of preparer (other than officer) is based on all information of which preparer has any knowledge.

Signature of officer Date

Type or print name and title

Date PTINPrint/Type preparer's name Preparer's signature

Firm's name Firm's EIN

Firm's address

Phone no.

 

Form

Name of organization

Doing business as

Number and street Telephone number

City or town, state or province, country, and ZIP or foreign postal code

Is this a group return 

for subordinates?Name and address of principal officer: ~~

If "No," attach a list. See instructions

Group exemption number

Tax-exempt status:

Briefly describe the organization's mission or most significant activities:

Check this box if the organization discontinued its operations or disposed of more than 25%  of its net assets.

Number of voting members of the governing body (Part VI, line 1a)

Number of independent voting members of the governing body (Part VI, line 1b)

Total number of individuals employed in calendar year 2022 (Part V, line 2a)

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Total number of volunteers (estimate if necessary)

Total unrelated business revenue from Part VIII, column (C), line 12

Net unrelated business taxable income from Form 990-T, Part I, line 11

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Contributions and grants (Part VIII, line 1h) ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Program service revenue (Part VIII, line 2g) ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~Investment income (Part VIII, column (A), lines 3, 4, and 7d)

Other revenue (Part VIII, column (A), lines 5, 6d, 8c, 9c, 10c, and 11e) ~~~~~~~~

Total revenue - add lines 8 through 11 (must equal Part VIII, column (A), line 12)

Grants and similar amounts paid (Part IX, column (A), lines 1-3)

Benefits paid to or for members (Part IX, column (A), line 4)

Salaries, other compensation, employee benefits (Part IX, column (A), lines 5-10)

~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~

Professional fundraising fees (Part IX, column (A), line 11e)

Total fundraising expenses (Part IX, column (D), line 25)

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Other expenses (Part IX, column (A), lines 11a-11d, 11f-24e)

Total expenses. Add lines 13-17 (must equal Part IX, column (A), line 25)

Revenue less expenses. Subtract line 18 from line 12

~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~

Total assets (Part X, line 16)

Total liabilities (Part X, line 26)

Net assets or fund balances. Subtract line 21 from line 20

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

May the IRS discuss this return with the preparer shown above? See instructions

LHA Form (2022)

Part I Summary

Signature BlockPart II

990

Return of Organization Exempt From Income Tax990 2022
EXTENDED TO MAY 15, 2024

JUL 1, 2022 JUN 30, 2023

DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT
DISTRICT

DOWNTOWN RENO PARTNERSHIP **-***7077

40 E. 4TH STREET, PAVILION A 775-432-0772
3,261,713.

RENO, NV  89501
CHRIS SHANKS X

SAME AS C ABOVE
X 6

DOWNTOWNRENO.ORG
X 2017 NV

TO IMPROVE AND PROMOTE THE
ECONOMIC WELL-BEING OF DOWNTOWN RENO BY MANAGING AND IMPLEMENTING

13
13
8
0
0.
0.

100,625. 178,382.
2,892,904. 3,078,654.

1,097. 4,677.
0. 0.

2,994,626. 3,261,713.
0. 0.
0. 0.

455,390. 452,059.
0. 0.

0.
2,709,739. 2,770,935.
3,165,129. 3,222,994.
-170,503. 38,719.

993,640. 1,070,646.
322,673. 360,960.
670,967. 709,686.

MIKE ROSSMAN, TREASURER

MICHAEL E. DAVIS P00626991
BARNARD, VOGLER & CO., CPA'S **-***8801
100 W LIBERTY STREET, SUITE 1100
RENO, NV 89501-1959 (775) 786-6141

X

SEE SCHEDULE O FOR ORGANIZATION MISSION STATEMENT CONTINUATION



Code: Expenses $ including grants of $ Revenue $

Code: Expenses $ including grants of $ Revenue $

Code: Expenses $ including grants of $ Revenue $

Expenses $ including grants of $ Revenue $

232002  12-13-22

 

1

2

3

4

Yes No

Yes No

4a

4b

4c

4d

4e

 

Form 990 (2022) Page 

Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part III

Briefly describe the organization's mission:

Did the organization undertake any significant program services during the year which were not listed on the

prior Form 990 or 990-EZ?

If "Yes," describe these new services on Schedule O.

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization cease conducting, or make significant changes in how it conducts, any program services?

If "Yes," describe these changes on Schedule O.

~~~~~~

Describe the organization's program service accomplishments for each of its three largest program services, as measured by expenses.

Section 501(c)(3) and 501(c)(4) organizations are required to report the amount of grants and allocations to others, the total expenses, and

revenue, if any, for each program service reported.

( ) ( ) ( )

( ) ( ) ( )

( ) ( ) ( )

Other program services (Describe on Schedule O.)

( ) ( )

Total program service expenses

Form (2022)

2
Statement of Program Service AccomplishmentsPart III

990

DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT
DISTRICT **-***7077

TO IMPROVE AND PROMOTE THE ECONOMIC WELL-BEING OF DOWNTOWN RENO BY
MANAGING AND IMPLEMENTING PROGRAMS, ACTIVITIES AND CONTRACTS.

X

X

1,930,089.
SAFETY AND SECURITY - SECURITY PROGRAMS THAT SUPPORT POLICE AND
PROPERTY OWNER CRIME PREVENTION EFFORTS AND HOMELESS OUTREACH.

705,115.
MAINTENANCE AND CLEANING - MAINTENANCE SERVICES TO INCREASE THE
FREQUENCY OF LITTER, DEBRIS, AND GRAFFITI REMOVAL.

243,830.
MARKETING AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT - TO CREATE AWARENESS AND DRIVE MORE
VISITORS TO DOWNTOWN RENO AND TO ATTRACT NEW BUSINESSES, INVESTORS AND
DEVELOPERS TO THE DOWNTOWN RENO AREA.

2,879,034.

15190510 705190 802718        2022.05090 DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPR 802718_1
 3



232003  12-13-22  

Yes No

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Section 501(c)(3) organizations.

a

b

c

d

e

f

a

b

11a

11b

11c

11d

11e

11f

12a

12b

13

14a

14b

15

16

17

18

19

20a

20b

21

a

b

20

21

a

b

If "Yes," complete Schedule A

Schedule B, Schedule of Contributors

If "Yes," complete Schedule C, Part I

If "Yes," complete Schedule C, Part II

If "Yes," complete Schedule C, Part III

If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part I

If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part II

If "Yes," complete

Schedule D, Part III

If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part IV

If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part V

If "Yes," complete Schedule D,

Part VI

If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part VII

If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part VIII

If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part IX

If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part X

If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part X

If "Yes," complete

Schedule D, Parts XI and XII

If "Yes," and if the organization answered "No" to line 12a, then completing Schedule D, Parts XI and XII is optional
If "Yes," complete Schedule E

If "Yes," complete Schedule F, Parts I and IV

If "Yes," complete Schedule F, Parts II and IV

If "Yes," complete Schedule F, Parts III and IV

If "Yes," complete Schedule G, Part I.

If "Yes," complete Schedule G, Part II

If "Yes,"

complete Schedule G, Part III

If "Yes," complete Schedule H

If "Yes," complete Schedule I, Parts I and II

Form 990 (2022) Page 

Is the organization described in section 501(c)(3) or 4947(a)(1) (other than a private foundation)?

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Is the organization required to complete ? See instructions

Did the organization engage in direct or indirect political campaign activities on behalf of or in opposition to candidates for

public office? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

 Did the organization engage in lobbying activities, or have a section 501(h) election in effect

during the tax year? 

Is the organization a section 501(c)(4), 501(c)(5), or 501(c)(6) organization that receives membership dues, assessments, or

similar amounts as defined in Rev. Proc. 98-19? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization maintain any donor advised funds or any similar funds or accounts for which donors have the right to

provide advice on the distribution or investment of amounts in such funds or accounts? 

Did the organization receive or hold a conservation easement, including easements to preserve open space,

the environment, historic land areas, or historic structures? 

Did the organization maintain collections of works of art, historical treasures, or other similar assets? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization report an amount in Part X, line 21, for escrow or custodial account liability, serve as a custodian for

amounts not listed in Part X; or provide credit counseling, debt management, credit repair, or debt negotiation services?

Did the organization, directly or through a related organization, hold assets in donor-restricted endowments

or in quasi endowments? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

If the organization's answer to any of the following questions is "Yes," then complete Schedule D, Parts VI, VII, VIII, IX, or X,

as applicable.

Did the organization report an amount for land, buildings, and equipment in Part X, line 10? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization report an amount for investments - other securities in Part X, line 12, that is 5%  or more of its total

assets reported in Part X, line 16? 

Did the organization report an amount for investments - program related in Part X, line 13, that is 5%  or more of its total

assets reported in Part X, line 16? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization report an amount for other assets in Part X, line 15, that is 5%  or more of its total assets reported in

Part X, line 16? 

Did the organization report an amount for other liabilities in Part X, line 25? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~

Did the organization's separate or consolidated financial statements for the tax year include a footnote that addresses

the organization's liability for uncertain tax positions under FIN 48 (ASC 740)? 

Did the organization obtain separate, independent audited financial statements for the tax year? 

~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Was the organization included in consolidated, independent audited financial statements for the tax year?

~~~~~

Is the organization a school described in section 170(b)(1)(A)(ii)? 

Did the organization maintain an office, employees, or agents outside of the United States?

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization have aggregate revenues or expenses of more than $10,000 from grantmaking, fundraising, business,

investment, and program service activities outside the United States, or aggregate foreign investments valued at $100,000

or more? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization report on Part IX, column (A), line 3, more than $5,000 of grants or other assistance to or for any

foreign organization? 

Did the organization report on Part IX, column (A), line 3, more than $5,000 of aggregate grants or other assistance to 

or for foreign individuals? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization report a total of more than $15,000 of expenses for professional fundraising services on Part IX,

column (A), lines 6 and 11e?  See instructions ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization report more than $15,000 total of fundraising event gross income and contributions on Part VIII, lines

1c and 8a? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization report more than $15,000 of gross income from gaming activities on Part VIII, line 9a? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization operate one or more hospital facilities? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

If "Yes" to line 20a, did the organization attach a copy of its audited financial statements to this return? ~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization report more than $5,000 of grants or other assistance to any domestic organization or

domestic government on Part IX, column (A), line 1? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Form  (2022)

3
Part IV Checklist of Required Schedules

990

DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT
DISTRICT **-***7077

X
X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X
X

X

X

X
X
X

X

X

X

X

X

X
X

X

15190510 705190 802718        2022.05090 DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPR 802718_1
 4



232004  12-13-22  

Yes No

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

37

38

22

23

24a

24b

24c

24d

25a

25b

26

27

28a

28b

28c

29

30

31

32

33

34

35a

35b

36

37

38

a

b

c

d

a

b

Section 501(c)(3),  501(c)(4), and 501(c)(29) organizations. 

a

b

c

a

b

Section 501(c)(3) organizations. 

Note: 

Yes No

1a

b

c

1a

1b

1c

(continued)

If "Yes," complete Schedule I, Parts I and III

If "Yes," complete

Schedule J

If "Yes," answer lines 24b through 24d and complete

Schedule K. If "No," go to line 25a

If "Yes," complete Schedule L, Part I

If "Yes," complete

Schedule L, Part I

 If "Yes," complete Schedule L, Part II

If "Yes," complete Schedule L, Part III

If

"Yes," complete Schedule L, Part IV

If "Yes," complete Schedule L, Part IV

If

"Yes," complete Schedule L, Part IV

If "Yes," complete Schedule M

If "Yes," complete Schedule M

If "Yes," complete Schedule N, Part I

If "Yes," complete

Schedule N, Part II

If "Yes," complete Schedule R, Part I

If "Yes," complete Schedule R, Part II, III, or IV, and 

Part V, line 1

If "Yes," complete Schedule R, Part V, line 2

If "Yes," complete Schedule R, Part V, line 2

If "Yes," complete Schedule R, Part VI

Form 990 (2022) Page 

Did the organization report more than $5,000 of grants or other assistance to or for domestic individuals on

Part IX, column (A), line 2?  ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization answer "Yes" to Part VII, Section A, line 3, 4, or 5, about compensation of the organization's current

and former officers, directors, trustees, key employees, and highest compensated employees? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization have a tax-exempt bond issue with an outstanding principal amount of more than $100,000 as of the

last day of the year, that was issued after December 31, 2002? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization invest any proceeds of tax-exempt bonds beyond a temporary period exception?

Did the organization maintain an escrow account other than a refunding escrow at any time during the year to defease

any tax-exempt bonds?

Did the organization act as an "on behalf of" issuer for bonds outstanding at any time during the year?

~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization engage in an excess benefit

transaction with a disqualified person during the year? 

Is the organization aware that it engaged in an excess benefit transaction with a disqualified person in a prior year, and

that the transaction has not been reported on any of the organization's prior Forms 990 or 990-EZ? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization report any amount on Part X, line 5 or 22, for receivables from or payables to any current

or former officer, director, trustee, key employee, creator or founder, substantial contributor, or 35%

controlled entity or family member of any of these persons? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization provide a grant or other assistance to any current or former officer, director, trustee, key employee,

creator or founder, substantial contributor or employee thereof, a grant selection committee member, or to a 35%  controlled

entity (including an employee thereof) or family member of any of these persons? ~~~

Was the organization a party to a business transaction with one of the following parties (see the Schedule L, Part IV,

instructions for applicable filing thresholds, conditions, and exceptions):

A current or former officer, director, trustee, key employee, creator or founder, or substantial contributor? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

A family member of any individual described in line 28a? 

A 35%  controlled entity of one or more individuals and/or organizations described in line 28a or 28b? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization receive more than $25,000 in non-cash contributions? 

Did the organization receive contributions of art, historical treasures, or other similar assets, or qualified conservation

contributions? 

~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization liquidate, terminate, or dissolve and cease operations? 

Did the organization sell, exchange, dispose of, or transfer more than 25%  of its net assets? 

~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization own 100%  of an entity disregarded as separate from the organization under Regulations

sections 301.7701-2 and 301.7701-3? 

Was the organization related to any tax-exempt or taxable entity? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization have a controlled entity within the meaning of section 512(b)(13)?

If "Yes" to line 35a, did the organization receive any payment from or engage in any transaction with a controlled entity

within the meaning of section 512(b)(13)? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization make any transfers to an exempt non-charitable related organization?

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization conduct more than 5%  of its activities through an entity that is not a related organization

and that is treated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes? ~~~~~~~~

Did the organization complete Schedule O and provide explanations on Schedule O for Part VI, lines 11b and 19?

All Form 990 filers are required to complete Schedule O

Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part V

Enter the number reported in box 3 of Form 1096. Enter -0- if not applicable ~~~~~~~~~~~

Enter the number of Forms W-2G included on line 1a. Enter -0- if not applicable~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization comply with backup withholding rules for reportable payments to vendors and reportable gaming

(gambling) winnings to prize winners?

Form  (2022)

4
Part IV Checklist of Required Schedules

Part V Statements Regarding Other IRS Filings and Tax Compliance

990

DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT
DISTRICT **-***7077

X

X

X

X

X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

X

X
X

X

X

7
0

15190510 705190 802718        2022.05090 DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPR 802718_1
 5



232005  12-13-22  

Yes No

2

3

4

5

6

7

a

b

2a

2b

3a

3b

4a

5a

5b

5c

6a

6b

7a

7b

7c

7e

7f

7g

7h

8

9a

9b

a

b

a

b

a

b

c

a

b

Organizations that may receive deductible contributions under section 170(c).

a

b

c

d

e

f

g

h

7d

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

Sponsoring organizations maintaining donor advised funds. 

Sponsoring organizations maintaining donor advised funds.

a

b

Section 501(c)(7) organizations. 

a

b

10a

10b

Section 501(c)(12) organizations. 

a

b

11a

11b

a

b

Section 4947(a)(1) non-exempt charitable trusts. 12a

12b

Section 501(c)(29) qualified nonprofit health insurance issuers.

Note:

a

b

c

a

b

13a

13b

13c

14a

14b

15

16

17

Section 501(c)(21) organizations.

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

(continued)

If "No" to line 3b, provide an explanation on Schedule O

If "No," provide an explanation on Schedule O

Did the organization receive a payment in excess of $75 made partly as a contribution and partly for goods and services provided to the payor?

Form  (2022)

Form 990 (2022) Page 

Enter the number of employees reported on Form W-3, Transmittal of Wage and Tax Statements,

filed for the calendar year ending with or within the year covered by this return ~~~~~~~~~~

If at least one is reported on line 2a, did the organization file all required federal employment tax returns?~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization have unrelated business gross income of $1,000 or more during the year?

If "Yes," has it filed a Form 990-T for this year? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~

At any time during the calendar year, did the organization have an interest in, or a signature or other authority over, a

financial account in a foreign country (such as a bank account, securities account, or other financial account)? ~~~~~~~

If "Yes," enter the name of the foreign country

See instructions for filing requirements for FinCEN Form 114, Report of Foreign Bank and Financial Accounts (FBAR).

Was the organization a party to a prohibited tax shelter transaction at any time during the tax year?

Did any taxable party notify the organization that it was or is a party to a prohibited tax shelter transaction?

~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~

If "Yes" to line 5a or 5b, did the organization file Form 8886-T?~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Does the organization have annual gross receipts that are normally greater than $100,000, and did the organization solicit

any contributions that were not tax deductible as charitable contributions?

If "Yes," did the organization include with every solicitation an express statement that such contributions or gifts

were not tax deductible?

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

If "Yes," did the organization notify the donor of the value of the goods or services provided?

Did the organization sell, exchange, or otherwise dispose of tangible personal property for which it was required

to file Form 8282?

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

If "Yes," indicate the number of Forms 8282 filed during the year

Did the organization receive any funds, directly or indirectly, to pay premiums on a personal benefit contract?

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~Did the organization, during the year, pay premiums, directly or indirectly, on a personal benefit contract?

If the organization received a contribution of qualified intellectual property, did the organization file Form 8899 as required?

If the organization received a contribution of cars, boats, airplanes, or other vehicles, did the organization file a Form 1098-C?

~

Did a donor advised fund maintained by the 

sponsoring organization have excess business holdings at any time during the year? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the sponsoring organization make any taxable distributions under section 4966?

Did the sponsoring organization make a distribution to a donor, donor advisor, or related person?

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Enter:

Initiation fees and capital contributions included on Part VIII, line 12

Gross receipts, included on Form 990, Part VIII, line 12, for public use of club facilities

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~

Enter:

Gross income from members or shareholders

Gross income from other sources. (Do not net amounts due or paid to other sources against

amounts due or received from them.)

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Is the organization filing Form 990 in lieu of Form 1041?

If "Yes," enter the amount of tax-exempt interest received or accrued during the year

Is the organization licensed to issue qualified health plans in more than one state?

 See the instructions for additional information the organization must report on Schedule O.

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Enter the amount of reserves the organization is required to maintain by the states in which the

organization is licensed to issue qualified health plans

Enter the amount of reserves on hand

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization receive any payments for indoor tanning services during the tax year?

If "Yes," has it filed a Form 720 to report these payments? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~

Is the organization subject to the section 4960 tax on payment(s) of more than $1,000,000 in remuneration or

excess parachute payment(s) during the year?

If "Yes," see the instructions and file Form 4720, Schedule N.

Is the organization an educational institution subject to the section 4968 excise tax on net investment income?

If "Yes," complete Form 4720, Schedule O.

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~

 Did the trust, or any disqualified or other person engage in any activities

that would result in the imposition of an excise tax under section 4951, 4952 or 4953?

If "Yes," complete Form 6069.

5
Part V Statements Regarding Other IRS Filings and Tax Compliance

990

DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT
DISTRICT **-***7077

8
X

X

X

X
X

X

X

X

X

15190510 705190 802718        2022.05090 DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPR 802718_1
 6



232006  12-13-22  

Yes No

1a

1b

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

a

b

2

3

4

5

6

7a

7b

8a

8b

9

a

b

a

b

Yes No

10

11

a

b

10a

10b

11a

12a

12b

12c

13

14

15a

15b

16a

16b

a

b

12a

b

c

13

14

15

a

b

16a

b

17

18

19

20

For each "Yes" response to lines 2 through 7b below, and for a "No" response
to line 8a, 8b, or 10b below, describe the circumstances, processes, or changes on Schedule O. See instructions.

If "Yes," provide the names and addresses on Schedule O

(This Section B requests information about policies not required by the Internal Revenue Code.)

If "No," go to line 13

If "Yes," describe

on Schedule O how this was done

 (explain on Schedule O)

If there are material differences in voting rights among members of the governing body, or if the governing

body delegated broad authority to an executive committee or similar committee, explain on Schedule O.

Did the organization contemporaneously document the meetings held or written actions undertaken during the year by the following:

Were officers, directors, or trustees, and key employees required to disclose annually interests that could give rise to conflicts?

Form  (2022)

Form 990 (2022) Page 

Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part VI

Enter the number of voting members of the governing body at the end of the tax year

Enter the number of voting members included on line 1a, above, who are independent

~~~~~~

~~~~~~

Did any officer, director, trustee, or key employee have a family relationship or a business relationship with any other

officer, director, trustee, or key employee? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization delegate control over management duties customarily performed by or under the direct supervision

of officers, directors, trustees, or key employees to a management company or other person? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization make any significant changes to its governing documents since the prior Form 990 was filed?

Did the organization become aware during the year of a significant diversion of the organization's assets?

Did the organization have members or stockholders?

~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization have members, stockholders, or other persons who had the power to elect or appoint one or

more members of the governing body?

Are any governance decisions of the organization reserved to (or subject to approval by) members, stockholders, or

persons other than the governing body?

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

The governing body?

Each committee with authority to act on behalf of the governing body?

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Is there any officer, director, trustee, or key employee listed in Part VII, Section A, who cannot be reached at the

organization's mailing address? 

Did the organization have local chapters, branches, or affiliates?

If "Yes," did the organization have written policies and procedures governing the activities of such chapters, affiliates,

and branches to ensure their operations are consistent with the organization's exempt purposes?

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Has the organization provided a complete copy of this Form 990 to all members of its governing body before filing the form?

Describe on Schedule O the process, if any, used by the organization to review this Form 990.

Did the organization have a written conflict of interest policy? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~

Did the organization regularly and consistently monitor and enforce compliance with the policy? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization have a written whistleblower policy?

Did the organization have a written document retention and destruction policy?

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the process for determining compensation of the following persons include a review and approval by independent

persons, comparability data, and contemporaneous substantiation of the deliberation and decision?

The organization's CEO, Executive Director, or top management official

Other officers or key employees of the organization

If "Yes" to line 15a or 15b, describe the process on Schedule O. See instructions.

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization invest in, contribute assets to, or participate in a joint venture or similar arrangement with a

taxable entity during the year? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

If "Yes," did the organization follow a written policy or procedure requiring the organization to evaluate its participation

in joint venture arrangements under applicable federal tax law, and take steps to safeguard the organization's

exempt status with respect to such arrangements?

List the states with which a copy of this Form 990 is required to be filed

Section 6104 requires an organization to make its Forms 1023 (1024 or 1024-A, if applicable), 990, and 990-T (section 501(c)(3)s only) available

for public inspection. Indicate how you made these available. Check all that apply.

Own website Another's website Upon request Other

Describe on Schedule O whether (and if so, how) the organization made its governing documents, conflict of interest policy, and financial

statements available to the public during the tax year.

State the name, address, and telephone number of the person who possesses the organization's books and records 

6
Part VI Governance, Management, and Disclosure. 

Section A. Governing Body and Management

Section B. Policies 

Section C. Disclosure

990

DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT
DISTRICT **-***7077

X

13

13

X

X
X
X
X

X

X

X
X

X

X

X

X
X

X
X
X

X
X

X

NONE

X

DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT - 775-432-0772
40 E. 4TH STREET, PAVILION A, RENO, NV  89501

15190510 705190 802718        2022.05090 DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPR 802718_1
 7



In
di

vi
du

al
 tr

us
te

e 
or

 d
ire

ct
or

In
st

itu
tio

na
l t

ru
st

ee

O
ffi

ce
r

Ke
y 

em
pl

oy
ee

H
ig

he
st

 c
om

pe
ns

at
ed

em
pl

oy
ee

Fo
rm

er

(do not check more than one
box, unless person is both an
officer and a director/trustee)

232007  12-13-22

 current

 

Section A. Officers, Directors, Trustees, Key Employees, and Highest Compensated Employees

1a  
current 

current 

former 

former directors or trustees 

(A) (B) (C) (D) (E) (F)

 

Form 990 (2022) Page 

Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part VII

Complete this table for all persons required to be listed. Report compensation for the calendar year ending with or within the organization's tax year.
¥ List all of the organization's officers, directors, trustees (whether individuals or organizations), regardless of amount of compensation.

Enter -0- in columns (D), (E), and (F) if no compensation was paid.

¥ List all of the organization's key employees, if any. See the instructions for definition of "key employee."

¥ List the organization's five  highest compensated employees (other than an officer, director, trustee, or key employee)
who received reportable compensation (box 5 of Form W-2, box 6 of Form 1099-MISC, and/or box 1 of Form 1099-NEC) of more than
$100,000 from the organization and any related organizations.

¥ List all of the organization's officers, key employees, and highest compensated employees who received more than $100,000 of
reportable compensation from the organization and any related organizations.

¥ List all of the organization's that received, in the capacity as a former director or trustee of the organization,
more than $10,000 of reportable compensation from the organization and any related organizations.
See the instructions for the order in which to list the persons above.

Check this box if neither the organization nor any related organization compensated any current officer, director, or trustee.

PositionName and title Average 
hours per

week 
(list any

hours for
related

organizations
below
line)

Reportable
compensation

from 
the

organization
(W-2/1099-MISC/

1099-NEC)

Reportable
compensation
from related

organizations
(W-2/1099-MISC/

1099-NEC)

Estimated
amount of

other
compensation

from the
organization
and related

organizations

Form (2022)

7
Part VII Compensation of Officers, Directors, Trustees, Key Employees, Highest Compensated

Employees, and Independent Contractors

990

DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT
DISTRICT **-***7077

(1)  CHRIS SHANKS 5.00
CHAIR X X 0. 0. 0.
(2)  TONY MARINI 2.00
VICE CHAIR X X 0. 0. 0.
(3)  JIM GALLAWAY 2.00
SECRETARY X X 0. 0. 0.
(4)  MIKE ROSSMAN 5.00
TREASURER X X 0. 0. 0.
(5)  PAR TOLLES 1.00
PAST CHAIR X 0. 0. 0.
(6)  JONATHAN BOULWARE 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(7)  DANIEL BROWN 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(8)  SHARON CHAMBERLAIN 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(9)  TIFFANY COURY 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(10) ERIC EDELSTEIN 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(11) BRITTON GRIFFITH 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(12) ALEXIS HILL 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(13) ERIC LERUDE 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(14) TROY MILLER 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(15) STEVEN POLIKALAS 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(16) KAYA STANLEY 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(17) DERRICK GLUM 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.

15190510 705190 802718        2022.05090 DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPR 802718_1
 8



Fo
rm

er

In
di

vi
du

al
 tr

us
te

e 
or

 d
ire

ct
or

In
st

itu
tio

na
l t

ru
st

ee

O
ffi

ce
r

H
ig

he
st

 c
om

pe
ns

at
ed

em
pl

oy
ee

Ke
y 

em
pl

oy
ee

(do not check more than one
box, unless person is both an
officer and a director/trustee)

232008  12-13-22

 

Section A. Officers, Directors, Trustees, Key Employees, and Highest Compensated Employees 

(B) (C)(A) (D) (E) (F)

1b

c

d

Subtotal

Total from continuation sheets to Part VII, Section A

Total (add lines 1b and 1c)

2

Yes No

3

4

5

former 

3

4

5

Section B. Independent Contractors

1

(A) (B) (C)

2

(continued)

If "Yes," complete Schedule J for such individual

If "Yes," complete Schedule J for such individual

If "Yes," complete Schedule J for such person

Page Form 990 (2022)

PositionAverage 
hours per

week
(list any

hours for
related

organizations
below
line)

Name and title Reportable
compensation

from 
the

organization
(W-2/1099-MISC/

1099-NEC)

Reportable
compensation
from related

organizations
(W-2/1099-MISC/

1099-NEC)

Estimated
amount of

other
compensation

from the
organization
and related

organizations

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~

~

Total number of individuals (including but not limited to those listed above) who received more than $100,000 of reportable

compensation from the organization

Did the organization list any officer, director, trustee, key employee, or highest compensated employee on

line 1a? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

For any individual listed on line 1a, is the sum of reportable compensation and other compensation from the organization

and related organizations greater than $150,000? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did any person listed on line 1a receive or accrue compensation from any unrelated organization or individual for services

rendered to the organization? 

Complete this table for your five highest compensated independent contractors that received more than $100,000 of compensation from 

the organization. Report compensation for the calendar year ending with or within the organization's tax year.

Name and business address Description of services Compensation

Total number of independent contractors (including but not limited to those listed above) who received more than

$100,000 of compensation from the organization

Form  (2022)

8
Part VII

990

DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT
DISTRICT **-***7077

(18) MARK REECE 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(19) JEFF SIRI 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(20) ALEXANDER STETTINSKI 40.00
FORMER EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR X 59,268. 0. 5,294.
(21) NEOMA JARDON 40.00
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR X 64,570. 0. 808.

123,838. 0. 6,102.
0. 0. 0.

123,838. 0. 6,102.

0

X

X

X

STREETPLUS COMPANY LLC, 354 36TH STREET
SUITE C312, BROOKLYN, NY 11232 AMBASSADOR SERVICES 1,346,430.

1

15190510 705190 802718        2022.05090 DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPR 802718_1
 9



Noncash contributions included in lines 1a-1f

232009  12-13-22

Business Code

Business Code

Total revenue. 

 

(A) (B) (C) (D)

1 a

b

c

d

e

f

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

a

b

c

d

e

f

gg

C
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
s
, 
G

if
ts

, 
G

ra
n

ts
a

n
d

 O
th

e
r 

S
im

il
a

r 
A

m
o

u
n

ts

h Total. 

a

b

c

d

e

f

g

2

P
ro

g
ra

m
 S

e
rv

ic
e

R
e

ve
n

u
e

Total. 

3

4

5

6 a

b

c

d

6a

6b

6c

7 a

7a

7b

7c

b

c

d

a

b

c

8

8a

8b

9 a

b

c

9a

9b

10 a

b

c

10a

10b

O
th

e
r 

R
e

ve
n

u
e

11 a

b

c

d

e

M
is

c
e

ll
a

n
e

o
u

s
R

e
ve

n
u

e

Total. 

12

Revenue excluded
from tax under

sections 512 - 514

All other contributions, gifts, grants, and

similar amounts not included above

Gross amount from sales of

assets other than inventory

cost or other basis

and sales expenses

Gross income from fundraising events

See instructions

Form  (2022)

Page Form 990 (2022)

Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part VIII

Total revenue Related or exempt
function revenue

Unrelated
business revenue

Federated campaigns

Membership dues

~~~~~

~~~~~~~

Fundraising events

Related organizations

~~~~~~~

~~~~~

Government grants (contributions)

~

$

Add lines 1a-1f

All other program service revenue ~~~~~

Add lines 2a-2f

Investment income (including dividends, interest, and

other similar amounts)

Income from investment of tax-exempt bond proceeds

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Royalties

(i) Real (ii) Personal

Gross rents

Less: rental expenses

Rental income or (loss)

Net rental income or (loss)

~~~~~

~

(i) Securities (ii) Other

Less: 

Gain or (loss)

~~~

~~~~~

Net gain or (loss)

 (not

including $ of

contributions reported on line 1c). See

Part IV, line 18 ~~~~~~~~~~~~

Less: direct expenses ~~~~~~~~

Net income or (loss) from fundraising events

Gross income from gaming activities. See

Part IV, line 19 ~~~~~~~~~~~~

Less: direct expenses

Net income or (loss) from gaming activities

~~~~~~~~

Gross sales of inventory, less returns

and allowances ~~~~~~~~~~~~

Less: cost of goods sold

Net income or (loss) from sales of inventory

~~~~~~~

All other revenue ~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Add lines 11a-11d

9
Part VIII Statement of Revenue

990

DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT
DISTRICT **-***7077

45,550.

132,832.

178,382.

DISTRICT COLLECTIONS 813910 1,845,528.1,845,528.
SUPPLEMENTAL POLICE SE 813910 810,000. 810,000.
SUPPLEMENTAL MAINTENAN 813910 403,174. 403,174.
AMBASSADOR SERVICES 813910 19,952. 19,952.

3,078,654.

4,677. 4,677.

3,261,713.3,078,654. 0. 4,677.

15190510 705190 802718        2022.05090 DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPR 802718_1
 10



if following SOP 98-2 (ASC 958-720)

232010  12-13-22

Total functional expenses. 

Joint costs.

 

(A) (B) (C) (D)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

a

b

c

d

e

f

g

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

a

b

c

d

e

25

26

Section 501(c)(3) and 501(c)(4) organizations must complete all columns. All other organizations must complete column (A).

Grants and other assistance to domestic organizations

and domestic governments. See Part IV, line 21

Compensation not included above to disqualified 

persons (as defined under section 4958(f)(1)) and 

persons described in section 4958(c)(3)(B)

Pension plan accruals and contributions (include

section 401(k) and 403(b) employer contributions)

Professional fundraising services. See Part IV, line 17

(If line 11g amount exceeds 10% of line 25,

column (A), amount, list line 11g expenses on Sch O.)

Other expenses. Itemize expenses not covered 
above. (List miscellaneous expenses on line 24e. If
line 24e amount exceeds 10% of line 25, column (A),
amount, list line 24e expenses on Schedule O.)

Add lines 1 through 24e

 Complete this line only if the organization

reported in column (B) joint costs from a combined

educational campaign and fundraising solicitation.

Check here

 

Form 990 (2022) Page 

Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part IX

Total expenses Program service
expenses

Management and
general expenses

Fundraising
expenses

~

Grants and other assistance to domestic

individuals. See Part IV, line 22 ~~~~~~~

Grants and other assistance to foreign

organizations, foreign governments, and foreign

individuals. See Part IV, lines 15 and 16 ~~~

Benefits paid to or for members ~~~~~~~

Compensation of current officers, directors,

trustees, and key employees ~~~~~~~~

~~~

Other salaries and wages ~~~~~~~~~~

Other employee benefits ~~~~~~~~~~

Payroll taxes ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Fees for services (nonemployees):

Management

Legal

Accounting

Lobbying

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Investment management fees

Other. 

~~~~~~~~

Advertising and promotion

Office expenses

Information technology

Royalties

~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Occupancy ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~Travel

Payments of travel or entertainment expenses

for any federal, state, or local public officials ~

Conferences, conventions, and meetings ~~

Interest

Payments to affiliates

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~

Depreciation, depletion, and amortization

Insurance

~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

All other expenses

Form (2022)

Do not include amounts reported on lines 6b,
7b, 8b, 9b, and 10b of Part VIII.

10
Statement of Functional ExpensesPart IX

990

DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT
DISTRICT **-***7077

226,195. 113,097. 113,098.

171,413. 92,289. 79,124.

16,157. 9,420. 6,737.
38,294. 20,901. 17,393.

7,795. 7,795.
18,000. 18,000.

11,037. 11,037.
18,890. 18,890.
28,121. 28,121.
7,795. 7,795.

21,651. 10,825. 10,826.

10,528. 10,528.
4,177. 4,177.

15,386. 11,539. 3,847.
5,945. 5,945.

CONTRACTED SERVICES 2,580,586. 2,571,086. 9,500.
DOWNTOWN ENHANCEMENTS 26,810. 26,810.
STRATEGIC PLANNING 10,587. 10,587.
REPAIRS 3,627. 3,627.

3,222,994. 2,879,034. 343,960. 0.

15190510 705190 802718        2022.05090 DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPR 802718_1
 11



232011  12-13-22

 

(A) (B)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10c

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

a

b

10a

10b

A
s
s
e

ts

Total assets. 

L
ia

b
il
it

ie
s

Total liabilities. 

Organizations that follow FASB ASC 958, check here

and complete lines 27, 28, 32, and 33.

27

28

Organizations that do not follow FASB ASC 958, check here

and complete lines 29 through 33.

29

30

31

32

33

N
e

t 
A

s
s
e

ts
 o

r 
F

u
n

d
 B

a
la

n
c

e
s

Form 990 (2022) Page 

Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part X

Beginning of year End of year

Cash - non-interest-bearing

Savings and temporary cash investments

Pledges and grants receivable, net

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Accounts receivable, net ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Loans and other receivables from any current or former officer, director,

trustee, key employee, creator or founder, substantial contributor, or 35%

controlled entity or family member of any of these persons ~~~~~~~~~

Loans and other receivables from other disqualified persons (as defined

under section 4958(f)(1)), and persons described in section 4958(c)(3)(B) ~~

Notes and loans receivable, net

Inventories for sale or use

Prepaid expenses and deferred charges

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Land, buildings, and equipment: cost or other

basis. Complete Part VI of Schedule D

Less: accumulated depreciation

~~~

~~~~~~

Investments - publicly traded securities

Investments - other securities. See Part IV, line 11

Investments - program-related. See Part IV, line 11

Intangible assets

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Other assets. See Part IV, line 11 ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Add lines 1 through 15 (must equal line 33)

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Grants payable

Deferred revenue

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Tax-exempt bond liabilities

Escrow or custodial account liability. Complete Part IV of Schedule D

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~

Loans and other payables to any current or former officer, director,

trustee, key employee, creator or founder, substantial contributor, or 35%

controlled entity or family member of any of these persons ~~~~~~~~~

Secured mortgages and notes payable to unrelated third parties ~~~~~~

Unsecured notes and loans payable to unrelated third parties ~~~~~~~~

Other liabilities (including federal income tax, payables to related third

parties, and other liabilities not included on lines 17-24). Complete Part X

of Schedule D ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Add lines 17 through 25

Net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets with donor restrictions

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Capital stock or trust principal, or current funds

Paid-in or capital surplus, or land, building, or equipment fund

Retained earnings, endowment, accumulated income, or other funds

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~

~~~~

Total net assets or fund balances ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Total liabilities and net assets/fund balances

Form (2022)

11
Balance SheetPart X

990

DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT
DISTRICT **-***7077

371,638. 254,805.
456,945. 461,622.

400.
129,115. 154,000.

8,974. 18,462.

280,706.
144,010. 26,568. 136,696.

0. 45,061.
993,640. 1,070,646.
135,950. 157,103.

25,151.

161,572. 203,857.
322,673. 360,960.

X

660,967. 699,686.
10,000. 10,000.

670,967. 709,686.
993,640. 1,070,646.

15190510 705190 802718        2022.05090 DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPR 802718_1
 12



232012  12-13-22

 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Yes No

1

2

3

a

b

c

2a

2b

2c

a

b

3a

3b

 

Form 990 (2022) Page 

Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part XI

Total revenue (must equal Part VIII, column (A), line 12)

Total expenses (must equal Part IX, column (A), line 25)

Revenue less expenses. Subtract line 2 from line 1

Net assets or fund balances at beginning of year (must equal Part X, line 32, column (A))

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~

Net unrealized gains (losses) on investments

Donated services and use of facilities

Investment expenses

Prior period adjustments

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Other changes in net assets or fund balances (explain on Schedule O)

Net assets or fund balances at end of year. Combine lines 3 through 9 (must equal Part X, line 32,

column (B))

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part XII

Accounting method used to prepare the Form 990: Cash Accrual Other

If the organization changed its method of accounting from a prior year or checked "Other," explain on Schedule O.

Were the organization's financial statements compiled or reviewed by an independent accountant? ~~~~~~~~~~~~

If "Yes," check a box below to indicate whether the financial statements for the year were compiled or reviewed on a

separate basis, consolidated basis, or both:

Separate basis Consolidated basis Both consolidated and separate basis

Were the organization's financial statements audited by an independent accountant? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

If "Yes," check a box below to indicate whether the financial statements for the year were audited on a separate basis,

consolidated basis, or both:

Separate basis Consolidated basis Both consolidated and separate basis

If "Yes" to line 2a or 2b, does the organization have a committee that assumes responsibility for oversight of the audit,

review, or compilation of its financial statements and selection of an independent accountant?~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

If the organization changed either its oversight process or selection process during the tax year, explain on Schedule O.

As a result of a federal award, was the organization required to undergo an audit or audits as set forth in the

Uniform Guidance, 2 C.F.R. Part 200, Subpart F? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

If "Yes," did the organization undergo the required audit or audits? If the organization did not undergo the required audit

or audits, explain why on Schedule O and describe any steps taken to undergo such audits

Form (2022)

12
Part XI Reconciliation of Net Assets

Part XII Financial Statements and Reporting

990

DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT
DISTRICT **-***7077

3,261,713.
3,222,994.

38,719.
670,967.

0.

709,686.

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

15190510 705190 802718        2022.05090 DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPR 802718_1
 13



Department of the Treasury
Internal Revenue Service

232051  09-01-22

OMB No. 1545-0047

Held at the End of the Tax Year

 Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990,
Part IV, line 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11a, 11b, 11c, 11d, 11e, 11f, 12a, or 12b.

Attach to Form 990.
Go to www.irs.gov/Form990 for instructions and the latest information.

(Form 990)

Open to Public
Inspection

Name of the organization Employer identification number

(a) (b) 

1

2

3

4

5

6

Yes No

Yes No

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

a

b

c

d

2a

2b

2c

2d

Yes No

Yes No

1

2

a

b

(i)

(ii)

a

b

For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the Instructions for Form 990. Schedule D (Form 990) 2022

Complete if the
organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 6.

Donor advised funds Funds and other accounts

Total number at end of year

Aggregate value of contributions to (during year)

Aggregate value of grants from (during year)

Aggregate value at end of year

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~

~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization inform all donors and donor advisors in writing that the assets held in donor advised funds

are the organization's property, subject to the organization's exclusive legal control? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization inform all grantees, donors, and donor advisors in writing that grant funds can be used only

for charitable purposes and not for the benefit of the donor or donor advisor, or for any other purpose conferring

impermissible private benefit?

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 7.

Purpose(s) of conservation easements held by the organization (check all that apply).

Preservation of land for public use (for example, recreation or education)

Protection of natural habitat

Preservation of open space

Preservation of a historically important land area

Preservation of a certified historic structure

Complete lines 2a through 2d if the organization held a qualified conservation contribution in the form of a conservation easement on the last
day of the tax year.

Total number of conservation easements

Total acreage restricted by conservation easements

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Number of conservation easements on a certified historic structure included in (a)

Number of conservation easements included in (c) acquired after July 25,2006, and not on a 

historic structure listed in the National Register

~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Number of conservation easements modified, transferred, released, extinguished, or terminated by the organization during the tax

year

Number of states where property subject to conservation easement is located 

Does the organization have a written policy regarding the periodic monitoring, inspection, handling of

violations, and enforcement of the conservation easements it holds? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Staff and volunteer hours devoted to monitoring, inspecting, handling of violations, and enforcing conservation easements during the year 

Amount of expenses incurred in monitoring, inspecting, handling of violations, and enforcing conservation easements during the year 

Does each conservation easement reported on line 2(d) above satisfy the requirements of section 170(h)(4)(B)(i)

and section 170(h)(4)(B)(ii)? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

In Part XIII, describe how the organization reports conservation easements in its revenue and expense statement and

balance sheet, and include, if applicable, the text of the footnote to the organization's financial statements that describes the

organization's accounting for conservation easements.

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 8.

If the organization elected, as permitted under FASB ASC 958, not to report in its revenue statement and balance sheet works

of art, historical treasures, or other similar assets held for public exhibition, education, or research in furtherance of public

service, provide in Part XIII the text of the footnote to its financial statements that describes these items.

If the organization elected, as permitted under FASB ASC 958, to report in its revenue statement and balance sheet works of

art, historical treasures, or other similar assets held for public exhibition, education, or research in furtherance of public service,

provide the following amounts relating to these items:

Revenue included on Form 990, Part VIII, line 1

Assets included in Form 990, Part X

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ $

$~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

If the organization received or held works of art, historical treasures, or other similar assets for financial gain, provide

the following amounts required to be reported under FASB ASC 958 relating to these items:

Revenue included on Form 990, Part VIII, line 1

Assets included in Form 990, Part X

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ $

$

LHA

Part I Organizations Maintaining Donor Advised Funds or Other Similar Funds or Accounts. 

Part II Conservation Easements. 

Part III Organizations Maintaining Collections of Art, Historical Treasures, or Other Similar Assets.

SCHEDULE D Supplemental Financial Statements 2022
DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT
DISTRICT **-***7077

15190510 705190 802718        2022.05090 DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPR 802718_1
 18



232052  09-01-22

3

4

5

a

b

c

d

e

Yes No

1

2

a

b

c

d

e

f

a

b

Yes No

1c

1d

1e

1f

Yes No

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) 

1

2

3

4

a

b

c

d

e

f

g

a

b

c

a

b

Yes No

(i)

(ii)

3a(i)

3a(ii)

3b

(a) (b) (c) (d) 

1a

b

c

d

e

Total. 

Schedule D (Form 990) 2022

(continued)

(Column (d) must equal Form 990, Part X, column (B), line 10c.)

Two years back Three years back Four years back

Schedule D (Form 990) 2022 Page 

Using the organization's acquisition, accession, and other records, check any of the following that make significant use of its

collection items (check all that apply):

Public exhibition

Scholarly research

Preservation for future generations

Loan or exchange program

Other

Provide a description of the organization's collections and explain how they further the organization's exempt purpose in Part XIII.

During the year, did the organization solicit or receive donations of art, historical treasures, or other similar assets

to be sold to raise funds rather than to be maintained as part of the organization's collection?

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 9, or
reported an amount on Form 990, Part X, line 21.

Is the organization an agent, trustee, custodian or other intermediary for contributions or other assets not included

on Form 990, Part X?

If "Yes," explain the arrangement in Part XIII and complete the following table:

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Amount

Beginning balance

Additions during the year

Distributions during the year

Ending balance

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization include an amount on Form 990, Part X, line 21, for escrow or custodial account liability?

If "Yes," explain the arrangement in Part XIII. Check here if the explanation has been provided on Part XIII

~~~~~

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 10.

Current year Prior year

Beginning of year balance

Contributions

Net investment earnings, gains, and losses

Grants or scholarships

~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~

Other expenditures for facilities

and programs

Administrative expenses

End of year balance

~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~

Provide the estimated percentage of the current year end balance (line 1g, column (a)) held as:

Board designated or quasi-endowment

Permanent endowment

Term endowment

The percentages on lines 2a, 2b, and 2c should equal 100% .

%

%

%

Are there endowment funds not in the possession of the organization that are held and administered for the

organization by:

Unrelated organizations

Related organizations

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

If "Yes" on line 3a(ii), are the related organizations listed as required on Schedule R?

Describe in Part XIII the intended uses of the organization's endowment funds.

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 11a. See Form 990, Part X, line 10.

Description of property Cost or other
basis (investment)

Cost or other
basis (other)

Accumulated
depreciation

Book value

Land

Buildings

Leasehold improvements

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~

Equipment

Other

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Add lines 1a through 1e. 

2
Part III Organizations Maintaining Collections of Art, Historical Treasures, or Other Similar Assets 

Part IV Escrow and Custodial Arrangements. 

Part V Endowment Funds. 

Part VI Land, Buildings, and Equipment.

DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT
DISTRICT **-***7077

76,844. 25,412. 51,432.
196,001. 116,502. 79,499.
7,861. 2,096. 5,765.

136,696.

15190510 705190 802718        2022.05090 DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPR 802718_1
 19



(including name of security)

232053  09-01-22

Total. 

Total. 

(a) (b) (c) 

(1)

(2)

(3)

(a) (b) (c) 

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

(a) (b) 

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

Total. 

(a) (b) 1.

Total. 

2.

Schedule D (Form 990) 2022

(Column (b) must equal Form 990, Part X, col. (B) line 15.)

(Column (b) must equal Form 990, Part X, col. (B) line 25.)

Description of security or category 

(Col. (b) must equal Form 990, Part X, col. (B) line 12.)

(Col. (b) must equal Form 990, Part X, col. (B) line 13.)

Schedule D (Form 990) 2022 Page 

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 11b. See Form 990, Part X, line 12.

Book value Method of valuation: Cost or end-of-year market value

Financial derivatives

Closely held equity interests

Other

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~

(A)

(B)

(C)

(D)

(E)

(F)

(G)

(H)

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 11c. See Form 990, Part X, line 13.

Description of investment Book value Method of valuation: Cost or end-of-year market value

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 11d. See Form 990, Part X, line 15.

Description Book value

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 11e or 11f. See Form 990, Part X, line 25.

Description of liability Book value

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

Federal income taxes

Liability for uncertain tax positions. In Part XIII, provide the text of the footnote to the organization's financial statements that reports the

organization's liability for uncertain tax positions under FASB ASC 740. Check here if the text of the footnote has been provided in Part XIII

3
Part VII Investments - Other Securities.

Part VIII Investments - Program Related.

Part IX Other Assets.

Part X Other Liabilities.

DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT
DISTRICT **-***7077

EIDL LOAN 158,057.
OPERATING LEASE LIABILITY 45,800.

203,857.

15190510 705190 802718        2022.05090 DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPR 802718_1
 20



232054  09-01-22

1

2

3

4

5

1

a

b

c

d

e

2a

2b

2c

2d

2a 2d 2e

32e 1

a

b

c

4a

4b

4a 4b

3 4c. 

4c

5

1

2

3

4

5

1

a

b

c

d

e

2a

2b

2c

2d

2a 2d

2e 1

2e

3

a

b

c

4a

4b

4a 4b

3 4c. 

4c

5

Schedule D (Form 990) 2022

(This must equal Form 990, Part I, line 12.)

(This must equal Form 990, Part I, line 18.)

Schedule D (Form 990) 2022 Page 

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 12a.

Total revenue, gains, and other support per audited financial statements

Amounts included on line 1 but not on Form 990, Part VIII, line 12:

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Net unrealized gains (losses) on investments

Donated services and use of facilities

Recoveries of prior year grants

Other (Describe in Part XIII.)

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Add lines through ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Subtract line from line ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Amounts included on Form 990, Part VIII, line 12, but not on line 1:

Investment expenses not included on Form 990, Part VIII, line 7b

Other (Describe in Part XIII.)

~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Add lines and 

Total revenue. Add lines and 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 12a.

Total expenses and losses per audited financial statements

Amounts included on line 1 but not on Form 990, Part IX, line 25:

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Donated services and use of facilities

Prior year adjustments

Other losses

Other (Describe in Part XIII.)

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Add lines through 

Subtract line from line 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Amounts included on Form 990, Part IX, line 25, but not on line 1:

Investment expenses not included on Form 990, Part VIII, line 7b

Other (Describe in Part XIII.)

~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Add lines and 

Total expenses. Add lines and 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Provide the descriptions required for Part II, lines 3, 5, and 9; Part III, lines 1a and 4; Part IV, lines 1b and 2b; Part V, line 4; Part X, line 2; Part XI,

lines 2d and 4b; and Part XII, lines 2d and 4b. Also complete this part to provide any additional information.

4
Part XI Reconciliation of Revenue per Audited Financial Statements With Revenue per Return.

Part XII Reconciliation of Expenses per Audited Financial Statements With Expenses per Return.

Part XIII Supplemental Information.

DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT
DISTRICT **-***7077

3,261,713.

0.
3,261,713.

0.
3,261,713.

3,222,994.

0.
3,222,994.

0.
3,222,994.

15190510 705190 802718        2022.05090 DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPR 802718_1
 21



OMB No. 1545-0047

Department of the Treasury
Internal Revenue Service

232111  10-18-22

For certain Officers, Directors, Trustees, Key Employees, and Highest
Compensated Employees

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 23.
Open to Public

Inspection
Attach to Form 990.

Go to www.irs.gov/Form990 for instructions and the latest information.
Employer identification number

Yes No

1a

b

1b

2

2

3

4

a

b

c

4a

4b

4c

Only section 501(c)(3), 501(c)(4), and 501(c)(29) organizations must complete lines 5-9.

5

5a

5b

6a

6b

7

8

9

a

b

6

a

b

7

8

9

For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the Instructions for Form 990. Schedule J (Form 990) 2022

Name of the organization

Check the appropriate box(es) if the organization provided any of the following to or for a person listed on Form 990,

Part VII, Section A, line 1a. Complete Part III to provide any relevant information regarding these items.

First-class or charter travel

Travel for companions

Housing allowance or residence for personal use

Payments for business use of personal residence

Tax indemnification and gross-up payments

Discretionary spending account

Health or social club dues or initiation fees

Personal services (such as maid, chauffeur, chef)

If any of the boxes on line 1a are checked, did the organization follow a written policy regarding payment or

reimbursement or provision of all of the expenses described above? If "No," complete Part III to explain ~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization require substantiation prior to reimbursing or allowing expenses incurred by all directors,

trustees, and officers, including the CEO/Executive Director, regarding the items checked on line 1a? ~~~~~~~~~~~~

Indicate which, if any, of the following the organization used to establish the compensation of the organization's

CEO/Executive Director. Check all that apply. Do not check any boxes for methods used by a related organization to

establish compensation of the CEO/Executive Director, but explain in Part III.

Compensation committee

Independent compensation consultant

Form 990 of other organizations

Written employment contract

Compensation survey or study

Approval by the board or compensation committee

During the year, did any person listed on Form 990, Part VII, Section A, line 1a, with respect to the filing

organization or a related organization:

Receive a severance payment or change-of-control payment?

Participate in or receive payment from a supplemental nonqualified retirement plan?

Participate in or receive payment from an equity-based compensation arrangement?

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

If "Yes" to any of lines 4a-c, list the persons and provide the applicable amounts for each item in Part III.

For persons listed on Form 990, Part VII, Section A, line 1a, did the organization pay or accrue any compensation

contingent on the revenues of:

The organization?

Any related organization?

If "Yes" on line 5a or 5b, describe in Part III.

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

For persons listed on Form 990, Part VII, Section A, line 1a, did the organization pay or accrue any compensation

contingent on the net earnings of:

The organization?

Any related organization?

If "Yes" on line 6a or 6b, describe in Part III.

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

For persons listed on Form 990, Part VII, Section A, line 1a, did the organization provide any nonfixed payments

not described on lines 5 and 6? If "Yes," describe in Part III

Were any amounts reported on Form 990, Part VII, paid or accrued pursuant to a contract that was subject to the

initial contract exception described in Regulations section 53.4958-4(a)(3)? If "Yes," describe in Part III

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~

If "Yes" on line 8, did the organization also follow the rebuttable presumption procedure described in

Regulations section 53.4958-6(c)?

LHA

SCHEDULE J
(Form 990)

Part I Questions Regarding Compensation

Compensation Information

2022

DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT
DISTRICT **-***7077

X X

X

X
X
X

15190510 705190 802718        2022.05090 DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPR 802718_1
 22



2
3

2
1

1
2

  
1

0
-1

8
-2

2

2

P
a

rt
 I

I
O

ff
ic

e
rs

, 
D

ir
e

c
to

rs
, 
T

ru
s
te

e
s
, 
K

e
y 

E
m

p
lo

ye
e

s
, 
a

n
d

 H
ig

h
e

s
t 

C
o

m
p

e
n

s
a

te
d

 E
m

p
lo

ye
e

s
. 

N
o

te
: 

(B
) 

(C
) 

 
(D

) 
 

(E
) 

 
(F

) 

(A
) 

(i
) 

(i
i)

 
(i

ii
) 

(i
)

(i
i) (i
)

(i
i) (i
)

(i
i) (i
)

(i
i) (i
)

(i
i) (i
)

(i
i) (i
)

(i
i) (i
)

(i
i) (i
)

(i
i) (i
)

(i
i) (i
)

(i
i) (i
)

(i
i) (i
)

(i
i) (i
)

(i
i) (i
)

(i
i) (i
)

(i
i)

S
c

h
e

d
u

le
 J

 (
F

o
rm

 9
9

0
) 

2
0

2
2

S
c
h

e
d

u
le

 J
 (
F

o
rm

 9
9

0
) 
2

0
2

2
P

a
g

e
 

U
se

 d
u

p
lic

a
te

 c
o

p
ie

s 
if 

a
d

d
it
io

n
a
l s

p
a
c
e
 is

 n
e
e
d

e
d

.

F
o

r 
e
a
c
h

 in
d

iv
id

u
a
l w

h
o

se
 c

o
m

p
e
n

sa
ti
o

n
 m

u
st

 b
e
 r

e
p

o
rt

e
d

 o
n

 S
c
h

e
d

u
le

 J
, 
re

p
o

rt
 c

o
m

p
e
n

sa
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e
 o

rg
a
n

iz
a
ti
o

n
 o

n
 r

o
w

 (
i) 

a
n

d
 f

ro
m

 r
e
la

te
d

 o
rg

a
n

iz
a
ti
o

n
s,

 d
e
sc

ri
b

e
d

 in
 t

h
e
 in

st
ru

c
ti
o

n
s,

 o
n

 r
o

w
 (
ii)

.
D

o
 n

o
t 

lis
t 

a
n

y 
in

d
iv

id
u

a
ls

 t
h

a
t 

a
re

n
't

 li
st

e
d

 o
n

 F
o

rm
 9

9
0

, 
P

a
rt

 V
II
.

T
h

e
 s

u
m

 o
f 

c
o

lu
m

n
s 

(B
)(
i)-

(ii
i) 

fo
r 

e
a
c
h

 li
st

e
d

 in
d

iv
id

u
a
l m

u
st

 e
q

u
a
l t

h
e
 t

o
ta

l a
m

o
u

n
t 

o
f 

F
o

rm
 9

9
0

, 
P

a
rt

 V
II
, 
S

e
c
ti
o

n
 A

, 
lin

e
 1

a
, 
a
p

p
lic

a
b

le
 c

o
lu

m
n

 (
D

) 
a
n

d
 (
E

) 
a
m

o
u

n
ts

 f
o

r 
th

a
t 

in
d

iv
id

u
a
l.

B
re

a
kd

o
w

n
 o

f 
W

-2
 a

n
d

/o
r 

1
0

9
9

-M
IS

C
 a

n
d

/o
r 

1
0

9
9

-N
E

C
c
o

m
p

e
n

sa
ti
o

n
R

e
ti
re

m
e
n

t 
a
n

d
o

th
e
r 

d
e
fe

rr
e
d

c
o

m
p

e
n

sa
ti
o

n

N
o

n
ta

xa
b

le
b

e
n

e
fit

s
T

o
ta

l o
f 

c
o

lu
m

n
s

(B
)(
i)-

(D
)

C
o

m
p

e
n

sa
ti
o

n
in

 c
o

lu
m

n
 (
B

)
re

p
o

rt
e
d

 a
s 

d
e
fe

rr
e
d

o
n

 p
ri
o

r 
F

o
rm

 9
9

0
N

a
m

e
 a

n
d

 T
it
le

B
a
se

c
o

m
p

e
n

sa
ti
o

n
B

o
n

u
s 

&
in

c
e
n

ti
ve

c
o

m
p

e
n

sa
ti
o

n

O
th

e
r

re
p

o
rt

a
b

le
c
o

m
p

e
n

sa
ti
o

n

D
O
W
N
T
O
W
N
 
R
E
N
O
 
B
U
S
I
N
E
S
S
 
I
M
P
R
O
V
E
M
E
N
T

D
I
S
T
R
I
C
T

*
*
-
*
*
*
7
0
7
7

 
2
3



2
3

2
1

1
3

  
1

0
-1

8
-2

2

3

P
a

rt
 I

II
S

u
p

p
le

m
e

n
ta

l 
In

fo
rm

a
ti

o
n

S
c

h
e

d
u

le
 J

 (
F

o
rm

 9
9

0
) 

2
0

2
2

S
c
h

e
d

u
le

 J
 (
F

o
rm

 9
9

0
) 
2

0
2

2
P

a
g

e
 

P
ro

vi
d

e
 t

h
e
 in

fo
rm

a
ti

o
n

, 
e
xp

la
n

a
ti
o

n
, 
o

r 
d

e
sc

ri
p

ti
o

n
s 

re
q

u
ir
e
d

 f
o

r 
P

a
rt

 I
, 
lin

e
s 

1
a
, 
1

b
, 3

, 
4

a
, 
4

b
, 
4

c
, 
5

a
, 
5

b
, 
6

a
, 
6

b
, 
7

, 
a
n

d
 8

, 
a
n

d
 f

o
r 

P
a
rt

 I
I.
 A

ls
o

 c
o

m
p

le
te

 t
h

is
 p

a
rt

 f
o

r 
a
n

y 
a
d

d
it
io

n
a
l i

n
fo

rm
a
ti
o

n
. 

D
O
W
N
T
O
W
N
 
R
E
N
O
 
B
U
S
I
N
E
S
S
 
I
M
P
R
O
V
E
M
E
N
T

D
I
S
T
R
I
C
T

*
*
-
*
*
*
7
0
7
7

 
2
4



OMB No. 1545-0047

Department of the Treasury
Internal Revenue Service

232211  10-28-22

Complete to provide information for responses to specific questions on
Form 990 or 990-EZ or to provide any additional information.

Attach to Form 990 or Form 990-EZ.
Go to www.irs.gov/Form990 for the latest information.

Open to Public
Inspection

Employer identification number

For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the Instructions for Form 990 or 990-EZ. Schedule O (Form 990) 2022

Name of the organization

LHA

(Form 990)

SCHEDULE O Supplemental Information to Form 990 or 990-EZ 2022
DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT
DISTRICT **-***7077

FORM 990, PART I, LINE 1, DESCRIPTION OF ORGANIZATION MISSION:

PROGRAMS, ACTIVITIES AND CONTRACTS.

FORM 990, PART VI, SECTION A, LINE 7A:

DIRECTORS SHALL BE ELECTED OR APPOINTED BY THE BOARD FROM A SLATE NOMINATED

BY THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE, AND THE BOARD MAY PROVIDE THE EXECUTIVE

COMMITTEE WITH ANY GUIDANCE IT MAY HAVE TO FACILITATE THE CONSIDERATION OF

POTENTIAL NEW DIRECTORS.

FORM 990, PART VI, SECTION B, LINE 11B:

MANAGEMENT AND SELECT MEMBERS OF THE BOARD REVIEW FORM 990 PRIOR TO FILING.

THE COMPLETED 990 WILL BE PROVIDED TO ALL MEMBERS OF THE BOARD POST FILING.

FORM 990, PART VI, SECTION B, LINE 15:

THE PERSONNEL COMMITTEE REVIEWS THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR ANNUALLY AND

DETERMINES SALARY RAISES AND BONUSES, WHICH ARE DEFINED IN A CONTRACT.

FORM 990, PART VI, SECTION C, LINE 19:

NO DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE TO THE PUBLIC.

FORM 990, PART XII, LINE 2C

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS IS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE OVERSIGHT OF THE AUDIT.

15190510 705190 802718        2022.05090 DOWNTOWN RENO BUSINESS IMPR 802718_1
 25



PUBLIC 
COMMENT



Outlook

Re: Providing Public notice document in a timely manner

From Robert W. Harrison <RWH@ivgid.org>
Date Sat 5/24/2025 10:50 AM
To Jessica O'Connell <joc@ivgid.org>
Cc Kellie Grahmann <kgrahmann@tax.state.nv.us>; Kelly S. Langley <klangley@tax.state.nv.us>

WARNING - This email originated from outside the State of Nevada. Exercise caution when opening
attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders.

Jess,

We are okay and within the law.  We will be on target for the May 30 meeting and all documents will
be produced and published in a timely manner no later than 72 hours before the meeting. 

Sorry for the mixup Jessica.  Kelly and Kelly, we had an email from Mr. Katz saying we did not have the
final 4404 our by 11:30 on Friday.  We had a draft available.  He informed us he was contacting D of
Tax of the violation and requesting a postponement of our meeting. We received clarification from our
legal counsel that we are legally fine and not in any violation.

Please disregard Jess’s email.  Sorry Jess. Thanks for inquiring like I had asked you too. We were able
to get legal’s review late yesterday clarifying that Mr. Katz was wrong in his legal analysis.

Happy Memorial Day.

Bob

Sent from my iPhone

On May 23, 2025, at 8:32 PM, Jessica O'Connell <joc@ivgid.org> wrote:

CC’ng Bob.
 
From: Jessica O'Connell
Sent: Friday, May 23, 2025 8:32 PM
To: Kellie Grahmann <kgrahmann@tax.state.nv.us>; Kelly S. Langley <klangley@tax.state.nv.us>
Subject: Providing Public notice document in a timely manner
Importance: High
 
 
 



Hi Kellie and Kelly,
 
We failed to produce the Form 4404 on a timely manner. We have a citizen filing a complaint
with DOT. I have the Form 4404 which will most likely need updating on May 30, 2025.
What do you suggest our next step be?
 
Thanks, in advance,
 
Jess
 
 
Jessica O’Connell
Director of Finance
893 Southwood Blvd.
Incline Village, NV 89451
775-886-1012
 

 
 



Outlook

Re: IVGID's 2025-26 tentative/final budgets - P.S.

From s4s@ix.netcom.com <s4s@ix.netcom.com>
Date Sat 5/24/2025 1:24 AM
To Chali Spurlock <CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us>
Cc Kelly S. Langley <klangley@tax.state.nv.us>; Tax-Public Information Officer <taxpio@tax.state.nv.us>

WARNING - This email originated from outside the State of Nevada. Exercise caution when opening
attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders.

Hello Ms. Langley -
 
This is a follow up to my April 24, 2025 e-mail below.
 
Have you or is it your intent to submit to the IVGID BOT, at least 3 days before its noticed public
hearing on its FY 2025/26 final budget (May 30, 2025), either:
 
1. A written "certificate of compliance" insofar as its FY 2025/26 tentative budget is concerned;
 
2. A written "notice of lack of compliance" insofar as its FY 2025/26 tentative budget is
concerned; and/or,and/or,
 
3. A written notification that its "submitted (tentative budget) documents fail to comply with law
or appropriate regulations?"
 
Assuming the answer is yes to one or more of the above, can you please provide me with
copies? Please consider this request to be one for public records.
 
Also, I ask you share with Chairperson Leavitt and other honorable members of the CLGF, now
rather than immediately prior to its next scheduled meeting, the following.
 
4. IVGID still does not have an auditor for FY 2025/2026. Even though NRS 354.624(3)
instructs that "the auditor or firm must be designated, and notification of the auditor or firm
designated must be sent to the Department of Taxation not later than 3 months before
the close of the fiscal year for which the audit is to be made." Insofar as IVGID is
concerned, that due date was March 30, 2025.
 
5. IVGID still does not have a central services cost allocation plan for FY 2025/26. Even though
NAC 354.8668(7) instructs that since IVGID is not "exempt from the requirement to subjit a
tentative budget to the Department," its central services cost allocation plan "must be updated
annually before: (a) the date on which the local government submits its tentative budget
to the Department." Insofar as IVGID is concerned, that due date was April 15, 2025.
 
6. Moreover, the Committee can see that IVGID's FY 2026 tentative budget relies upon $3.1M
of transfers from enterprise funds to IVGID's General Fund. And I was informed by IVGID staff
this morning that it is no closer to adopting such a plan today, than it was on April 15, 2025.
 
7. And the IVGID BOT will not be asked to approve such a plan in compliance with the NRS and
NAC at all. Notwithstanding I predict its proposed final FY 2026 budget will rely upon transfers

8/13/25, 3:04 PM Re: IVGID's 2025-26 tentative/final budgets - P.S. - Kari Skalsky - Outlook

about:blank?windowId=SecondaryReadingPane1 1/6



from enterprise funds to IVGID's General Fund.
 
8. Moreover, the Committee can see that IVGID's FY 2026 tentative budget relies upon
increased facility fees. Notwithstanding the IVGID BOT will not be asked to approve such
increased fees in compliance with the NRS and NAC at all. And I predict its proposed final FY
2026 budget will rely upon those increased facility fees.
 
9. Which means IVGID will not be able to pass a final FY 2026 budget by the statutory due date
(June 1, 2025) therefore [see NRS 354.598(2)]. It may attempt to pass such a budget but when
it's challenged by myself and others, this Committee will learn why the District's actions are
voidable.
 
Just so we're all on the same page.
 
10. Moreover, on page 6 of today's Tahoe Daily Tribune, Committee members will see a Notice
of Public Hearing has been published insofar as adoption of the District's FY 2026 budget. The
Notice states, in part, that the final "budget has been prepared in such detail and on the
appropriate forms as prescribed by the Nevada Department of Taxation [i.e., form
4404LGF (and that)] copies of said budget are on file for public inspection at the
(administrative) offices of" IVGID. So this morning I presented myself at the District's admin
offices in order to inspect this proposed budget "on the appropriate forms as prescribed by
the...Department of Taxation." And none was there. Rather a number of spreadsheet work
papers which had been prepared as part of the materials given to the BOT on May 14, 2025
were available for inspection.
 
11. So I asked the receptionist to examine what was represented in the published notice and to
provide for my examination what was represented. It was then she retrieved Susan Herron who
told me there still is no proposed final budget, let alone one on appropriate forms, for public
inspection. Rather, that proposed budget will be included in the Board packet for the BOT's
review next Tuesday, May 27, 2025. For these reasons I have e-mailed the IVGID BOT
objecting to the published May 30, 2025 hearing going forward. At least insofar as the fiscal
year 2025/2026 budget is concerned. Because the public has not had the opportunity to
examine it within a reasonable period of time prior to the published May 30, 2025 public
hearing. Is this the reason the NRS requires a minimum of two weeks' public notice?
 
12. Now maybe some Committee members think this lack of notice to the public isn't that
important because in most municipalities, local parcel owners or residents have no direct
financial stake in budgeted expenditures. But not so in Incline Village. As I and others have
shared, a very large percentage of the District's revenues are not in compliance with law. I
predict staff's proposed final FY 2026 budget will rely upon over $4M of inappropriate transfers
from the District's enterprise funds to its General Fund. And those transfers will be funded by
increased water and sewer rates and charges directly paid by local parcel owners, and an
invalid special tax against property the product of a series of non-exchange transactions.
 
13. I also predict that staff will be proposing a 5 year capital improvement plan for BOT approval
which admittedly consists of nothing more than $56M of "wish list" CIPs with no moneys
available to pay for them short of increasing the District's invalid facility fees from $450 per local
parcel/dwelling unit, to between $1,376-2,268 per local parcel/dwelling unit, for each of the next
five years. And again these "fees" will be directly paid by local parcel owners.
 
14. Moreover, when IVGID staff presented the proposed tentative FY 2026 budget, which was
never formally approved by the BOT, staff admitted that essentially all of the numbers included
in the form 4404LGF were fantasy "placeholders." And not to worry because the BOT would
have plenty of time to make modifications as several subsequent "budget workshops" were
scheduled.
 
15. Which means that if a final FY 2026 budget is not approved at the BOT's May 30, 2026
meeting, which it will not, according to NRS 354.598(2) staff's phony tentative budget will
become the District's final budget by default. So much for protecting the public.

8/13/25, 3:04 PM Re: IVGID's 2025-26 tentative/final budgets - P.S. - Kari Skalsky - Outlook

about:blank?windowId=SecondaryReadingPane1 2/6



 
One would think that being on fiscal watch, the District would go out of its way to be absolutely
squeaky clean insofar as the NRS'/NAC's requirements are concerned. But not so. Because it's
not the local government you give it credit for. Even though it hired GM Harrison rather recently
because he allegedly had over 30 years of government finance reporting and would be able to
immediately hit the road running.
 
All of this is evidence the District suffers from severe financial emergency, and its BOT is clearly
not capable of properly running the District. Therefore if my predictions above turn out to be
fact, I ask:
 
a) The Executive Director be requested to ask the Committee to initiate hearings to determine
the existence of a NRS 354.685 severe financial emergency; and, 
b) The Executive Director be requested to notify the Washoe County Board of Commissioners
to initiate public hearings involving IVGID in accordance with NRS 318.515.
 
Thank you for your cooperation. Aaron Katz
 

-----Original Message-----
From: <s4s@ix.netcom.com>
Sent: Apr 24, 2025 2:29 PM
To: <CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us>
Cc: <klangley@tax.state.nv.us>
Subject: IVGID's 2025-26 tentative budget

 
Hello Ms. Spurlock and Ms. Langley -
 
The purpose of this e-mail is to alert the Dep't that IVGID's tentative budget for 2026 is not in
compliance with the NRS and the NAC. Given NRS 354.596(5) instructs that "the Department
of Taxation shall examine the submitted documents for compliance with law and with
appropriate regulations and shall submit to the governing body at least 3 days before the
public hearing a written certificate of compliance or a written notice of lack of compliance," for
the reasons which follow I ask the Dep't notify IVGID that its "submitted documents fail to
comply with law or appropriate regulations." Please consider the following evidence of
statutory and/or regulatory non-compliance: 
 
1. Facility Fee revenue is improperly reported under Community Service Fund (page 12,
schedule F-1) "operating revenue." GASB statement 9 instructs that only exchange
transaction revenue be reported under operating revenue. But IVGID's current and immediate
past auditors have both testified that this facility fee is the product of non-exchange
transactions. In other words, the payors receive nothing of comparable value in consideration
of forced payment. Therefore assuming arguendo it's proper to report facility fee revenue in
this fund, it should be reported under "nonoperation revenues." IVGID staff agree with this
criticism. Take a look at the asterisk at the bottom of page 14, schedule F-1, of the tentative
budget: "Per Board direction, Facility Fees are being reported as Non-Operating revenues,
beginning with FY2023-24." But the problem here is that these fees are not being reported as
non-operating revenues. As they should.
 
2. Facility Fee revenue is improperly reported under Beach Fund (page 14, schedule F-1)
"operating revenue." For the reasons stated in paragraph 1 above, these fees are not being
reported as non-operating revenues. As they should.
 
3. Is it appropriate for a tentative budget to reflect numbers with no factual basis of support?
In other words, throwing a dart against the wall and wherever it lands.... Assuming the answer
is no, the Dep't's attention is directed to page 8 of schedule B-11. $3,100,000 has been

8/13/25, 3:04 PM Re: IVGID's 2025-26 tentative/final budgets - P.S. - Kari Skalsky - Outlook

about:blank?windowId=SecondaryReadingPane1 3/6



inserted as an alleged central services cost transfer ("expenditure offset") from three
enterprise funds: $1,641,000 from the District's Community Services Fund (see page 13 of
schedule F-2), $110,000 from the District's Beach Fund (see page 15, schedule F-2), and
$1,349,000 from the District's Utility Fund (see page 11, schedule F-2). This number is
supported by no facts whatsoever. I can made this observation given NAC 354.865-354.867
mandate that a series of factors be addressed in a local government's updated central
services cost allocation plan. But here there is no plan. Because none was approved by the
IVGID BOT "under a nonconsent item that (wa)s separately listed on the agenda for a regular
meeting of the governing body" [see NRS 354.613(1)(c)] "before (a) the date on which the
local government submit(ted) its tentative budget to the Department" [see NAC 354.8668(7)].
In other words, April 15, 2025.
 
Without an approved plan, the tentative budget's $3,100,000 central services cost transfer
number is the product of nothing more than throwing a dart on the wall. Or probably far more
likely, a subsidy for the financial shortfall between budgeted General Fund revenues (see
schedule B) and intentional overspending (see page 8, schedule B-10). Having nothing to do
with any of the facts set forth in NAC 354.686-354.867 intended to "set...forth the extent to
which an equitable distribution of all general, overhead, administrative and similar expenses
of the local government among all activities of the local government" as NRS 354.613(8)(a)
mandates.
 
4. Facility Fee revenue is improperly reported under the Community Service Fund (page 12,
schedule F-1). Given this revenue is the product of non-exchange transactions, GASB 33
instructs that it can only be one of four (4) classes "based on shared characteristics that affect
the timing of recognition:
 
a. Derived tax revenues, which result from assessments imposed on exchange transactions
(for example, income taxes, sales taxes, and other assessments on earnings or
consumption);
b. Imposed nonexchange revenues, which result from assessments imposed on
nongovernmental entities, including individuals, other than assessments on exchange
transactions (for example, property taxes and fines);
c. Government-mandated nonexchange transactions, which occur when a government at one
level provides resources to a government at another level and requires the recipient to use
the resources for a specific purpose (for example, federal programs that state or local
governments are mandated to perform); and,
d. Voluntary nonexchange transactions, which result from legislative or contractual
agreements, other than exchanges, entered into willingly by the parties to the agreement (for
example, certain grants and private donations)."
 
5. Given the shared characteristics of this facility fee can only fit into class two (2) above
["assessments imposed on nongovernmental entities, including individuals, other than
assessments on exchange transactions"], the question: what express authority does IVGID
have to involuntarily levy such an assessment?
 
6. I say express authority because "in Nevada’s jurisprudence, the Nevada Supreme Court
has adopted and applied Dillon’s Rule to county, city and other local governments" like
GIDs [see NRS 244.137(2) and 268.001(2)]. As applied to local governments Dillon’s Rule
provides [see NRS 244.137(3) and 268.001(3)] that the governing body may exercise only
the following powers and no others:
 
(a) Those powers granted in express terms by the Nevada Constitution, statute or city
charter;
(b) Those powers necessarily or fairly implied in or incident to the powers expressly granted;
and
(c) Those powers essential to the accomplishment of the declared objects and purposes of
the city and not merely convenient but indispensable."
 

8/13/25, 3:04 PM Re: IVGID's 2025-26 tentative/final budgets - P.S. - Kari Skalsky - Outlook

about:blank?windowId=SecondaryReadingPane1 4/6



And "Dillon’s Rule also provides that if there is any fair or reasonable doubt concerning the
existence of a power, that doubt is resolved against the governing body...and the power is
denied" [see NRS 244.137(4) and 268.001(4)].
 
7. NRS 318 governs GIDs. Where therein is it expressly declared that a GID has the power to
levy "assessments imposed on nongovernmental entities, including individuals, other than
assessments on exchange transactions?" The choices are twofold: First, ad valorem taxes
[see NRS 318.225]. And second, "special assessments upon lands and premises abutting
upon that part of the street or alley so improved or proposed so to be, or the lands abutting
upon the improvement and the other lands as in the opinion of the board may be specially
benefited by the improvement" [see NRS 318.350]. Given the subect fees are neither, and
they are involuntarily assessed against real property, IVGID has no express power to enforce
the same. Nor to budget them as operating revenues. Stated differently, their assessment is
not in compliance with statutes or regulations.
 
8. IVGID will tell the Dep't its subject facility fee represents a "fee" permitted by NRS
318.197(1). But this is untrue. All fees, regardless of their label, are required to furnish
comparable value to those who are charged. In other words, exchange transactions. But here
the subject fee furnishes no value nor benefit whatsoever. Meaning it can't be a "fee."
 
8. And not that it's important what kind of NRS 318.197(1) fee the District's "so called" fee
turns out to be, IVGID will tell the Dep't it is a charge for the mere "availability" to access and
use its public recreation facilities. Even though essentially all of those facilities charge "user
fees" to all users, including those whose real properties are assessed the fee. But since those
facilities are "public," they're already available to be used by all members of the public.
Whether or not they are residents of Incline Village/Crystal Bay, own real property in Incline
Village/Crystal Bay, or are assessed this facility fee. Moreoever, there is no such thing as a
NRS 318.197(1) fee for the "availability of facilities." See for yourself.
 
9. Finally, availability fees are recognized for the "availability of service." But only public
health an d sanitation services delivered to real property (rather than persons). Here public
recreation is not public health nor sanitation. And the District's public recreation facilities are
not furnished to real property.
 
10. For all of these reasons, the facility fees which the District has budgeted to its Community
Services Fund is not in compliance with the NRS and should be ordered removed.
 
11. Similarly, Facility Fee revenue is improperly reported under the Beach Fund (page 14,
schedule F-1). And it is improperly reported for an additional important reason. The deed by
which IVGID agreed to take title to its Lake Tahoe beaches includes a use easement in favor
of all past, present and future Incline Village parcel owners whose parcels were within
IVGID's boundaries in June of 1968. For this reason this facility fee does not furnish access
and use of IVGID's beaches to those parcels which are assessed. Rather, the express
easement in the beach deed does.
 
12. For all of these reasons, the facility fees which the District has budgeted to its Community
Services Fund is not in compliance with the NRS and should be ordered removed.
 
13. As you know, I have written to the CLGF concerning several loans made staff from the
District's General Fund to its Internal Services Fund. Several of these loans are identified in
the District's 2022 and 2023 CAFRs. Others are identified in actual 2024 and estimated 2025
calendar years. But my point here is that the District's tentative budget fails to identify these
loans as "other financing sources" to the General Fund (see page 6 of the Form 4404LGF), or
nonoperating expenses to the Internal Services Fund (see page 16 of the Form 4404LGF).
Nor Schedule C-1 Indebtedness (see page 18 of the Form 4404LGF). Again, more non-
compliance.
 
14. I therefore request your office serve IVGID with "a written notice of lack of compliance
(which)...indicate(s as I have identified above) the manner in which the submitted documents

8/13/25, 3:04 PM Re: IVGID's 2025-26 tentative/final budgets - P.S. - Kari Skalsky - Outlook

about:blank?windowId=SecondaryReadingPane1 5/6



fail to comply with law or appropriate regulations." And that it provide Chairperson Leavitt and
the remainder of CLGF members with that notice re lack of compliance as I believe this would
be a material matter insofar as possible fiscal watch is concerned.
 
Thank you for your cooperation. Aaron Katz

 

8/13/25, 3:04 PM Re: IVGID's 2025-26 tentative/final budgets - P.S. - Kari Skalsky - Outlook

about:blank?windowId=SecondaryReadingPane1 6/6



Outlook

Staff's Determination of Compliance Insofar as IVGID's 2025-26 Tentative Budget

From s4s@ix.netcom.com <s4s@ix.netcom.com>
Date Tue 5/27/2025 11:36 AM
To Chali Spurlock <CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us>
Cc Kelly S. Langley <klangley@tax.state.nv.us>; Tax-Public Information Officer <taxpio@tax.state.nv.us>

WARNING - This email originated from outside the State of Nevada. Exercise caution when opening
attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders.

 
Hello Ms. Spurlock and Ms. Langley -
 
On April 24, 2025 I sent you the e-mail below challenging IVGID's tentative budget as not being
in compliance with the NRS/NAC.
 
Today I was provided with a May 20, 2025 letter from Kellie Grahmann of your Department
informing IVGID that its tentative budget is in compliance with the NRS/NAC.
 
It is not.
 
I ask you share this e-mail with Chairperson Leavitt and the other Honorable Members of the
CLGF now rather than sometime down the road closer to its next meeting, so they're familiar
with exactly what is going on in Incline Village. Let me remind you that as of today, barely if not
now less than three (3) days from its published public hearing date, staff have still not provided
the IVGID Board and the public with:
 
1. A proposed FY 2025-26 final budget;
2. Authority for any alleged central services cost transfers from the District's enterprise funds
(remember the tentative budget relies upon $3.1M of such transfers which are voidable on their
face inasmuch as the District has never adopted an updated central services cost allocation
plan); or,
3. Authority for increased special tax assessments (disingenuously labeled facility "fees") to
prop up its intentional overspending in its Community Services and Beach Funds.
 
And this is nearly two weeks since the District first published notice of the upcoming public
hearing telling the public the District's proposed final budget was on file and available to be
inspected, when it isn't!
 
Because I suspect that IVGID's final budget will suffer from this same non-compliance as does
its tentative budget, if your office similarly finds, I intend to make formal request of the Executive
Director for a NAC 354.940 advisory opinion.
 
The only reason I am not asking for that opinion now, is because I anticipate the District will
commit additional NRS/NAC non-compliances. So rather than dealing with multiple non-
compliances piecemeal, I intend to let circumstances play out as the District has published May
30, 2025 as the date for adoption of its FY 2025-26 budget.
 

8/13/25, 3:06 PM Staff's Determination of Compliance Insofar as IVGID's 2025-26 Tentative Budget - Kari Skalsky - Outlook

about:blank?windowId=SecondaryReadingPane1 1/5



I and others have told the CLGF for some time that the District is an out of control rogue local
government which exists financially, on a series of revenue sources which are not in compliance
with the NRS/NAC. Take away these improper revenue sources and what you're left with is a
severe financial emergency. Which is exactly where we're heading. Which the CLGF will see
materializes before members' eyes, assuming they are looking. Given IVGID is on "fiscal
watch," I and others in our community hope the CLGF is watching.
 
I repeat that the reason the CLGF is hearing from members of the Incline Village/Crystal Bay
public, is because unlike the rest of the state, their properties are being subjected to an invalid
special tax. Once which is not in compliance with the NRS, and unlike an ad valorem tax, has
no statutory limits.
 
Thank you for your cooperation. Aaron Katz

-----Original Message-----
From: <s4s@ix.netcom.com>
Sent: Apr 24, 2025 2:29 PM
To: <CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us>
Cc: <klangley@tax.state.nv.us>
Subject: IVGID's 2025-26 tentative budget

 
Hello Ms. Spurlock and Ms. Langley -
 
The purpose of this e-mail is to alert the Dep't that IVGID's tentative budget for 2026 is not
in compliance with the NRS and the NAC. Given NRS 354.596(5) instructs that "the
Department of Taxation shall examine the submitted documents for compliance with law
and with appropriate regulations and shall submit to the governing body at least 3 days
before the public hearing a written certificate of compliance or a written notice of lack of
compliance," for the reasons which follow I ask the Dep't notify IVGID that its "submitted
documents fail to comply with law or appropriate regulations." Please consider the following
evidence of statutory and/or regulatory non-compliance: 
 
1. Facility Fee revenue is improperly reported under Community Service Fund (page 12,
schedule F-1) "operating revenue." GASB statement 9 instructs that only exchange
transaction revenue be reported under operating revenue. But IVGID's current and
immediate past auditors have both testified that this facility fee is the product of non-
exchange transactions. In other words, the payors receive nothing of comparable value in
consideration of forced payment. Therefore assuming arguendo it's proper to report facility
fee revenue in this fund, it should be reported under "nonoperation revenues." IVGID staff
agree with this criticism. Take a look at the asterisk at the bottom of page 14, schedule F-1,
of the tentative budget: "Per Board direction, Facility Fees are being reported as Non-
Operating revenues, beginning with FY2023-24." But the problem here is that these fees
are not being reported as non-operating revenues. As they should.
 
2. Facility Fee revenue is improperly reported under Beach Fund (page 14, schedule F-1)
"operating revenue." For the reasons stated in paragraph 1 above, these fees are not being
reported as non-operating revenues. As they should.
 
3. Is it appropriate for a tentative budget to reflect numbers with no factual basis of
support? In other words, throwing a dart against the wall and wherever it lands.... Assuming
the answer is no, the Dep't's attention is directed to page 8 of schedule B-11. $3,100,000
has been inserted as an alleged central services cost transfer ("expenditure offset") from
three enterprise funds: $1,641,000 from the District's Community Services Fund (see page
13 of schedule F-2), $110,000 from the District's Beach Fund (see page 15, schedule F-2),
and $1,349,000 from the District's Utility Fund (see page 11, schedule F-2). This number is
supported by no facts whatsoever. I can made this observation given NAC 354.865-

8/13/25, 3:06 PM Staff's Determination of Compliance Insofar as IVGID's 2025-26 Tentative Budget - Kari Skalsky - Outlook

about:blank?windowId=SecondaryReadingPane1 2/5



354.867 mandate that a series of factors be addressed in a local government's updated
central services cost allocation plan. But here there is no plan. Because none was
approved by the IVGID BOT "under a nonconsent item that (wa)s separately listed on the
agenda for a regular meeting of the governing body" [see NRS 354.613(1)(c)] "before (a)
the date on which the local government submit(ted) its tentative budget to the Department"
[see NAC 354.8668(7)]. In other words, April 15, 2025.
 
Without an approved plan, the tentative budget's $3,100,000 central services cost transfer
number is the product of nothing more than throwing a dart on the wall. Or probably far
more likely, a subsidy for the financial shortfall between budgeted General Fund revenues
(see schedule B) and intentional overspending (see page 8, schedule B-10). Having
nothing to do with any of the facts set forth in NAC 354.686-354.867 intended to "set...forth
the extent to which an equitable distribution of all general, overhead, administrative and
similar expenses of the local government among all activities of the local government" as
NRS 354.613(8)(a) mandates.
 
4. Facility Fee revenue is improperly reported under the Community Service Fund (page
12, schedule F-1). Given this revenue is the product of non-exchange transactions, GASB
33 instructs that it can only be one of four (4) classes "based on shared characteristics that
affect the timing of recognition:
 
a. Derived tax revenues, which result from assessments imposed on exchange
transactions (for example, income taxes, sales taxes, and other assessments on earnings
or consumption);
b. Imposed nonexchange revenues, which result from assessments imposed on
nongovernmental entities, including individuals, other than assessments on exchange
transactions (for example, property taxes and fines);
c. Government-mandated nonexchange transactions, which occur when a government at
one level provides resources to a government at another level and requires the recipient to
use the resources for a specific purpose (for example, federal programs that state or local
governments are mandated to perform); and,
d. Voluntary nonexchange transactions, which result from legislative or contractual
agreements, other than exchanges, entered into willingly by the parties to the agreement
(for example, certain grants and private donations)."
 
5. Given the shared characteristics of this facility fee can only fit into class two (2) above
["assessments imposed on nongovernmental entities, including individuals, other than
assessments on exchange transactions"], the question: what express authority does IVGID
have to involuntarily levy such an assessment?
 
6. I say express authority because "in Nevada’s jurisprudence, the Nevada Supreme Court
has adopted and applied Dillon’s Rule to county, city and other local governments" like
GIDs [see NRS 244.137(2) and 268.001(2)]. As applied to local governments Dillon’s Rule
provides [see NRS 244.137(3) and 268.001(3)] that the governing body may exercise only
the following powers and no others:
 
(a) Those powers granted in express terms by the Nevada Constitution, statute or city
charter;
(b) Those powers necessarily or fairly implied in or incident to the powers expressly
granted; and
(c) Those powers essential to the accomplishment of the declared objects and purposes of
the city and not merely convenient but indispensable."
 
And "Dillon’s Rule also provides that if there is any fair or reasonable doubt concerning the
existence of a power, that doubt is resolved against the governing body...and the power
is denied" [see NRS 244.137(4) and 268.001(4)].
 
7. NRS 318 governs GIDs. Where therein is it expressly declared that a GID has the power
to levy "assessments imposed on nongovernmental entities, including individuals, other

8/13/25, 3:06 PM Staff's Determination of Compliance Insofar as IVGID's 2025-26 Tentative Budget - Kari Skalsky - Outlook

about:blank?windowId=SecondaryReadingPane1 3/5



than assessments on exchange transactions?" The choices are twofold: First, ad valorem
taxes [see NRS 318.225]. And second, "special assessments upon lands and premises
abutting upon that part of the street or alley so improved or proposed so to be, or the lands
abutting upon the improvement and the other lands as in the opinion of the board may be
specially benefited by the improvement" [see NRS 318.350]. Given the subect fees are
neither, and they are involuntarily assessed against real property, IVGID has no express
power to enforce the same. Nor to budget them as operating revenues. Stated differently,
their assessment is not in compliance with statutes or regulations.
 
8. IVGID will tell the Dep't its subject facility fee represents a "fee" permitted by NRS
318.197(1). But this is untrue. All fees, regardless of their label, are required to furnish
comparable value to those who are charged. In other words, exchange transactions. But
here the subject fee furnishes no value nor benefit whatsoever. Meaning it can't be a "fee."
 
8. And not that it's important what kind of NRS 318.197(1) fee the District's "so called" fee
turns out to be, IVGID will tell the Dep't it is a charge for the mere "availability" to access
and use its public recreation facilities. Even though essentially all of those facilities charge
"user fees" to all users, including those whose real properties are assessed the fee. But
since those facilities are "public," they're already available to be used by all members of the
public. Whether or not they are residents of Incline Village/Crystal Bay, own real property in
Incline Village/Crystal Bay, or are assessed this facility fee. Moreoever, there is no such
thing as a NRS 318.197(1) fee for the "availability of facilities." See for yourself.
 
9. Finally, availability fees are recognized for the "availability of service." But only public
health an d sanitation services delivered to real property (rather than persons). Here public
recreation is not public health nor sanitation. And the District's public recreation facilities are
not furnished to real property.
 
10. For all of these reasons, the facility fees which the District has budgeted to its
Community Services Fund is not in compliance with the NRS and should be ordered
removed.
 
11. Similarly, Facility Fee revenue is improperly reported under the Beach Fund (page 14,
schedule F-1). And it is improperly reported for an additional important reason. The deed by
which IVGID agreed to take title to its Lake Tahoe beaches includes a use easement in
favor of all past, present and future Incline Village parcel owners whose parcels were within
IVGID's boundaries in June of 1968. For this reason this facility fee does not furnish access
and use of IVGID's beaches to those parcels which are assessed. Rather, the express
easement in the beach deed does.
 
12. For all of these reasons, the facility fees which the District has budgeted to its
Community Services Fund is not in compliance with the NRS and should be ordered
removed.
 
13. As you know, I have written to the CLGF concerning several loans made staff from the
District's General Fund to its Internal Services Fund. Several of these loans are identified in
the District's 2022 and 2023 CAFRs. Others are identified in actual 2024 and estimated
2025 calendar years. But my point here is that the District's tentative budget fails to identify
these loans as "other financing sources" to the General Fund (see page 6 of the Form
4404LGF), or nonoperating expenses to the Internal Services Fund (see page 16 of the
Form 4404LGF). Nor Schedule C-1 Indebtedness (see page 18 of the Form 4404LGF).
Again, more non-compliance.
 
14. I therefore request your office serve IVGID with "a written notice of lack of compliance
(which)...indicate(s as I have identified above) the manner in which the submitted
documents fail to comply with law or appropriate regulations." And that it provide
Chairperson Leavitt and the remainder of CLGF members with that notice re lack of
compliance as I believe this would be a material matter insofar as possible fiscal watch is
concerned.

8/13/25, 3:06 PM Staff's Determination of Compliance Insofar as IVGID's 2025-26 Tentative Budget - Kari Skalsky - Outlook

about:blank?windowId=SecondaryReadingPane1 4/5



 
Thank you for your cooperation. Aaron Katz

 

 

8/13/25, 3:06 PM Staff's Determination of Compliance Insofar as IVGID's 2025-26 Tentative Budget - Kari Skalsky - Outlook

about:blank?windowId=SecondaryReadingPane1 5/5



From: Kelly S. Langley
To: Marvin Leavitt
Cc: Patricia Olmstead; Chali Spurlock
Subject: Communication requested to be shared with CLGF
Date: Wednesday, May 28, 2025 3:10:00 PM
Attachments: Re IVGID"s 2025-26 tentativefinal budgets - P.S..msg

Staff"s Determination of Compliance Insofar as IVGID"s 2025-26 Tentative Budget.msg
Re Staff"s Determination of Compliance Insofar as IVGID"s 2025-26 Tentative Budget.msg
Tent Bdgt - IVGID.pdf

CLGF,
Attached are 3 emails (2 from Mr. Katz and 1 from JGumz1) requesting that we share with
you their emails to the Department now and not wait until our next CLGF meeting regarding
IVGID.  I also provided you the Certificate of Compliance letter that was provided to Incline
Village GID for the Tentative Budget for FY 25/26.  As an update on their status, please
know that it looks like I may be receiving DRAFT Financial Statements from their Auditor
this week.
 
Respectfully,
 
Kelly S Langley,
Nevada Department of Taxation
Local Government Finance and Boards & Commissions
3850 Arrowhead Drive
Carson City, NV  89706
klangley@tax.state.nv.us
775.684.2073 Office
775.636.0101 Cell
*Notice: Our new E-services have launched. Create a new log on or register your business today at
MyNevadaTax.nv.gov. Instructional videos for My Nevada Tax can be found here: How-to Videos for Nevada Tax -
State of Nevada. Additional information can be found in the FAQ section.

 

mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:marvin@comnett.net
mailto:marvin@comnett.net
mailto:marvin@comnett.net
mailto:marvin@comnett.net
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
https://mynvtax.nv.gov/tap/_/
https://mynvtax.nv.gov/tap/_/
https://mynvtax.nv.gov/tap/_/
https://mynvtax.nv.gov/tap/_/
https://tax.nv.gov/education/how-to-videos-for-nevada-tax/
https://tax.nv.gov/education/how-to-videos-for-nevada-tax/
https://tax.nv.gov/education/how-to-videos-for-nevada-tax/
https://tax.nv.gov/education/how-to-videos-for-nevada-tax/
https://tax.nv.gov/education/how-to-videos-for-nevada-tax/
https://tax.nv.gov/education/how-to-videos-for-nevada-tax/
https://tax.nv.gov/education/how-to-videos-for-nevada-tax/
https://tax.nv.gov/education/how-to-videos-for-nevada-tax/
https://tax.nv.gov/faqs/my-nevada-tax-faqs/
https://tax.nv.gov/faqs/my-nevada-tax-faqs/
https://tax.nv.gov/faqs/my-nevada-tax-faqs/
https://tax.nv.gov/faqs/my-nevada-tax-faqs/

Re: IVGID's 2025-26 tentative/final budgets - P.S.

		From

		s4s@ix.netcom.com

		To

		Chali Spurlock

		Cc

		Kelly S. Langley; Tax-Public Information Officer

		Recipients

		CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us; klangley@tax.state.nv.us; taxpio@tax.state.nv.us



WARNING - This email originated from outside the State of Nevada. Exercise caution when opening attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders.




Hello Ms. Langley -



 



This is a follow up to my April 24, 2025 e-mail below.



 



Have you or is it your intent to submit to the IVGID BOT, at least 3 days before its noticed public hearing on its FY 2025/26 final budget (May 30, 2025), either:



 



1. A written "certificate of compliance" insofar as its FY 2025/26 tentative budget is concerned; 



 



2. A written "notice of lack of compliance" insofar as its FY 2025/26 tentative budget is concerned; and/or,and/or,



 



3. A written notification that its "submitted (tentative budget) documents fail to comply with law or appropriate regulations?"



 



Assuming the answer is yes to one or more of the above, can you please provide me with copies? Please consider this request to be one for public records.



 



Also, I ask you share with Chairperson Leavitt and other honorable members of the CLGF, now rather than immediately prior to its next scheduled meeting, the following.



 



4. IVGID still does not have an auditor for FY 2025/2026. Even though NRS 354.624(3) instructs that "the auditor or firm must be designated, and notification of the auditor or firm designated must be sent to the Department of Taxation not later than 3 months before the close of the fiscal year for which the audit is to be made." Insofar as IVGID is concerned, that due date was March 30, 2025.



 



5. IVGID still does not have a central services cost allocation plan for FY 2025/26. Even though NAC 354.8668(7) instructs that since IVGID is not "exempt from the requirement to subjit a tentative budget to the Department," its central services cost allocation plan "must be updated annually before: (a) the date on which the local government submits its tentative budget to the Department." Insofar as IVGID is concerned, that due date was April 15, 2025.



 



6. Moreover, the Committee can see that IVGID's FY 2026 tentative budget relies upon $3.1M of transfers from enterprise funds to IVGID's General Fund. And I was informed by IVGID staff this morning that it is no closer to adopting such a plan today, than it was on April 15, 2025.



 



7. And the IVGID BOT will not be asked to approve such a plan in compliance with the NRS and NAC at all. Notwithstanding I predict its proposed final FY 2026 budget will rely upon transfers from enterprise funds to IVGID's General Fund. 



 



8. Moreover, the Committee can see that IVGID's FY 2026 tentative budget relies upon increased facility fees. Notwithstanding the IVGID BOT will not be asked to approve such increased fees in compliance with the NRS and NAC at all. And I predict its proposed final FY 2026 budget will rely upon those increased facility fees.



 



9. Which means IVGID will not be able to pass a final FY 2026 budget by the statutory due date (June 1, 2025) therefore [see NRS 354.598(2)]. It may attempt to pass such a budget but when it's challenged by myself and others, this Committee will learn why the District's actions are voidable.



 



Just so we're all on the same page.



 



10. Moreover, on page 6 of today's Tahoe Daily Tribune, Committee members will see a Notice of Public Hearing has been published insofar as adoption of the District's FY 2026 budget. The Notice states, in part, that the final "budget has been prepared in such detail and on the appropriate forms as prescribed by the Nevada Department of Taxation [i.e., form 4404LGF (and that)] copies of said budget are on file for public inspection at the (administrative) offices of" IVGID. So this morning I presented myself at the District's admin offices in order to inspect this proposed budget "on the appropriate forms as prescribed by the...Department of Taxation." And none was there. Rather a number of spreadsheet work papers which had been prepared as part of the materials given to the BOT on May 14, 2025 were available for inspection.



 



11. So I asked the receptionist to examine what was represented in the published notice and to provide for my examination what was represented. It was then she retrieved Susan Herron who told me there still is no proposed final budget, let alone one on appropriate forms, for public inspection. Rather, that proposed budget will be included in the Board packet for the BOT's review next Tuesday, May 27, 2025. For these reasons I have e-mailed the IVGID BOT objecting to the published May 30, 2025 hearing going forward. At least insofar as the fiscal year 2025/2026 budget is concerned. Because the public has not had the opportunity to examine it within a reasonable period of time prior to the published May 30, 2025 public hearing. Is this the reason the NRS requires a minimum of two weeks' public notice?



 



12. Now maybe some Committee members think this lack of notice to the public isn't that important because in most municipalities, local parcel owners or residents have no direct financial stake in budgeted expenditures. But not so in Incline Village. As I and others have shared, a very large percentage of the District's revenues are not in compliance with law. I predict staff's proposed final FY 2026 budget will rely upon over $4M of inappropriate transfers from the District's enterprise funds to its General Fund. And those transfers will be funded by increased water and sewer rates and charges directly paid by local parcel owners, and an invalid special tax against property the product of a series of non-exchange transactions.



 



13. I also predict that staff will be proposing a 5 year capital improvement plan for BOT approval which admittedly consists of nothing more than $56M of "wish list" CIPs with no moneys available to pay for them short of increasing the District's invalid facility fees from $450 per local parcel/dwelling unit, to between $1,376-2,268 per local parcel/dwelling unit, for each of the next five years. And again these "fees" will be directly paid by local parcel owners.



 



14. Moreover, when IVGID staff presented the proposed tentative FY 2026 budget, which was never formally approved by the BOT, staff admitted that essentially all of the numbers included in the form 4404LGF were fantasy "placeholders." And not to worry because the BOT would have plenty of time to make modifications as several subsequent "budget workshops" were scheduled.



 



15. Which means that if a final FY 2026 budget is not approved at the BOT's May 30, 2026 meeting, which it will not, according to NRS 354.598(2) staff's phony tentative budget will become the District's final budget by default. So much for protecting the public.



 



One would think that being on fiscal watch, the District would go out of its way to be absolutely squeaky clean insofar as the NRS'/NAC's requirements are concerned. But not so. Because it's not the local government you give it credit for. Even though it hired GM Harrison rather recently because he allegedly had over 30 years of government finance reporting and would be able to immediately hit the road running.



 



All of this is evidence the District suffers from severe financial emergency, and its BOT is clearly not capable of properly running the District. Therefore if my predictions above turn out to be fact, I ask:



 



a) The Executive Director be requested to ask the Committee to initiate hearings to determine the existence of a NRS 354.685 severe financial emergency; and, 



b) The Executive Director be requested to notify the Washoe County Board of Commissioners to initiate public hearings involving IVGID in accordance with NRS 318.515.



 



Thank you for your cooperation. Aaron Katz



 



-----Original Message-----
From: <s4s@ix.netcom.com>
Sent: Apr 24, 2025 2:29 PM
To: <CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us>
Cc: <klangley@tax.state.nv.us>
Subject: IVGID's 2025-26 tentative budget



 



Hello Ms. Spurlock and Ms. Langley -



 



The purpose of this e-mail is to alert the Dep't that IVGID's tentative budget for 2026 is not in compliance with the NRS and the NAC. Given NRS 354.596(5) instructs that "the Department of Taxation shall examine the submitted documents for compliance with law and with appropriate regulations and shall submit to the governing body at least 3 days before the public hearing a written certificate of compliance or a written notice of lack of compliance," for the reasons which follow I ask the Dep't notify IVGID that its "submitted documents fail to comply with law or appropriate regulations." Please consider the following evidence of statutory and/or regulatory non-compliance: 



 



1. Facility Fee revenue is improperly reported under Community Service Fund (page 12, schedule F-1) "operating revenue." GASB statement 9 instructs that only exchange transaction revenue be reported under operating revenue. But IVGID's current and immediate past auditors have both testified that this facility fee is the product of non-exchange transactions. In other words, the payors receive nothing of comparable value in consideration of forced payment. Therefore assuming arguendo it's proper to report facility fee revenue in this fund, it should be reported under "nonoperation revenues." IVGID staff agree with this criticism. Take a look at the asterisk at the bottom of page 14, schedule F-1, of the tentative budget: "Per Board direction, Facility Fees are being reported as Non-Operating revenues, beginning with FY2023-24." But the problem here is that these fees are not being reported as non-operating revenues. As they should.



 



2. Facility Fee revenue is improperly reported under Beach Fund (page 14, schedule F-1) "operating revenue." For the reasons stated in paragraph 1 above, these fees are not being reported as non-operating revenues. As they should.



 



3. Is it appropriate for a tentative budget to reflect numbers with no factual basis of support? In other words, throwing a dart against the wall and wherever it lands.... Assuming the answer is no, the Dep't's attention is directed to page 8 of schedule B-11. $3,100,000 has been inserted as an alleged central services cost transfer ("expenditure offset") from three enterprise funds: $1,641,000 from the District's Community Services Fund (see page 13 of schedule F-2), $110,000 from the District's Beach Fund (see page 15, schedule F-2), and $1,349,000 from the District's Utility Fund (see page 11, schedule F-2). This number is supported by no facts whatsoever. I can made this observation given NAC 354.865-354.867 mandate that a series of factors be addressed in a local government's updated central services cost allocation plan. But here there is no plan. Because none was approved by the IVGID BOT "under a nonconsent item that (wa)s separately listed on the agenda for a regular meeting of the governing body" [see NRS 354.613(1)(c)] "before (a) the date on which the local government submit(ted) its tentative budget to the Department" [see NAC 354.8668(7)]. In other words, April 15, 2025.



 



Without an approved plan, the tentative budget's $3,100,000 central services cost transfer number is the product of nothing more than throwing a dart on the wall. Or probably far more likely, a subsidy for the financial shortfall between budgeted General Fund revenues (see schedule B) and intentional overspending (see page 8, schedule B-10). Having nothing to do with any of the facts set forth in NAC 354.686-354.867 intended to "set...forth the extent to which an equitable distribution of all general, overhead, administrative and similar expenses of the local government among all activities of the local government" as NRS 354.613(8)(a) mandates.



 



4. Facility Fee revenue is improperly reported under the Community Service Fund (page 12, schedule F-1). Given this revenue is the product of non-exchange transactions, GASB 33 instructs that it can only be one of four (4) classes "based on shared characteristics that affect the timing of recognition:



 



a. Derived tax revenues, which result from assessments imposed on exchange transactions (for example, income taxes, sales taxes, and other assessments on earnings or consumption);



b. Imposed nonexchange revenues, which result from assessments imposed on nongovernmental entities, including individuals, other than assessments on exchange transactions (for example, property taxes and fines);



c. Government-mandated nonexchange transactions, which occur when a government at one level provides resources to a government at another level and requires the recipient to use the resources for a specific purpose (for example, federal programs that state or local governments are mandated to perform); and,



d. Voluntary nonexchange transactions, which result from legislative or contractual agreements, other than exchanges, entered into willingly by the parties to the agreement (for example, certain grants and private donations)."



 



5. Given the shared characteristics of this facility fee can only fit into class two (2) above ["assessments imposed on nongovernmental entities, including individuals, other than assessments on exchange transactions"], the question: what express authority does IVGID have to involuntarily levy such an assessment?



 



6. I say express authority because "in Nevada’s jurisprudence, the Nevada Supreme Court has adopted and applied Dillon’s Rule to county, city and other local governments" like GIDs [see NRS 244.137(2) and 268.001(2)]. As applied to local governments Dillon’s Rule provides [see NRS 244.137(3) and 268.001(3)] that the governing body may exercise only the following powers and no others:



 



(a) Those powers granted in express terms by the Nevada Constitution, statute or city charter;



(b) Those powers necessarily or fairly implied in or incident to the powers expressly granted; and



(c) Those powers essential to the accomplishment of the declared objects and purposes of the city and not merely convenient but indispensable."



 



And "Dillon’s Rule also provides that if there is any fair or reasonable doubt concerning the existence of a power, that doubt is resolved against the governing body...and the power is denied" [see NRS 244.137(4) and 268.001(4)].



 



7. NRS 318 governs GIDs. Where therein is it expressly declared that a GID has the power to levy "assessments imposed on nongovernmental entities, including individuals, other than assessments on exchange transactions?" The choices are twofold: First, ad valorem taxes [see NRS 318.225]. And second, "special assessments upon lands and premises abutting upon that part of the street or alley so improved or proposed so to be, or the lands abutting upon the improvement and the other lands as in the opinion of the board may be specially benefited by the improvement" [see NRS 318.350]. Given the subect fees are neither, and they are involuntarily assessed against real property, IVGID has no express power to enforce the same. Nor to budget them as operating revenues. Stated differently, their assessment is not in compliance with statutes or regulations.



 



8. IVGID will tell the Dep't its subject facility fee represents a "fee" permitted by NRS 318.197(1). But this is untrue. All fees, regardless of their label, are required to furnish comparable value to those who are charged. In other words, exchange transactions. But here the subject fee furnishes no value nor benefit whatsoever. Meaning it can't be a "fee."



 



8. And not that it's important what kind of NRS 318.197(1) fee the District's "so called" fee turns out to be, IVGID will tell the Dep't it is a charge for the mere "availability" to access and use its public recreation facilities. Even though essentially all of those facilities charge "user fees" to all users, including those whose real properties are assessed the fee. But since those facilities are "public," they're already available to be used by all members of the public. Whether or not they are residents of Incline Village/Crystal Bay, own real property in Incline Village/Crystal Bay, or are assessed this facility fee. Moreoever, there is no such thing as a NRS 318.197(1) fee for the "availability of facilities." See for yourself.



 



9. Finally, availability fees are recognized for the "availability of service." But only public health an d sanitation services delivered to real property (rather than persons). Here public recreation is not public health nor sanitation. And the District's public recreation facilities are not furnished to real property.



 



10. For all of these reasons, the facility fees which the District has budgeted to its Community Services Fund is not in compliance with the NRS and should be ordered removed.



 



11. Similarly, Facility Fee revenue is improperly reported under the Beach Fund (page 14, schedule F-1). And it is improperly reported for an additional important reason. The deed by which IVGID agreed to take title to its Lake Tahoe beaches includes a use easement in favor of all past, present and future Incline Village parcel owners whose parcels were within IVGID's boundaries in June of 1968. For this reason this facility fee does not furnish access and use of IVGID's beaches to those parcels which are assessed. Rather, the express easement in the beach deed does.



 



12. For all of these reasons, the facility fees which the District has budgeted to its Community Services Fund is not in compliance with the NRS and should be ordered removed.



 



13. As you know, I have written to the CLGF concerning several loans made staff from the District's General Fund to its Internal Services Fund. Several of these loans are identified in the District's 2022 and 2023 CAFRs. Others are identified in actual 2024 and estimated 2025 calendar years. But my point here is that the District's tentative budget fails to identify these loans as "other financing sources" to the General Fund (see page 6 of the Form 4404LGF), or nonoperating expenses to the Internal Services Fund (see page 16 of the Form 4404LGF). Nor Schedule C-1 Indebtedness (see page 18 of the Form 4404LGF). Again, more non-compliance.



 



14. I therefore request your office serve IVGID with "a written notice of lack of compliance (which)...indicate(s as I have identified above) the manner in which the submitted documents fail to comply with law or appropriate regulations." And that it provide Chairperson Leavitt and the remainder of CLGF members with that notice re lack of compliance as I believe this would be a material matter insofar as possible fiscal watch is concerned.



 



Thank you for your cooperation. Aaron Katz



 






Staff's Determination of Compliance Insofar as IVGID's 2025-26 Tentative Budget

		From

		s4s@ix.netcom.com

		To

		Chali Spurlock

		Cc

		Kelly S. Langley; Tax-Public Information Officer

		Recipients

		CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us; klangley@tax.state.nv.us; taxpio@tax.state.nv.us



WARNING - This email originated from outside the State of Nevada. Exercise caution when opening attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders.




 



Hello Ms. Spurlock and Ms. Langley -



 



On April 24, 2025 I sent you the e-mail below challenging IVGID's tentative budget as not being in compliance with the NRS/NAC.



 



Today I was provided with a May 20, 2025 letter from Kellie Grahmann of your Department informing IVGID that its tentative budget is in compliance with the NRS/NAC.



 



It is not.



 



I ask you share this e-mail with Chairperson Leavitt and the other Honorable Members of the CLGF now rather than sometime down the road closer to its next meeting, so they're familiar with exactly what is going on in Incline Village. Let me remind you that as of today, barely if not now less than three (3) days from its published public hearing date, staff have still not provided the IVGID Board and the public with:



 



1. A proposed FY 2025-26 final budget;



2. Authority for any alleged central services cost transfers from the District's enterprise funds (remember the tentative budget relies upon $3.1M of such transfers which are voidable on their face inasmuch as the District has never adopted an updated central services cost allocation plan); or,



3. Authority for increased special tax assessments (disingenuously labeled facility "fees") to prop up its intentional overspending in its Community Services and Beach Funds.



 



And this is nearly two weeks since the District first published notice of the upcoming public hearing telling the public the District's proposed final budget was on file and available to be inspected, when it isn't!



 



Because I suspect that IVGID's final budget will suffer from this same non-compliance as does its tentative budget, if your office similarly finds, I intend to make formal request of the Executive Director for a NAC 354.940 advisory opinion.



 



The only reason I am not asking for that opinion now, is because I anticipate the District will commit additional NRS/NAC non-compliances. So rather than dealing with multiple non-compliances piecemeal, I intend to let circumstances play out as the District has published May 30, 2025 as the date for adoption of its FY 2025-26 budget.



 



I and others have told the CLGF for some time that the District is an out of control rogue local government which exists financially, on a series of revenue sources which are not in compliance with the NRS/NAC. Take away these improper revenue sources and what you're left with is a severe financial emergency. Which is exactly where we're heading. Which the CLGF will see materializes before members' eyes, assuming they are looking. Given IVGID is on "fiscal watch," I and others in our community hope the CLGF is watching.



 



I repeat that the reason the CLGF is hearing from members of the Incline Village/Crystal Bay public, is because unlike the rest of the state, their properties are being subjected to an invalid special tax. Once which is not in compliance with the NRS, and unlike an ad valorem tax, has no statutory limits.



 



Thank you for your cooperation. Aaron Katz



-----Original Message-----
From: <s4s@ix.netcom.com>
Sent: Apr 24, 2025 2:29 PM
To: <CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us>
Cc: <klangley@tax.state.nv.us>
Subject: IVGID's 2025-26 tentative budget



 



Hello Ms. Spurlock and Ms. Langley -



 



The purpose of this e-mail is to alert the Dep't that IVGID's tentative budget for 2026 is not in compliance with the NRS and the NAC. Given NRS 354.596(5) instructs that "the Department of Taxation shall examine the submitted documents for compliance with law and with appropriate regulations and shall submit to the governing body at least 3 days before the public hearing a written certificate of compliance or a written notice of lack of compliance," for the reasons which follow I ask the Dep't notify IVGID that its "submitted documents fail to comply with law or appropriate regulations." Please consider the following evidence of statutory and/or regulatory non-compliance: 



 



1. Facility Fee revenue is improperly reported under Community Service Fund (page 12, schedule F-1) "operating revenue." GASB statement 9 instructs that only exchange transaction revenue be reported under operating revenue. But IVGID's current and immediate past auditors have both testified that this facility fee is the product of non-exchange transactions. In other words, the payors receive nothing of comparable value in consideration of forced payment. Therefore assuming arguendo it's proper to report facility fee revenue in this fund, it should be reported under "nonoperation revenues." IVGID staff agree with this criticism. Take a look at the asterisk at the bottom of page 14, schedule F-1, of the tentative budget: "Per Board direction, Facility Fees are being reported as Non-Operating revenues, beginning with FY2023-24." But the problem here is that these fees are not being reported as non-operating revenues. As they should.



 



2. Facility Fee revenue is improperly reported under Beach Fund (page 14, schedule F-1) "operating revenue." For the reasons stated in paragraph 1 above, these fees are not being reported as non-operating revenues. As they should.



 



3. Is it appropriate for a tentative budget to reflect numbers with no factual basis of support? In other words, throwing a dart against the wall and wherever it lands.... Assuming the answer is no, the Dep't's attention is directed to page 8 of schedule B-11. $3,100,000 has been inserted as an alleged central services cost transfer ("expenditure offset") from three enterprise funds: $1,641,000 from the District's Community Services Fund (see page 13 of schedule F-2), $110,000 from the District's Beach Fund (see page 15, schedule F-2), and $1,349,000 from the District's Utility Fund (see page 11, schedule F-2). This number is supported by no facts whatsoever. I can made this observation given NAC 354.865-354.867 mandate that a series of factors be addressed in a local government's updated central services cost allocation plan. But here there is no plan. Because none was approved by the IVGID BOT "under a nonconsent item that (wa)s separately listed on the agenda for a regular meeting of the governing body" [see NRS 354.613(1)(c)] "before (a) the date on which the local government submit(ted) its tentative budget to the Department" [see NAC 354.8668(7)]. In other words, April 15, 2025.



 



Without an approved plan, the tentative budget's $3,100,000 central services cost transfer number is the product of nothing more than throwing a dart on the wall. Or probably far more likely, a subsidy for the financial shortfall between budgeted General Fund revenues (see schedule B) and intentional overspending (see page 8, schedule B-10). Having nothing to do with any of the facts set forth in NAC 354.686-354.867 intended to "set...forth the extent to which an equitable distribution of all general, overhead, administrative and similar expenses of the local government among all activities of the local government" as NRS 354.613(8)(a) mandates.



 



4. Facility Fee revenue is improperly reported under the Community Service Fund (page 12, schedule F-1). Given this revenue is the product of non-exchange transactions, GASB 33 instructs that it can only be one of four (4) classes "based on shared characteristics that affect the timing of recognition:



 



a. Derived tax revenues, which result from assessments imposed on exchange transactions (for example, income taxes, sales taxes, and other assessments on earnings or consumption);



b. Imposed nonexchange revenues, which result from assessments imposed on nongovernmental entities, including individuals, other than assessments on exchange transactions (for example, property taxes and fines);



c. Government-mandated nonexchange transactions, which occur when a government at one level provides resources to a government at another level and requires the recipient to use the resources for a specific purpose (for example, federal programs that state or local governments are mandated to perform); and,



d. Voluntary nonexchange transactions, which result from legislative or contractual agreements, other than exchanges, entered into willingly by the parties to the agreement (for example, certain grants and private donations)."



 



5. Given the shared characteristics of this facility fee can only fit into class two (2) above ["assessments imposed on nongovernmental entities, including individuals, other than assessments on exchange transactions"], the question: what express authority does IVGID have to involuntarily levy such an assessment?



 



6. I say express authority because "in Nevada’s jurisprudence, the Nevada Supreme Court has adopted and applied Dillon’s Rule to county, city and other local governments" like GIDs [see NRS 244.137(2) and 268.001(2)]. As applied to local governments Dillon’s Rule provides [see NRS 244.137(3) and 268.001(3)] that the governing body may exercise only the following powers and no others:



 



(a) Those powers granted in express terms by the Nevada Constitution, statute or city charter;



(b) Those powers necessarily or fairly implied in or incident to the powers expressly granted; and



(c) Those powers essential to the accomplishment of the declared objects and purposes of the city and not merely convenient but indispensable."



 



And "Dillon’s Rule also provides that if there is any fair or reasonable doubt concerning the existence of a power, that doubt is resolved against the governing body...and the power is denied" [see NRS 244.137(4) and 268.001(4)].



 



7. NRS 318 governs GIDs. Where therein is it expressly declared that a GID has the power to levy "assessments imposed on nongovernmental entities, including individuals, other than assessments on exchange transactions?" The choices are twofold: First, ad valorem taxes [see NRS 318.225]. And second, "special assessments upon lands and premises abutting upon that part of the street or alley so improved or proposed so to be, or the lands abutting upon the improvement and the other lands as in the opinion of the board may be specially benefited by the improvement" [see NRS 318.350]. Given the subect fees are neither, and they are involuntarily assessed against real property, IVGID has no express power to enforce the same. Nor to budget them as operating revenues. Stated differently, their assessment is not in compliance with statutes or regulations.



 



8. IVGID will tell the Dep't its subject facility fee represents a "fee" permitted by NRS 318.197(1). But this is untrue. All fees, regardless of their label, are required to furnish comparable value to those who are charged. In other words, exchange transactions. But here the subject fee furnishes no value nor benefit whatsoever. Meaning it can't be a "fee."



 



8. And not that it's important what kind of NRS 318.197(1) fee the District's "so called" fee turns out to be, IVGID will tell the Dep't it is a charge for the mere "availability" to access and use its public recreation facilities. Even though essentially all of those facilities charge "user fees" to all users, including those whose real properties are assessed the fee. But since those facilities are "public," they're already available to be used by all members of the public. Whether or not they are residents of Incline Village/Crystal Bay, own real property in Incline Village/Crystal Bay, or are assessed this facility fee. Moreoever, there is no such thing as a NRS 318.197(1) fee for the "availability of facilities." See for yourself.



 



9. Finally, availability fees are recognized for the "availability of service." But only public health an d sanitation services delivered to real property (rather than persons). Here public recreation is not public health nor sanitation. And the District's public recreation facilities are not furnished to real property.



 



10. For all of these reasons, the facility fees which the District has budgeted to its Community Services Fund is not in compliance with the NRS and should be ordered removed.



 



11. Similarly, Facility Fee revenue is improperly reported under the Beach Fund (page 14, schedule F-1). And it is improperly reported for an additional important reason. The deed by which IVGID agreed to take title to its Lake Tahoe beaches includes a use easement in favor of all past, present and future Incline Village parcel owners whose parcels were within IVGID's boundaries in June of 1968. For this reason this facility fee does not furnish access and use of IVGID's beaches to those parcels which are assessed. Rather, the express easement in the beach deed does.



 



12. For all of these reasons, the facility fees which the District has budgeted to its Community Services Fund is not in compliance with the NRS and should be ordered removed.



 



13. As you know, I have written to the CLGF concerning several loans made staff from the District's General Fund to its Internal Services Fund. Several of these loans are identified in the District's 2022 and 2023 CAFRs. Others are identified in actual 2024 and estimated 2025 calendar years. But my point here is that the District's tentative budget fails to identify these loans as "other financing sources" to the General Fund (see page 6 of the Form 4404LGF), or nonoperating expenses to the Internal Services Fund (see page 16 of the Form 4404LGF). Nor Schedule C-1 Indebtedness (see page 18 of the Form 4404LGF). Again, more non-compliance.



 



14. I therefore request your office serve IVGID with "a written notice of lack of compliance (which)...indicate(s as I have identified above) the manner in which the submitted documents fail to comply with law or appropriate regulations." And that it provide Chairperson Leavitt and the remainder of CLGF members with that notice re lack of compliance as I believe this would be a material matter insofar as possible fiscal watch is concerned.



 



Thank you for your cooperation. Aaron Katz



 



 






Re: Staff's Determination of Compliance Insofar as IVGID's 2025-26 Tentative Budget

		From

		J

		To

		s4s@ix.netcom.com

		Cc

		Chali Spurlock; Kelly S. Langley; Tax-Public Information Officer

		Recipients

		s4s@ix.netcom.com; CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us; klangley@tax.state.nv.us; taxpio@tax.state.nv.us



WARNING - This email originated from outside the State of Nevada. Exercise caution when opening attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders.




The Nevada Department of Taxation and the Committee on Local Government Finance (CLGF) have been repeatedly notified that IVGID’s “recreation facility fee” is an unlawful tax. NRS 318.235, as amended in 1999, clearly states that special levies must end once the original debt is paid. Marvin Leavitt, current CLGF chair, testified in support of this law in 1999. Despite this, IVGID continues to collect the fee every year. The Department of Taxation keeps approving IVGID’s budgets, and the CLGF has taken no action. This ongoing levy violates both the law and the legislative intent.



On Tue, May 27, 2025 at 11:36 AM <s4s@ix.netcom.com> wrote:




 



Hello Ms. Spurlock and Ms. Langley -



 



On April 24, 2025 I sent you the e-mail below challenging IVGID's tentative budget as not being in compliance with the NRS/NAC.



 



Today I was provided with a May 20, 2025 letter from Kellie Grahmann of your Department informing IVGID that its tentative budget is in compliance with the NRS/NAC.



 



It is not.



 



I ask you share this e-mail with Chairperson Leavitt and the other Honorable Members of the CLGF now rather than sometime down the road closer to its next meeting, so they're familiar with exactly what is going on in Incline Village. Let me remind you that as of today, barely if not now less than three (3) days from its published public hearing date, staff have still not provided the IVGID Board and the public with:



 



1. A proposed FY 2025-26 final budget;



2. Authority for any alleged central services cost transfers from the District's enterprise funds (remember the tentative budget relies upon $3.1M of such transfers which are voidable on their face inasmuch as the District has never adopted an updated central services cost allocation plan); or,



3. Authority for increased special tax assessments (disingenuously labeled facility "fees") to prop up its intentional overspending in its Community Services and Beach Funds.



 



And this is nearly two weeks since the District first published notice of the upcoming public hearing telling the public the District's proposed final budget was on file and available to be inspected, when it isn't!



 



Because I suspect that IVGID's final budget will suffer from this same non-compliance as does its tentative budget, if your office similarly finds, I intend to make formal request of the Executive Director for a NAC 354.940 advisory opinion.



 



The only reason I am not asking for that opinion now, is because I anticipate the District will commit additional NRS/NAC non-compliances. So rather than dealing with multiple non-compliances piecemeal, I intend to let circumstances play out as the District has published May 30, 2025 as the date for adoption of its FY 2025-26 budget.



 



I and others have told the CLGF for some time that the District is an out of control rogue local government which exists financially, on a series of revenue sources which are not in compliance with the NRS/NAC. Take away these improper revenue sources and what you're left with is a severe financial emergency. Which is exactly where we're heading. Which the CLGF will see materializes before members' eyes, assuming they are looking. Given IVGID is on "fiscal watch," I and others in our community hope the CLGF is watching.



 



I repeat that the reason the CLGF is hearing from members of the Incline Village/Crystal Bay public, is because unlike the rest of the state, their properties are being subjected to an invalid special tax. Once which is not in compliance with the NRS, and unlike an ad valorem tax, has no statutory limits.



 



Thank you for your cooperation. Aaron Katz



-----Original Message-----
From: <s4s@ix.netcom.com>
Sent: Apr 24, 2025 2:29 PM
To: <CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us>
Cc: <klangley@tax.state.nv.us>
Subject: IVGID's 2025-26 tentative budget



 



Hello Ms. Spurlock and Ms. Langley -



 



The purpose of this e-mail is to alert the Dep't that IVGID's tentative budget for 2026 is not in compliance with the NRS and the NAC. Given NRS 354.596(5) instructs that "the Department of Taxation shall examine the submitted documents for compliance with law and with appropriate regulations and shall submit to the governing body at least 3 days before the public hearing a written certificate of compliance or a written notice of lack of compliance," for the reasons which follow I ask the Dep't notify IVGID that its "submitted documents fail to comply with law or appropriate regulations." Please consider the following evidence of statutory and/or regulatory non-compliance: 



 



1. Facility Fee revenue is improperly reported under Community Service Fund (page 12, schedule F-1) "operating revenue." GASB statement 9 instructs that only exchange transaction revenue be reported under operating revenue. But IVGID's current and immediate past auditors have both testified that this facility fee is the product of non-exchange transactions. In other words, the payors receive nothing of comparable value in consideration of forced payment. Therefore assuming arguendo it's proper to report facility fee revenue in this fund, it should be reported under "nonoperation revenues." IVGID staff agree with this criticism. Take a look at the asterisk at the bottom of page 14, schedule F-1, of the tentative budget: "Per Board direction, Facility Fees are being reported as Non-Operating revenues, beginning with FY2023-24." But the problem here is that these fees are not being reported as non-operating revenues. As they should.



 



2. Facility Fee revenue is improperly reported under Beach Fund (page 14, schedule F-1) "operating revenue." For the reasons stated in paragraph 1 above, these fees are not being reported as non-operating revenues. As they should.



 



3. Is it appropriate for a tentative budget to reflect numbers with no factual basis of support? In other words, throwing a dart against the wall and wherever it lands.... Assuming the answer is no, the Dep't's attention is directed to page 8 of schedule B-11. $3,100,000 has been inserted as an alleged central services cost transfer ("expenditure offset") from three enterprise funds: $1,641,000 from the District's Community Services Fund (see page 13 of schedule F-2), $110,000 from the District's Beach Fund (see page 15, schedule F-2), and $1,349,000 from the District's Utility Fund (see page 11, schedule F-2). This number is supported by no facts whatsoever. I can made this observation given NAC 354.865-354.867 mandate that a series of factors be addressed in a local government's updated central services cost allocation plan. But here there is no plan. Because none was approved by the IVGID BOT "under a nonconsent item that (wa)s separately listed on the agenda for a regular meeting of the governing body" [see NRS 354.613(1)(c)] "before (a) the date on which the local government submit(ted) its tentative budget to the Department" [see NAC 354.8668(7)]. In other words, April 15, 2025.



 



Without an approved plan, the tentative budget's $3,100,000 central services cost transfer number is the product of nothing more than throwing a dart on the wall. Or probably far more likely, a subsidy for the financial shortfall between budgeted General Fund revenues (see schedule B) and intentional overspending (see page 8, schedule B-10). Having nothing to do with any of the facts set forth in NAC 354.686-354.867 intended to "set...forth the extent to which an equitable distribution of all general, overhead, administrative and similar expenses of the local government among all activities of the local government" as NRS 354.613(8)(a) mandates.



 



4. Facility Fee revenue is improperly reported under the Community Service Fund (page 12, schedule F-1). Given this revenue is the product of non-exchange transactions, GASB 33 instructs that it can only be one of four (4) classes "based on shared characteristics that affect the timing of recognition:



 



a. Derived tax revenues, which result from assessments imposed on exchange transactions (for example, income taxes, sales taxes, and other assessments on earnings or consumption);



b. Imposed nonexchange revenues, which result from assessments imposed on nongovernmental entities, including individuals, other than assessments on exchange transactions (for example, property taxes and fines);



c. Government-mandated nonexchange transactions, which occur when a government at one level provides resources to a government at another level and requires the recipient to use the resources for a specific purpose (for example, federal programs that state or local governments are mandated to perform); and,



d. Voluntary nonexchange transactions, which result from legislative or contractual agreements, other than exchanges, entered into willingly by the parties to the agreement (for example, certain grants and private donations)."



 



5. Given the shared characteristics of this facility fee can only fit into class two (2) above ["assessments imposed on nongovernmental entities, including individuals, other than assessments on exchange transactions"], the question: what express authority does IVGID have to involuntarily levy such an assessment?



 



6. I say express authority because "in Nevada’s jurisprudence, the Nevada Supreme Court has adopted and applied Dillon’s Rule to county, city and other local governments" like GIDs [see NRS 244.137(2) and 268.001(2)]. As applied to local governments Dillon’s Rule provides [see NRS 244.137(3) and 268.001(3)] that the governing body may exercise only the following powers and no others:



 



(a) Those powers granted in express terms by the Nevada Constitution, statute or city charter;



(b) Those powers necessarily or fairly implied in or incident to the powers expressly granted; and



(c) Those powers essential to the accomplishment of the declared objects and purposes of the city and not merely convenient but indispensable."



 



And "Dillon’s Rule also provides that if there is any fair or reasonable doubt concerning the existence of a power, that doubt is resolved against the governing body...and the power is denied" [see NRS 244.137(4) and 268.001(4)].



 



7. NRS 318 governs GIDs. Where therein is it expressly declared that a GID has the power to levy "assessments imposed on nongovernmental entities, including individuals, other than assessments on exchange transactions?" The choices are twofold: First, ad valorem taxes [see NRS 318.225]. And second, "special assessments upon lands and premises abutting upon that part of the street or alley so improved or proposed so to be, or the lands abutting upon the improvement and the other lands as in the opinion of the board may be specially benefited by the improvement" [see NRS 318.350]. Given the subect fees are neither, and they are involuntarily assessed against real property, IVGID has no express power to enforce the same. Nor to budget them as operating revenues. Stated differently, their assessment is not in compliance with statutes or regulations.



 



8. IVGID will tell the Dep't its subject facility fee represents a "fee" permitted by NRS 318.197(1). But this is untrue. All fees, regardless of their label, are required to furnish comparable value to those who are charged. In other words, exchange transactions. But here the subject fee furnishes no value nor benefit whatsoever. Meaning it can't be a "fee."



 



8. And not that it's important what kind of NRS 318.197(1) fee the District's "so called" fee turns out to be, IVGID will tell the Dep't it is a charge for the mere "availability" to access and use its public recreation facilities. Even though essentially all of those facilities charge "user fees" to all users, including those whose real properties are assessed the fee. But since those facilities are "public," they're already available to be used by all members of the public. Whether or not they are residents of Incline Village/Crystal Bay, own real property in Incline Village/Crystal Bay, or are assessed this facility fee. Moreoever, there is no such thing as a NRS 318.197(1) fee for the "availability of facilities." See for yourself.



 



9. Finally, availability fees are recognized for the "availability of service." But only public health an d sanitation services delivered to real property (rather than persons). Here public recreation is not public health nor sanitation. And the District's public recreation facilities are not furnished to real property.



 



10. For all of these reasons, the facility fees which the District has budgeted to its Community Services Fund is not in compliance with the NRS and should be ordered removed.



 



11. Similarly, Facility Fee revenue is improperly reported under the Beach Fund (page 14, schedule F-1). And it is improperly reported for an additional important reason. The deed by which IVGID agreed to take title to its Lake Tahoe beaches includes a use easement in favor of all past, present and future Incline Village parcel owners whose parcels were within IVGID's boundaries in June of 1968. For this reason this facility fee does not furnish access and use of IVGID's beaches to those parcels which are assessed. Rather, the express easement in the beach deed does.



 



12. For all of these reasons, the facility fees which the District has budgeted to its Community Services Fund is not in compliance with the NRS and should be ordered removed.



 



13. As you know, I have written to the CLGF concerning several loans made staff from the District's General Fund to its Internal Services Fund. Several of these loans are identified in the District's 2022 and 2023 CAFRs. Others are identified in actual 2024 and estimated 2025 calendar years. But my point here is that the District's tentative budget fails to identify these loans as "other financing sources" to the General Fund (see page 6 of the Form 4404LGF), or nonoperating expenses to the Internal Services Fund (see page 16 of the Form 4404LGF). Nor Schedule C-1 Indebtedness (see page 18 of the Form 4404LGF). Again, more non-compliance.



 



14. I therefore request your office serve IVGID with "a written notice of lack of compliance (which)...indicate(s as I have identified above) the manner in which the submitted documents fail to comply with law or appropriate regulations." And that it provide Chairperson Leavitt and the remainder of CLGF members with that notice re lack of compliance as I believe this would be a material matter insofar as possible fiscal watch is concerned.



 



Thank you for your cooperation. Aaron Katz



 



 












From: s4s@ix.netcom.com
To: Chali Spurlock
Cc: Kelly S. Langley; Tax-Public Information Officer
Subject: Re: IVGID"s 2025-26 tentative/final budgets - P.S.
Date: Saturday, May 24, 2025 1:24:43 AM

WARNING - This email originated from outside the State of Nevada. Exercise caution when
opening attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders.

Hello Ms. Langley -

 

This is a follow up to my April 24, 2025 e-mail below.

 

Have you or is it your intent to submit to the IVGID BOT, at least 3 days before its
noticed public hearing on its FY 2025/26 final budget (May 30, 2025), either:

 

1. A written "certificate of compliance" insofar as its FY 2025/26 tentative budget is
concerned;

 

2. A written "notice of lack of compliance" insofar as its FY 2025/26 tentative budget
is concerned; and/or,and/or,

 

3. A written notification that its "submitted (tentative budget) documents fail to comply
with law or appropriate regulations?"

 

Assuming the answer is yes to one or more of the above, can you please provide me
with copies? Please consider this request to be one for public records.

 

Also, I ask you share with Chairperson Leavitt and other honorable members of the
CLGF, now rather than immediately prior to its next scheduled meeting, the
following.

 

4. IVGID still does not have an auditor for FY 2025/2026. Even though NRS
354.624(3) instructs that "the auditor or firm must be designated, and notification of
the auditor or firm designated must be sent to the Department of Taxation not
later than 3 months before the close of the fiscal year for which the audit is to
be made." Insofar as IVGID is concerned, that due date was March 30, 2025.

 

mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:taxpio@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:taxpio@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:taxpio@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:taxpio@tax.state.nv.us


5. IVGID still does not have a central services cost allocation plan for FY 2025/26.
Even though NAC 354.8668(7) instructs that since IVGID is not "exempt from the
requirement to subjit a tentative budget to the Department," its central services cost
allocation plan "must be updated annually before: (a) the date on which the local
government submits its tentative budget to the Department." Insofar as IVGID is
concerned, that due date was April 15, 2025.

 

6. Moreover, the Committee can see that IVGID's FY 2026 tentative budget relies
upon $3.1M of transfers from enterprise funds to IVGID's General Fund. And I was
informed by IVGID staff this morning that it is no closer to adopting such a plan today,
than it was on April 15, 2025.

 

7. And the IVGID BOT will not be asked to approve such a plan in compliance with
the NRS and NAC at all. Notwithstanding I predict its proposed final FY 2026 budget
will rely upon transfers from enterprise funds to IVGID's General Fund.

 

8. Moreover, the Committee can see that IVGID's FY 2026 tentative budget relies
upon increased facility fees. Notwithstanding the IVGID BOT will not be asked to
approve such increased fees in compliance with the NRS and NAC at all. And I
predict its proposed final FY 2026 budget will rely upon those increased facility fees.

 

9. Which means IVGID will not be able to pass a final FY 2026 budget by the
statutory due date (June 1, 2025) therefore [see NRS 354.598(2)]. It may attempt to
pass such a budget but when it's challenged by myself and others, this Committee will
learn why the District's actions are voidable.

 

Just so we're all on the same page.

 

10. Moreover, on page 6 of today's Tahoe Daily Tribune, Committee members will
see a Notice of Public Hearing has been published insofar as adoption of the District's
FY 2026 budget. The Notice states, in part, that the final "budget has been prepared
in such detail and on the appropriate forms as prescribed by the Nevada
Department of Taxation [i.e., form 4404LGF (and that)] copies of said budget are on
file for public inspection at the (administrative) offices of" IVGID. So this morning I
presented myself at the District's admin offices in order to inspect this proposed
budget "on the appropriate forms as prescribed by the...Department of Taxation." And
none was there. Rather a number of spreadsheet work papers which had been
prepared as part of the materials given to the BOT on May 14, 2025 were available
for inspection.

 

11. So I asked the receptionist to examine what was represented in the published
notice and to provide for my examination what was represented. It was then she



retrieved Susan Herron who told me there still is no proposed final budget, let alone
one on appropriate forms, for public inspection. Rather, that proposed budget will be
included in the Board packet for the BOT's review next Tuesday, May 27, 2025. For
these reasons I have e-mailed the IVGID BOT objecting to the published May 30,
2025 hearing going forward. At least insofar as the fiscal year 2025/2026 budget is
concerned. Because the public has not had the opportunity to examine it within a
reasonable period of time prior to the published May 30, 2025 public hearing. Is this
the reason the NRS requires a minimum of two weeks' public notice?

 

12. Now maybe some Committee members think this lack of notice to the public isn't
that important because in most municipalities, local parcel owners or residents have
no direct financial stake in budgeted expenditures. But not so in Incline Village. As I
and others have shared, a very large percentage of the District's revenues are not in
compliance with law. I predict staff's proposed final FY 2026 budget will rely upon
over $4M of inappropriate transfers from the District's enterprise funds to its General
Fund. And those transfers will be funded by increased water and sewer rates and
charges directly paid by local parcel owners, and an invalid special tax against
property the product of a series of non-exchange transactions.

 

13. I also predict that staff will be proposing a 5 year capital improvement plan for
BOT approval which admittedly consists of nothing more than $56M of "wish list"
CIPs with no moneys available to pay for them short of increasing the District's invalid
facility fees from $450 per local parcel/dwelling unit, to between $1,376-2,268 per
local parcel/dwelling unit, for each of the next five years. And again these "fees" will
be directly paid by local parcel owners.

 

14. Moreover, when IVGID staff presented the proposed tentative FY 2026 budget,
which was never formally approved by the BOT, staff admitted that essentially all of
the numbers included in the form 4404LGF were fantasy "placeholders." And not to
worry because the BOT would have plenty of time to make modifications as several
subsequent "budget workshops" were scheduled.

 

15. Which means that if a final FY 2026 budget is not approved at the BOT's May 30,
2026 meeting, which it will not, according to NRS 354.598(2) staff's phony tentative
budget will become the District's final budget by default. So much for protecting the
public.

 

One would think that being on fiscal watch, the District would go out of its way to be
absolutely squeaky clean insofar as the NRS'/NAC's requirements are concerned. But
not so. Because it's not the local government you give it credit for. Even though it
hired GM Harrison rather recently because he allegedly had over 30 years of
government finance reporting and would be able to immediately hit the road running.

 

All of this is evidence the District suffers from severe financial emergency, and its



BOT is clearly not capable of properly running the District. Therefore if my predictions
above turn out to be fact, I ask:

 

a) The Executive Director be requested to ask the Committee to initiate hearings to
determine the existence of a NRS 354.685 severe financial emergency; and, 

b) The Executive Director be requested to notify the Washoe County Board of
Commissioners to initiate public hearings involving IVGID in accordance with NRS
318.515.

 

Thank you for your cooperation. Aaron Katz

 

-----Original Message-----
From: <s4s@ix.netcom.com>
Sent: Apr 24, 2025 2:29 PM
To: <CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us>
Cc: <klangley@tax.state.nv.us>
Subject: IVGID's 2025-26 tentative budget

 

Hello Ms. Spurlock and Ms. Langley -

 

The purpose of this e-mail is to alert the Dep't that IVGID's tentative budget for
2026 is not in compliance with the NRS and the NAC. Given NRS 354.596(5)
instructs that "the Department of Taxation shall examine the submitted documents
for compliance with law and with appropriate regulations and shall submit to
the governing body at least 3 days before the public hearing a written certificate of
compliance or a written notice of lack of compliance," for the reasons which follow I
ask the Dep't notify IVGID that its "submitted documents fail to comply with law or
appropriate regulations." Please consider the following evidence of statutory and/or
regulatory non-compliance: 

 

1. Facility Fee revenue is improperly reported under Community Service Fund
(page 12, schedule F-1) "operating revenue." GASB statement 9 instructs that only
exchange transaction revenue be reported under operating revenue. But IVGID's
current and immediate past auditors have both testified that this facility fee is the
product of non-exchange transactions. In other words, the payors receive nothing
of comparable value in consideration of forced payment. Therefore assuming
arguendo it's proper to report facility fee revenue in this fund, it should be reported
under "nonoperation revenues." IVGID staff agree with this criticism. Take a look at
the asterisk at the bottom of page 14, schedule F-1, of the tentative budget: "Per
Board direction, Facility Fees are being reported as Non-Operating revenues,
beginning with FY2023-24." But the problem here is that these fees are not being



reported as non-operating revenues. As they should.

 

2. Facility Fee revenue is improperly reported under Beach Fund (page 14,
schedule F-1) "operating revenue." For the reasons stated in paragraph 1 above,
these fees are not being reported as non-operating revenues. As they should.

 

3. Is it appropriate for a tentative budget to reflect numbers with no factual basis of
support? In other words, throwing a dart against the wall and wherever it lands....
Assuming the answer is no, the Dep't's attention is directed to page 8 of schedule
B-11. $3,100,000 has been inserted as an alleged central services cost transfer
("expenditure offset") from three enterprise funds: $1,641,000 from the District's
Community Services Fund (see page 13 of schedule F-2), $110,000 from the
District's Beach Fund (see page 15, schedule F-2), and $1,349,000 from the
District's Utility Fund (see page 11, schedule F-2). This number is supported by no
facts whatsoever. I can made this observation given NAC 354.865-354.867
mandate that a series of factors be addressed in a local government's updated
central services cost allocation plan. But here there is no plan. Because none was
approved by the IVGID BOT "under a nonconsent item that (wa)s separately listed
on the agenda for a regular meeting of the governing body" [see NRS 354.613(1)
(c)] "before (a) the date on which the local government submit(ted) its tentative
budget to the Department" [see NAC 354.8668(7)]. In other words, April 15, 2025.

 

Without an approved plan, the tentative budget's $3,100,000 central services cost
transfer number is the product of nothing more than throwing a dart on the wall. Or
probably far more likely, a subsidy for the financial shortfall between budgeted
General Fund revenues (see schedule B) and intentional overspending (see page
8, schedule B-10). Having nothing to do with any of the facts set forth in NAC
354.686-354.867 intended to "set...forth the extent to which an equitable
distribution of all general, overhead, administrative and similar expenses of the
local government among all activities of the local government" as NRS 354.613(8)
(a) mandates.

 

4. Facility Fee revenue is improperly reported under the Community Service Fund
(page 12, schedule F-1). Given this revenue is the product of non-exchange
transactions, GASB 33 instructs that it can only be one of four (4) classes "based
on shared characteristics that affect the timing of recognition:

 

a. Derived tax revenues, which result from assessments imposed on exchange
transactions (for example, income taxes, sales taxes, and other assessments on
earnings or consumption);

b. Imposed nonexchange revenues, which result from assessments imposed on
nongovernmental entities, including individuals, other than assessments on
exchange transactions (for example, property taxes and fines);

c. Government-mandated nonexchange transactions, which occur when a



government at one level provides resources to a government at another level and
requires the recipient to use the resources for a specific purpose (for example,
federal programs that state or local governments are mandated to perform); and,

d. Voluntary nonexchange transactions, which result from legislative or contractual
agreements, other than exchanges, entered into willingly by the parties to the
agreement (for example, certain grants and private donations)."

 

5. Given the shared characteristics of this facility fee can only fit into class two (2)
above ["assessments imposed on nongovernmental entities, including individuals,
other than assessments on exchange transactions"], the question: what express
authority does IVGID have to involuntarily levy such an assessment?

 

6. I say express authority because "in Nevada’s jurisprudence, the Nevada
Supreme Court has adopted and applied Dillon’s Rule to county, city and other
local governments" like GIDs [see NRS 244.137(2) and 268.001(2)]. As applied to
local governments Dillon’s Rule provides [see NRS 244.137(3) and 268.001(3)] that
the governing body may exercise only the following powers and no others:

 

(a) Those powers granted in express terms by the Nevada Constitution, statute or
city charter;

(b) Those powers necessarily or fairly implied in or incident to the powers expressly
granted; and

(c) Those powers essential to the accomplishment of the declared objects and
purposes of the city and not merely convenient but indispensable."

 

And "Dillon’s Rule also provides that if there is any fair or reasonable doubt
concerning the existence of a power, that doubt is resolved against the governing
body...and the power is denied" [see NRS 244.137(4) and 268.001(4)].

 

7. NRS 318 governs GIDs. Where therein is it expressly declared that a GID has
the power to levy "assessments imposed on nongovernmental entities, including
individuals, other than assessments on exchange transactions?" The choices are
twofold: First, ad valorem taxes [see NRS 318.225]. And second, "special
assessments upon lands and premises abutting upon that part of the street or alley
so improved or proposed so to be, or the lands abutting upon the improvement and
the other lands as in the opinion of the board may be specially benefited by the
improvement" [see NRS 318.350]. Given the subect fees are neither, and they are
involuntarily assessed against real property, IVGID has no express power to
enforce the same. Nor to budget them as operating revenues. Stated differently,
their assessment is not in compliance with statutes or regulations.

 



8. IVGID will tell the Dep't its subject facility fee represents a "fee" permitted by
NRS 318.197(1). But this is untrue. All fees, regardless of their label, are required
to furnish comparable value to those who are charged. In other words, exchange
transactions. But here the subject fee furnishes no value nor benefit whatsoever.
Meaning it can't be a "fee."

 

8. And not that it's important what kind of NRS 318.197(1) fee the District's "so
called" fee turns out to be, IVGID will tell the Dep't it is a charge for the mere
"availability" to access and use its public recreation facilities. Even though
essentially all of those facilities charge "user fees" to all users, including those
whose real properties are assessed the fee. But since those facilities are "public,"
they're already available to be used by all members of the public. Whether or not
they are residents of Incline Village/Crystal Bay, own real property in Incline
Village/Crystal Bay, or are assessed this facility fee. Moreoever, there is no such
thing as a NRS 318.197(1) fee for the "availability of facilities." See for yourself.

 

9. Finally, availability fees are recognized for the "availability of service." But only
public health an d sanitation services delivered to real property (rather than
persons). Here public recreation is not public health nor sanitation. And the
District's public recreation facilities are not furnished to real property.

 

10. For all of these reasons, the facility fees which the District has budgeted to its
Community Services Fund is not in compliance with the NRS and should be
ordered removed.

 

11. Similarly, Facility Fee revenue is improperly reported under the Beach Fund
(page 14, schedule F-1). And it is improperly reported for an additional important
reason. The deed by which IVGID agreed to take title to its Lake Tahoe beaches
includes a use easement in favor of all past, present and future Incline Village
parcel owners whose parcels were within IVGID's boundaries in June of 1968. For
this reason this facility fee does not furnish access and use of IVGID's beaches to
those parcels which are assessed. Rather, the express easement in the beach
deed does.

 

12. For all of these reasons, the facility fees which the District has budgeted to its
Community Services Fund is not in compliance with the NRS and should be
ordered removed.

 

13. As you know, I have written to the CLGF concerning several loans made staff
from the District's General Fund to its Internal Services Fund. Several of these
loans are identified in the District's 2022 and 2023 CAFRs. Others are identified in
actual 2024 and estimated 2025 calendar years. But my point here is that the
District's tentative budget fails to identify these loans as "other financing sources" to
the General Fund (see page 6 of the Form 4404LGF), or nonoperating expenses to



the Internal Services Fund (see page 16 of the Form 4404LGF). Nor Schedule C-1
Indebtedness (see page 18 of the Form 4404LGF). Again, more non-compliance.

 

14. I therefore request your office serve IVGID with "a written notice of lack of
compliance (which)...indicate(s as I have identified above) the manner in which the
submitted documents fail to comply with law or appropriate regulations." And that it
provide Chairperson Leavitt and the remainder of CLGF members with that notice
re lack of compliance as I believe this would be a material matter insofar as
possible fiscal watch is concerned.

 

Thank you for your cooperation. Aaron Katz

 



From: s4s@ix.netcom.com
To: Chali Spurlock
Cc: Kelly S. Langley; Tax-Public Information Officer
Subject: Staff"s Determination of Compliance Insofar as IVGID"s 2025-26 Tentative Budget
Date: Tuesday, May 27, 2025 11:36:33 AM

WARNING - This email originated from outside the State of Nevada. Exercise caution when
opening attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders.

 

Hello Ms. Spurlock and Ms. Langley -

 

On April 24, 2025 I sent you the e-mail below challenging IVGID's tentative budget as
not being in compliance with the NRS/NAC.

 

Today I was provided with a May 20, 2025 letter from Kellie Grahmann of your
Department informing IVGID that its tentative budget is in compliance with the
NRS/NAC.

 

It is not.

 

I ask you share this e-mail with Chairperson Leavitt and the other Honorable
Members of the CLGF now rather than sometime down the road closer to its next
meeting, so they're familiar with exactly what is going on in Incline Village. Let me
remind you that as of today, barely if not now less than three (3) days from its
published public hearing date, staff have still not provided the IVGID Board and the
public with:

 

1. A proposed FY 2025-26 final budget;

2. Authority for any alleged central services cost transfers from the District's
enterprise funds (remember the tentative budget relies upon $3.1M of such transfers
which are voidable on their face inasmuch as the District has never adopted an
updated central services cost allocation plan); or,

3. Authority for increased special tax assessments (disingenuously labeled facility
"fees") to prop up its intentional overspending in its Community Services and Beach
Funds.

 

And this is nearly two weeks since the District first published notice of the upcoming
public hearing telling the public the District's proposed final budget was on file and
available to be inspected, when it isn't!

mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:taxpio@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:taxpio@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:taxpio@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:taxpio@tax.state.nv.us


 

Because I suspect that IVGID's final budget will suffer from this same non-compliance
as does its tentative budget, if your office similarly finds, I intend to make formal
request of the Executive Director for a NAC 354.940 advisory opinion.

 

The only reason I am not asking for that opinion now, is because I anticipate the
District will commit additional NRS/NAC non-compliances. So rather than dealing with
multiple non-compliances piecemeal, I intend to let circumstances play out as the
District has published May 30, 2025 as the date for adoption of its FY 2025-26
budget.

 

I and others have told the CLGF for some time that the District is an out of control
rogue local government which exists financially, on a series of revenue sources which
are not in compliance with the NRS/NAC. Take away these improper revenue
sources and what you're left with is a severe financial emergency. Which is exactly
where we're heading. Which the CLGF will see materializes before members' eyes,
assuming they are looking. Given IVGID is on "fiscal watch," I and others in our
community hope the CLGF is watching.

 

I repeat that the reason the CLGF is hearing from members of the Incline
Village/Crystal Bay public, is because unlike the rest of the state, their properties are
being subjected to an invalid special tax. Once which is not in compliance with the
NRS, and unlike an ad valorem tax, has no statutory limits.

 

Thank you for your cooperation. Aaron Katz

-----Original Message-----
From: <s4s@ix.netcom.com>
Sent: Apr 24, 2025 2:29 PM
To: <CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us>
Cc: <klangley@tax.state.nv.us>
Subject: IVGID's 2025-26 tentative budget

 

Hello Ms. Spurlock and Ms. Langley -

 

The purpose of this e-mail is to alert the Dep't that IVGID's tentative budget for
2026 is not in compliance with the NRS and the NAC. Given NRS 354.596(5)
instructs that "the Department of Taxation shall examine the submitted
documents for compliance with law and with appropriate regulations and



shall submit to the governing body at least 3 days before the public hearing a
written certificate of compliance or a written notice of lack of compliance," for the
reasons which follow I ask the Dep't notify IVGID that its "submitted documents
fail to comply with law or appropriate regulations." Please consider the following
evidence of statutory and/or regulatory non-compliance: 

 

1. Facility Fee revenue is improperly reported under Community Service Fund
(page 12, schedule F-1) "operating revenue." GASB statement 9 instructs that
only exchange transaction revenue be reported under operating revenue. But
IVGID's current and immediate past auditors have both testified that this facility
fee is the product of non-exchange transactions. In other words, the payors
receive nothing of comparable value in consideration of forced payment.
Therefore assuming arguendo it's proper to report facility fee revenue in this
fund, it should be reported under "nonoperation revenues." IVGID staff agree
with this criticism. Take a look at the asterisk at the bottom of page 14, schedule
F-1, of the tentative budget: "Per Board direction, Facility Fees are being
reported as Non-Operating revenues, beginning with FY2023-24." But the
problem here is that these fees are not being reported as non-operating
revenues. As they should.

 

2. Facility Fee revenue is improperly reported under Beach Fund (page 14,
schedule F-1) "operating revenue." For the reasons stated in paragraph 1 above,
these fees are not being reported as non-operating revenues. As they should.

 

3. Is it appropriate for a tentative budget to reflect numbers with no factual basis
of support? In other words, throwing a dart against the wall and wherever it
lands.... Assuming the answer is no, the Dep't's attention is directed to page 8 of
schedule B-11. $3,100,000 has been inserted as an alleged central services cost
transfer ("expenditure offset") from three enterprise funds: $1,641,000 from the
District's Community Services Fund (see page 13 of schedule F-2), $110,000
from the District's Beach Fund (see page 15, schedule F-2), and $1,349,000 from
the District's Utility Fund (see page 11, schedule F-2). This number is supported
by no facts whatsoever. I can made this observation given NAC 354.865-354.867
mandate that a series of factors be addressed in a local government's updated
central services cost allocation plan. But here there is no plan. Because none
was approved by the IVGID BOT "under a nonconsent item that (wa)s separately
listed on the agenda for a regular meeting of the governing body" [see NRS
354.613(1)(c)] "before (a) the date on which the local government submit(ted) its
tentative budget to the Department" [see NAC 354.8668(7)]. In other words, April
15, 2025.

 

Without an approved plan, the tentative budget's $3,100,000 central services
cost transfer number is the product of nothing more than throwing a dart on the
wall. Or probably far more likely, a subsidy for the financial shortfall between
budgeted General Fund revenues (see schedule B) and intentional overspending
(see page 8, schedule B-10). Having nothing to do with any of the facts set forth
in NAC 354.686-354.867 intended to "set...forth the extent to which an equitable
distribution of all general, overhead, administrative and similar expenses of the



local government among all activities of the local government" as NRS
354.613(8)(a) mandates.

 

4. Facility Fee revenue is improperly reported under the Community Service
Fund (page 12, schedule F-1). Given this revenue is the product of non-
exchange transactions, GASB 33 instructs that it can only be one of four (4)
classes "based on shared characteristics that affect the timing of recognition:

 

a. Derived tax revenues, which result from assessments imposed on exchange
transactions (for example, income taxes, sales taxes, and other assessments on
earnings or consumption);

b. Imposed nonexchange revenues, which result from assessments imposed on
nongovernmental entities, including individuals, other than assessments on
exchange transactions (for example, property taxes and fines);

c. Government-mandated nonexchange transactions, which occur when a
government at one level provides resources to a government at another level and
requires the recipient to use the resources for a specific purpose (for example,
federal programs that state or local governments are mandated to perform); and,

d. Voluntary nonexchange transactions, which result from legislative or
contractual agreements, other than exchanges, entered into willingly by the
parties to the agreement (for example, certain grants and private donations)."

 

5. Given the shared characteristics of this facility fee can only fit into class two (2)
above ["assessments imposed on nongovernmental entities, including
individuals, other than assessments on exchange transactions"], the question:
what express authority does IVGID have to involuntarily levy such an
assessment?

 

6. I say express authority because "in Nevada’s jurisprudence, the Nevada
Supreme Court has adopted and applied Dillon’s Rule to county, city and other
local governments" like GIDs [see NRS 244.137(2) and 268.001(2)]. As applied
to local governments Dillon’s Rule provides [see NRS 244.137(3) and
268.001(3)] that the governing body may exercise only the following powers
and no others:

 

(a) Those powers granted in express terms by the Nevada Constitution, statute
or city charter;

(b) Those powers necessarily or fairly implied in or incident to the powers
expressly granted; and

(c) Those powers essential to the accomplishment of the declared objects and
purposes of the city and not merely convenient but indispensable."



 

And "Dillon’s Rule also provides that if there is any fair or reasonable doubt
concerning the existence of a power, that doubt is resolved against the
governing body...and the power is denied" [see NRS 244.137(4) and
268.001(4)].

 

7. NRS 318 governs GIDs. Where therein is it expressly declared that a GID has
the power to levy "assessments imposed on nongovernmental entities, including
individuals, other than assessments on exchange transactions?" The choices are
twofold: First, ad valorem taxes [see NRS 318.225]. And second, "special
assessments upon lands and premises abutting upon that part of the street or
alley so improved or proposed so to be, or the lands abutting upon the
improvement and the other lands as in the opinion of the board may be specially
benefited by the improvement" [see NRS 318.350]. Given the subect fees are
neither, and they are involuntarily assessed against real property, IVGID has no
express power to enforce the same. Nor to budget them as operating revenues.
Stated differently, their assessment is not in compliance with statutes or
regulations.

 

8. IVGID will tell the Dep't its subject facility fee represents a "fee" permitted by
NRS 318.197(1). But this is untrue. All fees, regardless of their label, are
required to furnish comparable value to those who are charged. In other words,
exchange transactions. But here the subject fee furnishes no value nor benefit
whatsoever. Meaning it can't be a "fee."

 

8. And not that it's important what kind of NRS 318.197(1) fee the District's "so
called" fee turns out to be, IVGID will tell the Dep't it is a charge for the mere
"availability" to access and use its public recreation facilities. Even though
essentially all of those facilities charge "user fees" to all users, including those
whose real properties are assessed the fee. But since those facilities are "public,"
they're already available to be used by all members of the public. Whether or not
they are residents of Incline Village/Crystal Bay, own real property in Incline
Village/Crystal Bay, or are assessed this facility fee. Moreoever, there is no such
thing as a NRS 318.197(1) fee for the "availability of facilities." See for yourself.

 

9. Finally, availability fees are recognized for the "availability of service." But only
public health an d sanitation services delivered to real property (rather than
persons). Here public recreation is not public health nor sanitation. And the
District's public recreation facilities are not furnished to real property.

 

10. For all of these reasons, the facility fees which the District has budgeted to its
Community Services Fund is not in compliance with the NRS and should be
ordered removed.

 



11. Similarly, Facility Fee revenue is improperly reported under the Beach Fund
(page 14, schedule F-1). And it is improperly reported for an additional important
reason. The deed by which IVGID agreed to take title to its Lake Tahoe beaches
includes a use easement in favor of all past, present and future Incline Village
parcel owners whose parcels were within IVGID's boundaries in June of 1968.
For this reason this facility fee does not furnish access and use of IVGID's
beaches to those parcels which are assessed. Rather, the express easement in
the beach deed does.

 

12. For all of these reasons, the facility fees which the District has budgeted to its
Community Services Fund is not in compliance with the NRS and should be
ordered removed.

 

13. As you know, I have written to the CLGF concerning several loans made staff
from the District's General Fund to its Internal Services Fund. Several of these
loans are identified in the District's 2022 and 2023 CAFRs. Others are identified
in actual 2024 and estimated 2025 calendar years. But my point here is that the
District's tentative budget fails to identify these loans as "other financing sources"
to the General Fund (see page 6 of the Form 4404LGF), or nonoperating
expenses to the Internal Services Fund (see page 16 of the Form 4404LGF). Nor
Schedule C-1 Indebtedness (see page 18 of the Form 4404LGF). Again, more
non-compliance.

 

14. I therefore request your office serve IVGID with "a written notice of lack of
compliance (which)...indicate(s as I have identified above) the manner in which
the submitted documents fail to comply with law or appropriate regulations." And
that it provide Chairperson Leavitt and the remainder of CLGF members with that
notice re lack of compliance as I believe this would be a material matter insofar
as possible fiscal watch is concerned.

 

Thank you for your cooperation. Aaron Katz

 

 



From: J
To: s4s@ix.netcom.com
Cc: Chali Spurlock; Kelly S. Langley; Tax-Public Information Officer
Subject: Re: Staff"s Determination of Compliance Insofar as IVGID"s 2025-26 Tentative Budget
Date: Tuesday, May 27, 2025 11:53:09 AM

WARNING - This email originated from outside the State of Nevada. Exercise caution when
opening attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders.

The Nevada Department of Taxation and the Committee on Local Government Finance
(CLGF) have been repeatedly notified that IVGID’s “recreation facility fee” is an unlawful tax.
NRS 318.235, as amended in 1999, clearly states that special levies must end once the
original debt is paid. Marvin Leavitt, current CLGF chair, testified in support of this law in
1999. Despite this, IVGID continues to collect the fee every year. The Department of
Taxation keeps approving IVGID’s budgets, and the CLGF has taken no action. This
ongoing levy violates both the law and the legislative intent.

On Tue, May 27, 2025 at 11:36 AM <s4s@ix.netcom.com> wrote:
 

Hello Ms. Spurlock and Ms. Langley -

 

On April 24, 2025 I sent you the e-mail below challenging IVGID's tentative budget
as not being in compliance with the NRS/NAC.

 

Today I was provided with a May 20, 2025 letter from Kellie Grahmann of your
Department informing IVGID that its tentative budget is in compliance with the
NRS/NAC.

 

It is not.

 

I ask you share this e-mail with Chairperson Leavitt and the other Honorable
Members of the CLGF now rather than sometime down the road closer to its next
meeting, so they're familiar with exactly what is going on in Incline Village. Let me
remind you that as of today, barely if not now less than three (3) days from its
published public hearing date, staff have still not provided the IVGID Board and the
public with:

 

1. A proposed FY 2025-26 final budget;

2. Authority for any alleged central services cost transfers from the District's
enterprise funds (remember the tentative budget relies upon $3.1M of such
transfers which are voidable on their face inasmuch as the District has never

mailto:j.gumz1@gmail.com
mailto:j.gumz1@gmail.com
mailto:j.gumz1@gmail.com
mailto:j.gumz1@gmail.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:taxpio@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:taxpio@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:taxpio@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:taxpio@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com


adopted an updated central services cost allocation plan); or,

3. Authority for increased special tax assessments (disingenuously labeled facility
"fees") to prop up its intentional overspending in its Community Services and Beach
Funds.

 

And this is nearly two weeks since the District first published notice of the upcoming
public hearing telling the public the District's proposed final budget was on file and
available to be inspected, when it isn't!

 

Because I suspect that IVGID's final budget will suffer from this same non-
compliance as does its tentative budget, if your office similarly finds, I intend to
make formal request of the Executive Director for a NAC 354.940 advisory opinion.

 

The only reason I am not asking for that opinion now, is because I anticipate the
District will commit additional NRS/NAC non-compliances. So rather than dealing
with multiple non-compliances piecemeal, I intend to let circumstances play out as
the District has published May 30, 2025 as the date for adoption of its FY 2025-26
budget.

 

I and others have told the CLGF for some time that the District is an out of control
rogue local government which exists financially, on a series of revenue sources
which are not in compliance with the NRS/NAC. Take away these improper revenue
sources and what you're left with is a severe financial emergency. Which is exactly
where we're heading. Which the CLGF will see materializes before members' eyes,
assuming they are looking. Given IVGID is on "fiscal watch," I and others in our
community hope the CLGF is watching.

 

I repeat that the reason the CLGF is hearing from members of the Incline
Village/Crystal Bay public, is because unlike the rest of the state, their properties
are being subjected to an invalid special tax. Once which is not in compliance with
the NRS, and unlike an ad valorem tax, has no statutory limits.

 

Thank you for your cooperation. Aaron Katz

-----Original Message-----
From: <s4s@ix.netcom.com>
Sent: Apr 24, 2025 2:29 PM
To: <CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us>
Cc: <klangley@tax.state.nv.us>
Subject: IVGID's 2025-26 tentative budget

mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us


 

Hello Ms. Spurlock and Ms. Langley -

 

The purpose of this e-mail is to alert the Dep't that IVGID's tentative budget for
2026 is not in compliance with the NRS and the NAC. Given NRS 354.596(5)
instructs that "the Department of Taxation shall examine the submitted
documents for compliance with law and with appropriate regulations and
shall submit to the governing body at least 3 days before the public hearing a
written certificate of compliance or a written notice of lack of compliance," for
the reasons which follow I ask the Dep't notify IVGID that its "submitted
documents fail to comply with law or appropriate regulations." Please consider
the following evidence of statutory and/or regulatory non-compliance: 

 

1. Facility Fee revenue is improperly reported under Community Service Fund
(page 12, schedule F-1) "operating revenue." GASB statement 9 instructs that
only exchange transaction revenue be reported under operating revenue. But
IVGID's current and immediate past auditors have both testified that this facility
fee is the product of non-exchange transactions. In other words, the payors
receive nothing of comparable value in consideration of forced payment.
Therefore assuming arguendo it's proper to report facility fee revenue in this
fund, it should be reported under "nonoperation revenues." IVGID staff agree
with this criticism. Take a look at the asterisk at the bottom of page 14,
schedule F-1, of the tentative budget: "Per Board direction, Facility Fees are
being reported as Non-Operating revenues, beginning with FY2023-24." But
the problem here is that these fees are not being reported as non-operating
revenues. As they should.

 

2. Facility Fee revenue is improperly reported under Beach Fund (page 14,
schedule F-1) "operating revenue." For the reasons stated in paragraph 1
above, these fees are not being reported as non-operating revenues. As they
should.

 

3. Is it appropriate for a tentative budget to reflect numbers with no factual
basis of support? In other words, throwing a dart against the wall and wherever
it lands.... Assuming the answer is no, the Dep't's attention is directed to page 8
of schedule B-11. $3,100,000 has been inserted as an alleged central services
cost transfer ("expenditure offset") from three enterprise funds: $1,641,000
from the District's Community Services Fund (see page 13 of schedule F-2),
$110,000 from the District's Beach Fund (see page 15, schedule F-2), and
$1,349,000 from the District's Utility Fund (see page 11, schedule F-2). This
number is supported by no facts whatsoever. I can made this observation given
NAC 354.865-354.867 mandate that a series of factors be addressed in a local
government's updated central services cost allocation plan. But here there is no
plan. Because none was approved by the IVGID BOT "under a nonconsent
item that (wa)s separately listed on the agenda for a regular meeting of the
governing body" [see NRS 354.613(1)(c)] "before (a) the date on which the
local government submit(ted) its tentative budget to the Department" [see NAC



354.8668(7)]. In other words, April 15, 2025.

 

Without an approved plan, the tentative budget's $3,100,000 central services
cost transfer number is the product of nothing more than throwing a dart on the
wall. Or probably far more likely, a subsidy for the financial shortfall between
budgeted General Fund revenues (see schedule B) and intentional
overspending (see page 8, schedule B-10). Having nothing to do with any of
the facts set forth in NAC 354.686-354.867 intended to "set...forth the extent to
which an equitable distribution of all general, overhead, administrative and
similar expenses of the local government among all activities of the local
government" as NRS 354.613(8)(a) mandates.

 

4. Facility Fee revenue is improperly reported under the Community Service
Fund (page 12, schedule F-1). Given this revenue is the product of non-
exchange transactions, GASB 33 instructs that it can only be one of four (4)
classes "based on shared characteristics that affect the timing of recognition:

 

a. Derived tax revenues, which result from assessments imposed on exchange
transactions (for example, income taxes, sales taxes, and other assessments
on earnings or consumption);

b. Imposed nonexchange revenues, which result from assessments imposed
on nongovernmental entities, including individuals, other than assessments on
exchange transactions (for example, property taxes and fines);

c. Government-mandated nonexchange transactions, which occur when a
government at one level provides resources to a government at another level
and requires the recipient to use the resources for a specific purpose (for
example, federal programs that state or local governments are mandated to
perform); and,

d. Voluntary nonexchange transactions, which result from legislative or
contractual agreements, other than exchanges, entered into willingly by the
parties to the agreement (for example, certain grants and private donations)."

 

5. Given the shared characteristics of this facility fee can only fit into class two
(2) above ["assessments imposed on nongovernmental entities, including
individuals, other than assessments on exchange transactions"], the question:
what express authority does IVGID have to involuntarily levy such an
assessment?

 

6. I say express authority because "in Nevada’s jurisprudence, the Nevada
Supreme Court has adopted and applied Dillon’s Rule to county, city and other
local governments" like GIDs [see NRS 244.137(2) and 268.001(2)]. As
applied to local governments Dillon’s Rule provides [see NRS 244.137(3) and
268.001(3)] that the governing body may exercise only the following powers



and no others:

 

(a) Those powers granted in express terms by the Nevada Constitution,
statute or city charter;

(b) Those powers necessarily or fairly implied in or incident to the powers
expressly granted; and

(c) Those powers essential to the accomplishment of the declared objects and
purposes of the city and not merely convenient but indispensable."

 

And "Dillon’s Rule also provides that if there is any fair or reasonable doubt
concerning the existence of a power, that doubt is resolved against the
governing body...and the power is denied" [see NRS 244.137(4) and
268.001(4)].

 

7. NRS 318 governs GIDs. Where therein is it expressly declared that a GID
has the power to levy "assessments imposed on nongovernmental entities,
including individuals, other than assessments on exchange transactions?" The
choices are twofold: First, ad valorem taxes [see NRS 318.225]. And second,
"special assessments upon lands and premises abutting upon that part of the
street or alley so improved or proposed so to be, or the lands abutting upon the
improvement and the other lands as in the opinion of the board may be
specially benefited by the improvement" [see NRS 318.350]. Given the subect
fees are neither, and they are involuntarily assessed against real property,
IVGID has no express power to enforce the same. Nor to budget them as
operating revenues. Stated differently, their assessment is not in compliance
with statutes or regulations.

 

8. IVGID will tell the Dep't its subject facility fee represents a "fee" permitted by
NRS 318.197(1). But this is untrue. All fees, regardless of their label, are
required to furnish comparable value to those who are charged. In other words,
exchange transactions. But here the subject fee furnishes no value nor benefit
whatsoever. Meaning it can't be a "fee."

 

8. And not that it's important what kind of NRS 318.197(1) fee the District's "so
called" fee turns out to be, IVGID will tell the Dep't it is a charge for the mere
"availability" to access and use its public recreation facilities. Even though
essentially all of those facilities charge "user fees" to all users, including those
whose real properties are assessed the fee. But since those facilities are
"public," they're already available to be used by all members of the public.
Whether or not they are residents of Incline Village/Crystal Bay, own real
property in Incline Village/Crystal Bay, or are assessed this facility fee.
Moreoever, there is no such thing as a NRS 318.197(1) fee for the "availability
of facilities." See for yourself.



 

9. Finally, availability fees are recognized for the "availability of service." But
only public health an d sanitation services delivered to real property (rather
than persons). Here public recreation is not public health nor sanitation. And
the District's public recreation facilities are not furnished to real property.

 

10. For all of these reasons, the facility fees which the District has budgeted to
its Community Services Fund is not in compliance with the NRS and should be
ordered removed.

 

11. Similarly, Facility Fee revenue is improperly reported under the Beach Fund
(page 14, schedule F-1). And it is improperly reported for an additional
important reason. The deed by which IVGID agreed to take title to its Lake
Tahoe beaches includes a use easement in favor of all past, present and future
Incline Village parcel owners whose parcels were within IVGID's boundaries in
June of 1968. For this reason this facility fee does not furnish access and use
of IVGID's beaches to those parcels which are assessed. Rather, the express
easement in the beach deed does.

 

12. For all of these reasons, the facility fees which the District has budgeted to
its Community Services Fund is not in compliance with the NRS and should be
ordered removed.

 

13. As you know, I have written to the CLGF concerning several loans made
staff from the District's General Fund to its Internal Services Fund. Several of
these loans are identified in the District's 2022 and 2023 CAFRs. Others are
identified in actual 2024 and estimated 2025 calendar years. But my point here
is that the District's tentative budget fails to identify these loans as "other
financing sources" to the General Fund (see page 6 of the Form 4404LGF), or
nonoperating expenses to the Internal Services Fund (see page 16 of the Form
4404LGF). Nor Schedule C-1 Indebtedness (see page 18 of the Form
4404LGF). Again, more non-compliance.

 

14. I therefore request your office serve IVGID with "a written notice of lack of
compliance (which)...indicate(s as I have identified above) the manner in which
the submitted documents fail to comply with law or appropriate regulations."
And that it provide Chairperson Leavitt and the remainder of CLGF members
with that notice re lack of compliance as I believe this would be a material
matter insofar as possible fiscal watch is concerned.

 

Thank you for your cooperation. Aaron Katz

 



 





Outlook

Recap of todays meeting with Dates and Submissions

From Jessica O'Connell <joc@ivgid.org>
Date Thu 5/29/2025 3:48 PM
To Jennifer Farr <jfarr@davisfarr.com>; Barter, Noemi <noemi.barter@bakertilly.com>; Robert W. Harrison <RWH@ivgid.org>
Cc Kelly S. Langley <klangley@tax.state.nv.us>

WARNING - This email originated from outside the State of Nevada. Exercise caution when opening attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown
senders.

Hello Jennifer,
 
Please find the dates and submissions.
 
Friday, May 30, 2025                                                                     Draft FS with Audit Aje’s
Friday-Sunday May 30-June 2,2025                                       Finance & Audit Committee review
Tuesday, June 3, 2025                                                                  Draft FS for Public viewing in Civic Portal
Monday June 6, 2025,                                                                                   Audit Committee Meeting-Review Drafted FS
Friday, June 6, 2025                                                                       Audited Financial Statements for Public viewing in Civic Portal
Wednesday 11, 2025                                                                    Board of Trustee Meeting-Audited Financial Statement
Wednesday 11, 2025                                                                    Submit Audited Financial Statement to State
 
 

Jessica O’Connell
Director of Finance
893 Southwood Blvd.
Incline Village, NV 89451
775-886-1012
 

 
 



Outlook

RE: FW: IVGID - It's Alleged Updated Central Services Cost Allocation Plan

From s4s@ix.netcom.com <s4s@ix.netcom.com>
Date Wed 6/4/2025 12:29 PM
To Patricia Olmstead <polmstead@tax.state.nv.us>
Cc Kelly S. Langley <klangley@tax.state.nv.us>; Chali Spurlock <CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us>

WARNING - This email originated from outside the State of Nevada. Exercise caution when opening
attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders.

Thank you.
 
So did you put Chair Leavitt and the other honorable members of the CLGF on notice of the
deficiencies noted in my e-mail? And the need for a special CLGF meeting now? And notify the
Executive Director of the same?
 
Are those functions you perform in addition to "ensur(ing) the Dep't remains complaint and
responsive to public inquiries?"
 
Aaron Katz
 

-----Original Message-----
From: Patricia Olmstead <polmstead@tax.state.nv.us>
Sent: Jun 4, 2025 12:02 PM
To: s4s@ix.netcom.com <s4s@ix.netcom.com>
Cc: Kelly S. Langley <klangley@tax.state.nv.us>, Chali Spurlock <CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us>
Subject: RE: FW: IVGID - It's Alleged Updated Central Services Cost Allocation Plan

 

Mr. Katz,

 

The Department relies on the Public Information Office to receive and track all communications from
the public. This process ensures the Department remains compliant and responsive to public inquiries,
while also promoting consistency in our communications.

 

Please send all communication to the taxpio@tax.state.nv.us.

 

Thank you,

8/13/25, 3:10 PM RE: FW: IVGID - It's Alleged Updated Central Services Cost Allocation Plan - Kari Skalsky - Outlook

about:blank?windowId=SecondaryReadingPane1 1/8

mailto:taxpio@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:taxpio@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:taxpio@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:taxpio@tax.state.nv.us


 

Patricia Olmstead

Public Information Officer

Nevada Department of Taxation

9850 Double R Blvd.

Phone: 775-687-9998
Email: taxpio@tax.state.nv.us

 

Mailing Address:

3850 Arrowhead Drive

Carson City, NV 89706

Find careers at: NVAPPS Jobs

 

CONFIDENTIALITY STATEMENT: This e-mail and any attachments are intended only for those to which it is addressed and may contain

information which is privileged, confidential and prohibited from disclosure and unauthorized use under applicable law. If you are not the

intended recipient of this e-mail, you are hereby notified that any use, dissemination, or copying of this e-mail or the information contained

in this e-mail is strictly prohibited by the sender. If you have received this transmission in error, please return the material received to the

sender and delete all copies from your system.

 

 

 

From: s4s@ix.netcom.com <s4s@ix.netcom.com>
Sent: Monday, June 2, 2025 4:36 PM
To: Kelly S. Langley <klangley@tax.state.nv.us>; Patricia Olmstead <polmstead@tax.state.nv.us>
Cc: Aaron Katz <s4s@ix.netcom.com>; Chali Spurlock <CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us>
Subject: Re: FW: IVGID - It's Alleged Updated Central Services Cost Allocation Plan

 

WARNING - This email originated from outside the State of Nevada. Exercise caution when
opening attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders.

Kelly -
 

8/13/25, 3:10 PM RE: FW: IVGID - It's Alleged Updated Central Services Cost Allocation Plan - Kari Skalsky - Outlook

about:blank?windowId=SecondaryReadingPane1 2/8

mailto:taxpio@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:taxpio@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:taxpio@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:taxpio@tax.state.nv.us
https://nvapps.state.nv.us/NEATS/Recruiting/ViewJobsHome.aep
https://nvapps.state.nv.us/NEATS/Recruiting/ViewJobsHome.aep
https://nvapps.state.nv.us/NEATS/Recruiting/ViewJobsHome.aep
https://nvapps.state.nv.us/NEATS/Recruiting/ViewJobsHome.aep


I'm not making a public records request.
 
I am speaking to the CLGF. Isn't Ms. Spurlock clerk of the CLGF? So why is it inappropriate to
communicate with her on behalf of the CLGF?
 
I will attempt to keep Ms. Olmstead in the loop in the future. But when I have something to say to
the Executive Director, or the CLGF, those are the ones to whom my comments are directed.
 
Thank you for your understanding.
 
So how about you do something now that IVGID has failed to submit a final budget in compliance
with the NRS/NAC?
 
Thank you for your cooperation. Aaron Katz
 

-----Original Message-----
From: Kelly S. Langley <klangley@tax.state.nv.us>
Sent: Jun 2, 2025 4:17 PM
To: Patricia Olmstead <polmstead@tax.state.nv.us>
Cc: Aaron Katz <s4s@ix.netcom.com>, Chali Spurlock <CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us>
Subject: FW: IVGID - It's Alleged Updated Central Services Cost Allocation Plan

 

Mr. Katz,

As you have been informed numerous times, all communication needs to go through our Public
Information Officer, Patricia Olmstead.  I have forwarded on your email shown below.

 

Kelly S Langley,

Nevada Department of Taxation

Local Government Finance and Boards & Commissions

3850 Arrowhead Drive

Carson City, NV  89706

klangley@tax.state.nv.us

775.684.2073 Office

775.636.0101 Cell

*Notice: Our new E-services have launched. Create a new log on or register your business today at
MyNevadaTax.nv.gov. Instructional videos for My Nevada Tax can be found here: How-to Videos for Nevada Tax - State
of Nevada. Additional information can be found in the FAQ section.

8/13/25, 3:10 PM RE: FW: IVGID - It's Alleged Updated Central Services Cost Allocation Plan - Kari Skalsky - Outlook

about:blank?windowId=SecondaryReadingPane1 3/8

mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fmynvtax.nv.gov%2ftap%2f_%2f&c=E,1,AIA4bmHvNduMqtp0GpKgiPdtyEZBq3q6owPFQsKWTF9hsLf7kfQ0t0XopEjINEzS1_IW_xHa9BNQPN6eM6zjf4_orcnLFlvcc7TUCAv3Qw6kuNx9mw,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fmynvtax.nv.gov%2ftap%2f_%2f&c=E,1,AIA4bmHvNduMqtp0GpKgiPdtyEZBq3q6owPFQsKWTF9hsLf7kfQ0t0XopEjINEzS1_IW_xHa9BNQPN6eM6zjf4_orcnLFlvcc7TUCAv3Qw6kuNx9mw,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fmynvtax.nv.gov%2ftap%2f_%2f&c=E,1,AIA4bmHvNduMqtp0GpKgiPdtyEZBq3q6owPFQsKWTF9hsLf7kfQ0t0XopEjINEzS1_IW_xHa9BNQPN6eM6zjf4_orcnLFlvcc7TUCAv3Qw6kuNx9mw,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fmynvtax.nv.gov%2ftap%2f_%2f&c=E,1,AIA4bmHvNduMqtp0GpKgiPdtyEZBq3q6owPFQsKWTF9hsLf7kfQ0t0XopEjINEzS1_IW_xHa9BNQPN6eM6zjf4_orcnLFlvcc7TUCAv3Qw6kuNx9mw,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2ftax.nv.gov%2feducation%2fhow-to-videos-for-nevada-tax%2f&c=E,1,Aj0JtcNdGWDV1zoZM-lMDUN2Y6b4y-jKTyTHlQ7EFt-S7hLxIozgeef_LU4XlA-OQDY0qiOl9dPfPtaodR2l9U4oPmleGSHEbYUlGrhJ19rOuw,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2ftax.nv.gov%2feducation%2fhow-to-videos-for-nevada-tax%2f&c=E,1,Aj0JtcNdGWDV1zoZM-lMDUN2Y6b4y-jKTyTHlQ7EFt-S7hLxIozgeef_LU4XlA-OQDY0qiOl9dPfPtaodR2l9U4oPmleGSHEbYUlGrhJ19rOuw,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2ftax.nv.gov%2feducation%2fhow-to-videos-for-nevada-tax%2f&c=E,1,Aj0JtcNdGWDV1zoZM-lMDUN2Y6b4y-jKTyTHlQ7EFt-S7hLxIozgeef_LU4XlA-OQDY0qiOl9dPfPtaodR2l9U4oPmleGSHEbYUlGrhJ19rOuw,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2ftax.nv.gov%2feducation%2fhow-to-videos-for-nevada-tax%2f&c=E,1,Aj0JtcNdGWDV1zoZM-lMDUN2Y6b4y-jKTyTHlQ7EFt-S7hLxIozgeef_LU4XlA-OQDY0qiOl9dPfPtaodR2l9U4oPmleGSHEbYUlGrhJ19rOuw,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2ftax.nv.gov%2feducation%2fhow-to-videos-for-nevada-tax%2f&c=E,1,Aj0JtcNdGWDV1zoZM-lMDUN2Y6b4y-jKTyTHlQ7EFt-S7hLxIozgeef_LU4XlA-OQDY0qiOl9dPfPtaodR2l9U4oPmleGSHEbYUlGrhJ19rOuw,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2ftax.nv.gov%2feducation%2fhow-to-videos-for-nevada-tax%2f&c=E,1,Aj0JtcNdGWDV1zoZM-lMDUN2Y6b4y-jKTyTHlQ7EFt-S7hLxIozgeef_LU4XlA-OQDY0qiOl9dPfPtaodR2l9U4oPmleGSHEbYUlGrhJ19rOuw,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2ftax.nv.gov%2feducation%2fhow-to-videos-for-nevada-tax%2f&c=E,1,Aj0JtcNdGWDV1zoZM-lMDUN2Y6b4y-jKTyTHlQ7EFt-S7hLxIozgeef_LU4XlA-OQDY0qiOl9dPfPtaodR2l9U4oPmleGSHEbYUlGrhJ19rOuw,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2ftax.nv.gov%2feducation%2fhow-to-videos-for-nevada-tax%2f&c=E,1,Aj0JtcNdGWDV1zoZM-lMDUN2Y6b4y-jKTyTHlQ7EFt-S7hLxIozgeef_LU4XlA-OQDY0qiOl9dPfPtaodR2l9U4oPmleGSHEbYUlGrhJ19rOuw,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2ftax.nv.gov%2ffaqs%2fmy-nevada-tax-faqs%2f&c=E,1,7koiDqHCy6a3gk2EbIqAA68VJxqu7zr31PJEidmHkx3zsD7iD7OqUCA0tmPLUoJNAcjpsgw7Ye7A92EY210U48YfLjt3dHpHoS__B17R9Dg,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2ftax.nv.gov%2ffaqs%2fmy-nevada-tax-faqs%2f&c=E,1,7koiDqHCy6a3gk2EbIqAA68VJxqu7zr31PJEidmHkx3zsD7iD7OqUCA0tmPLUoJNAcjpsgw7Ye7A92EY210U48YfLjt3dHpHoS__B17R9Dg,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2ftax.nv.gov%2ffaqs%2fmy-nevada-tax-faqs%2f&c=E,1,7koiDqHCy6a3gk2EbIqAA68VJxqu7zr31PJEidmHkx3zsD7iD7OqUCA0tmPLUoJNAcjpsgw7Ye7A92EY210U48YfLjt3dHpHoS__B17R9Dg,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2ftax.nv.gov%2ffaqs%2fmy-nevada-tax-faqs%2f&c=E,1,7koiDqHCy6a3gk2EbIqAA68VJxqu7zr31PJEidmHkx3zsD7iD7OqUCA0tmPLUoJNAcjpsgw7Ye7A92EY210U48YfLjt3dHpHoS__B17R9Dg,&typo=1


 

 

 

 

From: s4s@ix.netcom.com <s4s@ix.netcom.com>
Sent: Monday, June 2, 2025 3:59 PM
To: Chali Spurlock <CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us>
Cc: Kelly S. Langley <klangley@tax.state.nv.us>
Subject: IVGID - It's Alleged Updated Central Services Cost Allocation Plan

 

WARNING - This email originated from outside the State of Nevada. Exercise caution when
opening attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders.

Hello Ms. Spurlock and Ms. Langley -
 
The purpose of this e-mail is to alert the Dep't that IVGID continues to not comply with the law,
appropriate regulations, and now its own policies. And also to ask the Executive Director to order
hearings to determine whether a severe financial emergency exists in Incline Village/Crystal Bay.
And to notify the Washoe County Board of Commissioners to hold hearings to determine the fate
of IVGID given the District is obviously unable to properly manage itself [see NRS 318.515 for
that authority}.
 
Since the District is on fiscal watch, I ask you put Chair Leavitt and the other honorable members
of the CLGF on notice of the deficiencies noted in this e-mail. And the need for a special CLGF
meeting now. And I ask you notify the Executive Director of the same. And I ask these individuals
be placed on notice now, and not sometime next month. Because the emergency exists now!
 
So now the last straw.
 
The District attempted to pass a final budget on May 30, 2025, and file it with the Dep't no later
than June 1, 2025. But what it sent to the Dep't is not in compliance with law and appropriate
regulations. Let me explain.
 
1. The May 30, 2025 meeting was a special rather than regular meeting of the IVGID BOT. I can
send you a copy of the notice but you can go to the District's web site and confirm this fact for
yourself.
 
2. The document filed with the Dep't which purports to be a final budget, relies upon $4,050,500
of transfers from the District's Utility, Community Services and Beach Funds.
 

8/13/25, 3:10 PM RE: FW: IVGID - It's Alleged Updated Central Services Cost Allocation Plan - Kari Skalsky - Outlook

about:blank?windowId=SecondaryReadingPane1 4/8

mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us


3. Accordingly, these transfers violate NRS 354.613 (which is unlawful) unless they are "for a cost
allocation for employees, equipment or other resources related to the purpose of the enterprise
fund(s) which is approved by the governing body under a nonconsent item that is separately
listed on the agenda for a regular meeting of the governing body."
 
4. This requires the District to adopt a formal central services cost allocation plan pursuant to
NRS 354.8654.
 
5. Which according to NAC 354.8668(8) must be attested to in writing by its CFO.
 
6. But here staff failed to to present a proposed updated annual plan for the BOT to approve at its
May 30, 2025 meeting. Take a close look at the packet of materials prepared by staff in support of
that meeting and nowhere will the Dep't find such a plan.
 
7. And unbelievably, this plan that was not disclosed was approved by the BOT.
 
8. Which makes these transfers voidable because such plans are required to adopted via an tem
that is separately listed on the agenda for a regular meeting of the governing body." Take a
look at the agenda for the May 30, 2025 meeting. First of all, although it does describe approval
of an updated central services cost allocation plan as an agenda item, that item is not separately
stated. Rather it is bundled together with 5 other budget related items.
 
9. But more pointedly, and second, the BOT's approval did not take place at a regular meeting of
the IVGID BOT.
 
10. Given these transfers have not been approved in accordance with NRS 354.613, the
proposed budget is not balanced. Which violates another NRS - NRS 354.723. As well as District
policy [section 1.1 of Policy No. 6.1.0 - "Balanced Budget. The District shall adopt a process that
defines a balanced operating budget, encourages commitment to a balanced budget under
normal circumstances, and provides for disclosure when a deviation from a balanced operating
budget is planned or when it occurs"].
 
11. And the budget as presented is not in compliance with the NRS/NAC. And since today is after
June 1, 2025, the District has failed to adopt a FY 2026
 
12. Which means the Dep't needs to revert to the District's tentative budget which you know I
informed the Dep't is not in compliance with the NRS/NAC. And for the record, the tentative
budget was never approved by the IVGID BOT. Ms. O'Connell created it herself, based upon her
throwing unsubstantiated numbers against the wall, and transmitted it to the Dep't. She asserted
"no harm, no foul" because the BOT could always modify it prior to June 1, 2025.
 
13. Let's go to IVGID Policy No. 18.1.0. This policy states, in part, that "each budget year, the
current Central Service Cost Allocation Plan will be filed with the Nevada Department of
Taxation as required." Has this plan be filed with the Dep't? Because I'm certain it has not,
because as I describe there is no plan, please demand Ms. O'Connell file that plan with the Dep't
forthwithly. Because that's what IVGID policy instructs.
 

8/13/25, 3:10 PM RE: FW: IVGID - It's Alleged Updated Central Services Cost Allocation Plan - Kari Skalsky - Outlook

about:blank?windowId=SecondaryReadingPane1 5/8



14. And while you're making demands on Ms. O'Connell, how about demanding she sign the
written attestation to that plan which is mandated by NAC 354.8668(8), and that she file it with the
Dep't as well? Because if she does this, she will be lying to the public and the Dep't. Which I
believe will be criminal under NRS 354.626(1). Don't you get it that Ms. O'Connell intentionally
refuses to sign an attestation and transmit it to the Dep't because if she does, she knows it will
not be true?
 
15. And it's about time the Dep't starts holding these people liable for violating the NRS and NAC.
Don't you agree?
 
14. And just so we're keeping score, you know that on May 2, 2025 the District was place on
fiscal watch. And as a result, the District is required to share whatever reports the Dep't requests.
So how about demanding the District share its updated central services cost allocation plan which
at the least hasn't been adopted because of the reasons stated above?
 
15. Because the District's transfers from its enterprise funds are unlawful, I ask the Dep't 
make request based upon NAC 354.8668(6) that the District provide a description of the 
methodology used to determine the allocation of costs and a schedule of the current billing 
rates for those costs. 

16. Because the District's transfers from its enterprise funds are unlawful, I ask the Dep't 
make request based upon NAC 354.867(1)(d) that the District produce documentation in 
writing sufficient for independent verification that its central services cost allocation plan 
complies with NAC 354.865-354.867, inclusive.

17. The District's proposed FY 2026 budget sent to the Dep't identifies facility fees as 
"operating income." This is not true. According to the District, and if you want me to provide 
evidence I can, both facility fees reported in the Community Services and Beach enterprise 
funds are standby services charges for the mere availability to pay an add'l user fee and 
use public recreation facilities and the beaches. This is not operating income!

18. By definition standby service charges represent charges for the provider's delivery of 
services to real property. But the District delivers no services to the parcels which are 
involuntarily assessed. Which means the District admits its facility fees are not what it 
represents. So what are they?

19. The CLGF needs to conduct hearings on this very subject because if these facility fees 
are not valid, then we have a severe financial emergency.

20. And just so the Dep't knows, on May 30, 2025 the BOT budgeted for $11,058,230 of 
facility fees. In contrast, it represents $2,249,486. In other words these so called "fees," 
which are involuntarily assessed against all non-exempt property in Incline Village/Crystal 
Bay, represent nearly five times the ad valorem taxes the District has budgeted to receive 
as FY 2026 revenue.

21. The District's Community Services Fund reporting discloses receipt of $1,233,150 in 
facility fee revenue for the current fiscal year. But for FY 2026, the amount increases by 
nearly 482% to $5,947,920. Ad valorem taxes are limited to 3% annual increases. But 
involuntary facility fees can nearly quintruple in a single year and that's okay?

22. The District's Beach Fund reporting discloses receipt of $2,328,600 in facility fee 
revenue for the current fiscal year. But for FY 2026, the amount increases by nearly 220% 

8/13/25, 3:10 PM RE: FW: IVGID - It's Alleged Updated Central Services Cost Allocation Plan - Kari Skalsky - Outlook

about:blank?windowId=SecondaryReadingPane1 6/8



to $5,110,310. Ad valorem taxes are limited to 3% annual increases. But involuntary facility 
fees can more than double in a single year and that's okay?
 
23. Which brings me to NRS 354.613(2) now that you know the District has budgeted to increase
both of these fees. NRS 354.613(2) instructs that "the governing body of a local government may
increase the amount of any fee imposed for the purpose for which an enterprise fund was created
only if the governing body approves the increase under a nonconsent item that is
separately listed on the agenda for a regular meeting of the governing body, and the
governing body determines that:
 
(a) The increase is not prohibited by law;
(b) The increase is necessary for the continuation or expansion of the purpose for which the
enterprise fund was created; and
(c) All fees that are deposited in the enterprise fund are used solely for the purposes for which
the fees are collected.
 
24. You already know this agenda item was approved at special rather than regular meeting of
the District's BOT. Which means the increase is voidable.
 
25. And since it's voidable, the District's proposed budget is not balance. And if not balanced, it
can't be approved. And since June 1, 2025 has come and gone, the District's FY 2026 budget is
not capable of being passed!
 
26. To go along with the fact that the District has never completed a FY 2023 audit in compliance
with NRS 354.624(4) in that what it presented to the Department did not: "includ(e) findings on
compliance with statutes and regulations," nor was it in compliance with those statutes and
regulations, nor does did it include "an expression of opinion on the financial statements.
 
27. And that was after three (3) extensions because the District couldn't complete an audit within
the statutory time limits.
 
28. And now we have the District's FY 2024 and we seem again, it has not been completed. In
fact the District has had five (5) extensions, the last one being on May 6, 2024, and it's still not
enough! The last extension was contingent upon submission of that annual audit to the District's
BOT for its approval no later than June 4, 2025, and submission to the Department no later than
June 11, 2025. As I previously predicted and now we know certain, the District will not be able to
approve a FY 2024 audit by June 4, 2025. We know this because the Open Meeting Law requires
at least three business days' notice of BOT meetings and none has been given for a meeting
either tomorrow or June 4, 2025.
 
29. Residents of Incline Village are tired of hearing the District's lame excuses. At some point in
time it needs to learn that the CLGF is serious because so far, the BOT considers the Dep't a
laughing stock.
 
30. Word has it the reason for the current delay, are staff's efforts to get the District's auditor to
change its FY 2023 disclaimer of opinion. Which isn't going to happen!
 

8/13/25, 3:10 PM RE: FW: IVGID - It's Alleged Updated Central Services Cost Allocation Plan - Kari Skalsky - Outlook

about:blank?windowId=SecondaryReadingPane1 7/8



31. In fact, speaking of auditors, the District has still not designated a FY 2025 auditor or firm, nor
sent the Dep't notification of the auditor or firm within 3 months (March 30, 2025) before the close
of the fiscal year (2025) for which the audit is to be made. As NRS 354.624(3) mandates. 
 
32. Doesn't the CLGF think it's time to step in and designate a FY 2025 auditor on the District's
behalf? Who won't play games the way the District's current auditor has?
 
33. What more does it take? NRS 354.685(1) instructs that "the CLGF may, upon the
recommendation of the Executive Director...conduct one or more hearings to determine whether
a severe financial emergency exists in a local government." I ask that the Executive Director so
direct the CLGF in order to protect the residents and local parcel owners of Incline Village/Crystal
Bay.
 
If such a hearing is ordered, the public will be able to present evidence that
 
(a) The District's facility fee increases are prohibited by law;
(b) They are not necessary for the continuation or expansion of the purposes for which the
enterprise funds from which the District takes were created; and
(c) All facility fees that are deposited in the District's enterprise funds are used solely for the
purposes for which the fees were collected.
 
Rather, they represent nothing more than the financial shortfall between budgeted revenues and
intentional overspending so the District can disingenuously assert a balanced budget.
 
Thank you, Aaron Katz

 

 

8/13/25, 3:10 PM RE: FW: IVGID - It's Alleged Updated Central Services Cost Allocation Plan - Kari Skalsky - Outlook

about:blank?windowId=SecondaryReadingPane1 8/8



Outlook

Request The Executive Director Notify The Washoe County Board of Commissioners

From s4s@ix.netcom.com <s4s@ix.netcom.com>
Date Wed 6/4/2025 1:36 PM
To Patricia Olmstead <polmstead@tax.state.nv.us>
Cc Kelly S. Langley <klangley@tax.state.nv.us>; Chali Spurlock <CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us>

WARNING - This email originated from outside the State of Nevada. Exercise caution when opening
attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders.

Thank you Ms. Olmstead:
 
Based upon NRS 318.515(1), I ask the Executive Director to notify the Washoe County Board of
Commissioners that:
 
(a) A district of which the board of county commissioners is not the board of trustees is not
being properly managed;
(b) The board of trustees of the district is not complying with the provisions of this chapter or
with any other law; and as a result,
 
the board of county commissioners of the county in which the district is located shall hold a
hearing to consider the notification.
 
And can you please confirm that this request has been passed on to the Executive Director?
 
Thank you for your cooperation. Aaron Katz



Outlook

Request The Executive Director Order Public Hearings

From s4s@ix.netcom.com <s4s@ix.netcom.com>
Date Wed 6/4/2025 1:37 PM
To Patricia Olmstead <polmstead@tax.state.nv.us>
Cc Kelly S. Langley <klangley@tax.state.nv.us>; Chali Spurlock <CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us>

WARNING - This email originated from outside the State of Nevada. Exercise caution when opening
attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders.

Thank you Ms. Olmstead:
 
Based upon NRS 354.685(1), I ask the Executive Director recommend to the CLGF that the
latter conduct one or more hearings to determine whether a severe financial emergency exists
in a local government (IVGID). Given one or more of the following conditions exist:
 
(a) Required financial reports have not been filed or are consistently late;
(e) IVGID has not corrected violations of statutes or regulations adopted pursuant thereto as
noted in an audit report only because IVGID has not received an audit report in compliance with
laws and regulations for either FY 2023 or 2024, and IVGID's auditor refuses to include findings
in compliance with statutes or regulation because its engagement letter expressly excludes
such findings placing the responsibility upon IVGID management;
(f) IVGID has serious internal control problems noted in the audit report which have not been
corrected;
(i) IVGID has borrowed money without following the provisions of NRS or regulations adopted
pursuant thereto;
(j) IVGID has failed to correct problems after it has been notified of such problems by the
Department;
(p) IVGID has recognized sizeable losses as a result of the imprudent investment of money;
(q) IVGID has allowed its accounting system and recording of transactions to deteriorate to
such an extent that it is not possible to measure accurately the results of operations or to
ascertain the financial position of the local government without a reconstruction of transactions;
(s) IVGID has loaned and borrowed money between funds without following the proper
procedures;
(t) IVGID has expended money in violation of the provisions (see NRS 205.380 and 205.377)
governing the expenditure of that money;
(u) Money restricted for any specific use has been expended in violation of the terms and
provisions (see NRS 205.300) relating to the receipt and expenditure of that money.
 
And can you please confirm that this request has been passed on to the Executive Director?
 
Thank you for your cooperation. Aaron Katz



Outlook

IVGID - financials for 2024

From cfdobler@aol.com <cfdobler@aol.com>
Date Wed 6/11/2025 9:03 AM
To Kelly S. Langley <klangley@tax.state.nv.us>

1 attachment (17 KB)
Public Comment.docx;

WARNING - This email originated from outside the State of Nevada. Exercise caution when opening
attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders.

On Monday the audit committee review of the financials was a site to behold.  Trying to finesse
what to send off to you with most data being incomplete.

Still a complete package is not done as of this writing.

The report if sent to you will be poor.

They need more time. 

My history on a past audits.  Be complete.

I attach my comments for tonight.

Something may change they still have 7 hours.

Take a look at the agenda items if you want to see a hodge podge. 

Will be at your next meeting with the committee

Cliff Dobler



Public Comment – 6-11-2025 IVGID Boad Meeting by Clifford F. Dobler.  

Substance over form 

• It means that financial statements should reflect the true economic substance of 

a transaction, even if the legal documents suggest a different arrangement. 

• The goal is to provide a true and fair view of a company's financial position and 

performance, preventing misleading representations. 

• Accountants should exercise judgment to understand the underlying business 

purpose and present it accurately in the financial statements 

Moss Adams  January 2021- 4 areas which have not been corrected. 

Rubin Brown – 14 arears of a high risks of fraud 

Davis Farr 
We identified certain deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses 

and other deficiencies that we consider to be significant deficiencies. 

Baker Tilly – How much cash 

All engaged to discover and report poor accounting. 

Staff and Board Members rejected finding and for what purpose. 

Over 4 years Prior Period Adjustments of $7.4 million to write off capital assets to 

expense.  My memos are still not reviewed.  

Disclaimers and now Qualified Opinions 

Internal Controls - Significant Risks Identified  

• Risk of revenue cutoff errors due to the prior year disclaimer of opinions 

• Risk of errors recording capital assets 

• Noncompliance with federal grant programs 

• Fraud risk identified by the forensic due diligence audit. 

•  

• Uncorrected Misstatements -could cause future-period financial statements to 

be materially misstated.   There is said to be a schedule but not included. 

Note 17 – Commitments affecting future periods   - Major mistake in disclosing 

contracts outstanding.. Largest being the effluent pipeline second phase for  

$46,745,000 

 



 



Outlook

Re: IVGID - It's Alleged Final FY 2024 ACFR - Follow Up

From s4s@ix.netcom.com <s4s@ix.netcom.com>
Date Fri 6/13/2025 9:13 AM
To Chali Spurlock <CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us>; Patricia Olmstead <polmstead@tax.state.nv.us>
Cc Kelly S. Langley <klangley@tax.state.nv.us>

WARNING - This email originated from outside the State of Nevada. Exercise caution when opening
attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders.

 
Hello Ms. Spurlock and Ms. Langley -
 
Yesterday I wrote to you (see below) objecting to the draft (rather than final) FY 2024 financial
statements, and the lack of a management representation letter allegedly attached to the
undated DavisFarr management letter included in those attempted filings with the Dep't.
 
Given NRS 354.624(6) instructs that "immediately...after [presentation of the entire report ('the
opinion and findings of the auditor contained in the report of the audit')], together with the
management letter required by generally accepted auditing standards in the United States or by
regulations adopted pursuant to NRS 354.591, (it) must be filed as a public record with: (a) 
The clerk or secretary of the governing body," yesterday morning I made request upon the
IVGID Board's secretary, Heidi White, to examine these documents which had allegedly been
filed. Initially I was provided with nothing other than evidence of my having filed a formal public
records request under NRS 239.0107. When I objected, I was provided with with the draft
documents sent to the Department at 9:44 A.M. the evening of June 11, 2024 (referenced
below). In other words, no management representation letter even though the DavisFarr
management letter provided expressly references an allegedly attached management
representation letter.
 
Given these documents in my view don't satisfy the requirements of NRS 354.624(6), or if
alternatively they do, at the very least they are incomplete, I demanded Ms. White make the
required documents available for my examination no later than noon (on June 12, 2025.
Nothing more was provided. In fact, through and including the date and timing of this follow up
e-mail, nothing more has been provided.
...
Additionally I have gone to the District's web site where this report would have been published if
it were ready for publishing (https://www.yourtahoeplace.com/about-ivgid/financial-
transparency/annual-comprehensive-financial-report/), and nothing has been published. Even
though NRS 354.624(7(d) instructs that "after the report of the audit is filed by the local
government, the report of the audit, including, without limitation, the opinion and findings of the
auditor contained in the report of the audit, may be disseminated by or on behalf of the local
government for which the report was prepared by inclusion, without limitation, in or on...(d) a
website maintained by a local government on the Internet."
 
So on top of every other wrong I have brought to the Department's attention, is this your idea of
the proper filing of the final FY 2024 audit as a public record?
 
Please provide a copy of this communication to Chairperson Leavitt, other honorable members
of the CLGF and Executive Director Hughes. Thank you for your cooperation.

8/13/25, 2:58 PM Re: IVGID - It's Alleged Final FY 2024 ACFR - Follow Up - Kari Skalsky - Outlook

about:blank?windowId=SecondaryReadingPane4 1/2

https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fwww.yourtahoeplace.com%2fabout-ivgid%2ffinancial-transparency%2fannual-comprehensive-financial-report%2f&c=E,1,gYg00Nb0O0mpQXZnJNKzc6k5arx0abV4zpQfHbZ7GStlwjZlC6O879C40Vr1FGMEsnEpIxx10-taEstYWbAi2hnwoLC37ZrTjKWYTRAott9p9aUO8JHwO1A,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fwww.yourtahoeplace.com%2fabout-ivgid%2ffinancial-transparency%2fannual-comprehensive-financial-report%2f&c=E,1,gYg00Nb0O0mpQXZnJNKzc6k5arx0abV4zpQfHbZ7GStlwjZlC6O879C40Vr1FGMEsnEpIxx10-taEstYWbAi2hnwoLC37ZrTjKWYTRAott9p9aUO8JHwO1A,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fwww.yourtahoeplace.com%2fabout-ivgid%2ffinancial-transparency%2fannual-comprehensive-financial-report%2f&c=E,1,gYg00Nb0O0mpQXZnJNKzc6k5arx0abV4zpQfHbZ7GStlwjZlC6O879C40Vr1FGMEsnEpIxx10-taEstYWbAi2hnwoLC37ZrTjKWYTRAott9p9aUO8JHwO1A,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fwww.yourtahoeplace.com%2fabout-ivgid%2ffinancial-transparency%2fannual-comprehensive-financial-report%2f&c=E,1,gYg00Nb0O0mpQXZnJNKzc6k5arx0abV4zpQfHbZ7GStlwjZlC6O879C40Vr1FGMEsnEpIxx10-taEstYWbAi2hnwoLC37ZrTjKWYTRAott9p9aUO8JHwO1A,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fwww.yourtahoeplace.com%2fabout-ivgid%2ffinancial-transparency%2fannual-comprehensive-financial-report%2f&c=E,1,gYg00Nb0O0mpQXZnJNKzc6k5arx0abV4zpQfHbZ7GStlwjZlC6O879C40Vr1FGMEsnEpIxx10-taEstYWbAi2hnwoLC37ZrTjKWYTRAott9p9aUO8JHwO1A,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fwww.yourtahoeplace.com%2fabout-ivgid%2ffinancial-transparency%2fannual-comprehensive-financial-report%2f&c=E,1,gYg00Nb0O0mpQXZnJNKzc6k5arx0abV4zpQfHbZ7GStlwjZlC6O879C40Vr1FGMEsnEpIxx10-taEstYWbAi2hnwoLC37ZrTjKWYTRAott9p9aUO8JHwO1A,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fwww.yourtahoeplace.com%2fabout-ivgid%2ffinancial-transparency%2fannual-comprehensive-financial-report%2f&c=E,1,gYg00Nb0O0mpQXZnJNKzc6k5arx0abV4zpQfHbZ7GStlwjZlC6O879C40Vr1FGMEsnEpIxx10-taEstYWbAi2hnwoLC37ZrTjKWYTRAott9p9aUO8JHwO1A,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fwww.yourtahoeplace.com%2fabout-ivgid%2ffinancial-transparency%2fannual-comprehensive-financial-report%2f&c=E,1,gYg00Nb0O0mpQXZnJNKzc6k5arx0abV4zpQfHbZ7GStlwjZlC6O879C40Vr1FGMEsnEpIxx10-taEstYWbAi2hnwoLC37ZrTjKWYTRAott9p9aUO8JHwO1A,&typo=1


 
Aaron Katz
 

-----Original Message-----
From: <s4s@ix.netcom.com>
Sent: Jun 12, 2025 10:09 AM
To: <CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us>, Patricia Olmstead <polmstead@tax.state.nv.us>
Cc: <klangley@tax.state.nv.us>
Subject: IVGID - It's Alleged Final FY 2024 ACFR

 
Hello Ms. Spurlock and Ms. Langley -
 
I am in receipt of the e-mail and attachments sent to you last evening at 9:44 P.M. by Jessica
O'Connell insofar as the District's FY 2024 ACFR.
 
I take exception because they do not comply with NRS 354.624.
 
What does Ms. O'Connell tell you she has submitted? "Draft Financials...Management
Representation letter will be included in Final Financial Statements."
 
Does not NRS 354.624(6) instruct that "the...entire (final)...opinion and findings of the auditor
contained in the report of the audit...together with the management letter required by
generally accepted auditing standards in the United States or by regulations adopted
pursuant to NRS 354.594, must be filed as a public record with...the Department of
Taxation?"
 
She hasn't complied! The public demands the final financials. Not draft ones Ms. O'Connell
admitted yesterday the District was still working on. Furthermore, where is "the management
letter required by GAAS?" That's NOT the "management representation letter" to which she
refers. And even if it were, where is it?
 
The Dep't's last extension grant mandated that final audited financials be presented to the
IVGID Board no later than June 4, 2025. And since these financials still haven't been created,
let alone presented to the IVGID Board, that's supposed to be compliance? These people are
so committed to slapping together something, by the extended submittal date to the Dep't,
rather than the truth, and you don't make a peep?
 
I'm going to have more to say about these financials once we have final versions as the
District has complied with its requirements under the NRS and as imposed by the
Department. However for now, the District has still not complied! Please provide a copy of this
communication to Chairperson Leavitt, other honorable members of the CLGF and Executive
Director Hughes.
 
Thank you, Aaron Katz

 

8/13/25, 2:58 PM Re: IVGID - It's Alleged Final FY 2024 ACFR - Follow Up - Kari Skalsky - Outlook

about:blank?windowId=SecondaryReadingPane4 2/2

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/nrs/nrs-354.html#NRS354Sec594
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/nrs/nrs-354.html#NRS354Sec594
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/nrs/nrs-354.html#NRS354Sec594
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/nrs/nrs-354.html#NRS354Sec594


Incline Village General Improvement District 
Incline Village General Improvement District is a fiscally responsible community partner which provides superior utility services and community-oriented 

recreation programs and facilities with passion for the quality of life and our environment while investing in the Tahoe basin. 
893 Southwood Boulevard, Incline Village, Nevada 89451 • (775) 832-1100 • EMAIL: info@ivgid.org 

www.yourtahoeplace.com 

 
 

 
 

The Special Meeting of the Incline Village General Improvement District (IVGID) Board of Trustees will be held Starting at 5:00 PM 
on April 14, 2025, in the Boardroom, 893 Southwood Boulevard, Incline Village, Nevada. 
 
Public Comment 
Public comment is welcomed during Public Comment Periods and is Limited to 3 minutes per person per Public Comment Period. 
Unused time may not be allocated to other speakers. A speaker’s viewpoint will not be restricted; however, reasonable restrictions 
may be imposed upon the time, place, and manner of speech. Irrelevant statements, unduly repetitious statements, and personal 
attacks that would objectively antagonize or incite others are examples of speech that may be reasonably limited. Not to include 
comments on General Business items with scheduled public comments. The Board of Trustees may address matters brought up during 
public comments at the conclusion of the comment period but may not deliberate on any non-agendized item.  
 
Members of the Public are welcome to provide Public Comment by Telephone at (877) 853-5247 and in the Civic Plus Portal at 
https://ivgid.portal.civicclerk.com/event/659/overview (the Webinar ID will be Posted to the District Website on the Day of the 
Meeting). The Meeting will be Available for viewing at https://ivgid.portal.civicclerk.com/. 

 
A.  PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE*    
    

 

B.  ROLL CALL OF TRUSTEES*    
    

 

C.  INITIAL PUBLIC COMMENTS Public comments are welcomed during Public Comment Periods and are limited to 3 minutes per person per 
Public Comment Period. Unused time may not be allocated to other speakers. A speaker’s viewpoint will not be restricted; however, reasonable restrictions 
may be imposed upon the time, place, and manner of speech. Irrelevant statements, unduly repetitious statements, and personal attacks that would objectively 
antagonize or incite others are examples of speech that may be reasonably limited. Not to include comments on General Business items with scheduled 
public comments. The Board of Trustees may address matters brought up during public comments at the conclusion of the comment period but may not 
deliberate on any non-agendized item. Members of the public are welcome to provide public comments by telephone at (877) 853-5247 and in the Civic Plus 
Portal at https://ivgid.portal.civicclerk.com/ (the Webinar ID will be posted to the District Website on the day of the Meeting). The meeting will be available 
for viewing at https://ivgid.portal.civicclerk.com/event/659/overview.   

    
 

D.  APPROVAL OF AGENDA (for possible action)  
The Board of Trustees may make a motion for a flexible agenda, which is defined as taking items on the agenda out of order; combining agenda items with 
other agenda items; removing items from the agenda; moving agenda items to an agenda of another meeting or voting on items in a block.  
-OR- The Board of Trustees may make a motion to accept and follow the agenda as submitted/posted.   

    
 

E.  GENERAL BUSINESS (for possible action)   
    

 

   

 1.  SUBJECT: Review, Discuss and Approve Additional Play Pass Options along with season Pass Sales 
Incentives and Rate Adjustment to the Pricing of the PM Season Pass. (Requesting Staff Member: Senior 
Head Golf Professional Rob Bruce) 

   
Recommendation for Action: That the Board of Trustees make a Motion to Approve the Additional Play 
Pass options along with the Season Pass Incentives and Price update to the PM Season Pass for the 2025 
Season. 

 
    

 

    2.  SUBJECT: Review, discuss and approve the District's Tentative Budget as filed on Nevada State Form 
4404LGF. (Requesting Staff Member: Director of Finance Jessica O'Connell) 

mailto:info@ivgid.org
mailto:info@ivgid.org
mailto:info@ivgid.org
mailto:info@ivgid.org
https://ivgid.portal.civicclerk.com/event/549/overview
https://ivgid.portal.civicclerk.com/event/549/overview
https://ivgid.portal.civicclerk.com/event/549/overview
https://ivgid.portal.civicclerk.com/event/549/overview
https://ivgid.portal.civicclerk.com/
https://ivgid.portal.civicclerk.com/
https://ivgid.portal.civicclerk.com/
https://ivgid.portal.civicclerk.com/


 
 

 
Agenda for the Board Meeting of April 14, 2025 - Page 2 

 

Incline Village General Improvement District 
Incline Village General Improvement District is a fiscally responsible community partner which provides superior utility services and community-oriented 

recreation programs and facilities with passion for the quality of life and our environment while investing in the Tahoe basin. 
893 Southwood Boulevard, Incline Village, Nevada 89451 • (775) 832-1100 • EMAIL: info@ivgid.org 

www.yourtahoeplace.com 

   
Recommendation for Action: That the Board of Trustees make a Motion to Approve the District's 
Tentative Budget as filed on Nevada State Form 4404LGF. 

 
    

 

F.  FINAL PUBLIC COMMENTS - Limited to a maximum of three minutes in duration.    
    

 

G.  ADJOURNMENT (for possible action)   
    

 

  
CERTIFICATION OF POSTING OF THIS AGENDA 
I hereby certify that on or before 9:00 AM on Wednesday, April 9, 2025, a copy of this agenda (IVGID Board of Trustees Session of April 14, 2025) was delivered to 
the post office addressed to the people who have requested to receive copies of IVGID’s agendas; copies were e-mailed to those people who have requested; and a copy 
was posted, physically or electronically, at the following locations in accordance with Assembly Bill 213: 

1. IVGID Anne Vorderbruggen Building (893 Southwood Boulevard, Incline Village, Nevada; Administrative Offices) 
2. IVGID’s website (www.yourtahoeplace.com/ivgid/board-of-trustees/meetings-and-agendas) 
3. IVGID's CivicPlus Portal (https://ivgid.portal.civicclerk.com/) 
4. State of Nevada public noticing website (https://notice.nv.gov/) 
5. IVGID's Recreation Center (980 Incline Way, Incline Village, Nevada) 

 
Persons may request copies of all agenda Materials by contacting the District Clerk or by visiting the Administrative Offices at the address listed above. 

 /s/ Heidi H. White  
Heidi H. White  
District Clerk (e-mail: hhw@ivgid.org/phone # 775-832-1268) 

 

IVGID Board of Trustees: Board Chair Michaela Tonking, Vice-Chair Michelle Jezycki, Treasurer Mick Homan, Secretary Dave Noble and Trustee Raymond Tulloch 
Notes: Items on the agenda may be taken out of order; combined with other items; removed from the agenda; moved to the agenda of another meeting; moved to or 
from the Consent Calendar section; or may be voted on in a block. Items with a specific time designation will not be heard prior to the stated time but may be heard 
later. Those items followed by an asterisk (*) are items on the agenda upon which the Board of Trustees will take no action. Members of the public who are disabled 
and require special accommodations or assistance at the meeting are requested to call IVGID at 832-1100 at least 24 hours prior to the meeting. IVGID'S agenda 
packets are available at IVGID's website, www.yourtahoeplace.com; go to "Board Meetings and Agendas”. 
 

mailto:info@ivgid.org
mailto:info@ivgid.org
mailto:info@ivgid.org
mailto:info@ivgid.org
https://www.yourtahoeplace.com/ivgid/board-of-trustees/meetings-and-agendas
https://www.yourtahoeplace.com/ivgid/board-of-trustees/meetings-and-agendas
https://www.yourtahoeplace.com/ivgid/board-of-trustees/meetings-and-agendas
https://www.yourtahoeplace.com/ivgid/board-of-trustees/meetings-and-agendas
https://ivgid.portal.civicclerk.com/
https://ivgid.portal.civicclerk.com/
https://ivgid.portal.civicclerk.com/
https://ivgid.portal.civicclerk.com/
https://notice.nv.gov/
https://notice.nv.gov/
https://notice.nv.gov/
https://notice.nv.gov/


Outlook

FW: IVGID's auditor - violation of NRS 354.624

From Tax-Public Information Officer <taxpio@tax.state.nv.us>
Date Fri 6/13/2025 9:39 AM
To Kelly S. Langley <klangley@tax.state.nv.us>

Hi Kelly,
 
Do you think we need to send this to our DAG?
 
From: J <j.gumz1@gmail.com>
Sent: Friday, June 13, 2025 9:28 AM
To: Chali Spurlock <CSpurlock@tax.state.nv.us>; Kelly S. Langley <klangley@tax.state.nv.us>; Tax-Public
Information Officer <taxpio@tax.state.nv.us>; Shellie Hughes <shughes@tax.state.nv.us>
Subject: IVGID's auditor - violation of NRS 354.624
 

WARNING - This email originated from outside the State of Nevada. Exercise caution when opening
attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders.

This is a formal notice of a statutory violation involving the Incline Village General Improvement
District (IVGID) and its auditor, Davis Farr LLP. Please confirm receipt and distribution to all Local
Govt Finance Committee members.

NRS 354.624 requires that audits of local governments in Nevada be conducted by a CPA or
firm “registered pursuant to chapter 628 of NRS.” Davis Farr LLP, which has served as IVGID’s
auditor, is not currently registered with the Nevada State Board of Accountancy as required by
law.

8/13/25, 3:02 PM FW: IVGID's auditor - violation of NRS 354.624 - Kari Skalsky - Outlook

about:blank?windowId=SecondaryReadingPane1 1/2



 
Supporting Facts:

Davis Farr LLP issued a “Disclaimer of Opinion” for IVGID’s FY2022-23 audit. Davis Farr
WAS NOT PROPERLY REGISTERED AT THE TIME - this was a violation of NRS 354.624.
Public records indicate Davis Farr’s Nevada registration lapsed 6-30-2023.

IVGID has failed to designate a new auditor as of the statutory deadline (March 31,
2025), as required by NRS 354.624(3).

Despite this, IVGID continues to submit audit documents to the Department of
Taxation as if they were completed in compliance with state law.

 
Request for Action:

 I request that the Department of Taxation take appropriate action, including rejecting
any audit submissions not conducted by a properly registered firm and requiring IVGID
to engage a compliant auditor.
Please also clarify for the public and for IVGID the statutory requirements for audit firm
registration to prevent future violations.  It is apparent that NASBA is providing
INACCURATE INFORMATION: https://www.alllibrary.com/license/list_license?id=32

 
Inaction is complicity in not following Nevada law.
 
J. Gumz

8/13/25, 3:02 PM FW: IVGID's auditor - violation of NRS 354.624 - Kari Skalsky - Outlook

about:blank?windowId=SecondaryReadingPane1 2/2

https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fwww.alllibrary.com%2flicense%2flist_license%3fid%3d32&c=E,1,gHpY3FyJ4XeCHUVpHz9JGQAJWbYxgt3gXZ-VGmev833C9xgPRMPxz3d3yBrKayBhzjypi8VhFzJHHmI2q1rPqxzHRcLyI3GzFJOjoQwLRRp25w9ylXM,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fwww.alllibrary.com%2flicense%2flist_license%3fid%3d32&c=E,1,gHpY3FyJ4XeCHUVpHz9JGQAJWbYxgt3gXZ-VGmev833C9xgPRMPxz3d3yBrKayBhzjypi8VhFzJHHmI2q1rPqxzHRcLyI3GzFJOjoQwLRRp25w9ylXM,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fwww.alllibrary.com%2flicense%2flist_license%3fid%3d32&c=E,1,gHpY3FyJ4XeCHUVpHz9JGQAJWbYxgt3gXZ-VGmev833C9xgPRMPxz3d3yBrKayBhzjypi8VhFzJHHmI2q1rPqxzHRcLyI3GzFJOjoQwLRRp25w9ylXM,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fwww.alllibrary.com%2flicense%2flist_license%3fid%3d32&c=E,1,gHpY3FyJ4XeCHUVpHz9JGQAJWbYxgt3gXZ-VGmev833C9xgPRMPxz3d3yBrKayBhzjypi8VhFzJHHmI2q1rPqxzHRcLyI3GzFJOjoQwLRRp25w9ylXM,&typo=1




















From: s4s@ix.netcom.com
To: Patricia Olmstead
Cc: Kelly S. Langley
Subject: Re: Fw: Public Record Request - IVGID - Its FY 2026 Central Services Cost Allocation Plan, Increased Enterprise

Fund Rates and Charges Improperly Adopted, Noncompliance With Statutes and Regulations
Date: Friday, August 15, 2025 2:34:35 PM
Attachments: image.png

image.png

WARNING - This email originated from outside the State of Nevada. Exercise caution when
opening attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders.

Thank you Ms. Olmstead -

 

Are you looking Kelly Langley?

 

Do you care what the law says?

 

Take a look at Mr. Harrison's rates and charges memo given to me by Ms. Olmstead.
His words. Not mine.

 

1. Rec Fee per parcel for 2024-25. A combined $450.

2. Rec Fee per parcel for 2025-26. A combined $1,375.

3. In other words, a more than 200% increase in a single year! Because unlike an ad
valorem tax, the Rec Fee can be increased as high as BOT members are willing to
go. There are no limits.

4. Assigned to two District enterprise funds.

5. At a special rather than regular meeting of the IVGID BOT.

6. An alleged standby service charge for the mere availability for those real properties
which are assessed to access and use public recreation and beach facilities. Not a
facility fee. But rather, exactly what I have described.

 

And consider the following:

 

7. The District has not sent the Dep't its Resolution 1917, nor the NRS 318.201(1)
report incorporated therein. If it had, or if you made request therefore from the District,
you would learn that what I represent is fact.

mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us










8. Does anyone at the Dep't know what a standby service charge for the availability of
service (and not facilities) really is? Does anyone know how it differs from what the
District tells the public the Rec Fee really is? Don't you think you need to find out?
Why don't you ask the Deputy Attorney General assigned to the Dep't?

9. Now consider the District's admissions. Namely, that IVGID's Rec Fee is the
product of non-exchange transactions. Because those whose properties are
assessed realize nothing of special benefit in consideration of forced payment. As I've
pointed out to you and Chair Leavitt, IVGID's 2024 ACFR makes this admission. As
did its previous auditor, Jennifer Farr. As did its auditor before Ms. Farr, Dan Carter.
As did consultant Moss-Adams.

10. How many times do you have to hear professionals tell you what IVGID's Rec Fee
really is, before you get the message?

11. Now go to GASB 33. Doesn't this tell the Dep't what non-exchange transactions
represent? Isn't it clear they don't represent what District staff tell the public they do?
What more do you need to see?

12. Now let's go to IVGID's latest ACFR. Where are findings of compliance with law
and regulations? Doesn't this omission mean the District hasn't complied with the
requirements of NRS 354.624(4)? Given this NRS instructs that:

(a) Each annual audit must...be a financial audit conducted in accordance with
generally accepted auditing standards in the United States, including findings on
compliance with statutes and regulations;" and,

(b) NRS 354.624(1) instructs that "if the local government fails to provide for an audit
in accordance with the provisions of this section, the Department of Taxation
shall cause the audit to be made at the expense of the local government."  

13. And does anyone on the CLGF care that IVGID is financially surviving only
because it's stealing over $11.3M annually from its approximate 8,264 local parcel
owners? Take away this invalid special tax against property, and the District is
insolvent!

14. All at a time when it is under "fiscal watch." Is anyone at the CLGF watching?

 

Mr. Harrison's memo was contributed to by Jessica O'Connell. This is the same
person who willfully refused to put her signature to a written attestation to the District's
so called central service cost allocation plan in clear violation of NAC 354.8668(8).
And didn't she only recently come up with a "so called" plan 19 days after she
bamboozled IVGID's BOT into approving a plan members never even saw? Because
it hadn't been created.

 

At a special meeting of IVGID's BOT no less. When NRS 354.613(1)(c) mandates it
take place at a regular meeting. And all of this is supposed to be in compliance with
the NRS/NAC?

 

Essentially nothing these people do is in compliance with statutes and regulations.



Which means the IVGID BOT is not capable of properly managing the District. Which
means Executive Director Hughes should be initiating proceedings:

(a) To notify the Washoe County Board of Commissioners requesting they initiate
hearings pursuant to NRS 318.515(1);

(b) To declare a "severe financial emergency" in Incline Village/Crystal Bay; and,

 

Seeking criminal prosecution under NRS 354.626(1). Against District BOT members
as co-principals (NRS 195.020) and/or accessories (NRS 195.030).

 

How about sharing this e-mail with Executive Director Hughes, CLGF Chair Leavitt,
and the remaining members of the CLGF? In the hope they'll do something.

 

Thank you for your cooperation, Aaron Katz

 

-----Original Message-----
From: Patricia Olmstead <polmstead@tax.state.nv.us>
Sent: Aug 15, 2025 11:50 AM
To: s4s@ix.netcom.com <s4s@ix.netcom.com>
Cc: Kelly S. Langley <klangley@tax.state.nv.us>
Subject: Fw: Public Record Request - IVGID - Its FY 2026 Central Services Cost
Allocation Plan

 

Mr, Katz,
 
Your email and documents have been forwarded to Director Hughes and Chairman Leavitt.
 
Sincerely,
 

 

Patricia Olmstead

Public Information Officer

Nevada Department of Taxation

9850 Double R Blvd.

Phone: 775-687-9998



Email: polmstead@tax.state.nv.us

 

Mailing Address:

3850 Arrowhead Drive

Carson City, NV 89706

Find careers at: NVAPPS Jobs

 

CONFIDENTIALITY STATEMENT: This e-mail and any attachments are intended only for those to which it is addressed and
may contain information which is privileged, confidential and prohibited from disclosure and unauthorized use under applicable law.
If you are not the intended recipient of this e-mail, you are hereby notified that any use, dissemination, or copying of this e-mail or the
information contained in this e-mail is strictly prohibited by the sender. If you have received this transmission in error, please return
the material received to the sender and delete all copies from your system.

 

From: s4s@ix.netcom.com <s4s@ix.netcom.com>
Sent: Wednesday, August 13, 2025 12:04 PM
To: Patricia Olmstead <polmstead@tax.state.nv.us>; Patricia Olmstead
<polmstead@tax.state.nv.us>
Cc: Kelly S. Langley <klangley@tax.state.nv.us>
Subject: Fw: Public Record Request - IVGID - Its FY 2026 Central Services Cost Allocation Plan
 

WARNING - This email originated from outside the State of Nevada. Exercise caution
when opening attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders.

Hello Ms. Olmstead and Ms. Langley -

 

Please pass this e-mail and attachments onto Executive Director Hughes and
CLGF Chair Leavitt, now rather than later, in the hope the CLGF calls a special
meeting to deal with the following (isn't it time to conduct hearings to declare a
"severe financial emergency?" To protect the local parcel owners of Incline
Village/Crystal Bay who are being prejudiced). And will you please acknowledge
back to me that you've passed on this e-mail and attachments as I have requested?

 

As the CLGF knows, I have accused IVGID staff of massive theft at local parcel
owners' expense. And here I'd like to share some evidence about what I'm talking
about. In the hope the CLGF will do something.

 

mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
https://nvapps.state.nv.us/NEATS/Recruiting/ViewJobsHome.aep
https://nvapps.state.nv.us/NEATS/Recruiting/ViewJobsHome.aep
https://nvapps.state.nv.us/NEATS/Recruiting/ViewJobsHome.aep
https://nvapps.state.nv.us/NEATS/Recruiting/ViewJobsHome.aep


It's called NRS 354.613(1) central service cost transfers from three of the District's
enterprise funds (Utility, Community Services and Beach) to its General Fund.
Which according to me covers the financial shortfall between budgeted revenues
and intentional overspending assigned to the District's General Fund. And in this
regard, the 4 District Trustees who formally approved these transfers are co-
principals (see NRS 195.020) and/or accessories (see NRS 195.030).

 

So let's deal with facts. As the CLGF can see below, I previously asked the
Department's public records officer ("PRO") to examine "the central services cost
allocation plan adopted by IVGID for FY 2026" on May 30, 2025. And how did she
respond? As the CLGF can see below, three documents were provided which are
included in this e-mail. What I find most interesting, and I will discuss it below, is the
spreadsheet captioned "summary of allocations." And what's so interesting? The
info detail of the document discloses it was not even created until June 18, 2025.
Which was nearly 3 weeks after the IVGID BOT actually approved the plan on May
30, 2025. In other words neither this document nor the figures contained therein
were shared with the IVGID BOT prior to the latter's approval of this so called Plan.
And again, to prove this assertion, here is the packet of materials presented to the
BOT (go to https://ivgid.portal.civicclerk.com/event/646/overview) prior to its formal
adoption of the so called Plan.

 

And to put matters into perspective, it's my position no proposed central service
cost allocation plan was presented to the IVGID BOT for approval on May 30, 2025.
So on May 31, 2025 I made a formal public records request with IVGID to examine
that so called Plan. In part I asked as follows: "2. At yesterday's BOT meeting, the
BOT approved and adopted an updated central services cost allocation 'plan' that
charges $4.05 million annually to the Utility, Community Services, and Beach
Funds. Since the District is required to approve a written plan, and you know it's my
position staff never presented such writing to the BOT for approval, I would like to
examine the written 'plan' which was actually approved." This request was
assigned Public Records Request ("PRR") 25-47, and it can be examined in full at
https://ivgid.nextrequest.com/requests/25-47.

 

So you see, the only reason Jessica O'Connell prepared the "summary of
allocations" attached to this e-mail, is because of my PRR! That's why my request
to Ms. Olmstead asked for written communications between anyone at the Dep't
and anyone at IVGID accompanying and in any way referring to IVGID's central
service cost allocation plan. And why so far, none have been provided!

 

Moreover, what's interesting to me is that the records the subject of my PRR 25-47
have still not been provided (this can be confirmed at
https://ivgid.nextrequest.com/requests/25-47). Even though 2-1/2 months have
elapsed, and NRS 239.0107(1) instructs that they were supposed to have been
made available for my examination, assuming they actually existed, within five (5)
business days of my request ("not later than the end of the fifth business day after
the date on which the person who has legal custody or control of a public book or
record of a governmental entity receives a written or oral request from a person to
inspect, copy or receive a copy of the public book or record, a governmental entity

https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.portal.civicclerk.com%2fevent%2f646%2foverview&c=E,1,32xFPIHpIaSxqsepBBk-5ISraWMfewlY9a7H8Q4Inhc4FeLpqzxuDqJXGoB10k_jisqbmBo9Jz4N_d28dgY9EZDme0ydxIyRXAoguZXCinssHjk,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.portal.civicclerk.com%2fevent%2f646%2foverview&c=E,1,32xFPIHpIaSxqsepBBk-5ISraWMfewlY9a7H8Q4Inhc4FeLpqzxuDqJXGoB10k_jisqbmBo9Jz4N_d28dgY9EZDme0ydxIyRXAoguZXCinssHjk,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.portal.civicclerk.com%2fevent%2f646%2foverview&c=E,1,32xFPIHpIaSxqsepBBk-5ISraWMfewlY9a7H8Q4Inhc4FeLpqzxuDqJXGoB10k_jisqbmBo9Jz4N_d28dgY9EZDme0ydxIyRXAoguZXCinssHjk,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.portal.civicclerk.com%2fevent%2f646%2foverview&c=E,1,32xFPIHpIaSxqsepBBk-5ISraWMfewlY9a7H8Q4Inhc4FeLpqzxuDqJXGoB10k_jisqbmBo9Jz4N_d28dgY9EZDme0ydxIyRXAoguZXCinssHjk,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.nextrequest.com%2frequests%2f25-47&c=E,1,gucoV3cZ5RRSdZyMpt3za9ogMuwiwws0EqemLnq9_WZVMDKzfAtLMMoixBDBKlyPkonpUQ3wbsJVZtV_mALLyH1iq5W3kV1gigP_IhvPcg,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.nextrequest.com%2frequests%2f25-47&c=E,1,gucoV3cZ5RRSdZyMpt3za9ogMuwiwws0EqemLnq9_WZVMDKzfAtLMMoixBDBKlyPkonpUQ3wbsJVZtV_mALLyH1iq5W3kV1gigP_IhvPcg,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.nextrequest.com%2frequests%2f25-47&c=E,1,gucoV3cZ5RRSdZyMpt3za9ogMuwiwws0EqemLnq9_WZVMDKzfAtLMMoixBDBKlyPkonpUQ3wbsJVZtV_mALLyH1iq5W3kV1gigP_IhvPcg,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.nextrequest.com%2frequests%2f25-47&c=E,1,gucoV3cZ5RRSdZyMpt3za9ogMuwiwws0EqemLnq9_WZVMDKzfAtLMMoixBDBKlyPkonpUQ3wbsJVZtV_mALLyH1iq5W3kV1gigP_IhvPcg,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.nextrequest.com%2frequests%2f25-47&c=E,1,zA_5ob_o_47ihpehJjyGHLw-UO4lDePP5L0UeBauPRXTEJHts-lrYRjE7EOED30Si6fvLM825sYb5blyXz6C_ivNwaXwCxKYmEqL5Fm4fIzIAaE,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.nextrequest.com%2frequests%2f25-47&c=E,1,zA_5ob_o_47ihpehJjyGHLw-UO4lDePP5L0UeBauPRXTEJHts-lrYRjE7EOED30Si6fvLM825sYb5blyXz6C_ivNwaXwCxKYmEqL5Fm4fIzIAaE,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.nextrequest.com%2frequests%2f25-47&c=E,1,zA_5ob_o_47ihpehJjyGHLw-UO4lDePP5L0UeBauPRXTEJHts-lrYRjE7EOED30Si6fvLM825sYb5blyXz6C_ivNwaXwCxKYmEqL5Fm4fIzIAaE,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.nextrequest.com%2frequests%2f25-47&c=E,1,zA_5ob_o_47ihpehJjyGHLw-UO4lDePP5L0UeBauPRXTEJHts-lrYRjE7EOED30Si6fvLM825sYb5blyXz6C_ivNwaXwCxKYmEqL5Fm4fIzIAaE,&typo=1


shall do one of the following, as applicable...If a public book or record of a
governmental entity is readily available for inspection or copying, the person who
has legal custody or control of the public book or record shall allow a person who
has submitted a request to inspect, copy or receive a copy of a public book or
record as expeditiously as practicable"). Yes NRS 239.0107(1)(c)(1) allowed the
District to "provide to the person, in writing, notice of the fact that it (wa)s unable to
make the public book or record available by that date," it was also required to
provide "the earliest date and time after which the governmental entity reasonably
believe(d) the (requested) public book or record w(ould) be available for the person
to inspect or copy or after which a copy of the public book or record w(ould) be
available to the person." However here, IVGID did none of this. It just hasn't
provided the requested books and records! And like I said, 2-1/2 months have
elapsed.

 

Let's deal with some additional facts. Although the District attempts to justify these
transfers as legitimate allocated central service costs, I choose to call them what
they really are. A financial subsidy which represents the difference between
budgeted revenues and intentional overspending assigned to the District's General
Fund. So let's see if I'm right. Have Kelly Langley share the District's final FY 2026
filed with the Dep't. Go to page 7 of form 4404LGF, schedule B-9, and there the
CLGF will see the District has budgeted to receive $4,512,486 in revenue. Now go
to page 8 of that form, schedule B-10, and there the CLGF will see the District has
budgeted to expend $8,553,470. The difference (i.e., shortfall) between the two is
$4,040,984. Now let's return to page 7, schedule B-9. There the CLGF will see the
amount of central service cost transfers. And that number is $4,050,500. Now let's
compare the financial shortfall to the amount of central service cost transfers. There
within $9,500 of one another. Coincidental? Or have IVGID staff concocted a
formula which happens to yield the number the District requires to balance its
General Fund?

 

Let's continue, shall we?

 

When was the District supposed to have adopted an updated central services cost
allocation plan assuming its General Fund relied upon funds transferred from its
enterprise funds? According to NAC 354.8668(7)(c)(a), "before...the date on which
the local government submit(ted) its tentative budget to the Department." And when
was that date? According to NRS 354.596(2), April 15.

 

How was the District supposed to have adopted an updated central services cost
allocation plan? According to NRS 354.613(1)(c), given the District's so call Plan
represents "a cost allocation for employees, equipment or other resources related
to the purpose of the enterprise fund(s from which transfers are proposed to be
made) which is approved by the governing body under a nonconsent item that is
separately listed on the agenda for a regular meeting of the governing body."
But the May 30, 2025 meeting of IVGID's BOT where the so called Plan was
approved, was a special meeting. That's right! This truism can be confirmed by
examining the notice District staff published for that meeting (go to
https://ivgid.portal.civicclerk.com/event/646/files/agenda/1362).

https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.portal.civicclerk.com%2fevent%2f646%2ffiles%2fagenda%2f1362&c=E,1,HfqZOJ-UwQ4RFyJIZp8_4WEzRkKga2H-nmjg8ETzUjTaz4cmBeOHnYf3K-c5JinXrEWUqGEx77jN5jloapRMowcV5IGtR_qeyi6LGgTOy9axBelp&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.portal.civicclerk.com%2fevent%2f646%2ffiles%2fagenda%2f1362&c=E,1,HfqZOJ-UwQ4RFyJIZp8_4WEzRkKga2H-nmjg8ETzUjTaz4cmBeOHnYf3K-c5JinXrEWUqGEx77jN5jloapRMowcV5IGtR_qeyi6LGgTOy9axBelp&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.portal.civicclerk.com%2fevent%2f646%2ffiles%2fagenda%2f1362&c=E,1,HfqZOJ-UwQ4RFyJIZp8_4WEzRkKga2H-nmjg8ETzUjTaz4cmBeOHnYf3K-c5JinXrEWUqGEx77jN5jloapRMowcV5IGtR_qeyi6LGgTOy9axBelp&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.portal.civicclerk.com%2fevent%2f646%2ffiles%2fagenda%2f1362&c=E,1,HfqZOJ-UwQ4RFyJIZp8_4WEzRkKga2H-nmjg8ETzUjTaz4cmBeOHnYf3K-c5JinXrEWUqGEx77jN5jloapRMowcV5IGtR_qeyi6LGgTOy9axBelp&typo=1


 

Now was approval of this so called Plan separately listed on the agenda for this
meeting? Take a look at the agenda under paragraph G, General Business (for
possible action). Do you see possible adoption of a central service cost allocation
plan? No you don't.

 

Go back to paragraph E of the agenda; "Public Hearing for the Incline Village
General Improvement District Fiscal Year 2025/2026 Operating and Capital
Improvement Projects Budget of which there are six (6) components." Do you see
the NRS 241.020(3)(d)(2) magic necessary words "for possible action" ("written
notice of all meetings must...include...a list describing the items on which action
may be taken and clearly denoting that action may be taken on those items by
placing the term “for possible action” next to the appropriate item") next to the
appropriate item? No you don't.

 

Was approval "separately listed?" No. The District's proffered central service cost
allocation plan was bundled together with five (5) other components.

 

Did the District's chief financial officer prepare an attestation in accordance with
NAC 354.8668(8) which clearly stated "that the (so called proffered) central service
cost allocation plan complies with the provisions of NAC 354.865 to 354.867,
inclusive?" Did she sign it?

 

Without going into the particulars of whether Ms. O'Connell's so called central
service cost allocation plan actually complies with the provisions of NAC 354.865-
354.867, inclusive (which it does not), isn't it clear that the District has never
approved an updated central service cost allocation plan for FY 2026 because it
has not complied with the applicable NRS/NAC thereto?

 

So what does the CLGF intend to do about this arrogant refusal to comply with the
NRS/NAC? At a time when the District is under formal fiscal watch. Am I being out
of line in suggesting a referral to the Office of the Attorney General for criminal
prosecution in accordance with NRS 354.626(1) ["any officer or employee of a local
government who willfully violates NRS 354.470 to 354.626, inclusive, is guilty of a
misdemeanor and upon conviction thereof ceases to hold his or her office or
employment. Prosecution for any violation of this section may be conducted by the
Attorney General"]? And do I have to ask again that the Executive Director notify
the Washoe County Board of Commissioners in accordance with NRS 318.515(1)
given the IVGID BOT (a) is not being properly managed; and, it (b) is not complying
with the provisions of...any...law" or regulation?

 

The subject $4,050,500 is funded from three enterprise funds, 2 of which's
expenditures exceed revenues. Where the financial shortfall is subsidized by invalid



special taxes involuntarily assessed against the non-exempt parcels in Incline
Village/Crystal Bay owned by property owners such as myself. Revenues in the
District's Utility Fund come from water and sewer rates and charges similarly
involuntarily assessed against parcel owners such as myself. Therefore if this
$4,050,500 is in essence involuntarily assessed against me, contrary to law, isn't
that theft?

 

Respectfully, Aaron Katz

 

-----Forwarded Message-----
From: Patricia Olmstead <polmstead@tax.state.nv.us>
Sent: Aug 11, 2025 3:55 PM
To: s4s@ix.netcom.com <s4s@ix.netcom.com>
Subject: Public Record Request - IVGID - Its FY 2026 Central Services Cost Allocation
Plan

 

Mr. Katz,

 

Responsive records are attached.

 

Sincerely,

 

Patricia Olmstead

Public Information Officer

Nevada Department of Taxation

9850 Double R Blvd.

Phone: 775-687-9998
Email: polmstead@tax.state.nv.us

 

Mailing Address:

3850 Arrowhead Drive

Carson City, NV 89706

Find careers at: NVAPPS Jobs

mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
https://nvapps.state.nv.us/NEATS/Recruiting/ViewJobsHome.aep
https://nvapps.state.nv.us/NEATS/Recruiting/ViewJobsHome.aep
https://nvapps.state.nv.us/NEATS/Recruiting/ViewJobsHome.aep
https://nvapps.state.nv.us/NEATS/Recruiting/ViewJobsHome.aep


 

CONFIDENTIALITY STATEMENT: This e-mail and any attachments are intended only for those to which it is addressed and
may contain information which is privileged, confidential and prohibited from disclosure and unauthorized use under applicable
law. If you are not the intended recipient of this e-mail, you are hereby notified that any use, dissemination, or copying of this e-
mail or the information contained in this e-mail is strictly prohibited by the sender. If you have received this transmission in error,
please return the material received to the sender and delete all copies from your system.

 

 

 

From: s4s@ix.netcom.com <s4s@ix.netcom.com> 
Sent: Thursday, July 31, 2025 1:39 PM
To: Patricia Olmstead <polmstead@tax.state.nv.us>
Cc: Kelly S. Langley <klangley@tax.state.nv.us>
Subject: Public Record Request - IVGID - Its FY 2026 Central Services Cost Allocation Plan

 

WARNING - This email originated from outside the State of Nevada. Exercise caution
when opening attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders.

Hello Ms. Olmstead  and Ms. Langley -

 

I thought I had requested this public record before. But if I didn't, I want to
examine the central services cost allocation plan adopted by IVGID for FY 2026,
along with any cover letters or e-mails referencing the same. I make this request
because IVGID Board Policy 18.1.0 instructs that “each budget year, the current
Central Service Cost Allocation Plan will be filed with the Nevada Department of
Taxation as required.”

 

Thank you for your cooperation. Aaron Katz

 

 

mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us


From: Kelly S. Langley
To: Kari Skalsky
Subject: FW: Public Record Request - IVGID - Its FY 2026 Central Services Cost Allocation Plan
Date: Wednesday, August 13, 2025 2:30:57 PM
Attachments: image.png

FY26 Budget CSC Allocation Worksheet.xlsx
B. CSC-Centralized Service Cost Attestation - Copy.pdf
D. Rates and Charges-Memo.pdf

From: s4s@ix.netcom.com <s4s@ix.netcom.com> 
Sent: Wednesday, August 13, 2025 12:05 PM
To: Patricia Olmstead <polmstead@tax.state.nv.us>; Patricia Olmstead
<polmstead@tax.state.nv.us>
Cc: Kelly S. Langley <klangley@tax.state.nv.us>
Subject: Fw: Public Record Request - IVGID - Its FY 2026 Central Services Cost Allocation Plan

WARNING - This email originated from outside the State of Nevada. Exercise caution when
opening attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders.

Hello Ms. Olmstead and Ms. Langley -

Please pass this e-mail and attachments onto Executive Director Hughes and CLGF
Chair Leavitt, now rather than later, in the hope the CLGF calls a special meeting
to deal with the following (isn't it time to conduct hearings to declare a "severe
financial emergency?" To protect the local parcel owners of Incline Village/Crystal
Bay who are being prejudiced). And will you please acknowledge back to me that
you've passed on this e-mail and attachments as I have requested?

As the CLGF knows, I have accused IVGID staff of massive theft at local parcel
owners' expense. And here I'd like to share some evidence about what I'm talking
about. In the hope the CLGF will do something.

It's called NRS 354.613(1) central service cost transfers from three of the District's
enterprise funds (Utility, Community Services and Beach) to its General Fund. Which
according to me covers the financial shortfall between budgeted revenues and
intentional overspending assigned to the District's General Fund. And in this regard,
the 4 District Trustees who formally approved these transfers are co-principals (see
NRS 195.020) and/or accessories (see NRS 195.030).

mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:kskalsky@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:kskalsky@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:kskalsky@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:kskalsky@tax.state.nv.us





Summary

		IVGID Cost Allocation Model

		Summary of Allocations

		Fund No		Dept No		Description		Info Tech		Info Tech		Finance		Finance		Human Resources		Total Allocation				Overhead Rate

						Basis for allocation:		45% by FTEs		45% by transactions		80% by budget		20% by blended payroll		100% by blended payroll

		100		10		General Manager		20,038		- 0		1,988		8,828		38,001		68,855				5.8%

		100		11		Trustees		44,083		- 0		5,700		4,218		18,158		72,159				29.7%

		100		12		Finance		80,150		- 0		22,035		23,360		100,559		226,103				8.6%

		100		13		Information Technology		48,090		- 0		60,464		12,276		52,844		173,673				8.6%

		100		14		Risk Assessment		14,026		- 0		2,212		3,779		16,266		36,283				11.1%

		100		15		Human Resources		52,098		- 0		17,874		14,154		60,931		145,057				10.3%

		100		16		Health & Wellness		2,004		- 0		96		767		3,303		6,170				19.3%

		100		17		Community Relations		8,817		- 0		2,085		3,208		13,809		27,919				12.7%

		100		99		Other		- 0		- 0		55,418		- 0		- 0		55,418				5.5%

						Subtotal - General Fund		269,305		- 0		167,872		70,589		303,871		811,637				8.9%



		200		22		Water		131,126		235,999		203,154		38,208		164,480		772,968				12.5%

		200		25		Sewer		163,106		265,661		158,102		39,944		171,951		798,762				13.2%

		200		27		Solid Waste		9,538		- 0		10,303		1,941		8,354		30,136				9.1%

		200		28		Utilities-Other		- 0		5,072		3,543		- 0		- 0		8,615				7.7%

						Subtotal - Utilities		303,769		506,732		375,102		80,093		344,785		1,610,481				12.7%



		320		31		Champ Golf		59,712		137,895		138,838		28,500		122,687		487,631				10.5%

		320		32		Mtn Golf		18,835		35,429		51,216		11,160		48,043		164,683				9.9%

		330		33		Facilities		44,243		61,400		60,593		13,552		58,337		238,124				13.4%

		340		34/36		Ski		99,146		- 0		300,836		62,099		267,325		729,405				6.8%

		350		46		Rec Center		- 0		6,875		4,757		3,560		15,326		30,519				3.8%

		300		48		Recreation		69,130		34,908		63,152		22,016		94,775		283,981				13.1%

		360		49		CS Admin		- 0		119,863		9,454		1,261		5,428		136,007				25.4%

		370		43		Parks		20,158		1,657		43,644		9,145		39,369		113,973				8.2%

		380		45		Tennis		- 0		8,151		15,717		2,455		10,569		36,892				7.1%

						Subtotal - Comm. Services		311,223		406,179		688,206		153,748		661,859		2,221,215				9.2%



		390		38/39		Beach		28,614		- 0		74,100		21,890		94,235		218,838				6.9%



		410		51		Fleet		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0				0.0%

		420		52		Eng		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0				0.0%

		430		53		Bldgs		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0				0.0%

						Subtotal - Internal Services		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0				0.0%



						IVGID TOTAL		912,911		912,911		1,305,280		326,320		1,404,750		4,862,171				9.1%





																		4,050,534








CSC-Central Service Cost Attestation Certification 


 
A CSC-Centralized Service Cost Planning system is used by governments and 
organizations to allocate costs for shared services like accounting, human resources, IT, 
and purchasing. These costs are distributed among different departments or projects to 
ensure fair and consistent budgeting. 
 
IVGID’s CSC current policies outlines: 


• Costs Allowed 
• Allocation Method 
• Billing Rates 


 
IVGID engaged Baker Tilly to evaluate the existing allocation method. Several 
methodologies can fairly distribute indirect costs across departments. Common 
approaches include Personnel Effort, Headcount, Square Footage, and Usage-Based 
Allocation. 
 
Some methods apply a broad multiplier (e.g., overhead), while others provide a more 
precise allocation. IVGID’s past practice used services and supply costs as the base 
allocation across all departments. In some cases, this methodology is effective, while in 
others, alternative approaches are recommended—such as using workstation and point-
of-sale counts or, if those are unavailable, FTE headcount and revenue to allocate IT costs. 
Given the FY26 budget deadline constraints, Baker Tilly provided a reliable analysis to 
assist with budget planning.  
 
The methodology that has been adopted is in conformity with the Nevada Revised Statute 
(NRS) Section 354.107 (Regulations) 354.613(c) and The Nevada Administrative Code 
(NAC) includes provisions related to Central Service Cost Allocation under Section 
354.8668. This section outlines how local governments may allocate costs for services and 
property payable from the general fund, internal service funds, enterprise funds or other 
funds. 
Past practice used a broad multiplier approach using services & supplies. The recent 
analysis incorporated services and supplies, full-time employee count and revenues. This 
method is effective but a more robust and effective approach is recommended. 
 
The current method used allocates costs in a manner that: 







(a) Provides for an equitable distribution of general, overhead, administrative and similar 
costs of the local government; and 
(b) allocates to an enterprise fund only costs for services and property that are assignable 
or chargeable to the cost objective of the enterprise fund. 
(c) based upon either audited historical data or budget data 
 
A more detailed and in-depth CSC study is recommended. This extensive analysis would 
require more time and fieldwork across departments to collect sufficient data for a more 
refined allocation methodology.  The board has decided to readdress the more in-depth 
analysis later date. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 








 
M E M O R A N D U M 


 
 


TO: Board of Trustees 
 


THROUGH: Robert W. Harrison 
  District General Manager 


 
FROM: Jessica O’Connell 
 Director of Finance 


 
SUBJECT: Review, Discuss and Possibly Approve Resolution 


Number 1917: A Resolution Approving the Report for 
Collection of Recreation Standby and Service Charges 
for Fiscal Year 2025/2026 in the amount of $720 for 
Recreation and $655 for Beach 


 
DATE: May 30, 2025 


 


 
I. RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the Board of Trustees make a motion to adopt Resolution Number 1917, 
which approves the report for the collection of Recreation Standby and Services 
Charges (also known as the Recreation Facility Fee and Beach Facility Fee). 
 
II. BACKGROUND 
 
Each year, the District establishes an annual Recreation Facility Fee and Beach 
Facility Fee, collected from property owners within the District through a levy 
placed on their property tax bill. Washoe County Tax Collection Office collects 
these fees on behalf of the District. 
These fees are determined based on the revenues required to support debt, 
capital expenditures, and operations for the District’s various recreation and 
beach facilities. Combined with service charges collected for facility use and 
program activities, these revenues sustain the operations funded by the 
Community Services Fund and Beach Fund. 
As part of the annual budget process, the Board is required to approve a 
resolution outlining the billing and collection process set forth in Nevada Revised 
Statutes 318.197 (establishing standby service charges for services and facilities 
furnished by the District) and 318.201 (establishing the collection method). The 
resolution also confirms the date for the required public hearing to consider the 
proposed Recreation Facility Fee and Beach Facility Fee before the Board's final 
approval. 
Once approved, the District provides Washoe County with the appropriate fee 







Resolution Number 1917 -2- May 30, 2025 
 
 


 


amounts to be assessed on each individual parcel within the District, following 
the prescribed process. 
Staff have prepared the Report for Collection on the Washoe County Tax Roll for 
the Recreation Standby and Service Charges (also known as the Recreation 
Facility Fee and Beach Facility Fee). Before final approval, the Board may modify 
the allocation of the combined fees. The final approval of these fees is scheduled 
for May 30, 2025, following the required public hearing. 
The Board is reminded that the collection method is rooted in historical 
references. The report includes a table highlighting major events that connect the 
current fee to past assessments. Additional sections cover budgetary and 
collection processes. 
 


 
Traditionally, the value of the punch card is one-fifth of the total Facility Fee. If 
the Board wishes to change this proportion, it must set a defined punch card 
value. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







Resolution Number 1917 -3- May 30, 2025 
 
 


 


III. FINANCIAL IMPACT AND BUDGET 
 
Staff have prepared the preliminary FY2025-26 budget to support District 
operations, capital improvements, and debt service. As proposed: 
 


• Recreation Facility Fee of $720 will be collected from all properties within 
the District to support the Community Services Fund. 
 


• The Beach Facility Fee of $655 will be collected from eligible properties 
with beach access to support the Beach Fund. 
 


These assumptions are reflected in the preliminary 2025-26 Recreation Roll 
Report, subject to final Board approval.  
 
 


 


 


 
The recommendation may change by May 30, 2025, the date that is set for the 
public hearing and final Board adoption. 
 
IV. ALTERNATIVES 
 
The Board can direct Staff to revise, change, or modify the Recreation Facility Fee 
and Beach Facility Fee as currently proposed. 
 
V. ATTACHMENTS 
 
Rec Roll 2025-2026 – Resolution 1917 





		M E M O R A N D U M

		I. RECOMMENDATION

		II. BACKGROUND

		III. FINANCIAL IMPACT AND BUDGET

		IV. ALTERNATIVES

		V. ATTACHMENTS







So let's deal with facts. As the CLGF can see below, I previously asked the
Department's public records officer ("PRO") to examine "the central services cost
allocation plan adopted by IVGID for FY 2026" on May 30, 2025. And how
did she respond? As the CLGF can see below, three documents were
provided which are included in this e-mail. What I find most interesting, and I
will discuss it below, is the spreadsheet captioned "summary of allocations."
And what's so interesting? The info detail of the document discloses it was
not even created until June 18, 2025. Which was nearly 3 weeks after the
IVGID BOT actually approved the plan on May 30, 2025. In other words
neither this document nor the figures contained therein were shared with the
IVGID BOT prior to the latter's approval of this so called Plan. And again, to
prove this assertion, here is the packet of materials presented to the BOT
(go to https://ivgid.portal.civicclerk.com/event/646/overview) prior to its
formal adoption of the so called Plan.

 

And to put matters into perspective, it's my position no proposed central
service cost allocation plan was presented to the IVGID BOT for approval
on May 30, 2025. So on May 31, 2025 I made a formal public records
request with IVGID to examine that so called Plan. In part I asked as
follows: "2. At yesterday's BOT meeting, the BOT approved and adopted an updated
central services cost allocation 'plan' that charges $4.05 million annually to the Utility,
Community Services, and Beach Funds. Since the District is required to approve a
written plan, and you know it's my position staff never presented such writing to the
BOT for approval, I would like to examine the written 'plan' which was actually
approved." This request was assigned Public Records Request ("PRR") 25-47, and it
can be examined in full at https://ivgid.nextrequest.com/requests/25-47.

 

So you see, the only reason Jessica O'Connell prepared the "summary of allocations"
attached to this e-mail, is because of my PRR! That's why my request to Ms.
Olmstead asked for written communications between anyone at the Dep't and anyone
at IVGID accompanying and in any way referring to IVGID's central service cost
allocation plan. And why so far, none have been provided!

 

Moreover, what's interesting to me is that the records the subject of my PRR 25-47
have still not been provided (this can be confirmed at
https://ivgid.nextrequest.com/requests/25-47). Even though 2-1/2 months have
elapsed, and NRS 239.0107(1) instructs that they were supposed to have been made
available for my examination, assuming they actually existed, within five (5) business
days of my request ("not later than the end of the fifth business day after the date on

https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.portal.civicclerk.com%2fevent%2f646%2foverview&c=E,1,32xFPIHpIaSxqsepBBk-5ISraWMfewlY9a7H8Q4Inhc4FeLpqzxuDqJXGoB10k_jisqbmBo9Jz4N_d28dgY9EZDme0ydxIyRXAoguZXCinssHjk,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.portal.civicclerk.com%2fevent%2f646%2foverview&c=E,1,32xFPIHpIaSxqsepBBk-5ISraWMfewlY9a7H8Q4Inhc4FeLpqzxuDqJXGoB10k_jisqbmBo9Jz4N_d28dgY9EZDme0ydxIyRXAoguZXCinssHjk,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.portal.civicclerk.com%2fevent%2f646%2foverview&c=E,1,32xFPIHpIaSxqsepBBk-5ISraWMfewlY9a7H8Q4Inhc4FeLpqzxuDqJXGoB10k_jisqbmBo9Jz4N_d28dgY9EZDme0ydxIyRXAoguZXCinssHjk,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.portal.civicclerk.com%2fevent%2f646%2foverview&c=E,1,32xFPIHpIaSxqsepBBk-5ISraWMfewlY9a7H8Q4Inhc4FeLpqzxuDqJXGoB10k_jisqbmBo9Jz4N_d28dgY9EZDme0ydxIyRXAoguZXCinssHjk,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.nextrequest.com%2frequests%2f25-47&c=E,1,gucoV3cZ5RRSdZyMpt3za9ogMuwiwws0EqemLnq9_WZVMDKzfAtLMMoixBDBKlyPkonpUQ3wbsJVZtV_mALLyH1iq5W3kV1gigP_IhvPcg,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.nextrequest.com%2frequests%2f25-47&c=E,1,gucoV3cZ5RRSdZyMpt3za9ogMuwiwws0EqemLnq9_WZVMDKzfAtLMMoixBDBKlyPkonpUQ3wbsJVZtV_mALLyH1iq5W3kV1gigP_IhvPcg,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.nextrequest.com%2frequests%2f25-47&c=E,1,gucoV3cZ5RRSdZyMpt3za9ogMuwiwws0EqemLnq9_WZVMDKzfAtLMMoixBDBKlyPkonpUQ3wbsJVZtV_mALLyH1iq5W3kV1gigP_IhvPcg,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.nextrequest.com%2frequests%2f25-47&c=E,1,gucoV3cZ5RRSdZyMpt3za9ogMuwiwws0EqemLnq9_WZVMDKzfAtLMMoixBDBKlyPkonpUQ3wbsJVZtV_mALLyH1iq5W3kV1gigP_IhvPcg,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.nextrequest.com%2frequests%2f25-47&c=E,1,zA_5ob_o_47ihpehJjyGHLw-UO4lDePP5L0UeBauPRXTEJHts-lrYRjE7EOED30Si6fvLM825sYb5blyXz6C_ivNwaXwCxKYmEqL5Fm4fIzIAaE,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.nextrequest.com%2frequests%2f25-47&c=E,1,zA_5ob_o_47ihpehJjyGHLw-UO4lDePP5L0UeBauPRXTEJHts-lrYRjE7EOED30Si6fvLM825sYb5blyXz6C_ivNwaXwCxKYmEqL5Fm4fIzIAaE,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.nextrequest.com%2frequests%2f25-47&c=E,1,zA_5ob_o_47ihpehJjyGHLw-UO4lDePP5L0UeBauPRXTEJHts-lrYRjE7EOED30Si6fvLM825sYb5blyXz6C_ivNwaXwCxKYmEqL5Fm4fIzIAaE,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.nextrequest.com%2frequests%2f25-47&c=E,1,zA_5ob_o_47ihpehJjyGHLw-UO4lDePP5L0UeBauPRXTEJHts-lrYRjE7EOED30Si6fvLM825sYb5blyXz6C_ivNwaXwCxKYmEqL5Fm4fIzIAaE,&typo=1


which the person who has legal custody or control of a public book or record of a
governmental entity receives a written or oral request from a person to inspect, copy
or receive a copy of the public book or record, a governmental entity shall do one of
the following, as applicable...If a public book or record of a governmental entity is
readily available for inspection or copying, the person who has legal custody or
control of the public book or record shall allow a person who has submitted a request
to inspect, copy or receive a copy of a public book or record as expeditiously as
practicable"). Yes NRS 239.0107(1)(c)(1) allowed the District to "provide to the
person, in writing, notice of the fact that it (wa)s unable to make the public book or
record available by that date," it was also required to provide "the earliest date and
time after which the governmental entity reasonably believe(d) the (requested) public
book or record w(ould) be available for the person to inspect or copy or after which a
copy of the public book or record w(ould) be available to the person." However here,
IVGID did none of this. It just hasn't provided the requested books and records! And
like I said, 2-1/2 months have elapsed.

 

Let's deal with some additional facts. Although the District attempts to justify these
transfers as legitimate allocated central service costs, I choose to call them what they
really are. A financial subsidy which represents the difference between budgeted
revenues and intentional overspending assigned to the District's General Fund. So
let's see if I'm right. Have Kelly Langley share the District's final FY 2026 filed with the
Dep't. Go to page 7 of form 4404LGF, schedule B-9, and there the CLGF will see the
District has budgeted to receive $4,512,486 in revenue. Now go to page 8 of that
form, schedule B-10, and there the CLGF will see the District has budgeted to expend
$8,553,470. The difference (i.e., shortfall) between the two is $4,040,984. Now let's
return to page 7, schedule B-9. There the CLGF will see the amount of central service
cost transfers. And that number is $4,050,500. Now let's compare the financial
shortfall to the amount of central service cost transfers. There within $9,500 of one
another. Coincidental? Or have IVGID staff concocted a formula which happens to
yield the number the District requires to balance its General Fund?

 

Let's continue, shall we?

 

When was the District supposed to have adopted an updated central services cost
allocation plan assuming its General Fund relied upon funds transferred from its
enterprise funds? According to NAC 354.8668(7)(c)(a), "before...the date on which
the local government submit(ted) its tentative budget to the Department." And when
was that date? According to NRS 354.596(2), April 15.

 

How was the District supposed to have adopted an updated central services cost
allocation plan? According to NRS 354.613(1)(c), given the District's so call Plan



represents "a cost allocation for employees, equipment or other resources related to
the purpose of the enterprise fund(s from which transfers are proposed to be made)
which is approved by the governing body under a nonconsent item that is
separately listed on the agenda for a regular meeting of the governing body."
But the May 30, 2025 meeting of IVGID's BOT where the so called Plan was
approved, was a special meeting. That's right! This truism can be confirmed by
examining the notice District staff published for that meeting (go to
https://ivgid.portal.civicclerk.com/event/646/files/agenda/1362).

 

Now was approval of this so called Plan separately listed on the agenda for this
meeting? Take a look at the agenda under paragraph G, General Business (for
possible action). Do you see possible adoption of a central service cost allocation
plan? No you don't.

 

Go back to paragraph E of the agenda; "Public Hearing for the Incline Village General
Improvement District Fiscal Year 2025/2026 Operating and Capital Improvement
Projects Budget of which there are six (6) components." Do you see the NRS
241.020(3)(d)(2) magic necessary words "for possible action" ("written notice of all
meetings must...include...a list describing the items on which action may be taken and
clearly denoting that action may be taken on those items by placing the term “for
possible action” next to the appropriate item") next to the appropriate item? No you
don't.

 

Was approval "separately listed?" No. The District's proffered central service cost
allocation plan was bundled together with five (5) other components.

 

Did the District's chief financial officer prepare an attestation in accordance with NAC
354.8668(8) which clearly stated "that the (so called proffered) central service cost
allocation plan complies with the provisions of NAC 354.865 to 354.867, inclusive?"
Did she sign it?

 

Without going into the particulars of whether Ms. O'Connell's so called central service
cost allocation plan actually complies with the provisions of NAC 354.865-354.867,
inclusive (which it does not), isn't it clear that the District has never approved an
updated central service cost allocation plan for FY 2026 because it has not complied
with the applicable NRS/NAC thereto?

 

https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.portal.civicclerk.com%2fevent%2f646%2ffiles%2fagenda%2f1362&c=E,1,HfqZOJ-UwQ4RFyJIZp8_4WEzRkKga2H-nmjg8ETzUjTaz4cmBeOHnYf3K-c5JinXrEWUqGEx77jN5jloapRMowcV5IGtR_qeyi6LGgTOy9axBelp&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.portal.civicclerk.com%2fevent%2f646%2ffiles%2fagenda%2f1362&c=E,1,HfqZOJ-UwQ4RFyJIZp8_4WEzRkKga2H-nmjg8ETzUjTaz4cmBeOHnYf3K-c5JinXrEWUqGEx77jN5jloapRMowcV5IGtR_qeyi6LGgTOy9axBelp&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.portal.civicclerk.com%2fevent%2f646%2ffiles%2fagenda%2f1362&c=E,1,HfqZOJ-UwQ4RFyJIZp8_4WEzRkKga2H-nmjg8ETzUjTaz4cmBeOHnYf3K-c5JinXrEWUqGEx77jN5jloapRMowcV5IGtR_qeyi6LGgTOy9axBelp&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.portal.civicclerk.com%2fevent%2f646%2ffiles%2fagenda%2f1362&c=E,1,HfqZOJ-UwQ4RFyJIZp8_4WEzRkKga2H-nmjg8ETzUjTaz4cmBeOHnYf3K-c5JinXrEWUqGEx77jN5jloapRMowcV5IGtR_qeyi6LGgTOy9axBelp&typo=1


So what does the CLGF intend to do about this arrogant refusal to comply with the
NRS/NAC? At a time when the District is under formal fiscal watch. Am I being out of
line in suggesting a referral to the Office of the Attorney General for criminal
prosecution in accordance with NRS 354.626(1) ["any officer or employee of a local
government who willfully violates NRS 354.470 to 354.626, inclusive, is guilty of a
misdemeanor and upon conviction thereof ceases to hold his or her office or
employment. Prosecution for any violation of this section may be conducted by the
Attorney General"]? And do I have to ask again that the Executive Director notify the
Washoe County Board of Commissioners in accordance with NRS 318.515(1) given
the IVGID BOT (a) is not being properly managed; and, it (b) is not complying with the
provisions of...any...law" or regulation?

 

The subject $4,050,500 is funded from three enterprise funds, 2 of which's
expenditures exceed revenues. Where the financial shortfall is subsidized by invalid
special taxes involuntarily assessed against the non-exempt parcels in Incline
Village/Crystal Bay owned by property owners such as myself. Revenues in the
District's Utility Fund come from water and sewer rates and charges similarly
involuntarily assessed against parcel owners such as myself. Therefore if this
$4,050,500 is in essence involuntarily assessed against me, contrary to law, isn't that
theft?

 

Respectfully, Aaron Katz

 

-----Forwarded Message-----
From: Patricia Olmstead <polmstead@tax.state.nv.us>
Sent: Aug 11, 2025 3:55 PM
To: s4s@ix.netcom.com <s4s@ix.netcom.com>
Subject: Public Record Request - IVGID - Its FY 2026 Central Services Cost Allocation
Plan

 

Mr. Katz,
 
Responsive records are attached.
 
Sincerely,
 

Patricia Olmstead
Public Information Officer
Nevada Department of Taxation
9850 Double R Blvd.
Phone: 775-687-9998
Email: polmstead@tax.state.nv.us

mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us


 
Mailing Address:
3850 Arrowhead Drive
Carson City, NV 89706

Find careers at: NVAPPS Jobs
 
CONFIDENTIALITY STATEMENT: This e-mail and any attachments are intended only for those to which it is addressed
and may contain information which is privileged, confidential and prohibited from disclosure and unauthorized use under
applicable law. If you are not the intended recipient of this e-mail, you are hereby notified that any use, dissemination, or
copying of this e-mail or the information contained in this e-mail is strictly prohibited by the sender. If you have received
this transmission in error, please return the material received to the sender and delete all copies from your system.
 
 
 
From: s4s@ix.netcom.com <s4s@ix.netcom.com> 
Sent: Thursday, July 31, 2025 1:39 PM
To: Patricia Olmstead <polmstead@tax.state.nv.us>
Cc: Kelly S. Langley <klangley@tax.state.nv.us>
Subject: Public Record Request - IVGID - Its FY 2026 Central Services Cost Allocation Plan
 

WARNING - This email originated from outside the State of Nevada. Exercise caution
when opening attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders.

Hello Ms. Olmstead  and Ms. Langley -

 

I thought I had requested this public record before. But if I didn't, I want to examine
the central services cost allocation plan adopted by IVGID for FY 2026, along with
any cover letters or e-mails referencing the same. I make this request because
IVGID Board Policy 18.1.0 instructs that “each budget year, the current Central
Service Cost Allocation Plan will be filed with the Nevada Department of Taxation
as required.”

 

Thank you for your cooperation. Aaron Katz

 

https://nvapps.state.nv.us/NEATS/Recruiting/ViewJobsHome.aep
https://nvapps.state.nv.us/NEATS/Recruiting/ViewJobsHome.aep
https://nvapps.state.nv.us/NEATS/Recruiting/ViewJobsHome.aep
https://nvapps.state.nv.us/NEATS/Recruiting/ViewJobsHome.aep
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us


From: Kelly S. Langley
To: Kari Skalsky
Subject: FW: Fw: Public Record Request - IVGID - Its FY 2026 Central Services Cost Allocation Plan
Date: Thursday, August 14, 2025 8:04:21 AM
Attachments: image.png

Please include the following in public comments for the CLGF Meeting on August 25th.
Thank you,
 
Kelly S Langley,
Nevada Department of Taxation
Local Government Finance and Boards & Commissions
3850 Arrowhead Drive
Carson City, NV  89706
klangley@tax.state.nv.us
775.684.2073 Office
775.636.0101 Cell
*Notice: Our new E-services have launched. Create a new log on or register your business today at
MyNevadaTax.nv.gov. Instructional videos for My Nevada Tax can be found here: How-to Videos for Nevada Tax -
State of Nevada. Additional information can be found in the FAQ section.
 
 
 
From: Tim Taggart <tagtlt007@gmail.com> 
Sent: Wednesday, August 13, 2025 4:49 PM
To: s4s@ix.netcom.com
Cc: Patricia Olmstead <polmstead@tax.state.nv.us>; Kelly S. Langley <klangley@tax.state.nv.us>
Subject: Re: Fw: Public Record Request - IVGID - Its FY 2026 Central Services Cost Allocation Plan
 

WARNING - This email originated from outside the State of Nevada. Exercise caution when
opening attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders.

I wish to concur with Mr. Katz's requests. I am an
owner in Incline village and recently received my
tax bill from the Washoe County Treasurer, which
included "special assessment" in the form of
increased fees from IVGID, totaling an addition of
$1,000+ to my tax assessment; last year, about
$1300, to this year, about $2300. This is
outrageous and, as concluded by Mr. Katz, an
illegal tax that IVGID does not have statutory
authority to impose. 
 

mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:kskalsky@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:kskalsky@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:kskalsky@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:kskalsky@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
https://mynvtax.nv.gov/tap/_/
https://mynvtax.nv.gov/tap/_/
https://mynvtax.nv.gov/tap/_/
https://mynvtax.nv.gov/tap/_/
https://tax.nv.gov/education/how-to-videos-for-nevada-tax/
https://tax.nv.gov/education/how-to-videos-for-nevada-tax/
https://tax.nv.gov/education/how-to-videos-for-nevada-tax/
https://tax.nv.gov/education/how-to-videos-for-nevada-tax/
https://tax.nv.gov/education/how-to-videos-for-nevada-tax/
https://tax.nv.gov/education/how-to-videos-for-nevada-tax/
https://tax.nv.gov/education/how-to-videos-for-nevada-tax/
https://tax.nv.gov/education/how-to-videos-for-nevada-tax/
https://tax.nv.gov/faqs/my-nevada-tax-faqs/
https://tax.nv.gov/faqs/my-nevada-tax-faqs/
https://tax.nv.gov/faqs/my-nevada-tax-faqs/
https://tax.nv.gov/faqs/my-nevada-tax-faqs/






All of the owners need your assistance to be
protected from IVGID.
 
On Wed, Aug 13, 2025 at 12:05 PM <s4s@ix.netcom.com> wrote:

Hello Ms. Olmstead and Ms. Langley -

 

Please pass this e-mail and attachments onto Executive Director Hughes and
CLGF Chair Leavitt, now rather than later, in the hope the CLGF calls a special
meeting to deal with the following (isn't it time to conduct hearings to declare a
"severe financial emergency?" To protect the local parcel owners of Incline
Village/Crystal Bay who are being prejudiced). And will you please acknowledge
back to me that you've passed on this e-mail and attachments as I have requested?

 

As the CLGF knows, I have accused IVGID staff of massive theft at local parcel
owners' expense. And here I'd like to share some evidence about what I'm talking
about. In the hope the CLGF will do something.

 

It's called NRS 354.613(1) central service cost transfers from three of the District's
enterprise funds (Utility, Community Services and Beach) to its General Fund.
Which according to me covers the financial shortfall between budgeted revenues
and intentional overspending assigned to the District's General Fund. And in this
regard, the 4 District Trustees who formally approved these transfers are co-
principals (see NRS 195.020) and/or accessories (see NRS 195.030).

 

So let's deal with facts. As the CLGF can see below, I previously asked the
Department's public records officer ("PRO") to examine "the central services
cost allocation plan adopted by IVGID for FY 2026" on May 30, 2025. And
how did she respond? As the CLGF can see below, three documents
were provided which are included in this e-mail. What I find most
interesting, and I will discuss it below, is the spreadsheet captioned
"summary of allocations." And what's so interesting? The info detail of the
document discloses it was not even created until June 18, 2025. Which
was nearly 3 weeks after the IVGID BOT actually approved the plan on
May 30, 2025. In other words neither this document nor the figures
contained therein were shared with the IVGID BOT prior to the latter's
approval of this so called Plan. And again, to prove this assertion, here is
the packet of materials presented to the BOT (go to

mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com


https://ivgid.portal.civicclerk.com/event/646/overview) prior to its formal
adoption of the so called Plan.

 

And to put matters into perspective, it's my position no proposed central
service cost allocation plan was presented to the IVGID BOT for approval
on May 30, 2025. So on May 31, 2025 I made a formal public records
request with IVGID to examine that so called Plan. In part I asked as
follows: "2. At yesterday's BOT meeting, the BOT approved and adopted an
updated central services cost allocation 'plan' that charges $4.05 million annually to
the Utility, Community Services, and Beach Funds. Since the District is required to
approve a written plan, and you know it's my position staff never presented such
writing to the BOT for approval, I would like to examine the written 'plan' which was
actually approved." This request was assigned Public Records Request ("PRR")
25-47, and it can be examined in full at https://ivgid.nextrequest.com/requests/25-
47.

 

So you see, the only reason Jessica O'Connell prepared the "summary of
allocations" attached to this e-mail, is because of my PRR! That's why my request
to Ms. Olmstead asked for written communications between anyone at the Dep't
and anyone at IVGID accompanying and in any way referring to IVGID's central
service cost allocation plan. And why so far, none have been provided!

 

Moreover, what's interesting to me is that the records the subject of my PRR 25-47
have still not been provided (this can be confirmed at
https://ivgid.nextrequest.com/requests/25-47). Even though 2-1/2 months have
elapsed, and NRS 239.0107(1) instructs that they were supposed to have been
made available for my examination, assuming they actually existed, within five (5)
business days of my request ("not later than the end of the fifth business day after
the date on which the person who has legal custody or control of a public book or
record of a governmental entity receives a written or oral request from a person to
inspect, copy or receive a copy of the public book or record, a governmental entity
shall do one of the following, as applicable...If a public book or record of a
governmental entity is readily available for inspection or copying, the person who
has legal custody or control of the public book or record shall allow a person who
has submitted a request to inspect, copy or receive a copy of a public book or
record as expeditiously as practicable"). Yes NRS 239.0107(1)(c)(1) allowed the
District to "provide to the person, in writing, notice of the fact that it (wa)s unable to
make the public book or record available by that date," it was also required to
provide "the earliest date and time after which the governmental entity reasonably
believe(d) the (requested) public book or record w(ould) be available for the person
to inspect or copy or after which a copy of the public book or record w(ould) be

https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.portal.civicclerk.com%2fevent%2f646%2foverview&c=E,1,eurnB0rHQ9gr8kWdiW6OYPPRVOX-nm5bDwq-scN2niY4lgs3kfrQgDckEY2FYuSQ3tZ7GHYRzXK_pptmDgTqgrxah_EdjyAMz4WSCz0P-j52BqpM-jMUjfjKAikr&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.portal.civicclerk.com%2fevent%2f646%2foverview&c=E,1,eurnB0rHQ9gr8kWdiW6OYPPRVOX-nm5bDwq-scN2niY4lgs3kfrQgDckEY2FYuSQ3tZ7GHYRzXK_pptmDgTqgrxah_EdjyAMz4WSCz0P-j52BqpM-jMUjfjKAikr&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.portal.civicclerk.com%2fevent%2f646%2foverview&c=E,1,eurnB0rHQ9gr8kWdiW6OYPPRVOX-nm5bDwq-scN2niY4lgs3kfrQgDckEY2FYuSQ3tZ7GHYRzXK_pptmDgTqgrxah_EdjyAMz4WSCz0P-j52BqpM-jMUjfjKAikr&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.portal.civicclerk.com%2fevent%2f646%2foverview&c=E,1,eurnB0rHQ9gr8kWdiW6OYPPRVOX-nm5bDwq-scN2niY4lgs3kfrQgDckEY2FYuSQ3tZ7GHYRzXK_pptmDgTqgrxah_EdjyAMz4WSCz0P-j52BqpM-jMUjfjKAikr&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.nextrequest.com%2frequests%2f25-47&c=E,1,VJPesD-lggOkUDQnl64GqrBgp79Yos7J-h5jcVCn8elEuBaj-LhEqg-SIwNF6os5hjFfunVHFImJ6f2veZ60PevK_D-6XdfkmJk4ojI2JB68PTfCK7Wtsv8z-J23&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.nextrequest.com%2frequests%2f25-47&c=E,1,VJPesD-lggOkUDQnl64GqrBgp79Yos7J-h5jcVCn8elEuBaj-LhEqg-SIwNF6os5hjFfunVHFImJ6f2veZ60PevK_D-6XdfkmJk4ojI2JB68PTfCK7Wtsv8z-J23&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.nextrequest.com%2frequests%2f25-47&c=E,1,VJPesD-lggOkUDQnl64GqrBgp79Yos7J-h5jcVCn8elEuBaj-LhEqg-SIwNF6os5hjFfunVHFImJ6f2veZ60PevK_D-6XdfkmJk4ojI2JB68PTfCK7Wtsv8z-J23&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.nextrequest.com%2frequests%2f25-47&c=E,1,VJPesD-lggOkUDQnl64GqrBgp79Yos7J-h5jcVCn8elEuBaj-LhEqg-SIwNF6os5hjFfunVHFImJ6f2veZ60PevK_D-6XdfkmJk4ojI2JB68PTfCK7Wtsv8z-J23&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.nextrequest.com%2frequests%2f25-47&c=E,1,VJPesD-lggOkUDQnl64GqrBgp79Yos7J-h5jcVCn8elEuBaj-LhEqg-SIwNF6os5hjFfunVHFImJ6f2veZ60PevK_D-6XdfkmJk4ojI2JB68PTfCK7Wtsv8z-J23&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.nextrequest.com%2frequests%2f25-47&c=E,1,VJPesD-lggOkUDQnl64GqrBgp79Yos7J-h5jcVCn8elEuBaj-LhEqg-SIwNF6os5hjFfunVHFImJ6f2veZ60PevK_D-6XdfkmJk4ojI2JB68PTfCK7Wtsv8z-J23&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.nextrequest.com%2frequests%2f25-47&c=E,1,VJPesD-lggOkUDQnl64GqrBgp79Yos7J-h5jcVCn8elEuBaj-LhEqg-SIwNF6os5hjFfunVHFImJ6f2veZ60PevK_D-6XdfkmJk4ojI2JB68PTfCK7Wtsv8z-J23&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.nextrequest.com%2frequests%2f25-47&c=E,1,VJPesD-lggOkUDQnl64GqrBgp79Yos7J-h5jcVCn8elEuBaj-LhEqg-SIwNF6os5hjFfunVHFImJ6f2veZ60PevK_D-6XdfkmJk4ojI2JB68PTfCK7Wtsv8z-J23&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.nextrequest.com%2frequests%2f25-47&c=E,1,XdSF1yawKeNFWmiV2iHtF8x9Ai03h7BwJJXcCYYi7z-HmGiQDNZAGb_CAs4YNarMURHNWAfr5c98aFOxfI4KxsEd3zHSVmjSoHhfJyS-8VEg&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.nextrequest.com%2frequests%2f25-47&c=E,1,XdSF1yawKeNFWmiV2iHtF8x9Ai03h7BwJJXcCYYi7z-HmGiQDNZAGb_CAs4YNarMURHNWAfr5c98aFOxfI4KxsEd3zHSVmjSoHhfJyS-8VEg&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.nextrequest.com%2frequests%2f25-47&c=E,1,XdSF1yawKeNFWmiV2iHtF8x9Ai03h7BwJJXcCYYi7z-HmGiQDNZAGb_CAs4YNarMURHNWAfr5c98aFOxfI4KxsEd3zHSVmjSoHhfJyS-8VEg&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.nextrequest.com%2frequests%2f25-47&c=E,1,XdSF1yawKeNFWmiV2iHtF8x9Ai03h7BwJJXcCYYi7z-HmGiQDNZAGb_CAs4YNarMURHNWAfr5c98aFOxfI4KxsEd3zHSVmjSoHhfJyS-8VEg&typo=1


available to the person." However here, IVGID did none of this. It just hasn't
provided the requested books and records! And like I said, 2-1/2 months have
elapsed.

 

Let's deal with some additional facts. Although the District attempts to justify these
transfers as legitimate allocated central service costs, I choose to call them what
they really are. A financial subsidy which represents the difference between
budgeted revenues and intentional overspending assigned to the District's General
Fund. So let's see if I'm right. Have Kelly Langley share the District's final FY 2026
filed with the Dep't. Go to page 7 of form 4404LGF, schedule B-9, and there the
CLGF will see the District has budgeted to receive $4,512,486 in revenue. Now go
to page 8 of that form, schedule B-10, and there the CLGF will see the District has
budgeted to expend $8,553,470. The difference (i.e., shortfall) between the two is
$4,040,984. Now let's return to page 7, schedule B-9. There the CLGF will see the
amount of central service cost transfers. And that number is $4,050,500. Now let's
compare the financial shortfall to the amount of central service cost transfers. There
within $9,500 of one another. Coincidental? Or have IVGID staff concocted a
formula which happens to yield the number the District requires to balance its
General Fund?

 

Let's continue, shall we?

 

When was the District supposed to have adopted an updated central services cost
allocation plan assuming its General Fund relied upon funds transferred from its
enterprise funds? According to NAC 354.8668(7)(c)(a), "before...the date on which
the local government submit(ted) its tentative budget to the Department." And when
was that date? According to NRS 354.596(2), April 15.

 

How was the District supposed to have adopted an updated central services cost
allocation plan? According to NRS 354.613(1)(c), given the District's so call Plan
represents "a cost allocation for employees, equipment or other resources related
to the purpose of the enterprise fund(s from which transfers are proposed to be
made) which is approved by the governing body under a nonconsent item that is
separately listed on the agenda for a regular meeting of the governing body."
But the May 30, 2025 meeting of IVGID's BOT where the so called Plan was
approved, was a special meeting. That's right! This truism can be confirmed by
examining the notice District staff published for that meeting (go to
https://ivgid.portal.civicclerk.com/event/646/files/agenda/1362).

 

https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.portal.civicclerk.com%2fevent%2f646%2ffiles%2fagenda%2f1362&c=E,1,FxlUqO5KIl8PKEMVPWhcWuu2kd1Ptu3S7zx-E4kUTj3-m3u5tIP5UK4591FS2-KmsUONpRAE_I0pZoi6Gxrz6L-qjiWhNd4W5U_Snm-Gm6Q,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.portal.civicclerk.com%2fevent%2f646%2ffiles%2fagenda%2f1362&c=E,1,FxlUqO5KIl8PKEMVPWhcWuu2kd1Ptu3S7zx-E4kUTj3-m3u5tIP5UK4591FS2-KmsUONpRAE_I0pZoi6Gxrz6L-qjiWhNd4W5U_Snm-Gm6Q,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.portal.civicclerk.com%2fevent%2f646%2ffiles%2fagenda%2f1362&c=E,1,FxlUqO5KIl8PKEMVPWhcWuu2kd1Ptu3S7zx-E4kUTj3-m3u5tIP5UK4591FS2-KmsUONpRAE_I0pZoi6Gxrz6L-qjiWhNd4W5U_Snm-Gm6Q,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fivgid.portal.civicclerk.com%2fevent%2f646%2ffiles%2fagenda%2f1362&c=E,1,FxlUqO5KIl8PKEMVPWhcWuu2kd1Ptu3S7zx-E4kUTj3-m3u5tIP5UK4591FS2-KmsUONpRAE_I0pZoi6Gxrz6L-qjiWhNd4W5U_Snm-Gm6Q,&typo=1


Now was approval of this so called Plan separately listed on the agenda for this
meeting? Take a look at the agenda under paragraph G, General Business (for
possible action). Do you see possible adoption of a central service cost allocation
plan? No you don't.

 

Go back to paragraph E of the agenda; "Public Hearing for the Incline Village
General Improvement District Fiscal Year 2025/2026 Operating and Capital
Improvement Projects Budget of which there are six (6) components." Do you see
the NRS 241.020(3)(d)(2) magic necessary words "for possible action" ("written
notice of all meetings must...include...a list describing the items on which action
may be taken and clearly denoting that action may be taken on those items by
placing the term “for possible action” next to the appropriate item") next to the
appropriate item? No you don't.

 

Was approval "separately listed?" No. The District's proffered central service cost
allocation plan was bundled together with five (5) other components.

 

Did the District's chief financial officer prepare an attestation in accordance with
NAC 354.8668(8) which clearly stated "that the (so called proffered) central service
cost allocation plan complies with the provisions of NAC 354.865 to 354.867,
inclusive?" Did she sign it?

 

Without going into the particulars of whether Ms. O'Connell's so called central
service cost allocation plan actually complies with the provisions of NAC 354.865-
354.867, inclusive (which it does not), isn't it clear that the District has never
approved an updated central service cost allocation plan for FY 2026 because it
has not complied with the applicable NRS/NAC thereto?

 

So what does the CLGF intend to do about this arrogant refusal to comply with the
NRS/NAC? At a time when the District is under formal fiscal watch. Am I being out
of line in suggesting a referral to the Office of the Attorney General for criminal
prosecution in accordance with NRS 354.626(1) ["any officer or employee of a local
government who willfully violates NRS 354.470 to 354.626, inclusive, is guilty of a
misdemeanor and upon conviction thereof ceases to hold his or her office or
employment. Prosecution for any violation of this section may be conducted by the
Attorney General"]? And do I have to ask again that the Executive Director notify
the Washoe County Board of Commissioners in accordance with NRS 318.515(1)
given the IVGID BOT (a) is not being properly managed; and, it (b) is not complying
with the provisions of...any...law" or regulation?



 

The subject $4,050,500 is funded from three enterprise funds, 2 of which's
expenditures exceed revenues. Where the financial shortfall is subsidized by invalid
special taxes involuntarily assessed against the non-exempt parcels in Incline
Village/Crystal Bay owned by property owners such as myself. Revenues in the
District's Utility Fund come from water and sewer rates and charges similarly
involuntarily assessed against parcel owners such as myself. Therefore if this
$4,050,500 is in essence involuntarily assessed against me, contrary to law, isn't
that theft?

 

Respectfully, Aaron Katz

 

-----Forwarded Message-----
From: Patricia Olmstead <polmstead@tax.state.nv.us>
Sent: Aug 11, 2025 3:55 PM
To: s4s@ix.netcom.com <s4s@ix.netcom.com>
Subject: Public Record Request - IVGID - Its FY 2026 Central Services Cost Allocation
Plan

 

Mr. Katz,
 
Responsive records are attached.
 
Sincerely,
 

Patricia Olmstead
Public Information Officer
Nevada Department of Taxation
9850 Double R Blvd.
Phone: 775-687-9998
Email: polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
 
Mailing Address:
3850 Arrowhead Drive
Carson City, NV 89706

Find careers at: NVAPPS Jobs
 
CONFIDENTIALITY STATEMENT: This e-mail and any attachments are intended only for those to which it is
addressed and may contain information which is privileged, confidential and prohibited from disclosure and
unauthorized use under applicable law. If you are not the intended recipient of this e-mail, you are hereby notified that
any use, dissemination, or copying of this e-mail or the information contained in this e-mail is strictly prohibited by the
sender. If you have received this transmission in error, please return the material received to the sender and delete all
copies from your system.
 

mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
https://nvapps.state.nv.us/NEATS/Recruiting/ViewJobsHome.aep
https://nvapps.state.nv.us/NEATS/Recruiting/ViewJobsHome.aep
https://nvapps.state.nv.us/NEATS/Recruiting/ViewJobsHome.aep
https://nvapps.state.nv.us/NEATS/Recruiting/ViewJobsHome.aep


 
 
From: s4s@ix.netcom.com <s4s@ix.netcom.com> 
Sent: Thursday, July 31, 2025 1:39 PM
To: Patricia Olmstead <polmstead@tax.state.nv.us>
Cc: Kelly S. Langley <klangley@tax.state.nv.us>
Subject: Public Record Request - IVGID - Its FY 2026 Central Services Cost Allocation Plan
 

WARNING - This email originated from outside the State of Nevada. Exercise caution
when opening attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders.

Hello Ms. Olmstead  and Ms. Langley -

 

I thought I had requested this public record before. But if I didn't, I want to
examine the central services cost allocation plan adopted by IVGID for FY 2026,
along with any cover letters or e-mails referencing the same. I make this request
because IVGID Board Policy 18.1.0 instructs that “each budget year, the current
Central Service Cost Allocation Plan will be filed with the Nevada Department of
Taxation as required.”

 

Thank you for your cooperation. Aaron Katz

 

 
--
Timothy L Taggart
(mailing address)
A Bldg - BOX 1, 999 N. Pacific St. (A-100)
Oceanside, CA 92054
Phone: 619-488-3249
C-Phone 909-520-1212
FAX: 760-544-5129 

    
More suffering is contributed into the world by those

mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:s4s@ix.netcom.com
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:polmstead@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
mailto:klangley@tax.state.nv.us
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=http%3a%2f%2fdir.coolclips.com%2fServices%2fLaw_Enforcement%2fScales_of_Justice%2fSymbol_of_scales_busi0469.html&c=E,1,sMJPEbCsa9sAJx7KijSUQ-brE9xRJF-nUmQAm4YfOS6eIgf5zIDMBKQKL9RwuGYC3F3Xo7ph8KHoGLSG_9egudQF-XJGbCfIieHanrVG&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=http%3a%2f%2fdir.coolclips.com%2fServices%2fLaw_Enforcement%2fScales_of_Justice%2fSymbol_of_scales_busi0469.html&c=E,1,sMJPEbCsa9sAJx7KijSUQ-brE9xRJF-nUmQAm4YfOS6eIgf5zIDMBKQKL9RwuGYC3F3Xo7ph8KHoGLSG_9egudQF-XJGbCfIieHanrVG&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=http%3a%2f%2fdir.coolclips.com%2fServices%2fLaw_Enforcement%2fScales_of_Justice%2fSymbol_of_scales_busi0469.html&c=E,1,sMJPEbCsa9sAJx7KijSUQ-brE9xRJF-nUmQAm4YfOS6eIgf5zIDMBKQKL9RwuGYC3F3Xo7ph8KHoGLSG_9egudQF-XJGbCfIieHanrVG&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=http%3a%2f%2fdir.coolclips.com%2fServices%2fLaw_Enforcement%2fScales_of_Justice%2fSymbol_of_scales_busi0469.html&c=E,1,sMJPEbCsa9sAJx7KijSUQ-brE9xRJF-nUmQAm4YfOS6eIgf5zIDMBKQKL9RwuGYC3F3Xo7ph8KHoGLSG_9egudQF-XJGbCfIieHanrVG&typo=1


who take offense than by those who give it.

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: This electronic message is intended to be viewed only 
by the individual or entity to whom it is addressed.  It may contain information that is 
privileged, confidential and exempt from disclosure under applicable law. Any 
dissemination, distribution or copying of this communication is strictly prohibited 
without our prior permission. If the reader of this message is not the intended 
recipient, or the employee or agent responsible for  delivering the message to the 
intended recipient, or if you have received this communication in error, please notify 
us immediately by return e-mail and delete the original message and any copies of it 
from your computer system. 
 


	IVGID Final Budget
	IVGID Audited Financial Statements
	IVGID Centeralized Service Cost
	IVGID Rates & Charges Memo
	RSCVA Extension Request
	RSCVA Final Budget
	April 29, 2025 Meeting Minutes Draft
	Public Comment



